Natura Impact Statement Appendices

.....







TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. APPENDICES – NATURA IMPACT STATEMENT (NIS) SUPPORTING INFORMATION 1

1.1	Appendix 1.1: Protected Sites for Nature Conservation in the Vicinity of the Proposed Developm	nent
1.2	Appendix 1.2: Desktop Records 11	
1.3	Appendix 1.3: Wintering bird survey results 19	
1.4	Appendix 1.4: Surface Water Management Plan 54	
1.4.1	1 Introduction	
1.4.2	2 Surface Water Receptors	
1.4.3	3 Mitigation and Management Measures56	
1.4.4	4 Monitoring Requirements	
1.4.5	5 References	
1.5	Appendix 1.5: Invasive Species Management Plan 60	
1.5.1	1 Introduction	
1.5.2	2 Legislative Context	
1.5.3	3 Limitations 61	
1.5.4	4 Methodology61	
1.5.5	5 Assessment of Management Options for Third Schedule Non-Native Invasive Species 66	
1.6	Appendix 1.6: Iarnród Éireann Invasive Species Management Plans	
1.7	Appendix 1.7 :Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) 108	
1.8	Appendix 1.8: List of Projects Assessed in combination with the Proposed Development 357	



larnród Éireann





1. APPENDICES – NATURA IMPACT STATEMENT (NIS) SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.1 Appendix 1.1: Protected Sites for Nature Conservation in the Vicinity of the Proposed Development

European sites in the vicinity of the Proposed Development are listed below in Table 1-1, along with their qualifying/special conservation interests, reference to the most recent conservation objectives document, and their location relative to the Proposed Development site.

Other nationally protected sites for nature conservation in the vicinity of the Proposed Development are listed below in Table 1-2, along with the nature conservation interests for which they are designated, and their location relative to the Proposed Development site.

Site Name	Distance	Reasons for Designation – QIs or SCIs (*=priority Annex I Habitat)
Special Area of Con	servation (SACs)	
Malahide Estuary SAC [000205]	The Proposed Development lies within this European site boundary	 1140 Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low tide 1310 Salicornia and other annuals colonising mud and sand 1330 Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellietalia maritimae) 1410 Mediterranean salt meadows (Juncetalia maritimi) 2120 Shifting dunes along the shoreline with Ammophila arenaria (white dunes) 2130 Fixed coastal dunes with herbaceous vegetation (grey dunes)* <i>S.I. No. 91/2019 - European Union Habitats (Malahide Estuary Special Area of Conservation 000205) Regulations 2019</i> NPWS (2013) Conservation Objectives: Malahide Estuary SAC 000205. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage, and the Gaeltacht.
Rogerstown Estuary SAC [000208]	The Proposed Development lies within this European site boundary	 1130 Estuaries 1140 Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low tide 1310 Salicornia and other annuals colonising mud and sand 1330 Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellietalia maritimae) 1410 Mediterranean salt meadows (Juncetalia maritimi) 2120 Shifting dunes along the shoreline with Ammophila arenaria (white dunes) 2130 Fixed coastal dunes with herbaceous vegetation (grey dunes)* <i>S.I. No. 286/2018 - European Union Habitats (Rogerstown Estuary Special Area of Conservation 000208) Regulations 2018</i> NPWS (2013) Conservation Objectives: Rogerstown Estuary SAC 000208. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.
River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC [002299]	Located c. 130m north of the	7230 Alkaline fens

Table 1-1 European sites in the vicinity of the Proposed Development











Site Name	Distance	Reasons for Designation – QIs or SCIs
		(*=priority Annex I Habitat)
	Proposed Development	 91E0 Alluvial forests with Alnus glutinosa and Fraxinus excelsior (Alno-Padion, Alnion incanae, Salicion albae)* 1099 River Lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis 1106 Salmon Salmo salar 1355 Otter Lutra lutra NPWS (2021) Conservation objectives for River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC [002299]. Version 1. Department of Housing, Local Government and
		Heritage.
Baldoyle Bay SAC [000199]	Located c. 250m east of the	1140 Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low tide 1310 Salicornia and other annuals colonizing mud and sand
	Development	1330 Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellietalia maritimae)
		1410 Mediterranean salt meadows (Juncetalia maritimi)
		S.I. No. 472/2021 - European Union Habitats (Baldoyle Bay Special Area of Conservation 000199) Regulations 2021
		NPWS (2012) Conservation Objectives: Baldoyle Bay SAC 000199. Version 1.0. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.
North Dublin Bay	Located c. 1km	1140 Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low tide
SAC [000206]	south east of the	1210 Annual vegetation of drift lines
	Proposed	1310 Salicornia and other annuals colonising mud and sand
	Development	1330 Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellietalia maritimae)
		1395 Petalwort Petalophyllum ralfsii
		1410 Mediterranean salt meadows (Juncetalia maritimi)
		2110 Embryonic shifting dunes
		2120 Shifting dunes along the shoreline with Ammophila arenaria (white dunes)
		2130 Fixed coastal dunes with herbaceous vegetation (grey dunes)*
		2190 Humid dune slacks
		S.I. No. 525/2019 - European Union Habitats (South Dublin Bay Special Area of Conservation 000210) Regulations 2019
		NPWS (2013) Conservation Objectives: North Dublin Bay SAC 000206. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.
Boyne Coast and	Located c. 1.2km	1130 Estuaries
Estuary SAC	north east of the	1140 Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low tide
[001957]	Proposed Development	1210 Annual vegetation of drift lines
		1310 Salicornia and other annuals colonising mud and sand
		1330 Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellietalia maritimae)
		1410 Mediterranean salt meadows (Juncetalia maritimi)
		2110 Embryonic shifting dunes
		2120 Shifting dunes along the shoreline with Ammophila arenaria (white dunes)
		2130 Fixed coastal dunes with herbaceous vegetation (grey dunes)*
		S.I. No. 433/2021- European Union Habitats (Boyne coast and Estuary Special Area of Conservation 001957) Regulations 2021











Site Name	Distance	Reasons for Designation – QIs or SCIs
		(*=priority Annex I Habitat)
		NPWS (2012) Conservation Objectives: Boyne Coast and Estuary SAC 001957. Version 1.0. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.
Rockabill to Dalkey	Located c. 3km	1170 Reefs
Island SAC	east of the	1351 Harbour porpoise Phocoena phocoena
	Development	S.I. No. 94/2019 - European Union Habitats (Rockabill To Dalkey Island Special Area of Conservation 003000) Regulations 2019
		NPWS (2013) Conservation Objectives: Rockabill to Dalkey Island SAC 003000. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.
South Dublin Bay	Located c. 3km	1140 Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low tide
SAC [000210]	south-east of the	1210 Annual vegetation of drift lines
	Development	1310 Salicornia and other annuals colonising mud and sand
		2110 Embryonic shifting dunes
		S.I. No. 525/2019 - European Union Habitats (South Dublin Bay Special Area of Conservation 000210) Regulations 2019
		NPWS (2013) Conservation Objectives: South Dublin Bay SAC 000210. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.
Howth Head SAC	Located c. 4.6km	1230 Vegetated sea cliffs of the Atlantic and Baltic coasts
[000202]	south east of the	4030 European dry heaths
	Proposed Development	S.I. No. 524/2021 - European Union Habitats (Howth Head Special Area of Conservation 000202) Regulations 2021
		NPWS (2016) Conservation Objectives: Howth Head SAC 000202. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage, Regional, Rural and Gaeltacht Affairs.
Ireland's Eye SAC	Located c. 5.3km	1220 Perennial vegetation of stony banks
[002193]	east of the	1230 Vegetated sea cliffs of the Atlantic and Baltic coasts
	Development	S.I. No. 501/2017 - European Union Habitats (Ireland's Eye Special Area of Conservation 002193) Regulations 2017
		NPWS (2017) Conservation Objectives: Ireland's Eye SAC 002193. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage, Regional, Rural and Gaeltacht Affairs.
Lambay Island SAC	Located c. 7.5km	1170 Reefs
[000204]	east of the	1230 Vegetated sea cliffs of the Atlantic and Baltic coasts
	Development	1351 Harbour porpoise Phocoena phocoena
		1364 Grey seal Halichoerus grypus
		1365 Harbour seal Phoca vitulina
		S.I. No. 294/2019 - European Union Habitats (Lambay Island Special Area of Conservation 000204) Regulations 2019
		NPWS (2013) Conservation Objectives: Lambay Island SAC 000204. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.











Site Name	Distance	Reasons for Designation – QIs or SCIs
		(*=priority Annex I Habitat)
Clogher Head SAC	Located c. 10.7km	1230 Vegetated sea cliffs of the Atlantic and Baltic coasts
[001459]	north east of the	4030 European dry heaths
	Development	S.I. No. 610/2019 - European Union Habitats (Clogher Head Special Area of Conservation 001459) Regulations 2019
		NPWS (2017) Conservation Objectives: Clogher Head SAC 001459. Version
		1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage, Regional, Rural and Gaeltacht Affairs.
Special Protection A	areas (SPAs)	
Malahide Estuary	The Proposed	A005 Great Crested Grebe Podiceps cristatus
SPA [004025]	Development lies	A046 Light-bellied Brent Goose Branta bernicla hrota
	within this	A048 Shelduck Tadorna tadorna
	European site	A054 Pintail Anas acuta
	boundary	A067 Goldeneve Bucephala clangula
		A069 Red-breasted Merganser Mergus serrator
		A130 Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus
		A140 Golden Plover Pluvialis apricaria
		A141 Grev Plover Pluvialis squatarola
		A143 Knot Calidris canutus
		A149 Dunlin Calidris alpina
		A156 Black-tailed Godwit Limosa limosa
		A157 Bar-tailed Godwit Limosa lapponica
		A162 Redshank Tringa totanus
		A999 Wetlands
		S.I. No. 285/2011 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (Malahide Estuary Special Protection Area 004025)) Regulations 2011.
		NPWS (2013) Conservation Objectives: Malahide Estuary SPA 004025. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.
Rogerstown Estuary	The Proposed	A043 Greylag Goose Anser anser
SPA [004015]	Development lies within this	A046 Light-bellied Brent Goose Branta bernicla hrota
		A048 Shelduck Tadorna tadorna
	European site	A056 Shoveler Anas clypeata
	boundary	A130 Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus
		A137 Ringed Plover Charadrius hiaticula
		A141 Grey Plover Pluvialis squatarola
		A143 Knot Calidris canutus
		A149 Dunlin Calidris alpina alpina
		A156 Black-tailed Godwit Limosa limosa
		A162 Redshank Tringa totanus
		A999 Wetlands
		S.I. No. 271/2010 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds
		(Rogerstown Estuary Special Protection Area 004015)) Regulations 2010











Site Name	Distance	Reasons for Designation – QIs or SCIs
		(*=priority Annex I Habitat)
		NPWS (2013) Conservation Objectives: Rogerstown Estuary SPA 004015. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.
River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA [004158]	The Proposed Development lies within this European site boundary	 A130 Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus A137 Ringed Plover Charadrius hiaticula A140 Golden Plover Pluvialis apricaria A143 Knot Calidris canutus A144 Sanderling Calidris alba A184 Herring Gull Larus argentatus A999 Wetlands S.I. No. 140/2012 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA 004158)) Regulations 2012. NPWS (2012) Conservation Objectives: River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA 004158. Version 1.0. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.
North-West Irish Sea SPA [004236]	Located c. 10m east of the Proposed Development	 [A065] Common Scoter Melanitta nigra [A001] Red-throated Diver Gavia stellata [A003] Great Northern Diver Gavia immer [A009] Fulmar Fulmarus glacialis [A013] Manx Shearwater Puffinus puffinus [A013] Manx Shearwater Puffinus puffinus [A018] Shag Phalacrocorax aristotelis [A017] Cormorant Phalacrocorax carbo [A177] Little Gull Larus minutus [A188] Kittiwake Rissa tridactyla [A179] Black-headed Gull Chroicocephalus ridibundus [A182] Common Gull Larus canus [A183] Lesser Black-backed Gull Larus fuscus [A184] Herring Gull Larus argentatus [A187] Great Black-backed Gull Larus marinus [A192] Roseate Tern Sterna albifrons [A192] Roseate Tern Sterna hirundo [A193] Common Tern Sterna hirundo [A194] Arctic Tern Sterna paradisaea [A204] Puffin Fratercula arctica [A200] Razorbill Alca torda [A199] Guillemot Uria aalge NPWS (2023b) Conservation Objectives: North-West Irish Sea SPA 004236. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage.











Site Name	Distance	Reasons for Designation – QIs or SCIs
		(*=priority Annex I Habitat)
Boyne Estuary SPA	Located c. 400m	A048 Shelduck Tadorna tadorna
[004080]	north east of the	A130 Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus
	Proposed	A140 Golden Plover Pluvialis apricaria
	Development	A141 Grey Plover Pluvialis squatarola
		A142 Lapwing Vanellus vanellus
		A143 Knot Calidris canutus
		A144 Sanderling Calidris alba
		A156 Black-tailed Godwit Limosa limosa
		A162 Redshank Tringa totanus
		A169 Turnstone Arenaria interpres
		A195 Little Tern Sterna albifrons
		A999 Wetlands
		S.I. No. 626/2011 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (Boyne Estuary Special Protection Area 004080)) Regulations 2011.
		NPWS (2013) Conservation Objectives: Boyne Estuary SPA 004080. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.
South Dublin Bay	Located c. 500m	A046 Light-bellied Brent Goose Branta bernicla hrota
and River Tolka	south east of the	A130 Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus
Estuary SPA	Proposed	A137 Ringed Plover Charadrius hiaticula
[004024]	Development	A141 Grey Plover Pluvialis squatarola
		A143 Knot Calidris canutus
		A144 Sanderling Calidris alba
		A149 Dunlin Calidris alpina
		A157 Bar-tailed Godwit Limosa lapponica
		A162 Redshank Tringa totanus
		A179 Black-headed Gull Chroicocephalus ridibundus
		A192 Roseate Tern Sterna dougallii
		A193 Common Tern Sterna hirundo
		A194 Arctic Tern Sterna paradisaea
		A999 Wetlands
		S.I. No. 212/2010 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary Special Protection Area 004024)) Regulations 2010.
		NPWS (2015) Conservation Objectives: South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA 004024. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service,
		Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.
Baldoyle Bay SPA	Located c. 600m	A046 Light-bellied Brent Goose Branta bernicla hrota
[004016]	east of the Proposed Development	A048 Shelduck Tadorna tadorna
		A137 Ringed Plover Charadrius hiaticula
		A140 Golden Plover Pluvialis apricaria
		A141 Grey Plover Pluvialis squatarola
		A157 Bar-tailed Godwit Limosa lapponica
		A999 Wetlands











Site Name	Distance	Reasons for Designation – QIs or SCIs
		(*=priority Annex I Habitat)
		S.I. No. 275/2010 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (Baldoyle Bay Special Protection Area 004016)) Regulations 2010
		NPWS (2013) Conservation Objectives: Baldoyle Bay SPA 004016. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.
North Bull Island	Located c. 1km	A046 Light-bellied Brent Goose Branta bernicla hrota
SPA [004006]	east of the	A048 Shelduck Tadorna tadorna
	Proposed	A052 Teal Anas crecca
	Development	A054 Pintail Anas acuta
		A056 Shoveler Anas clypeata
		A130 Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus
		A140 Golden Plover Pluvialis apricaria
		A141 Grey Plover Pluvialis squatarola
		A143 Knot Calidris canutus
		A144 Sanderling Calidris alba
		A149 Dunlin Calidris alpina
		A156 Black-tailed Godwit Limosa limosa
		A157 Bar-tailed Godwit Limosa lapponica
		A160 Curlew Numenius arquata
		A162 Redshank Tringa totanus
		A169 Turnstone Arenaria interpres
		A179 Black-headed Gull Chroicocephalus ridibundus
		A999 Wetlands
		S.I. No. 211/2010 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (North Bull Island Special Protection Area 004006)) Regulations 2010.
		NPWS (2015) Conservation Objectives: North Bull Island SPA 004006. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.
Skerries Islands	Located c. 1.4km	A017 Cormorant Phalacrocorax carbo
SPA [004006]	east of the	A018 Shag Phalacrocorax aristotelis
	Proposed	A046 Light-bellied Brent Goose Branta bernicla hrota
	Development	A148 Purple Sandpiper Calidris maritima
		A169 Turnstone Arenaria interpres
		A184 Herring Gull Larus argentatus
		S.I. No. 245/2010 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (Skerries Islands Special Protection Area 004122)) Regulations 2010.
		NPWS (2022) Conservation Objectives for Skerries Islands SPA [004122]. First Order site Specific Conservation Objectives Version 1.0. Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage.











Site Name	Distance	Reasons for Designation – QIs or SCIs
		(*=priority Annex I Habitat)
Rockabill SPA	Located c. 3.5km	A148 Purple Sandpiper Calidris maritima
[004014]	east of the	A192 Roseate Tern Sterna dougallii
	Proposed	A193 Common Tern Sterna hirundo
	Development	A194 Arctic Tern Sterna paradisaea
		S.I. No. 94/2012 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (Rockabill Special Protection Area 004014)) Regulations 2012.
		NPWS (2013) Conservation Objectives: Rockabill SPA [004122]. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.
River Boyne and	Located c. 3.7km	A229 Kingfisher Alcedo atthis
River Blackwater SPA [004232]	north west of the Proposed Development	S.I. No. 462/2012 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (River Boyne and River Blackwater Special Protection Area 004232)) Regulations 2012.
		NPWS (2022) Conservation objectives for River Boyne and River Blackwater SPA [004232]. First Order site Specific Conservation Objectives Version 1.0Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage.
Ireland's Eye SPA	Located c. 5.4km	A017 Cormorant Phalacrocorax carbo
[004117]	east of the	A184 Herring Gull Larus argentatus
	Proposed	A188 Kittiwake Rissa tridactyla
	Development	A199 Guillemot Uria aalge
		A200 Razorbill Alca torda
		S.I. No. 240/2010 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (Ireland's Eye Special Protection Area 004117)) Regulations 2010.
		NPWS (2022) Conservation objectives for Ireland's Eye SPA [004117]. First Order site Specific Conservation Objectives Version 1.0. Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage
Howth Head Coast	Located c.6.5km	A188 Kittiwake Rissa tridactyla
SPA [004113]	east of the Proposed Development	S.I. No. 185/2012 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (Howth Head Coast Special Protection Area 004113)) Regulations 2012.
		NPWS (2021) Conservation objectives for Howth Head Coast SPA [004113]. First Order site Specific Conservation Objectives Version 1.0. Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage.
Lambay Island SPA	Located c. 7.5km	A009 Fulmar Fulmarus glacialis
[004069]	east of the Proposed Development	A017 Cormorant Phalacrocorax carbo
		A018 Shag Phalacrocorax aristotelis
		A043 Greylag Goose Anser anser
		A183 Lesser Black-backed Gull Larus fuscus
		A184 Herring Gull Larus argentatus
		A188 Kittiwake Rissa tridactyla
		A199 Guillemot Uria aalge
		A200 Razorbill Alca torda
		A204 Puffin Fratercula arctica
		S.I. No. 242/2010 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (Lambay Island Special Protection Area 004069)) Regulations 2010.
		NPWS (2022) Conservation objectives for Lambay Island SPA [004069].











Site Name	Distance	Reasons for Designation – QIs or SCIs
		(*=priority Annex I Habitat)
		First Order site Specific Conservation Objectives Version 1.0. Department of
		Housing, Local Government and Heritage.
Dalkey Islands SPA	Located c.12.8km	A192 Roseate Tern Sterna dougallii
[004172]	south east of the	A193 Common Tern Sterna hirundo
	Proposed Development	A194 Arctic Tern Sterna paradisaea
	Development	NPWS (2022) Conservation objectives for Dalkey Islands SPA [004172]. First Order Site specific Conservation Objectives Version 1.0. Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage.
		S.I. No. 238/2010 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (Dalkey Islands Special Protection Area 004172)) Regulations 2010.
Wicklow Mountains	Located c. 14km	A098 Merlin Falco columbarius
SPA [004040]	south west of the	A103 Peregrine Falco peregrinus
	Development	S.I. No. 586/2012 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (Wicklow Mountains Special Protection Area 004040)) Regulations 2012
		NPWS (2022) Conservation Objectives for Wicklow Mountain SPA 004040. First Order site Specific Conservation Objectives Version 1.0. Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage.
Dundalk Bay SPA	Located c. 17.5km	A005 Great Crested Grebe Podiceps cristatus
[004026]	north of the	A043 Greylag Goose Anser anser
	Proposed	A046 Light-bellied Brent Goose Branta bernicla hrota
	Development	A048 Shelduck Tadorna tadorna
		A052 Teal Anas crecca
		A053 Mallard Anas platyrhynchos
		A054 Pintail Anas acuta
		A065 Common Scoter Melanitta nigra
		A069 Red-breasted Merganser Mergus serrator
		A130 Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus
		A137 Ringed Plover Charadrius hiaticula
		A140 Golden Plover Pluvialis apricaria
		A141 Grey Plover Pluvialis squatarola
		A142 Lapwing Vanellus vanellus
		A143 Knot Calidris canutus
		A149 Dunlin Calidris alpina
		A156 Black-tailed Godwit Limosa limosa
		A157 Bar-tailed Godwit Limosa lapponica
		A160 Curlew Numenius arquata
		A162 Redshank Tringa totanus
		A179 Black-headed Gull Chroicocephalus ridibundus
		A182 Common Gull Larus canus
		A184 Herring Gull Larus argentatus
		A999 Wetlands
		S.I. No. 310/2012 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (Dundalk Bay Special Protection Area 004026)) Regulations 2012.











Site Name	Distance	Reasons for Designation – QIs or SCIs
		(*=priority Annex I Habitat)
		NPWS (2011) Conservation Objectives: Dundalk Bay SAC 000455 and Dundalk Bay SPA 004026. Version 1.0. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.
Stabannan-	Located c. 19.2km	A043 Greylag Goose Anser anser
Braganstown SPA [004091]	north of the Proposed Development	S.I. No. 546/2011 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (Stabannan-Braganstown Special Protection Area 004091)) Regulations 2011
		NPWS (2022) Conservation Objectives: Stabannan-Braganstown SPA 004091. First Order site Specific Conservation Objectives Version 1.0 National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage.
The Murrough SPA	Located c. 30km	A001 Red-throated Diver Gavia stellata
[004186]	from the Proposed	A043 Greylag Goose Anser anser
	Development	A046 Light-bellied Brent Goose Branta bernicla hrota
		A050 Wigeon Anas penelope
		A052 Teal Anas crecca
		A179 Black-headed Gull Chroicocephalus ridibundus
		A184 Herring Gull Larus argentatus
		A195 Little Tern Sterna albifrons
		S.I. No. 298/2011 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (The Murrough Special Protection Area 004186)) Regulations 2011
		NPWS (2022) Conservation objectives for The Murrough SPA [004186]. First Order Sites Specific Conservation Objectives Version 1.0. Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage
Wicklow Head SPA	Located c. 42km	A188 Kittiwake Rissa tridactyla
[004127]	south of the Proposed Development	NPWS (2022) Conservation objectives for Wicklow Head SPA [004127]. First Order Site specific Conservation Objectives Version 1.0. Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage.
Seas Off Wexford	Located c. 90km	A001 Red-throated Diver Gavia stellata
SPA [004237]	south of the Proposed Development	A009 Fulmar Fulmarus glacialis
		A013 Manx Shearwater Puffinus puffinus
		A016 Gannet Morus bassanus
		A017 Cormorant Phalacrocorax carbo
		A018 Shag Phalacrocorax aristotelis
		A065 Common Scoter Melanitta nigra
		A176 Mediterranean Gull Larus melanocephalus
		A179 Black-headed Gull Chroicocephalus ridibundus
		A183 Lesser Black-backed Gull Larus fuscus
		A184 Herring Gull Larus argentatus
		A188 Kittiwake Rissa tridactyla
		A191 Sandwich Tern Sterna sandvicensis
		A192 Roseate Tern Sterna dougallii
		A193 Common Tern Sterna hirundo
		A194 Arctic Tern Sterna paradisaea
		A195 Little Tern Sterna albifrons
		A199 Guillemot Uria aalge





larnród Éireann





Site Name	Distance	Reasons for Designation – QIs or SCIs
		(*=priority Annex I Habitat)
		A200 Razorbill Alca torda
		A204 Puffin Fratercula arctica
		NPWS (2024) Conservation Objectives: Seas off Wexford SPA 004237. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage.
Saltee Islands SPA	Located 137km	A009 Fulmar Fulmarusglacialis
[004002]	south of the Proposed Development	A016 Gannet Morus bassanus
		A018 Shag Phalacrocorax aristotelis
		A188 Kittiwake Rissa tridactyla
		A199 Guillemot Uria aalge
		A200 Razorbill Alca torda
		A204 Puffin Fratercula arctica
		NPWS (2011) Conservation Objectives: Saltee Islands SAC000707 and Saltee Islands SPA 004002. Version 1.0. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.

1.2 Appendix 1.2: Desktop Records

Desktop records of protected, rare, or other notable plant species are listed below in Table 1-2. These are plant species which are legally protected under the Flora (Protection) Order, 2015 and/or are listed as Critically Endangered, Endangered or Vulnerable on the relevant national Red Data list for Ireland.

Table 1-2Records of protected, red-listed or notable flora recorded from the desk study
in the vicinity of the study area

Common Name/ Scientific name	Legal Status1	Red List Status	Source
Betony Stachys officinalis	FPO	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O13)
Black Horehound Ballota nigra	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O13, O24, and O25)
Brackish Water-crowfoot Ranunculus baudotii	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O16)
Bugloss Anchusa arvensis	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O24 and O25)
Common Gromwell Lithospermum officinale	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O13)
Curved Hard-grass Parapholis incurva	FPO	Endangered	NBDC online database record (O23)

¹ HDII/IV/V = Habitats Directive Annexes II/IV/V; FPO = Flora (Protection) Order, 2022; WA = Wildlife Acts











Common Name/ Scientific name	Legal Status1	Red List Status	Source
Dittander <i>Lepidium latifolium</i>	None	Vulnerable	NBDC online database record (O13)
Dwarf Mallow Malva neglecta	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O13)
Corn marigold Glebionis segetum	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O14, O16, O17, O24, and O25)
Great Burnet Sanguisorba officinalis	FPO	Endangered	NBDC online database record (O13)
Greater Knapweed Centaurea scabiosa	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O13)
Green-winged Orchid Anacamptis morio	None	Vulnerable	NBDC online database record (O25)
Hairy St John's-wort Hypericum hirsutum	None	Endangered	NBDC online database record (O13)
Hairy Violet <i>Viola hirta</i>	FPO	Endangered	NBDC online database record (O13)
Hound's-tongue Cynoglossum officinale	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O17 and O24)
Irish Whitebeam Sorbus hibernica	None	Vulnerable	NBDC online database record (O13 and O24)
Lesser Centaury Centaurium pulchellum	FPO	Endangered	NBDC online database record (O23)
Little-robin <i>Geranium purpureum</i>	None	Endangered	NBDC online database record (O23)
Meadow Barley <i>Hordeum secalinum</i>	FPO	Endangered	NBDC online database record (O13, O14, O17, O23, O24, and O25)
Meadow Crane's-bill Geranium pratense	None	Vulnerable	NBDC online database record (O13)
Milk Thistle Silybum marianum	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O13 and O24)
Nettle-leaved Bellflower Campanula trachelium	None	Endangered	NBDC online database record (O13)
Opposite-leaved Pondweed Groenlandia densa	FPO	Endangered	NBDC online database record (O13)
Pale Flax Linum bienne	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O13, O17, O18, O23 and O24)
Prickly Poppy Papaver argemone	None	Vulnerable	NBDC online database record (O24 and O25)











Common Name/ Scientific name	Legal Status1	Red List Status	Source
Prostrate Broom Cytisus scoparius subsp. maritimus	None	Vulnerable	NBDC online database record (O23 and O24)
Purple Spurge Euphorbia peplis	None	Regionally Extinct	NBDC online database record (O13)
Rough Clover <i>Trifolium scabrum</i>	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O17 and O26)
Round-leaved Crane's-bill Geranium rotundifolium	None	Endangered	NBDC online database record (O13)
Saltmarsh Flat-sedge Blysmus rufus	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O23)
Sea Pea Lathyrus japonicus	FPO	Data deficient	NBDC online database record (O23)
Sea-kale Crambe maritima	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O16 and O23)
Slender Thistle Carduus tenuiflorus	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O13, O18, O23, and O24)
Slender Tufted-sedge <i>Carex acuta</i>	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O23)
Small Cudweed Filago minima	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O13)
Smooth Brome Bromus racemosus	None	Vulnerable	NBDC online database record (O14)
Spring Vetch Vicia lathyroides	None	Least concern	NBDC online database record (O13)
Strawberry-tree Arbutus unedo	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O13 and O23)
Tubular Water-dropwort Oenanthe fistulosa	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O13)
Upright Brome <i>Bromopsis erecta</i>	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O13, O24, and O25)
Water-violet Hottonia palustris	None	Vulnerable	NBDC online database record (O13)
Cladonia portentosa	HD_V	Data deficient	NBDC online database record (O23)
Bearded Pawwort Barbilophozia barbata	None	Critically Endangered	NBDC online database record (O23)
Cliff Scalewort Porella cordaeana	None	Near threatened	NBDC online database record (O07, O16, and O17)
Petalwort Petalophyllum ralfsii	FPO, HD_II	Least concern	NBDC online database record (O23 and O24)



Desktop records of protected, rare, or other notable fauna species are listed below in Table 1-3. In relation to fauna species those which are protected under the Habitats Directive and/or are listed as threatened (Vulnerable to Critically Endangered) on the relevant national Red Lists are included. In the case of bird species, only those species listed in Annex I of the Birds Directive or on the Birds of Conservation Concern in Ireland (BoCCI) Red List are included in the table below. For invertebrate species, those which are listed as threatened (Vulnerable to Critically Endangered) on the relevant national Red List are included.

Common Name/	Legal Status2	Red List	Source
Scientific Name		Status ³	
Mammals (Marine)			
Bottle-nosed dolphin	HD_II & IV, WA	n/a	NBDC online database record (O16,
Tursiops truncatus			O17, O18, O23, O24, and O26)
Harbour porpoise	HD_II & IV, WA	n/a	NBDC online database record (O13,
Phocoena phocoena			O16, O17, O18, O23, O24, O25, and O26)
Common seal	HD_II & IV, WA	n/a	NBDC online database record (O17,
Phoca vitulina			O18, O23, O24, O25, and O26)
Grey seal	HD_II & IV, WA	n/a	NBDC online database record (O13,
Halichoerus grypus			O16, O17, O18, O23, O24, O25, and O26)
Mammals (Terrestrial)			
Otter	HD_II & IV, WA	Least	NBDC online database record (O13
Lutra lutra		concern	and O25)
Fish			
Allis Shad	HD_II & IV	Data deficient	NBDC online database record (O18)
Alosa alosa			

Table 1-3Records of protected, red-listed or notable fauna from the desktop study in
the vicinity of the study area

Water beetles from Foster, G. N., Nelson, B. H. & O Connor, Á. (2009) Ireland Red List No. 1 - Water beetles.

² HD_II/IV/V = Habitats Directive Annexes II/IV/V; WA = Wildlife Acts; BD_I/II/III = Birds Directive Annex I/II/III; OSPAR = Convention for the protection of the marine environment of the North-east Atlantic 1992

³ Mammal Red-list from Marnell, F., Kingston, N. & Looney, D. (2009) *Ireland Red List No. 3: Terrestrial Mammals* and Marnell, F., Looney, D. & Lawton, C. (2019) *Ireland Red List No. 12: Terrestrial Mammals*.

Birds from Gilbert, G., Stanbury, A. & Lewis, L (2021) Birds of Conservation Concern in Ireland 4: 2020–2026. Irish Birds 43: 1–22.

Amphibians, reptiles and fish from King, J.L., Marnell, F., Kingston, N., Rosell, R., Boylan, P., Caffrey, J.M., Fitzpatrick, Ú., Gargan, P.G., Kelly, F.L., O'Grady, M.F., Poole, R., Roche, W.K. & Cassidy, D. (2011) Ireland Red List No. 5: Amphibians, Reptiles & Freshwater Fish.

Non-Marine Molluscs from Byrne, A., Moorkens, E.A., Anderson, R., Killeen, I.J. & Regan, E.C. (2009) *Ireland Red List No. 2 – Non-Marine Molluscs*.

Butterflies from Regan, E.C., Nelson, B., Aldwell, B., Bertrand, C., Bond, K., Harding, J., Nash, D., Nixon, D., & Wilson, C.J. (2010) Ireland Red List No. 4 – Butterflies.

Moths from Allen, D., O'Donnell, M., Nelson, B., Tyner, A., Bond, K.G.M., Bryant, T., Crory, A., Mellon, C., O'Boyle, J., O'Donnell, E., Rolston, T., Sheppard, R., Strickland, P., Fitzpatrick, U., & Regan, E. (2016) *Ireland Red List No. 9: Macro-moths (Lepidoptera).*

Damselflies and dragonflies from Nelson, B., Ronayne, C. & Thompson, R. (2011) Ireland Red List No.6: Damselflies & Dragonflies (Odonata).











Common Name/ Scientific Name	Legal Status2	Red List Status ³	Source
Birds			
Arctic Tern	WA, BD_I	Amber	NBDC online database record (O13)
Sterna paradisaea			
Atlantic Puffin	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O23)
Fratercula arctica			
Bar-tailed Godwit	WA, BD_I	Amber	NBDC online database record (O07)
Limosa lapponica			
Bewick's Swan	WA, BD_I	Red	NBDC online database record (O18)
Cygnus columbianus subsp. bewickii			
Black Guillemot	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O13)
Cepphus grylle			
Black Tern	WA, BD_I	n/a	NBDC online database record (O23)
Chlidonias niger			
Black-headed Gull	WA	Red	NBDC online database record (O06)
Chrocicephalus ridibundus			
Black-legged Kittiwake	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O07)
Rissa tridactyla			
Black-necked Grebe	WA	Red	NBDC online database record (O24)
Podiceps nigricollis			
Black-tailed Godwit	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O13)
Limosa limosa			
Black-throated Diver	WA, BD_I	Amber	NBDC online database record (O18)
Gavia arctica			
Light bellied Brent Goose	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O13)
Branta bernicla hrota			
Common Coot	WA, BD_II(I),	Amber	NBDC online database record (O06)
Fulica atra	BD_III(II)		
Common Eider	WA, BD_II(II),	Amber	NBDC online database record (O17)
Somateria mollissima	BD_III(II)		
Common Goldeneye	WA, BD_II(II)	Amber	NBDC online database record (O07)
Bucephala clangula			
Common Greenshank	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O07)
Tringa nebularia			
Common Guillemot	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O08)
Uria aalge			
Common Kingfisher	WA, BD_I	Amber	NBDC online database record (O06)
Alcedo atthis			
Common Pochard	WA, BD_II(I),	Amber	NBDC online database record (O07)
Aythya ferina	BD_III(II)		











Common Name/ Scientific Name	Legal Status2	Red List Status ³	Source
Common Redshank	WA	Red	NBDC online database record (O07)
Tringa totanus			
Common Sandpiper	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O07)
Actitis hypoleucos			
Common Scoter	WA, BD_II(II),	Red	NBDC online database record (O16)
Melanitta nigra	BD_III(III)		
Common Shelduck	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O07)
Tadorna tadorna			
Common Snipe	WA, BD_II(I),	Amber	NBDC online database record (O06)
Gallinago gallinago	BD_III(III)		
Common Tern	WA, BD_I	Amber	NBDC online database record (O07)
Sterna hirundo			
Corn Crake	WA, BD_I	Red	NBDC online database record (O06)
Crex crex			
Dunlin	WA, BD_I	Amber	NBDC online database record (O13)
Calidris alpina			
Eurasian Curlew	WA, BD_II(II)	Red	NBDC online database record (O06)
Numenius arquata			
Eurasian Marsh Harrier	WA	n/a	NBDC online database record (O25)
Circus aeruginosus			
Eurasian Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O07)
Eurasian Teal	WA, BD_II(I),	Amber	NBDC online database record (O06)
Anas crecca	BD_III(II)		
Eurasian Wigeon	WA, BD_II(I),	Amber	NBDC online database record (O07)
Anas penelope	BD_III(II)		
Eurasian Woodcock	WA, BD_II(I),	Amber	NBDC online database record (O06)
Scolopax rusticola	BD [_] III(III)		
European Golden Plover	WA, BD_I,	Red	NBDC online database record (O06)
Pluvialis apricaria	BD_II(II), BD_III(III)		
European Shag	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O13)
Phalacrocorax aristotelis			
European Storm-petrel	WA, BD_I	Amber	NBDC online database record (O26)
Hydrobates pelagicus			
Gadwall	WA, BD_II(I)	Amber	NBDC online database record (O08)
Anas strepera			
Garganey	WA, BD_II(I)	Amber	NBDC online database record (O16)
Anas querquedula			











Common Name/	Legal Status2	Red List	Source
Scientific Name		Status	
Goosander	WA, BD_II(II)	Amber	NBDC online database record (O07)
Mergus merganser			
Great Black-backed Gull	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O07)
Larus marinus			
Great Cormorant	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O06)
Phalacrocorax carbo			
Great Crested Grebe	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O07)
Podiceps cristatus			
Great Northern Diver	WA, BD_I	n/a	NBDC online database record (O13)
Gavia immer			
Great Skua	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O17)
Stercorarius skua			
Greater Scaup	WA, BD_II(II),	Amber	NBDC online database record (O13)
Aythya marila	BD_III(III)		
Grey Plover	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O13)
Pluvialis squatarola			
Hen Harrier	WA, BD_I	Amber	NBDC online database record (O07)
Circus cyaneus			
Herring Gull	WA	Red	NBDC online database record (O06)
Larus argentatus			
Lesser Black-backed Gull	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O07)
Larus fuscus			
Little Egret	WA, BD_I	n/a	NBDC online database record (O07)
Egretta garzetta			
Little Grebe	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O06)
Tachybaptus ruficollis			
Little Gull	WA, BD_I	n/a	NBDC online database record (O14)
Larus minutus			
Little Tern	WA, BD_I	Amber	NBDC online database record (O13)
Sternula albifrons			
Long-tailed Duck	WA, BD_II(II)	n/a	NBDC online database record (O08)
Clangula hyemalis			
Mallard	WA, BD_II(I),	n/a	NBDC online database record (O06)
Anas platyrhynchos	BD_III(I)		
Manx Shearwater	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O13)
Puffinus puffinus			
Mediterranean Gull	WA, BD_I	Amber	NBDC online database record (O13)
Larus melanocephalus			
Merlin	WA, BD_I	Amber	NBDC online database record (O07)











Common Name/	Legal Status2	Red List Status ³	Source
		olatao	
Mew Gull	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O06)
Larus canus			
Mute Swan	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O06)
Cygnus olor			
Northern Gannet	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O08)
Morus bassanus			
Northern Lapwing	WA, BD_II(II)	Red	NBDC online database record (O06)
Vanellus vanellus			
Northern Pintail	WA, BD_II(I),	Red	NBDC online database record (O07)
Anas acuta	BD_III(II)		
Northern Shoveler	WA, BD_II(I),	Red	NBDC online database record (O07)
Anas clypeata	BD_III(III)		
Peregrine Falcon	WA, BD_I	n/a	NBDC online database record (O07)
Falco peregrinus			
Razorbill	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O16)
Alca torda			
Red Knot	WA	Red	NBDC online database record (O13)
Calidris canutus			
Red-breasted Merganser	WA, BD II(II)	n/a	NBDC online database record (O07)
Mergus serrator			
Red-throated Diver	WA, BD I	Amber	NBDC online database record (O13)
Gavia stellata			
Ringed Plover	WA	Amber	NBDC online database record (O13)
Charadrius hiaticula			
Roseate Tern	WA. BD I	Amber	NBDC online database record (O16)
Sterna dougallii	,		
Ruff	WA BD I	Amber	NBDC online database record (Q14)
Philomachus pugnax			
Sandwich Tern		Amber	NBDC online database record (Q17)
Sterna sandvicensis		7 (mber	
Tuffed Duck		Amber	NBDC online database record (007)
Avthva fuliqula	BD_III(II)	Amber	NDDC online database record (COT)
Twite		Pod	NRDC online detabase record (012)
Carduelis flavirostris	VVA	Reu	Unime database record (U13)
Valuet Caster			
Velvet Scoter	VVA, BD_II(II)	n/a	טשאו online database record (U14)
vvnooper Swan	VVA, BD_I	Amber	NBDC online database record (O07)
Cygnus cygnus			







Common Name/ Scientific Name	Legal Status2	Red List Status ³	Source		
Wood Sandpiper	WA, BD_I	Amber	NBDC online database record (O25)		
Tringa glareola					
Invertebrates					
Desmoulin's Whorl Snail	HD_II, WA	HD_II, WA,	NBDC online database record (O07)		
Vertigo (Vertigo) moulinsiana		Endangered			
Marsh Fritillary	HD_II	HD_II ,	NBDC online database record (O13,		
Euphydryas aurinia		Vulnerable	O14, and O23)		

1.3 Appendix 1.3: Wintering bird survey results

The desk study records from the NBDC include 148 wintering waterfowl, gull and wader species. Including 31 species listed under Annex I of the Birds Directive within c. 2km of the Proposed Development site.

Table 1-4, Table 1-5, Table 1-6, Table 1-7, Table 1-8, Table 1-9 below provides a summary of the findings of the winter bird surveys with respect to those species which are of highest conservation concern, and were recorded within winter bird survey sites:

- Special Conservation Interests (SCIs), for a wintering population, of nearby SPAs
- Species listed under Annex I of the Birds Directive (2008/144/EC)

Table 1-10 provides a summary of the flight lines of all SCI bird species recorded flying over the Proposed Development. Table 1-11 details the survey conditions of all surveys undertaken.

ific ode	Recorded activity, peak count		activity, peak Conservation Importance		ortance		
Common name/Scient name/BTO C	Oct 2021 – Mar 2022	Oct 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W – Wintering)	Annex I	Nearest European site	Threshold of Inter-nationa Population4	Threshold of National Population5
Bar-tailed godwit <i>Limosa lapponica</i> (BA)	17 foraging at Laytown beach (05/11/2021)	4 foraging at Laytown beach (02/12/2022)	Red (W)	~	Malahide Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	1,500	170

Table 1-4Vantage Point Records of Wintering Birds of Conservation Concern at the
Laytown September 2021 – March 2023

⁴ Wetlands International. 2012. Waterbird Population Estimates, Fifth Edition. Summary Report Wetlands International, Wageningen The Netherlands (with estimates available at http://wpe.wetlands.org/).

⁵ Crowe, O., & Holt, C. 2013. Estimates of waterbird numbers wintering in Ireland, 2006/07 – 2010/11. Irish Birds 9, 545-552.





Iarnród Éireann





fic ode	Recorded activity, peak count		ty, peak Conservation Importance				
Common name/Scienti name/BTO C	Oct 2021 – Mar 2022	Oct 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W - Wintering)	Annex I	Nearest European site	Threshold of Inter-nationa Population4	Threshold of National Population5
Black-headed gull Chroicocephalus ridibundus (BH)	56 foraging at Laytown beach (02/12/2021)	28 foraging at Laytown beach (02/12/2022)	Amber (B/W)	-	South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, c. 500m south east of the Proposed Development	31,000	n/a
Black-tailed godwit <i>Limosa limosa</i> (BW)	24 foraging at Laytown beach (28/09/2021)	3 flying over Laytown viaduct (17/11/2022; 09/02/2023)	Red (W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	1,100	200
Light-bellied brent goose <i>Branta</i> <i>bernicla</i> (BG)	104 foraging at Laytown beach (05/11/2021)	83 foraging at Laytown beach (15/12/2022)	Amber (W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	400	350
Common gull <i>Larus canus</i> (CM)	31 foraging at Laytown beach (05/11/2021)	38 foraging at Seafield GAA pitches (17/11/2022)	Amber (B/W)	-	Dundalk Bay SPA, c. 17.5km north of the Proposed Development	16,400	n/a
Cormorant Phalacrocorax carbo (CA)	1 foraging in Irish sea and also recorded within the River Nanny (28/09/2021; 08/10/2021; 22/10/2021; & 06/10/2022)	1 flying over Laytown viaduct (08/11/2022; 17/11/2022; 15/12/2022; 05/01/2023; 09/02/2023; & 24/03/2023)	Amber (B/W)	-	Skerries Islands SPA, located c. 1.4km east of the Proposed Development	1,200	110
Curlew Numenius arquata (CU)	6 foraging at Laytown beach (22/10/2021)	25 flying over Laytown viaduct (24/03/2023)	Red (B/W)	-	North Bull Island SPA, located c. 1km east of the Proposed Development	7,600	350











ific ode	Recorded activity, peak count		Conservation Importance				
Common name/Scienti name/BTO C	Oct 2021 – Mar 2022	Oct 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W - Wintering)	Annex I	Nearest European site	Threshold of Inter-nationa Population4	Threshold of National Population5
Dunlin Calidris alpina (DN)	57 foraging at Laytown beach (04/02/2022)	90 foraging at Laytown beach (05/01/2023)	Red (B/W)	~	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	13,300	460
Golden plover <i>Pluvialis apricaria</i> (GP)	330 loafing at Laytown beach (04/03/2022)	23 foraging at Laytown beach (09/02/2023)	Red (B/W)	✓ 	Malahide Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	9,300	920
Great crested grebe <i>Podiceps</i> <i>cristatus</i> (GG)	None recorded during surveys in 2021/22 period	9 swimming in Irish Sea (08/11/2022)	Amber (B/W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	6,300	30
Great northern diver <i>Gavia</i> <i>immer</i> (ND)	None recorded during surveys in 2021/22 period	2 foraging in Irish Sea (08/11/2022)	Amber (W)	V	Inner Galway Bay SPA, located c. 180km west of the Proposed Development	50	20
Greenshank <i>Tringa nebularia</i> (GK)	2 foraging at Laytown beach (28/09/2021)	1 foraging at Laytown beach (15/12/2022 & 09/02/2023)	Green (W)	-	The River Shannon and River Fergus Estuaries SPA, c. 185km south west of the Proposed Development	3,300	20
Grey plover <i>Pluvialis</i> <i>squatarola</i> (GV)	1 foraging at Laytown beach (02/12/2021; 06/01/2022; 04/02/2022; & 04/03/2022)	2 foraging at Laytown beach (08/11/2022 & 17/11/2022)	Red (W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	2,000	30











ific ode	Recorded activity, peak		Conservatio	n Impo			
Common name/Scienti name/BTO C	Oct 2021 – Mar 2022	Oct 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W - Wintering)	Annex I	Nearest European site	Threshold of Inter-nationa Population4	Threshold of National Population5
Herring gull <i>Larus</i> <i>argentatus</i> (HG)	201 loafing at Laytown beach (22/10/2021)	108 loafing at Laytown beach (08/11/2022)	Amber (B/W)	-	River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, within the Proposed Development site	14,400	n/a
Knot <i>Calidris</i> <i>canutus</i> (KN)	8 foraging at Laytown beach (06/01/2022)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Red (W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	5,300	160
Lapwing Vanellus vanellus (L.)	48 foraging at salt marsh area of River Nanny (04/02/2021)	170 landed in agricultural fields south- west of Laytown viaduct (17/11/2022)	Red (B/W)	-	Boyne Estuary SPA, c. 400m north east of the Proposed Development	72,300	850
Little egret <i>Egretta garzetta</i> (ET)	2 foraging at Laytown beach	2 foraging at Laytown beach (17/11/2022)	-	~	-	1,100	20
Lesser black- backed gull <i>Larus</i> <i>fuscus</i> (LB)	1 loafing at Laytown beach (22/10/2021)	1 flying over Laytown viaduct (02/12/2022)	Amber (B/W)	-	Lambay Island SPA, c. 7.5km east of the Proposed Development	5,500 (Western Europe)/ 6,300 (Southern Scandinavi a)	n/a
Little grebe Tachybaptus ruficollis (LG)	1 swimming at salt marsh area of River Nanny (17/12/2021; 06/01/2022; & 04/02/2022)	2 foraging at salt marsh area of River Nanny (08/11/2022)	Amber (B/W)	-	Wexford Harbour and Slobs SPA, c. 102km south of the Proposed Development	4,700	20





A larnród Éireann lrish Rail





fic ode	Recorded activity, peak count		Conservatio	Conservation Importance			
Common name/Scienti name/BTO Co	Oct 2021 – Mar 2022	Oct 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W - Wintering)	Annex I	Nearest European site	Threshold of Inter-national Population4	Threshold of National Population5
Mallard Anas platyrhynchos (MA)	37 rafting at salt marsh area of River Nanny (17/12/2021)	5 foraging at salt marsh area of River Nanny (15/12/2022)	Amber (B/W)	-	Dundalk Bay SPA, c. 17.5km north of the Proposed Development	53,000	280
Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus (OC)	344 foraging at Laytown beach (04/02/2022)	40 flying over Laytown viaduct (17/11/2022)			Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, and River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA within the Proposed Development	8,200	610
Redshank <i>Tringa</i> <i>tetanus</i> (RK)	70 foraging at Laytown beach (28/09/2021)	21 foraging at Laytown beach (15/12/2022)	Red (B/W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	2,400 (Iceland & Faeroe Islands)/76 0 (Britain & Ireland)	240
Red-throated diver G <i>avia</i> <i>stellata</i> (RH)	3 foraging in Irish Sea beyond Laytown beach (22/10/2021)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Amber (B/W)	✓	The Murrough SPA, c. 30km south of the Proposed Development	3,000	20
Ringed plover <i>Charadrius</i> <i>hiaticula</i> (RP)	65 foraging at Laytown beach (17/12/2021)	70 foraging at Laytown beach (09/02/023)	Amber (B/W)	-	Rogerstown Estuary SPA, and River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA within the Proposed Development	540	120
Sanderling <i>Calidris alba</i> (SS)	8 foraging at Laytown beach (22/10/2021)	20 foraging at Laytown beach (08/11/2022)	-	-	River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, located within the Proposed Development	2,000	85





A larnród Éireann lrish Rail





ific ode	Recorded activity, peak count		Conservatio	n Impo	–		
Common name/Scienti name/BTO C	Oct 2021 – Mar 2022	Oct 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W - Wintering)	Annex I	Nearest European site	Threshold of Inter-nationa Population4	Threshold of National Population5
Teal <i>Anas crecca</i> (T.)	52 foraging at salt marsh area of River Nanny (17/12/2021)	19 loafing at salt marsh area of River Nanny (08/11/2022)	Amber (B/W)	-	North Bull Island SPA, c. 1km east of the Proposed Development	5,000	360
Turnstone Arenaria interpres (TT)	16 foraging at Laytown beach (05/11/2021)	15 foraging at Laytown beach (15/12/2022)	Amber (W)	-	Boyne Estuary SPA, c. 400m north of the Proposed Development	1,400	95
Wigeon <i>Mareca</i> <i>Penelope</i> (WN)	18 foraging at salt marsh area of River Nanny (04/02/2022)	2 swimming at salt marsh area of River Nanny (08/11/2022)	Amber (B/W)	-	The Murrough SPA, c. 30km south of the Proposed Development	140,000	560
Whooper swan <i>Cygnus cygnus</i> (WS)	6 flying over at salt marsh area of River Nanny (22/10/2021)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Amber (B/W)	✓	Lough Derravaragh SPA, c. 64km east of the Proposed Development	340	150











Table 1-5Vantage Point Records of Wintering Birds of Conservation Concern at the
Gormanston September 2021 – March 2023

	Recorded activity	y, peak count	Conservation Importance				_
Common name/Scientific name/BTO Code	Sep 2021 – Mar 2022	Sep 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W - Wintering)	Annex I	Nearest SPA designated for SCI species within Zol	Threshold of Inter- national Population6	Threshold of Nationa Population7
Black-headed gull Chroicocephalus ridibundus (BH)	650 foraging at Gormanston camp grassland (08/10/2021)	9 flying over rail line (17/11/2022)	Amber (B/W)	-	South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, c. 500m south east of the Proposed Development	31,000	n/a
Black-tailed godwit <i>Limosa limosa (BW)</i>	1 foraging on the beach at Benhead (02/12/2021)	4 foraging on agricultural grassland east of rail line (02/12/2022)	Red (W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	1,100	200
Black-throated diver Gavia arctica (BV)	1 foraging in the Irish sea (05/11/2021)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Amber (W)	~	Inner Galway Bay SPA, located c. 180km west of the Proposed Development	3,500	n/a
Light-bellied brent goose <i>Branta bernicla</i> <i>(BG)</i>	14 foraging at tideline along Benhead (04/03/2021)	200 foraging on agricultural arable field east of rail line beside Benhead (02/12/2022)	Amber (W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	400	350
Common gull Larus canus (CM)	10 flying over rail line adjacent to Gormanstown camp (17/12/2021)	2 flying over rail line (17/11/2022 & 24/02/2023)	Amber (B/W)	-	Dundalk Bay SPA, c. 17.5km north of the Proposed Development	16,400	n/a

⁶ Wetlands International. 2012. Waterbird Population Estimates, Fifth Edition. Summary Report Wetlands International, Wageningen The Netherlands (with estimates available at http://wpe.wetlands.org/).

⁷ Crowe, O., & Holt, C. 2013. Estimates of waterbird numbers wintering in Ireland, 2006/07 – 2010/11. Irish Birds 9, 545-552.











	Recorded activity	y, peak count	Conserva	Conservation Importance		_	
Common name/Scientific name/BTO Code	Sep 2021 – Mar 2022	Sep 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W - Wintering)	Annex I	Nearest SPA designated for SCI species within Zol	Threshold of Inter- national Population6	Threshold of Nationa Population7
Common scoter <i>Melanitta nigra</i> (CX)	1,750 swimming in the Irish Sea (15/03/2022)	2,000 swimming in the Irish Sea (24/02/2023)	Red (B/W)	-	Dundalk Bay SPA, c. 17.5km north of the Proposed Development	7,500	110
Cormorant Phalacrocorax carbo (CA)	7 loafing on the Irish Sea (08/10/2021)	3 swimming in the Irish Sea (24/02/2023)	Amber (B/W)	-	Skerries Islands SPA, located c. 1.4km east of the Proposed Development	1,200	110
Curlew Numenius arquata (CU)	221 foraging on the grassland in Gormanstown camp (06/01/2022)	240 foraging on the grassland in Gormanstow n camp (15/12/2022)	Red (B/W)	-	North Bull Island SPA, located c. 1km east of the Proposed Development	7,600	350
Gannet Morus bassana (GX)	None recorded during surveys in 2021/22 period	1 flying near Benhead beach along Irish Sea (24/03/2023)	Amber (B)	-	Saltee Islands SPA located c. Xkm south of the Proposed Development	n/a	n/a
Golden plover Pluvialis apricaria (GP)	1,160 foraging on the grassland in Gormanstown camp (20/01/2022)	72 roosting on the grassland in Gormanstow n camp (24/01/2023)	Red (B/W)	~	Malahide Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	9,300	920
Great crested grebe <i>Podiceps</i> <i>cristatus (GG)</i>	8 loafing on the Irish Sea (08/10/2021)	2 swimming on the Irish Sea (17/11/2022)	Amber (B/W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	6,300	30
Great northern diver <i>Gavia</i> stellata (ND)	8 foraging on the Irish Sea (04/03/2022)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Amber (W)	~	Inner Galway Bay SPA, located c. 180km west of the Proposed Development	50	20
Greenshank Tringa nebularia (GK)	1 foraging on the beach at Benhead (02/12/2021)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Green (W)	-	The River Shannon and River Fergus Estuaries SPA, c. 185km south west of the	3,300	20











	Recorded activit	y, peak count	Conserva	onservation Importance		_	
Common name/Scientific name/BTO Code	Sep 2021 – Mar 2022	Sep 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W - Wintering)	Annex I	Nearest SPA designated for SCI species within Zol	Threshold of Inter- national Population6	Threshold of Nationa Population7
					Proposed Development		
Grey plover <i>Pluvialis</i> squatarola (GV)	2 foraging on the beach parallel to Gormanstown camp (02/12/2021)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Red (W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	2,000	30
Common guillemot <i>Uria</i> <i>aalge (GU</i>)	3 swimming on the Irish Sea (05/11/2021)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Amber (B)	-	Lambay Island SPA, c. 7.5km east of the Proposed Development	n/a	n/a
Herring gull <i>Larus</i> argentatus (HG)	22 flying over rail line at Mosney accommodation (15/03/2022)	35 foraging in Irish Sea (09/02/2023 & 24/02/2023)	Amber (B/W)	-	River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, within the Proposed Development site	14,400	n/a
Lapwing Vanellus vanellus (L.)	156 foraging on the grassland in Gormanstown camp (20/01/2022)	160 flying over rail line and landing nearby (05/01/2023)	Red (B/W)	-	Boyne Estuary SPA, c. 400m north east of the Proposed Development	72,300	850
Lesser black- backed gull <i>Larus fuscus</i> (LB)	None recorded during surveys in 2021/22 period	2 flying over rail line (24/03/2023)	Amber (B/W)	-	Lambay Island SPA, c. 7.5km east of the Proposed Development	5,500 (Western Europe)/ 6,300 (Southern Scandinavia)	n/a
Little egret <i>Egretta garzetta</i> (ET)	2 flying along the Irish Sea parallel to Gormanstown camp (19/11/2021)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	-	\checkmark	-	1,100	20
Mallard Anas platyrhynchos (MA)	3 flying over rail line at Mosney accommodation (15/03/2022)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Amber (B/W)	-	Dundalk Bay SPA, c. 17.5km north of the Proposed Development	53,000	280











	Recorded activity	y, peak count	Conserva	tion Imp	oortance		a	
Common name/Scientific name/BTO Code	Sep 2021 – Mar 2022	Sep 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W - Wintering)	Annex I	Nearest SPA designated for SCI species within Zol	Threshold of Inter- national Population6	Threshold of Nationa Population7	
Merlin Falco columbarius (ML)	None recorded during surveys in 2021/22 period	1 perched on agricultural grassland east of rail line (09/02/2023)	Amber (B)	√	Wicklow Mountains SPA c. Xkm south of the Proposed Development	n/a	n/a	
Oystercatcher <i>Haematopus</i> <i>ostralegus</i> (OC)	61 roosting on the beach at Ben Head (02/12/2021)	48 foraging on agricultural grassland east of rail line (09/02/2023)	Red (B/W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, and River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA within the Proposed Development	8,200	610	
Razorbill <i>Alca</i> <i>torda</i> (RZ)	2 perched on the rocks at Ben Head (06/01/2021)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Red (B)	-	Lambay Island SPA, c. 7.5km east of the Proposed Development	n/a	n/a	
Redshank <i>Tringa tetanus</i> (RK)	1 foraging on the beach at Ben Head (02/12/2021)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Red (B/W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	2,400 (Iceland & Faeroe Islands)/760 (Britain & Ireland)	240	
Red-throated diver <i>Gavia</i> <i>stellata</i> (RH)	17 swimming on the Irish Sea (06/01/2022)	2 swimming on the Irish Sea (09/02/2023 & 24/03/2023)	Amber (B/W)	~	The Murrough SPA, c. 30km south of the Proposed Development	3,000	20	
Ringed plover <i>Charadrius</i> <i>hiaticula</i> (RP)	11 foraging on the beach at Ben Head (05/11/2021)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Amber (B/W)	-	Rogerstown Estuary SPA, and River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA within the Proposed Development	540	120	











	Recorded activity	y, peak count	Conserva	Conservation Importance			l
Common name/Scientific name/BTO Code	Sep 2021 – Mar 2022	Sep 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W - Wintering)	Annex I	Nearest SPA designated for SCI species within Zol	Threshold of Inter- national Population6	Threshold of Nationa Population7
Sanderling <i>Calidris alba</i> (SS)	11 foraging on the beach at Ben Head (05/11/2021)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	-	-	River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, located within the Proposed Development	2,000	85
Scaup Anas marila (SP)	1 flying and hunting on the Irish Sea (17/12/2021)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Red (W)	-	Wexford slobs or Shannon	n/a	n/a
Shag <i>Gulosus</i> aristotellis (SH)	1 foraging on the Irish Sea (08/10/2021)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Amber (B)	-	Skerries Islands SPA, located c. 1.4km east of the Proposed Development	2,000	n/a
Turnstone Arenaria interpres (TT)	11 foraging on the rocks at Ben Head (04/02/2022)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Amber (W)	-	Boyne Estuary SPA, c. 400m north of the Proposed Development	1,400	95











Table 1-6Vantage Point Records of Wintering Birds of Conservation Concern at the
Balbriggan September 2021 – March 2023

٥	Recorded activ	ity, peak count	Conserv	ation Ir	nportance		
Common name/Scientific name/BTO Cod	Sep 2021 – Mar 2022	Sep 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W - Wintering)	Annex I	SPA designated for SCI species within Zol	Threshold of Inter-national Population ⁸	Threshold of National Population ⁹
Black-headed gull Chroicocephalus ridibundus (BH)	59 foraging on Balbriggan football pitches (08/10/2021)	11 foraging on Balbriggan football pitches (02/12/2022)	Amber (B/W)	-	South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, c. 500m south east of the Proposed Development	31,000	n/a
Light-bellied brent goose <i>Branta</i> <i>bernicla (BG)</i>	13 foraging on Balbriggan beach (04/03/2021)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Amber (W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	400	350
Common gull Larus canus (CM)	None recorded during surveys in 2021/22 period	1 flying over rail line (24/02/2023)	Amber (B/W)	-	Dundalk Bay SPA, c. 17.5km north of the Proposed Development	16,400	n/a
Curlew Numenius arquata (CU)	2 flying over the rail line at Balbriggan pitches (02/12/2022)	15 foraging on Balbriggan football pitches (24/01/2023)	Red (B/W)	-	North Bull Island SPA, located c. 1km east of the Proposed Development	7,600	350
Grey heron Ardea cinerea (H.)	1 flying over the rail line at Balbriggan pitches (04/03/2022)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	-	-	Wexford slobs or galway bay	5,000	25
Herring gull <i>Larus</i> argentatus (HG)	22 foraging on Balbriggan football pitches (08/10/2021)	41 foraging on Balbriggan football pitches (24/01/2023)	Amber (B/W)	-	River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, within the Proposed Development site	14,400	n/a

⁸ Wetlands International. 2012. Waterbird Population Estimates, Fifth Edition. Summary Report Wetlands International, Wageningen The Netherlands (with estimates available at http://wpe.wetlands.org/).

⁹ Crowe, O., & Holt, C. 2013. Estimates of waterbird numbers wintering in Ireland, 2006/07 – 2010/11. Irish Birds 9, 545-552.











Ø	Recorded activity, peak count		Conserv	Conservation Importance			
Common name/Scientific name/BTO Cod	Sep 2021 – Mar 2022	Sep 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W - Wintering)	Annex I	SPA designated for SCI species within Zol	Threshold of Inter-national Population ⁸	Threshold of National Population ⁹
Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus (OC)	62 foraging on Balbriggan football pitches (16/02/2022)	112 foraging on Balbriggan football pitches (05/01/2023)	Red (B/W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, and River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA within the Proposed Development	8,200	610
Redshank <i>Tringa</i> <i>tetanus (RK)</i>	8 foraging on Balbriggan football pitches and grassland next to Lambeecher estate (20/01/2022; 16/02/2022)	7 foraging on Balbriggan football pitches (15/12/2023 & 09/02/2023)	Red (B/W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	2,400 (Iceland & Faeroe Islands)/7 60 (Britain & Ireland)	240











Table 1-7Vantage Point Records of Wintering Birds of Conservation Concern at the
Rogerstown September 2021 – March 2023

۵	Recorded activity, peak count		Conservatio	on Impo	ter- tion ¹⁰		
Common name/Scientifi name/BTO Coc	Sep 2021 – Mar 2022	Sep 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W – Wintering/ P – Passage)	Annex I	Nearest SPA designated for SCI species within Zol	Threshold of Int national Popula	Threshold of National Population ¹¹
Bar-tailed godwit <i>Limosa</i> <i>Iapponica</i> (BA)	34 foraging on Rogerstown esturary (21/01/2022)	36 foraging on grassland of Rogerstown park (24/01/2023)	Red (W)	\checkmark	Malahide Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	1,500	170
Black-headed gull <i>Chroicocephalus</i> <i>ridibundus</i> (BH)	107 flying over the rail line (16/12/2021)	60 flushed from grassland of Rogerstown park (24/01/2023)	Amber (B/W)	-	South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, c. 500m south east of the Proposed Development	31,000	n/a
Black-tailed godwit <i>Limosa limosa</i> (BW)	450 loafing on Rogerstown estuary (29/03/2022)	166 foraging on Rogerstown esturary (16/03/2023)	Red (W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	1,100	200
Light-bellied brent goose <i>Branta bernicla</i> (BG)	75 flying over the rail line (03/12/2021)	564 foraging on agricultural grassland north of Rogerstown esturary (02/12/2022)	Amber (W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	400	350
Common gull <i>Larus canus</i> (CM)	9 flying over rail line (04/03/2022)	4 flying over rail line (23/03/2023)	Amber (B/W)	-	Dundalk Bay SPA, c. 17.5km north of the Proposed Development	16,400	n/a

¹⁰ Wetlands International. 2012. Waterbird Population Estimates, Fifth Edition. Summary Report Wetlands International, Wageningen The Netherlands (with estimates available at http://wpe.wetlands.org/).

¹¹ Crowe, O., & Holt, C. 2013. Estimates of waterbird numbers wintering in Ireland, 2006/07 – 2010/11. Irish Birds 9, 545-552.





Iarnród Éireann





<u>ر ۵</u>	Recorded activity, peak count		Conservatio	on Impo	ter- ttion ¹⁰		
Common name/Scientific name/BTO Cod	Sep 2021 – Mar 2022	Sep 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W – Wintering/ P – Passage)	Annex I	Nearest SPA designated for SCI species within Zol	Threshold of Ini national Popula	Threshold of National Population ¹¹
Cormorant Phalacrocorax carbo (CA)	2 swimming in Rogerstown estuary (18/11/2021) and 2 flying over the rail line (04/11/2021; 18/11/2021)	1 foraging and perching in Rogerstown estuary (12/10/2022; 17/11/2022; 16/12/2022; & 05/01/2023)	Amber (B/W)	-	Skerries Islands SPA, located c. 1.4km east of the Proposed Development	1,200	110
Curlew <i>Numenius</i> arquata (CU)	295 foraging at Rogerstown estuary (04/02/2022)	295 foraging at Rogerstown estuary (05/01/2023)	Red (B/W)	-	North Bull Island SPA, located c. 1km east of the Proposed Development	7,600	350
Dunlin <i>Calidris</i> <i>alpina</i> (DN)	3,000 foraging at Rogerstown estuary (21/01/2022)	1,313 foraging at Rogerstown estuary (16/12/2022)	Red (B/W)	\checkmark	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	13,300	460
Golden plover <i>Pluvialis</i> <i>apricaria</i> (GP)	900 at Rogerstown estuary (04/02/2022; 15/03/2022)	846 foraging at Rogerstown estuary (04/02/2022; 15/03/2022)	Red (B/W)	1	Malahide Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	9,300	920
Greenshank <i>Tringa nebularia</i> (GK)	7 foraging at Rogerstown estuary (16/12/2021)	17 loafing at rock armour of Rogerstown estuary beside rail line (05/01/2023)	Green (W)	-	The River Shannon and River Fergus Estuaries SPA, c. 185km south west of the Proposed Development	3,300	20
Grey heron <i>Ardea cinerea</i> (H.)	4 perched on exposed rocks next to rail line of Rogerstown estuary (14/10/2021)	1 foraging at Rogerstown estuary (04/11/2022; 17/11/2022; 02/12/2022; 05/01/2023; & 24/02/2023) and 1 flying	-	-	Wexford slobs or galway bay	5,000	25











Common name/Scientific name/BTO Code	Recorded activity, peak count		Conservation Importance			ter- ation ¹⁰	
	Sep 2021 – Mar 2022	Sep 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W – Wintering/ P – Passage)	Annex I	Nearest SPA designated for SCI species within ZoI	Threshold of Int national Popula	Threshold of National Population ¹¹
		over rail line (16/12/2022)					
Grey plover <i>Pluvialis</i> <i>squatarola</i> (GV)	39 foraging at Rogerstown estuary (21/01/2022)	104 foraging at Rogerstown estuary (24/02/2023)	Red (W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	2,000	30
Herring gull <i>Larus</i> argentatus (HG)	230 flying over rail line (07/01/2022)	27 flying over rail line (02/12/2022)	Amber (B/W)	-	River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, within the Proposed Development site	14,400	n/a
Knot Calidris <i>canutus</i> (KN)	1,650 foraging at Rogerstown estuary (21/01/2022)	300 landed in Rogerstown estuary with joining an additional 30 (12/10/2022)	Red (W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	5,300	160
Lapwing <i>Vanellus</i> <i>vanellus</i> (L.)	35 flying over rail line (18/11/2021)	120 flying over rail line (24/01/2023)	Red (B/W)	-	Boyne Estuary SPA, c. 400m north east of the Proposed Development	72,300	850
Lesser black- backed gull <i>Larus fuscus</i> (LB)	7 swimming in Rogerstown estuary (29/03/2022)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Amber (B/W)	-	Lambay Island SPA, c. 7.5km east of the Proposed Development	5,500 (Western Europe)/ 6,300 (Southern Scandinavia)	n/a
Little egret <i>Egretta garzetta</i> (ET)	3 foraging at Rogerstown estuary (14/10/2022) and flying over rail line (04/03/2022)	3 foraging at Rogerstown estuary (12/10/2022)	-	\checkmark	-	1,100	20
Little grebe Tachybaptus ruficollis (LG)	16 swimming in Rogerstown estuary (03/12/2021)	None recorded during surveys in	Amber (B/W)	-	Wexford Harbour and Slobs SPA, c. 102km south of the Proposed Development	4,700	20




A larnród Éireann lrish Rail





0	Recorded act count	tivity, peak	Conservatio	on Impo	rtance	er- tion ¹⁰	
Common name/Scientific name/BTO Cod	Sep 2021 – Mar 2022	Sep 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W – Wintering/ P – Passage)	Annex I	Nearest SPA designated for SCI species within ZoI	Threshold of Int national Popula	Threshold of National Population ¹¹
		2022/23 period					
Little gull <i>Hydrocoloeus</i> <i>minutus</i> (LU)	28 flying over rail line (16/12/2021)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Amber (P)	\checkmark	-	1,000	n/a
Mallard Anas platyrhynchos (MA)	63 foraging at Rogerstown estuary (14/10/2021)	33 loafing at Rogerstown estuary (02/12/2022)	Amber (B/W)	-	Dundalk Bay SPA, c. 17.5km north of the Proposed Development	53,000	280
Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus (OC)	700 soaring over Rogerstown park (21/10/2021)	40 flying over rail line (17/11/2022)	Red (B/W)		Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, and River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA within the Proposed Development	8,200	610
Peregrine falcon <i>Falco peregrinus</i> (PE)	2 flying over rail line (21/10/2021)	1 flying over rail line (04/11/2022)	-	\checkmark	Wicklow Mountains SPA	n/a	n/a
Red-breasted merganser <i>Mergus serrator</i> (RM)	10 foraging at Rogerstown estuary (21/10/2021)	4 foraging at Rogerstown estuary (04/11/2022)	Amber (B/W)		Malahide Estuary SPA within the Proposed Development	860	25
Redshank <i>Tringa tetanus</i> (RK)	97 foraging and roosting at Rogerstown estuary (16/12/2021; 21/01/2022)	97 foraging Rogerstown estuary (24/01/2023)	Red (B/W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	2,400 (Iceland & Faeroe Islands)/760 (Britain & Ireland)	240
Ringed plover Charadrius hiaticula (RP)	150 foraging at Rogerstown estuary (21/01/2022)	100 loafing at agricultural grassland north of Rogerstown estuary (09/02/2023)	Amber (B/W)		Rogerstown Estuary SPA, and River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA within the Proposed Development	540	120











	Recorded activity, peak		Conservatio	on Impo	rtance	ter- ition ¹⁰	
Common name/Scientific name/BTO Cod	Sep 2021 – Mar 2022	Sep 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W – Wintering/ P – Passage)	Annex I	Nearest SPA designated for SCI species within ZoI	Threshold of In national Popula	Threshold of National Population ¹¹
Shelduck <i>Tadorna tadorna</i> (SU)	170 swimming at Rogerstown estuary (04/02/2022)	121 swimming at Rogerstown estuary (24/02/2023)	Amber (B/W)		Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	2,500	100
Sanderling <i>Calidris alba</i> (SS)	None recorded during surveys in 2021/22 period	1 loafing at Rogerstown estuary (24/01/2023)	-		River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, located within the Proposed Development	2,000	85
Shoveler <i>Spatula clypeata</i> (SV)	8 flying over rail line (07/01/2022)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Red (B/W)		Rogerstown Estuary SPA within the Proposed Development	650	20
Teal Anas crecca (T.)	240 loafing at Rogerstown estuary (16/12/2021)	124 swimming at Rogerstown estuary (24/02/2023)	Amber (B/W)		North Bull Island SPA, c. 1km east of the Proposed Development	5,000	360
Turnstone Arenaria interpres (TT)	4 foraging at Rogerstown estuary (21/10/2021)	12 foraging at Rogerstown estuary (16/12/2022)	Amber (W)		Boyne Estuary SPA, c. 400m north of the Proposed Development	1,400	95
Wigeon <i>Mareca</i> <i>Penelope</i> (WN)	430 loafing at Rogerstown estuary (21/01/2022)	198 swimming at Rogerstown estuary (05/01/2023)	Amber (B/W)		The Murrough SPA, c. 30km south of the Proposed Development	140,000	560











Table 1-8Vantage Point Records of Wintering Birds of Conservation Concern at the
Malahide September 2021 – March 2023

¢	Recorded activity, peak count, not including fly overs		Conservat	ion Imp	oortance	ter- ition ¹²	ational
Common name/Scientific name/BTO Cod	Sep 2021 – Mar 2022	Sep 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W – Wintering/ P – Passage)	Annex I	Nearest SPA designated for SCI species within Zol	Threshold of Ini national Popula	Threshold of Na Population ¹³
Bar-tailed godwit <i>Limosa</i> <i>lapponica</i> (BA)	5 foraging at Malahide estuary (06/01/2022)	10 flying over the rail line (09/02/2023)	Red (W)	√	Malahide Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	1,500	170
Black-headed gull <i>Chroicocephalus</i> <i>ridibundus</i> (BH)	230 flying over the rail line (03/12/2021)	10 flying over the rail line (16/03/2023)	Amber (B/W)	-	South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, c. 500m south east of the Proposed Development	31,000	n/a
Black-tailed godwit <i>Limosa limosa</i> (BW)	102 perched on Malahide estuary (16/02/2022)	176 foraging in Malahide estuary (16/03/2023)	Red (W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	1,100	200
Light-bellied brent goose <i>Branta bernicla</i> (BG)	300 landing in an agricultural field in Broadmeadow estuary (16/12/2021)	400 flying west of rail line, potentially landing in arable fields (16/12/2022)	Amber (W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	400	350
Common gull <i>Larus canus</i> (CM)	8 swimming in Malahide estuary (04/02/2022)	2 loafing in Malahide estuary (16/03/2023)	Amber (B/W)	-	grebe	16,400	n/a
Common tern <i>Sterna hirundo</i> (CN)	2 common terns flying over rail line (29/09/2021)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Amber (B)	√	South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, c. 500m south east of the Proposed Development	n/a	n/a

¹² Wetlands International. 2012. Waterbird Population Estimates, Fifth Edition. Summary Report Wetlands International, Wageningen The Netherlands (with estimates available at http://wpe.wetlands.org/).

¹³ Crowe, O., & Holt, C. 2013. Estimates of waterbird numbers wintering in Ireland, 2006/07 – 2010/11. Irish Birds 9, 545-552.











Recorded activity, peak count, not including fly overs Φ		Conservat	ion Imp	oortance	ter- tion ¹²	tional	
Common name/Scientifi name/BTO Coc	Sep 2021 – Mar 2022	Sep 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W – Wintering/ P – Passage)	Annex I	Nearest SPA designated for SCI species within Zol	Threshold of Int national Popula	Threshold of Na Population ¹³
Cormorant Phalacrocorax carbo (CA)	40 foraging (04/11/2021) and roosting (29/09/2021) in Malahide estuary	43 loafing in Malahide estuary (16/12/2022)	Amber (B/W)	-	Skerries Islands SPA, located c. 1.4km east of the Proposed Development	1,200	110
Curlew <i>Numenius</i> arquata (CU)	55 flying over rail line (16/12/2021)	84 foraging at Malahide estuary (17/11/2022)	Red (B/W)	-	North Bull Island SPA, located c. 1km east of the Proposed Development	7,600	350
Dunlin <i>Calidris</i> <i>alpina</i> (DN)	160 foraging in Malahide estuary (16/03/2022)	388 foraging in Malahide estuary (24/02/2023)	Red (B/W)	\checkmark	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	13,300	460
Golden plover <i>Pluvialis</i> <i>apricaria</i> (GP)	None recorded during surveys in 2021/22 period	1 loafing in Malahide estuary (17/11/2022)	Red (B/W)	\checkmark	Malahide Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	9,300	920
Great crested grebe <i>Podiceps</i> <i>cristatus</i> (GG)	2 foraging in Malahide estuary (07/01/2022)	1 swimming in Malahide estuary (12/10/2022)	Amber (B/W)		Malahide Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	6,300	30
Greenshank <i>Tringa nebularia</i> (GK)	21 foraging in Malahide estuary	18 perched in Malahide estuary (23/03/2023)	Green (W)	-	The River Shannon and River Fergus Estuaries SPA, c. 185km south west of the Proposed Development	3,300	20
Grey heron <i>Ardea cinerea</i> (H.)	16 roosting in Malahide estuary (04/11/2021)	2 flying beside the rail line (05/01/2023)	-	-	Wexford slobs or galway bay	5,000	25
Grey plover <i>Pluvialis</i> <i>squatarola</i> (GV)	7 foraging in Malahide estuary (06/01/2022)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Red (W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	2,000	30





Iarnród Éireann Irish Rail





Recorded activity, peak count, not including fly overs		Conservat	ion Imp	oortance	ter- ttion ¹²	ational	
Common name/Scientific name/BTO Cod	Sep 2021 – Mar 2022	Sep 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W – Wintering/ P – Passage)	Annex I	Nearest SPA designated for SCI species within Zol	Threshold of Int national Popula	Threshold of Na Population ¹³
Herring gull <i>Larus</i> <i>argentatus</i> (HG)	130 flying over rail line (18/11/2021)	25 flying over the rail line (16/03/2023)	Amber (B/W)	-	River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, within the Proposed Development site	14,400	n/a
Knot Calidris <i>canutus</i> (KN)	750 flying and landing in Malahide estuary (04/02/2022)	22 foraging in Malahide estuary (02/12/2022)	Red (W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	5,300	160
Lapwing Vanellus vanellus (L.)	150 flying over rail line (04/02/2022)	119 loafing in Malahide estuary (05/01/2023)	Red (B/W)	-	Boyne Estuary SPA, c. 400m north east of the Proposed Development	72,300	850
Lesser black- backed gull <i>Larus fuscus</i> (LB)	1 flying over rail line and also landing on viaduct (29/09/2021)	2 swimming in Malahide estuary (16/03/2023) with 2 flying over the rail line (24/02/2023 & 16/03/2023)	Amber (B/W)	-	Lambay Island SPA, c. 7.5km east of the Proposed Development	5,500 (Western Europe)/ 6,300 (Southern Scandinavia)	n/a
Little egret <i>Egretta garzetta</i> (ET)	6 foraging in Malahide estuary (14/10/2021)	3 foraging in Malahide estuary (24/02/2023)	-	√	-	1,100	20
Mallard Anas platyrhynchos (MA)	27 foraging in Malahide estuary (14/10/2021)	19 foraging in Malahide estuary (16/12/2022)	Amber (B/W)	-	Dundalk Bay SPA, c. 17.5km north of the Proposed Development	53,000	280
Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus (OC)	250 foraging in Malahide estuary (21/10/2021)	284 foraging in Malahide estuary (05/01/2023)	Red (B/W)		Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, and River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA within the Proposed Development	8,200	610











¢,	Recorded activity, peak count, not including fly overs		Conservat	ion Imp	oortance	ter- tion ¹²	tional
Common name/Scientific name/BTO Cod	Sep 2021 – Mar 2022	Sep 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W – Wintering/ P – Passage)	Annex I	Annex I Nearest SPA designated for SCI species within Zol within Zol Threshold of Ir national Popul.		Threshold of Na Population ¹³
Peregrine falcon <i>Falco peregrinus</i> (PE)	None recorded during surveys in 2021/22 period	1 preening on the ground (16/03/2023) and 1 flying over rail line (04/11/2022 & 24/02/2023)	-	~	Wicklow Mountains SPA	n/a	n/a
Pintai <i>l Anas</i> <i>acuta</i> (PT)	15 swimming in Malahide estuary (21/01/2022)	37 swimming in Malahide estuary (05/01/2023)	Amber (W)		Malahide Estuary SPA within the Proposed Development	600	20
Red-breasted merganser <i>Mergus serrator</i> (RM)	6 flying over rail line (03/12/2021)	2 foraging and loafing in Malahide estuary (16/12/2022 & 05/01/2023) and 2 flying over rail line (16/03/2023)	Amber (B/W)		Malahide Estuary SPA within the Proposed Development	860	25
Redshank <i>Tringa tetanus</i> (RK)	85 foraging in Malahide estuary beside rail line (04/11/2021)	120 foraging in Malahide estuary (05/01/2023)	Red (B/W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	2,400 (Iceland & Faeroe Islands)/760 (Britain & Ireland)	240
Ringed plover <i>Charadrius</i> <i>hiaticula</i> (RP)	None recorded during surveys in 2021/22 period	11 foraging in Malahide estuary (16/12/2022)	Amber (B/W)		Rogerstown Estuary SPA, and River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA within the Proposed Development	540	120
Sandwich tern Thalasseus sandvicensis (TE)	1 flying around Malahide estuary (29/09/2021)	None recorded during surveys in 2022/23 period	Amber (B)	\checkmark	Ladys island or Galway bay	n/a	n/a





A larnród Éireann lrish Rail





	Recorded activity, peak count, not including fly overs		Conservat	Conservation Importance			ational
Common name/Scientific name/BTO Cod	Sep 2021 – Mar 2022	Sep 2022 – Mar 2023	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W – Wintering/ P – Passage)	Annex I	Nearest SPA designated for SCI species within Zol	Threshold of In national Popula	Threshold of Na Population ¹³
Shelduck <i>Tadorna tadorna</i> (SU)	500 swimming in Malahide estuary (21/01/2022)	332 swimming in Malahide estuary (05/01/2023)	Amber (B/W)		Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, within the Proposed Development	2,500	100
Shoveler Spatula clypeata (SV)	9 swimming in Malahide estuary (21/01/2022)	11 foraging in Malahide estuary (16/12/2022)	Red (B/W)		Rogerstown Estuary SPA within the Proposed Development	650	20
Teal Anas crecca (T.)	260 foraging in Malahide estuary (16/02/2022)	285 foraging in Malahide estuary (16/12/2022)	Amber (B/W)		North Bull Island SPA, c. 1km east of the Proposed Development	5,000	360
Turnstone Arenaria interpres (TT)	54 foraging in Malahide estuary (29/03/2022)	5 foraging in Malahide estuary (16/12/2022)	Amber (W)		Boyne Estuary SPA, c. 400m north of the Proposed Development	1,400	95
Wigeon <i>Mareca</i> <i>Penelope</i> (WN)	54 foraging in Malahide estuary (21/01/2022)	76 foraging in Malahide estuary (05/01/2023)	Amber (B/W)		The Murrough SPA, c. 30km south of the Proposed Development	140,000	560





larnród Éireann





Table 1-9 Summary of wintering bird surveys undertaken at Construction Compounds only

ψ	Recorded activity, peak count, not including fly overs		Conservatio	on Impo	ortance	ter- ition ¹⁴	
Common name/Scientific name/BTO Cod	Sep – Dec 2023	Location	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W - Wintering)	Annex I	Nearest European site	Threshold of Ini national Popula	Threshold of National Population ¹⁵
Herring gull <i>Larus argentatus</i> <i>(HG)</i>	30 Transit/Commuting (19/10/2023)	Laytown beach	Amber (B/W)	-	River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA	14,400	n/a
Black-headed gull Chroicocephalus ridibundus (BH)	4 Transit/commuting (19/10/2023)	Drogheda	Amber (B/W)	-	South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA	31,000	n/a
Dunlin Calidris alpina (DN)	10 Foraging (16/11/2023)	Laytown beach	Red (B/W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA	13,300	460
Teal Anas crecca (T.)	29 rafting (16/11/2023)	Laytown beach	Amber (B/W)	-	North Bull Island SPA	5,000	360
Redshank <i>Tringa tetanus</i> (<i>RK</i>)	43 Roosting/loafing (16/11/2023)	Laytown beach	Red (B/W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA	2,400 (Iceland & Faeroe Islands)/76 0 (Britain & Ireland)	240
Teal Anas crecca (T.)	53 Rafting (16/11/2023)	Laytown beach	Amber (B/W)	-	North Bull Island SPA	5,000	360
Little grebe Tachybaptus ruficollis (LG)	2 Foraging (16/11/2023)	Laytown beach	Amber (B/W)	-		4,700	20
Common gull Larus canus (CM)	1 Transit/commuting (16/11/2023)	Drogheda	Amber (B/W)	-	Dundalk Bay SPA, c. 17.5km north of the Proposed Development	16,400	n/a

¹⁴ Wetlands International. 2012. Waterbird Population Estimates, Fifth Edition. Summary Report Wetlands International, Wageningen The Netherlands (with estimates available at http://wpe.wetlands.org/).

¹⁵ Crowe, O., & Holt, C. 2013. Estimates of waterbird numbers wintering in Ireland, 2006/07 – 2010/11. Irish Birds 9, 545-552.











O	Recorded activity, peak count, not including fly overs		Conservatio	on Impo	ortance	ter- ition ¹⁴	
Common name/Scientifi name/BTO Coc	Sep – Dec 2023	Location	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W - Wintering)	Annex I	Nearest European site	Threshold of In national Popula	Threshold of National Population ¹⁵
Common gull <i>Larus canus</i> (CM)	6 Transit/commuting (16/11/2023)	Laytown beach	Amber (B/W)	-	Dundalk Bay SPA, c. 17.5km north of the Proposed Development	16,400	n/a
Redshank <i>Tringa tetanus</i> (<i>RK</i>)	20 Transit/commuting (16/11/2023)	Laytown beach	Red (B/W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA	2,400 (Iceland & Faeroe Islands)/76 0 (Britain & Ireland)	240
Black-headed gull Chroicocephalus ridibundus (BH)	6 Transit/commuting (16/11/2023)	Gormanst own	Amber (B/W)	-	South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA,	31,000	n/a
Lapwing Vanellus vanellus (L.)	35 Transit/commuting (16/11/2023)	Laytown beach	Red (B/W)	-	Boyne Estuary SPA	72,300	850
Lapwing Vanellus vanellus (L.)	40 Transit/commuting (16/11/2023)	Laytown beach	Red (B/W)	-	Boyne Estuary SPA	72,300	850
Little egret Egretta garzetta (ET)	1 Transit/commuting (16/11/2023)	Laytown beach	Green	\checkmark		1,100	20
Curlew Numenius arquata (CU)	15 Transit/commuting (17/11/2023)	Barnageer agh	Red (B/W)	-	North Bull Island SPA	7,600	350
Herring gull Larus argentatus (HG)	3 Perched (17/11/2023)	Barnageer agh	Amber (B/W)	-	Skerries Islands SPA	14,400	n/a
Herring gull <i>Larus argentatus</i> <i>(HG)</i>	1 Perched (17/11/2023)	Barnageer agh	Amber (B/W)	-	Skerries Islands SPA	14,400	n/a
Greenshank Tringa nebularia (GK)	7 Roosting/loafing (14/12/2023)	Laytown beach	Green (W)	-	The River Shannon and River Fergus Estuaries SPA	3,300	20











Recorded activity, peak count, not including fly overs		Conservatio	on Impo	ortance	ter- ition ¹⁴		
Common name/Scientific name/BTO Coc	Sep – Dec 2023	Location	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W - Wintering)	Annex I	Nearest European site	Threshold of Ini national Popula	Threshold of National Population ¹⁵
Redshank <i>Tringa tetanus</i> (<i>RK</i>)	26 Roosting/loafing (14/12/2023)	Laytown beach	Red (B/W)	-	River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA	2,400 (Iceland & Faeroe Islands)/76 0 (Britain & Ireland)	240
Wigeon <i>Mareca</i> Penelope (WN)	5 Rafting (14/12/2023)	Laytown beach	Amber (B/W)	-	The Murrough SPA	140,000	560
Knot Calidris canutus (KN)	3 Roosting/loafing (14/12/2023)	Laytown beach	Red (W)	-	River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA	5,300	160
Black-headed gull Chroicocephalus ridibundus (BH)	1 Foraging (14/12/2023) Gaa pitch	Laytown beach	Amber (B/W)	-	South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA,	31,000	n/a
Shelduck Tadorna tadorna (SU)	2 Rafting (14/12/2023)	Laytown beach	Amber (B/W)	-		2,500	100
Black-tailed godwit <i>Limosa</i> <i>limosa (BW</i>)	25 Perched (14/12/2023) Flushed when car drove by landed in same place.	Laytown beach	Red (W)	-	Malahide Estuary SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SPA	1,100	200
Lesser black- backed gull <i>Larus fuscus</i> <i>(LB)</i>	1 Perched (14/12/2023) Perching on roof	Barnageer agh	Amber (B/W)	-	Lambay Island SPA	5,500 (Western Europe)/ 6,300 (Southern Scandinavi a)	n/a
Mallard Anas platyrhynchos (MA)	27 Rafting (14/12/2023)	Laytown beach	Amber (B/W)	-	Dundalk Bay SPA	53,000	280
Teal Anas crecca (T.)	41 Rafting (14/12/2023) flushed by passing cars and landed within the estuary. stayed below train line bridge and in area west of bridge.	Laytown beach	Amber (B/W)	-	North Bull Island SPA	5,000	360











	Recorded activity, count, not includin	eak Conservation g fly overs		on Impo	ortance	ter- ition ¹⁴	
Common name/Scientific name/BTO Cod	Sep – Dec 2023	Location	BoCCI (B – Breeding / W - Wintering)	Annex I	Nearest European site	Threshold of In national Popula	Threshold of National Population ¹⁵
Herring gull Larus argentatus (HG)	11 Flushed (14/12/2023)	Drogheda	Amber (B/W)	-	River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA	14,400	n/a
Grey heron Ardea cinerea (H.)	1 Transit/commuting (14/12/2023)	Laytown	-	-	-	5,000	25
Light-bellied brent goose <i>Branta bernicla</i> <i>(BG)</i>	17 Transit/commuting (14/12/2023)	Laytown beach	Amber (W)	-	South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA	400	350
Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus (OC)	16 Transit/commuting (14/12/2023)	Laytown beach	Red (B/W)	-	River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA	8,200	610











Table 1-10 Summary of flight lines of SCI bird species within the Proposed Development

Common name/Scientific name/BTO Code	Total number of flights over rail line between Sep – March 2021/22 & 2022/2023	Total number of flights within collision risk zone (0-10m) between Sep – March 2021/22 & 2022/2023	Summary
Bar-tailed godwit <i>Limosa lapponica</i> (BA)	7	3 (43%)	In absence of mitigation bar-tailed godwit are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Black-headed gull Chroicocephalus ridibundus (BH)	675	262 (39%)	In absence of mitigation black-headed gull are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Black-tailed godwit <i>Limosa limosa</i> (BW)	146	55 (37%)	In absence of mitigation black-tailed godwit are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Light-bellied brent goose <i>Branta</i> <i>bernicla</i> (BG)	286	144 (50%)	In absence of mitigation light-bellied brent geese are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Common gull <i>Larus</i> <i>canus</i> (CM)	106	22 (20%)	In absence of mitigation common gull are not at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Common tern Sterna hirundo (CN)	1	0 (0%)	Ad-hoc record of bird flying over rail line, not considered to be frequent during winter period
Cormorant Phalacrocorax carbo (CA)	290	184 (63%)	In absence of mitigation cormorant are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Curlew <i>Numenius</i> arquata (CU)	354	122 (34%)	In absence of mitigation curlew are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Dunlin <i>Calidris</i> <i>alpina</i> (DN)	31	15 (48%)	In absence of mitigation dunlin are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Gannet <i>Morus</i> <i>bassana</i> (GX)	1	0 (0%)	In absence of mitigation gannet are not at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Golden plover <i>Pluvialis apricaria</i> (GP)	38	3 (7%)	In absence of mitigation golden plover are not at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Great black-backed gull <i>Larus marinus</i> (GB)	67	35 (52%)	In absence of mitigation great black-backed gull are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Greenshank <i>Tringa</i> <i>nebularia</i> (GK)	3	1 (33%)	In absence of mitigation greenshank are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Grey heron <i>Ardea</i> <i>cinerea</i> (H.)	16	9 (69%)	In absence of mitigation grey heron are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data





Iarnród Éireann





Common name/Scientific name/BTO Code	Total number of flights over rail line between Sep – March 2021/22 & 2022/2023	Total number of flights within collision risk zone (0-10m) between Sep – March 2021/22 & 2022/2023	Summary
Grey plover <i>Pluvialis squatarola</i> (GV)	4	0 (%)	In absence of mitigation grey plover are not at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Herring gull <i>Larus</i> argentatus (HG)	1,406	374 (26%)	In absence of mitigation herring gull are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Knot Calidris <i>canutus</i> (KN)	19	5 (26%)	In absence of mitigation knot are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Lapwing Vanellus vanellus (L.)	50	6 (12%)	In absence of mitigation lapwing are not at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Lesser black- backed gull <i>Larus</i> <i>fuscus</i> (LB)	12	5 (42%)	In absence of mitigation lesser black- backed gull are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Little gull Hydrocoloeus minutus (LU)	1	0 (0%)	In absence of mitigation little gull are not at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Little egret <i>Egretta</i> <i>garzetta</i> (ET)	73	40 (54%)	In absence of mitigation little egret are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Mallard Anas platyrhynchos (MA)	78	21 (30%)	In absence of mitigation mallard are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus (OC)	373	256 (69%)	In absence of mitigation oystercatcher are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Peregrine falcon <i>Falco peregrinus</i> (PE)	6	1 (16%)	In absence of mitigation peregrine falcon are not at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Red-breasted merganser <i>Mergus</i> <i>serrator</i> (RM)	19	13 (68%)	In absence of mitigation red-breasted merganser are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Redshank <i>Tringa</i> <i>tetanus</i> (RK)	265	197 (74%)	In absence of mitigation redshank are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Ringed plover <i>Charadrius hiaticula</i> (RP)	4	2 (50%)	In absence of mitigation ringed plover are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Sandwich tern Thalasseus sandvicensis (TE)	1	0 (0%)	Ad-hoc record of bird flying over rail line, not considered to be frequent during winter period





Iarnród Éireann





Common name/Scientific name/BTO Code	Total number of flights over rail line between Sep – March 2021/22 & 2022/2023	Total number of flights within collision risk zone (0-10m) between Sep – March 2021/22 & 2022/2023	Summary
Scaup <i>Anas marila</i> (SP)	3	1 (33%)	In absence of mitigation scaup are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Shelduck Tadorna tadorna (SU)	54	18 (33%)	In absence of mitigation shelduck are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Shoveler Spatula clypeata (SV)	4	2 (50%)	In absence of mitigation sloveler are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Teal <i>Anas crecca</i> (T.)	95	68 (71%)	In absence of mitigation teal are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Turnstone Arenaria interpres (TT)	5	3 (60%)	In absence of mitigation turnstone are at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Wigeon <i>Mareca</i> <i>Penelope</i> (WN)	130	28 (22%)	In absence of mitigation wigeon are not at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data
Whooper swan <i>Cygnus cygnus</i> (WS)	1	0 (0%)	In absence of mitigation whooper swan are not at risk of collision with proposed works. This is based on 2 years of data

Table 1-11 Summary of weather conditions of all wintering bird surveys

Date	Site	High Tide (HT) / Low Tide (LT) / Rising Tide	Survey Time	Weather Conditions
2021-2022				
28/09/2021	Laytown	LT	09:30- 12:30	Dry, scattered clouds with slight breeze and moderate visibility. Temperatures approximately 11°C
28/09/2021	Gormanston camp	HT	14:35- 17:35	Dry, scattered clouds with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 15°C
28/09/2021	Balbriggan	HT	17:45- 18:05	Dry, scattered clouds with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 15°C
29/09/2021	Rogerstown	LT	10:15- 13:15	Dry and sunny with strong easterly breeze and good visibility. Temperatures between 9°C and 15°C
29/09/2021	Malahide	Rising Tide	14:50- 17:50	Dry, scattered clouds with moderate breeze and good visibility. Temperatures between 13°C and 15°C
08/10/2021	Balbriggan	LT	08:03- 08:37	Dry, overcast with light breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 16°C











Date	Site	High Tide (HT) / Low Tide (LT) / Rising Tide	Survey Time	Weather Conditions
08/10/2021	Gormanston camp	LT	09:00- 12:00	Dry, broken clouds with light breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 16°C
08/10/2021	Laytown	HT	13:00- 16:00	Dry, broken clouds with light breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 17°C
14/10/2021	Malahide	HT	08:00- 11:00	Dry, overcast, with light breeze and excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 13°C
14/10/2021	Rogerstown	LT	12:31- 15:31	Dry, overcast with light breeze and excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 14°C
21/10/2021	Malahide	LT	08:00- 11:00	Dry, few clouds with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 6°C
21/10/2021	Rogerstown	HT	12:30- 15:30	Dry, few clouds with slight breeze and moderate visibility. Temperatures approximately 11°C
22/10/2021	Laytown	LT	08:25- 11:25	Drizzle, broken clouds with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 9°C
22/10/2021	Gormanston camp	HT	12:30- 15:30	Drizzle, scattered clouds with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 13°C
22/10/2021	Balbriggan	HT	15:45- 16:00	Dry, broken clouds with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 13°C
04/11/2021	Malahide	HT	09:15- 12:15	Dry, scattered clouds with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 6°C
04/11/2021	Rogerstown	LT	13:45- 16:45	Dry, scattered clouds with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 10°C
05/11/2021	Laytown	HT	09:00- 12:00	Dry, overcast with moderate breeze and excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 8°C
05/11/2021	Gormanston camp	LT	13:00- 16:00	Dry, overcast with moderate breeze and excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 8°C
18/11/2021	Rogerstown	HT	08:34- 11:34	Dry, scattered clouds with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 13°C
18/11/2021	Malahide	LT	13:00- 16:00	Dry, broken clouds with slight breeze and excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 13°C
19/11/2021	Laytown	HT	08:45- 11:45	Dry, scattered clouds with slight breeze and excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 11°C
19/11/2021	Gormanston camp	LT	12:50- 15:50	Dry, scattered clouds with slight breeze and excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 12°C
19/11/2021	Balbriggan	LT	16:11- 16:31	Dry, broken clouds with slight breeze and excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 12°C
02/12/2021	Gormanston camp	HT	08:25- 11:25	Dry, scattered clouds with no breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 3°C
02/12/2021	Balbriggan	HT	07:50- 08:15	Dry, scattered clouds with no breeze and moderate visibility. Temperatures approximately 3°C











Date	Site	High Tide (HT) / Low Tide (LT) / Rising Tide	Survey Time	Weather Conditions
02/12/2021	Laytown	LT	12:20- 15:20	Dry, scattered clouds with no breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 5°C
03/12/2021	Rogerstown	HT	08:32- 11:32	Dry, overcast with moderate breeze and good visibility. Temperatures between 6°C and 7°C
16/12/2021	Malahide	HT	08:30- 11:30	Dry, broken clouds with slight breeze and excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 11°C
16/12/2021	Rogerstown	LT	13:00- 16:00	Dry, broken clouds with slight breeze and excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 11°C
17/12/2021	Laytown	HT	08:50- 11:50	Dry, overcast with slight breeze and excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 8°C
17/12/2021	Gormanston camp	LT	12:35- 15:35	Dry, overcast with moderate breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 8°C
17/12/2021	Balbriggan	LT	15:50- 16:15	Dry, overcast with moderate breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 7°C
06/01/2022	Laytown	LT	08:45- 11:45	Showers, broken clouds with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 6°C
06/01/2022	Gormanston camp	HT	13:00- 13:00	Showers, scattered clouds with moderate breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 7°C
07/01/2022	Malahide	LT	08:45- 11:45	Dry, broken clouds with moderate breeze and good visibility. Temperatures between 1°C and 2°C
07/01/2022	Rogerstown	HT	13:00- 15:50	Dry, scattered clouds with moderate breeze and good visibility. Temperatures between 1°C and 3°C
20/01/2022	Gormanston camp	HT	09:35- 12:35	Dry, few clouds with slight breeze and excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 3°C
20/01/2022	Laytown	HT	13:30- 16:30	Dry, overcast with slight breeze and excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 6°C
21/01/2022	Rogerstown	LT	08:30- 11:30	Dry, broken clouds with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 5°C
21/01/2022	Malahide	HT	13:15- 16:15	Dry, broken clouds with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 5°C
03/02/2022	Malahide	LT	08:45- 11:45	Dry, scattered clouds with moderate breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 3°C
03/02/2022	Rogerstown	HT	12:40- 15:40	Dry, scattered clouds with moderate breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 5°C
04/02/2022	Laytown	LT	08:10- 11:10	Dry, scattered clouds with moderate breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 3°C
04/02/2022	Gormanston camp	HT	12:10- 15:00	Dry, scattered clouds with moderate breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 4°C
04/02/2022	Balbriggan	HT	15:25- 15:45	Dry, scattered clouds with moderate breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 4°C











Date	Site	High Tide (HT) / Low Tide (LT) / Rising Tide	Survey Time	Weather Conditions
16/02/2022	Rogerstown	HT	09:00- 12:00	Dry, broken clouds with moderate breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 12°C
16/02/2022	Malahide	LT	14:15- 17:15	Showers, overcast with strong breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 11°C
16/02/2022	Rogerstown	HT	09:00- 12:00	Broken clouds with moderate breeze. Temperatures approximately 13°C
16/02/2022	Laytown	HT	12:45- 15:45	Rain, overcast with moderate breeze and fair visibility. Temperatures approximately 12°C
04/03/2022	Rogerstown	LT	08:30- 11:30	Dry, few clouds with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures between 2°C and 7°C
04/03/2022	Malahide	HT	13:00- 16:00	Dry, scattered clouds with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 9°C
04/03/2022	Laytown	LT	07:58- 10:58	Dry, sunny with slight breeze and moderate visibility. Temperatures approximately 3°C
04/03/2022	Gormanston camp	HT	12:00- 15:00	Dry, scattered clouds with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 7°C
04/03/2022	Balbriggan	HT	15:15	Dry, scattered clouds with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 7°C
15/03/2022	Laytown	HT	08:20- 11:20	Dry, overcast with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures between 5°C and 9°C
15/03/2022	Gormanston camp	LT	12:30- 12:30	Dry, scattered clouds with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 10°C
15/03/2022	Rogerstown	НТ	08:50- 11:50	Dry, overcast with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures between 6°C and 10°C
16/03/2022	Malahide	LT	13:00- 16:00	Dry, scattered clouds with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 10°C
29/03/2022	Rogerstown	LT	09:15- 12:15	Dry, scattered clouds with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 11°C
29/03/2022	Malahide	НТ	13:45- 16:45	Dry, overcast with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 12°C
29/03/2022	Laytown	НТ	09:15- 12:15	Dry, overcast with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 9°C
29/03/2022	Gormanston camp	LT	13:00- 16:00	Dry, overcast with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 8°C
29/03/2022	Balbriggan	LT	16:10- 16:35	Dry, overcast with slight breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 8°C
2022-2023				
12/10/2022	Rogerstown	LT	08:00- 11:00	Dry, Overcast with gentle breeze and excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 13°C
12/10/2022	Malahide	HT	12:00- 15:00	Dry, Overcast with gentle breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 13°C











Date	Site	High Tide (HT) / Low Tide (LT) / Rising Tide	Survey Time	Weather Conditions
04/11/2022	Malahide	HT	08:00- 11:00	Dry, scattered clouds and light air. and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 6°C
04/11/2022	Rogerstown	LT	12:00- 15:00	Dry, scattered clouds with light breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 10°C
08/11/2022	Balbriggan	LT	08:30- 08:45	Dry, few clouds and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 10°C
08/11/2022	Gormanston camp	LT	09:00- 12:00	Dry, few clouds and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 10°C
08/11/2022	Laytown	нт	12:30- 15:30	Light drizzle, scattered clouds, with high wind, moderate/near gale, and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 10°C
17/11/2022	Laytown	LT	08:30- 11:30	Dry, scattered clouds with gentle breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 4°C
17/11/2022	Gormanston camp	HT	12:30- 15:30	Dry, scattered clouds with light breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 6°C
17/11/2022	Rogerstown	HT	08:15- 11:15	Mist, scattered clouds with light breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 4°C
17/11/2022	Malahide	LT	12:15- 15:15	Dry, broken clouds with light breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 7°C
02/12/2022	Malahide	HT	08:25- 11:25	Dry, scattered clouds and calm. good visibility. Temperatures approximately 5°C
02/12/2022	Rogerstown	LT	12:20- 15:20	Dry, scattered clouds and calm. good visibility. Temperatures approximately 9°C
02/12/2022	Balbriggan	HT	08:00- 12:00	Dry, few clouds, with light air. Excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 7°C
02/12/2022	Laytown	LT	12:40- 15:40	Dry, scattered clouds, with light air. Excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 10°C
15/12/2022	Laytown	HT	08:45- 11:45	Dry, few clouds, and calm. Excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 3°C
15/12/2022	Gormanston camp	HT	12:30- 15:30	Dry, few clouds, and light breeze. Excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 1°C
15/12/2022	Balbriggan	LT	08:15- 08:35	Dry, few clouds, and calm. Excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 3°C
16/12/2022	Rogerstown	LT	08:30- 11:30	Dry, few clouds, and calm. good visibility. Temperatures approximately -1°C
16/12/2022	Malahide	HT	12:30- 15:30	Dry, few clouds, with light air. good visibility. Temperatures approximately -2ºC
05/01/2023	Rogerstown	HT	08:30- 11:30	Dry, scattered clouds with gentle breeze. Good visibility. Temperatures approximately 11°C
05/01/2023	Malahide	LT	12:30- 15:30	Dry, scattered clouds with strong breeze. Good visibility. Temperatures approximately 13°C











Date	Site	High Tide (HT) / Low Tide (LT) / Rising Tide	Survey Time	Weather Conditions
05/01/2023	Gormanston camp	HT	09:35- 12:35	Dry, overcast with strong breeze. Good visibility. Temperatures approximately 11°C
05/01/2023	Laytown	LT	13:15- 16:45	Dry, overcast with strong breeze. Good visibility. Temperatures approximately 13°C
24/01/2023	Rogerstown	LT	09:00- 12:00	Dry, few clouds and calm. poor visibility. Temperatures approximately 7°C
24/01/2023	Malahide	HT	13:15- 16:15	Dry, scattered clouds with light breeze. Moderate visibility. Temperatures approximately 11°C
24/01/2023	Balbriggan	LT	08:30- 08:50	Dry, scattered clouds with light breeze. Excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 8°C
24/01/2023	Gormanston Camp	LT	09:00- 12:00	Dry, scattered clouds with light breeze. Excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 8°C
24/01/2023	Laytown	HT	12:30- 15:30	Dry, broken clouds with gentle breeze. Excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 11°C
09/02/2023	Laytown	LT	08:15- 11:15	Dry, few clouds with light breeze. good visibility. Temperatures approximately 3°C
09/02/2023	Gormanston camp	HT	12:15- 15:15	Dry, few clouds with gentle breeze. good visibility. Temperatures approximately 6°C
09/02/2023	Malahide	LT	08:00- 11:00	Dry, few clouds with light air and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 2°C
09/02/2023	Rogerstown	HT	12:00- 15:00	Dry, few clouds with light breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 8°C
24/02/2023	Gormanston camp	LT	08:45- 11:45	Dry, broken clouds with gentle breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 7°C
24/02/2023	Laytown	HT	12:45- 15:45	Dry, broken clouds with moderate breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 9°C
24/02/2023	Malahide	LT	08:00- 11:00	Dry, broken clouds with light air and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 7°C
24/02/2023	Rogerstown	HT	12:00- 15:00	Dry, broken clouds with light air and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 10°C
08/03/2023	Laytown	LT	08:00- 11:00	Light Drizzle, broken clouds and strong breeze, with good visibility. Temperatures approximately 2°C
08/03/2023	Gormanston Camp	HT	12:00- 15:00	Dry, broken clouds with strong breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 5°C
08/03/2023	Balbriggan	HT	15:15- 15:45	Dry, broken clouds with strong breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 4°C
23/03/2023	Malahide	LT	07:45- 10:45	Dry, few clouds with moderate breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 8°C
23/03/2023	Rogerstown	HT	12:00- 15:00	Light Drizzle, broken clouds with moderate breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 12°C











Date	Site	High Tide (HT) / Low Tide (LT) / Rising Tide	Survey Time	Weather Conditions
2023 - 2024 ¹⁶				
14/09/2023	Drogheda	Not relevant	10:00- 12:30	Dry, broken clouds with a gentle breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 17°C
14/09/2023	Laytown beach	Not relevant	13:00- 15:30	Dry, broken clouds with a gentle breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 16°C
15/09/2023	Gormanston	Not relevant	10:00- 12:30	Pouring rain, overcast with a light breeze and moderate visibility. Temperatures approximately 13°C
15/09/2023	Barnageeragh	Not relevant	12:45- 15:30	Raining, overcast with a light breeze and poor visibility. Temperatures approximately 13°C
19/10/2023	Barnageeragh	Not relevant	09:30- 16:30	Raining, overcast with a gentle breeze and moderate visibility. Temperatures approximately 13°C
16/11/2023	Drogheda	Not relevant	08:40- 10:46	Dry, broken clouds with light air and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 5°C
16/11/2023	Laytown beach	HT	11:10- 13:10	Dry, broken clouds with light air and excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 9°C. HT @ 1247.
16/11/2023	Gormanstown beach	Not relevant	14:10- 16:05	Light drizzle, overcast with a light breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 7°C. HT @ 1255.
17/11/2023	Barnageerah	Not relevant	09:40- 11:40	Dry, few clouds with light breeze and excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 6°C. HT @ 1341.
14/12/2023	Drogheda	Not relevant	08:15- 1015	Dry, broken clouds with light air and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 8°C. Visibility improved.
14/12/2023	Laytown beach	Not relevant	10:40- 12:40	Dry, broken clouds with a light breeze and excellent visibility. Temperatures approximately 9°C
14/12/2023	Gormanstown beach	Not relevant	13:20- 14:30	Light drizzle, broken clouds with a light breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 9°C. V quiet site.
14/12/2023	Barnageeragh	Not relevant	14:45- 16:15	Dry, broken clouds with a light breeze and good visibility. Temperatures approximately 10°C

1.4 Appendix 1.4: Surface Water Management Plan

1.4.1 Introduction

This Construction Surface Water Management Plan ("the SWMP") incorporates information on the control and management measures taken in order to avoid, prevent, or reduce any significant adverse impacts on the surface water environment during the Construction Phase of the DART+ Coastal North Project hereafter referred as the "proposed development".

¹⁶ Construction Compound locations with suitable wintering bird habitat only





During the Construction Phase of the proposed development, the control and management measures outlined below correspond to the best practice approaches that can be used to ensure construction does not increase pollution of watercourses or flood risk in line with River Basin Management Plans (RBMP) for Ireland.

1.4.1.1 Objectives

The main objectives of the SWMP are to:

- Ensure sediment and pollution control requirements are incorporated into the design stage and land requirements for the proposed development as far as practicable;
- Ensure flood risk controls are included in the design, where necessary;
- Minimise and if possible, avoid potential sediment and other contaminants such as fuel, concrete, oil, and other materials discharging into a watercourse;
- Minimise the duration and area of exposed ground which could potentially create runoff; and
- Provide appropriate control and containment measures on site in order to reduce any potential impacts in the event of an accidental spillage or site runoff and maintain sediment and pollution controls during the Construction Phase of the proposed development.

1.4.1.2 Potential Sources of Water Pollution

Potential sources of water pollution, such as sediment and surface water runoff, could arise from the following activities/areas:

- Earthworks transportation, excavation, and processing of materials, within and outside the proposed development, together with materials deposition and temporary stockpiling (where required).
- Surface exposure is typically associated with the following activities within the proposed development:
 - Preparatory and vegetation clearance works, such as topsoil stripping, and
 - Tracking of machinery.
- Concrete activities generation of highly alkaline silt (pH 11.5) through the use of concrete, grout, and other cement-based products during the construction of structures, OHLE foundations, carriageway and pavement works.
- Watercourse crossings increased likelihood of impacts on water quality when construction occurs over or near surface waters (e.g., demolition works, bridge modifications, OHLE installation on overbridges and viaducts, Construction Compounds in the vicinity of watercourses).
- Construction Compound and machinery re-fueling areas.

Section 1.4.3 outlines mitigation measures, to be implemented by the Contractor, in order to reduce the likelihood of any pollution incidents occurring during the Construction Phase.

1.4.1.3 Duties and Responsibilities

The duties and responsibilities of key stakeholders are listed in Appendix D of the CEMP. Accordingly, the Site Environmental Manager, or equivalent, will be responsible for the further development, implementation, and maintenance of the SWMP.









1.4.2 Surface Water Receptors

The project site extends c. 50 km across four administrative/local authority areas including Louth, Meath and Fingal County Councils and Dublin City Council. The main surface water receptors in the project area include the rivers Boyne, Nanny, Delvin, Mayne, Pilltown and Liffey. There are 18no. watercourse crossings along the entire length of the proposed development.

The proposed development lies within the catchments of the Boyne (HA 07), Nanny-Delvin (HA 08) and Liffey and Dublin Bay (HA 09). The 2016-2021 WFD status of these water bodies show that the watercourses in the vicinity of the proposed development have "poor" status apart from one water body, the Tolka_SC_020. However, all waterbodies have set 2027 as a date to meet their environmental objectives.

1.4.3 Mitigation and Management Measures

1.4.3.1 Control of Sediments

1.4.3.1.1 Sediment Control Plan (SCP)

The development of a Sediment Control Plan (SCP) will be undertaken prior to commencement of construction by the appointed Contractor. This includes the monitoring of suspended solids and turbidity levels ensuring that sediment concentrations are up to standard prior to discharge.

Works in Flood Zones A and B should be avoided where possible. For any works in these flood zones, the Contractor will be required to provide appropriate mitigation measures within a method statement for the removal of materials to minimise potential sediment discharge into the nearest watercourse.

1.4.3.1.2 Runoff rates

- Works areas will be kept dry as far as reasonably practicable;
- Bunds of non-erodible material will be used adjacent to watercourses to avoid contaminated water entering the watercourse as far as reasonably practicable;
- Settlement tanks, silt traps/bags and bunds will be used where required to remove silt from surface water runoff. Sizing of the tanks will be based on best available guidelines such as CIRIA Technical guidance C648: Control of Water Pollution from Linear Construction Projects (CIRIA 2006). Any construction work within a 10m buffer zone must be provided with these measures to minimise sediment discharge to a watercourse;
- Weather conditions to be checked by Contractor and coordinated with any planning construction activities in order to minimise surface water runoff from the site.

1.4.3.1.3 Water Quality

The Contractor will be responsible for ensuring that surface water control measures, such as settlement areas or silt fences, are carried out/monitored daily. Additionally, water bodies crossed by the proposed development shall be visually inspected weekly by the Contractor.

Water pollution indicators include:

- Water colour and transparency changes;
- Increase of silt levels in the water;









- Oily sheen on the water surface; and
- Floating detritus, scums, and foams.

In case any contamination is observed, an investigation shall be carried out (depending on the source and nature) in order to prevent any further worsening contamination status, with any incidents being recorded and investigated in more detail to prevent a recurrence.

1.4.3.2 Construction Compound

As far as reasonably practicable Construction Compounds have been chosen to avoid high flood risk zones and maintain a minimum buffer of 50m from surface watercourses. An exception for this would be the construction of the new arch bridge at Clongriffin at the Mayne River water crossing parallel to the existing railway bridge. The Construction Compound at this location also encroaches on the Mayne River floodplain. At this location, it will be necessary to apply the following measures to mitigate the potential impacts:

- Obtain all necessary consents from the relevant authorities (IFI, OPW, etc.);
- Bank stabilisation and erosion protection should be in place for the entire construction period; and
- Reinstate banks that are affected by the works to original or better stable state.

Further details on the requirements for the Construction Compounds are provided in Section 2.2.9 of Appendix A5.1 (CEMP) in Volume 4 and in Chapter 4 (Description of the Proposed Development) in Volume 2 of this EIAR.

1.4.3.2.1 Materials/Fuel Storage

- Refuelling of all plant, machinery, and vehicles will be undertaken only in designated areas where leaks and spills can be contained relatively easily. Spill kits will be made available on all temporary and permanent construction sites. Refuelling areas must be kept at least 50m away from watercourses;
- Construction materials to be managed in a such a way as to effectively minimise the risk posed to the aquatic environment; and
- Excavated material to be placed in such a way as to avoid any disturbance of areas near to the banks of watercourses and any spillage into the watercourses.

1.4.3.3 River and Stream Crossings

At all the 18no. watercourse crossings across the full area of the proposed development, the following best practice guidelines shall be followed at these crossing locations as far as reasonably practicable:

- The contractor shall guarantee, prior to construction commencement, that all construction equipment is in good working condition and that there is no need for refueling or maintenance at, or near, crossing locations;
- Fluids such as fuels and chemicals shall be handled carefully in order to avoid spillages;
- Establish a 50m distance between watercourses and fueling and maintenance works;
- All spillages must be contained and removed from site immediately; and
- The Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW) shall be made aware of any accidental spills.







1.4.3.4 Use of Concrete

The use and management of concrete in or close to watercourses must be carefully controlled to avoid spillage which has a deleterious effect on water quality and aquatic habitats and species.

Where the use of in-situ concrete near and in watercourses cannot be avoided, control measures will need to be put in place. These are noted below:

- When working in or near the surface water and the application of in-situ materials cannot be avoided, the use of alternative materials such as biodegradable shutter oils shall be used;
- Any plant operating close to the water will require special consideration on the transport of concrete from the point of discharge from the mixer to final discharge into the delivery pipe (tremie). Care will be exercised when slewing concrete skips or mobile concrete pumps over or near the watercourses;
- Placing of concrete in or near the watercourses will be carried out only under the supervision of a suitably qualified Environmental Manager;
- There will be no hosing into surface water drains of spills of concrete, cement, grout or similar materials. Such spills shall be contained immediately, and runoff prevented from entering watercourses;
- Concrete waste and wash-down water will be contained and managed on site to prevent pollution of the watercourses;
- On-site concrete batching and mixing activities will only be allowed at the identified Construction Compound;
- Washout from concrete lorries, with the exception of the chute, will not be permitted on site and will only take place at the Construction Compound (or other appropriate facility designated by the supplier);
- Chute washout will be carried out at designated locations only. These locations will be signposted;
- The concrete plant and all delivery drivers will be informed of their location with the order information and on arrival on site; and,
- Chute washout locations will be provided with appropriate designated, contained impermeable area and treatment facilities including adequately sized settlement tanks. The clear water from the settlement tanks shall be pH corrected prior to discharge (which shall be by means of one of the construction stage settlement facilities) or alternatively disposed of as waste in accordance with the Contractor's Construction and Demolition Waste Management Plan.

1.4.3.5 Vehicles and Plant

- Vehicles and plant available for use on the proposed development will be regularly inspected to ensure optimum fuel efficiency in order to avoid any leakage and subsequently repaired when not in good working order;
- All vehicles to be equipped with spill kits; and
- Vehicles and plant will be parked at a safe distance from any drains in order to avoid any spillages.









1.4.4 Monitoring Requirements

The Site Environmental Manager will be responsible for the monitoring of the drainage system effectiveness during the Construction Phase of the proposed development in order to reduce the risk of discharge of silt-laden water into the receiving waters. The frequency of the monitoring will be associated with any observed weather changes and drainage conditions throughout the project.

Surface water control measures, such as settlement tanks, fuel storage areas, or silt fences, will be monitored daily by the Contractor, together with any water bodies crossed by the proposed development. Suspended solids will be monitored as well and included as part of the inspection.

Depending on the water quality parameters, an investigation will be undertaken to determine the cause of contamination and its original source. In order to prevent further contamination, a more detailed investigation will be carried out to prevent any possible recurrences. Relevant regulatory authorities will be informed, if required.

The contractor will be responsible for undertaking any investigation of the potential cause related to quality pollution indicators observed on site, with the immediate stoppage of any works. Sampling will be undertaken, following recording of the details of the activity identified as the main cause of the incident or potential activities capable of causing the incident, the nature of the impacts and mechanism of pollution, and measures proposed and implemented in order to avoid any reoccurrence.

Monitoring and transparent reporting will reduce the likelihood of any small incident becoming a serious one which would require regulatory action. A proactive approach should be taken in providing any relevant information to the regulator and the Client, which will reflect on how these events are handled professionally and taken seriously on site.

1.4.5 References

CIRIA (2001). Control of Water Pollution from Construction Sites. CIRIA Technical guidance C532.

CIRIA (2006). Control of Water Pollution from Linear Construction Projects. CIRIA Technical guidance C648.

DOEHLG & OPW (2009). The Planning System and Flood Risk Management Guidelines for Planning Authorities.

Goldman, S. J., Jackson, K., and Bursztynsky, T. A. (1986). Erosion and Sediment Control Handbook.

Inland Fisheries Ireland (IFI) (2016). Guidelines on Protection of Fisheries During Construction Works in and Adjacent to Waters.

Transport Infrastructure Ireland (TII, formerly NRA) (2005). Guidelines for the Crossing of Watercourses During the Construction of National Road Schemes.

Transport Infrastructure Ireland (TII, formerly NRA) (2013). Specification for Road Works Series 800 – Road Pavements – Unbound and Cement Bound Mixtures.







1.5 Appendix 1.5: Invasive Species Management Plan

1.5.1 Introduction

This Invasive Species Management Plan (hereafter referred to as the ISMP) for the Proposed Development contains management recommendations in respect of preventing the spread of and managing a range of non-native invasive species along the Proposed Development. Invasive Species (IS), Invasive Alien Species (IAS) or Invasive Alien Plant Species (IAPS) are terms sometimes referenced in legislation and or guidance. They are referred to as non-native invasive species in this report but the terms are interchangeable.

The ISMP describes the options available to manage and prevent the spread of Third Schedule, non-native invasive plant species identified in the vicinity of the Proposed Development. Only non-native invasive species listed on the Third Schedule of the Birds and Natural Habitats Regulations 2011 - S.I. No. 477 of 2011 (as amended) ('Birds and Natural Habitats Regulations') are dealt with in this ISMP.

The ISMP will be developed prior to the commencement of any on-site works for the Proposed Development. Construction works can disturb stands of Third Schedule non-native invasive plants and / or soils contaminated with non-native invasive plant material, as well as potentially lead to a new infestation. Therefore, management measures which will be contained in the ISMP will be implemented to avoid any direct or indirect impacts to habitats and species contained within the locality or as a result of its introduction to the area.

1.5.2 Legislative Context

The Birds and Natural Habitats Regulations contain specific provisions that govern control of listed invasive species. It is an offence to release or allow to disperse or escape, to breed, propagate, import, transport, sell or advertise species listed on Schedule 3 of the Birds and Natural Habitats Regulations without a Licence. The two regulations that deal specifically with this scheduled list of species are:

- Regulation 49: Prohibition of introduction and dispersal of certain species; and
- Regulation 50: Prohibition on dealing in and keeping certain species.

Following on from the provisions referred to above, the following are strictly prohibited:

- Dumping invasive species cuttings in anywhere other than in facilities licensed to accept them;
- Planting or otherwise causing to grow in the wild, hence the landowner (in respect of the Proposed Development this being IE and their appointed contractor) should be careful not to cause further spread);
- Disposing of invasive species at a landfill site without first informing the landfill site (that is licensed under the Waste Act to take such Third Schedule material plant or soil) that the waste contains invasive species material (this action requires an appropriate licence);
- Moving soil which contains Third Schedule-specific non-native invasive species in the state, unless under licence from the National Parks and Wildlife Service (NPWS) (this licence is separate from and does not discharge any person being in receipt of other necessary waste permits / licences etc.); and



 Regulation (EU) No 1143/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 22 October 2014 on the prevention and management of the introduction and spread of invasive alien species) ("the IAS Regulation") lists specific Species of Union Concern, some of which overlap with the Third Schedule species.

The IAS Regulation conveys the rules to prevent, minimise and mitigate the adverse impacts of the introduction and spread (both with and without intention) of invasive alien species on biodiversity and the related ecosystem services, as well as other adverse impacts on human health or the economy. Outcome 2H (and it four supporting actions 2H1-2H4) of Ireland's fourth National Biodiversity Action Plan 2023-2030 (Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage 2023) requires that "Invasive alien species (IAS) are controlled and managed on an all-island basis to reduce the harmful impact they have on biodiversity and measures are undertaken to tackle the introduction and spread of new IAS to the environment".

1.5.3 Limitations

It should be noted that any decision on efficacy of chemical treatments can only be provided by registered pesticides advisor. A suitably qualified specialist will be appointed by the contractor to monitor the treatment of non-native invasive species. This live ISMP shall be updated as necessary by the specialist.

1.5.4 Methodology

1.5.4.1 Guidance

This ISMP and the mitigation strategies that are discussed relating to invasive plant species have been prepared with regard to the following guidance documents, where relevant:

- The Management of Invasive Alien Plant Species on National Roads Technical Guidance (Transport Infrastructure Ireland (TII) 2020a)
- The Management of Invasive Alien Plant Species on National Roads Standard (TII 2020b)
- Managing Japanese knotweed on Development Sites (Version 3, amended in 2013, withdrawn from online publication in 2016): The Knotweed Code of Practice (Environment Agency (EA) 2013) (This document, although no longer supported by the EA, is nonetheless a practical document in determining the approach and control mechanisms for Japanese knotweed);
- Managing Invasive Non-Native Plants in or near Freshwater (EA 2010);
- Best Practice Management Guidelines for Japanese knotweed (Invasive Species Ireland (ISS) 2008a);
- Best Practice Management Guidelines for Himalayan balsam (ISS 2008b);
- Best Practice Management Guidelines for Giant hogweed (ISS 2008c);
- Countryside Management Publications, Giant hogweed (Department of Agriculture and Rural Development (Northern Ireland) (2016);
- Aquatic and Riparian Plant Management: Controls for Vegetation in Watercourses, Technical Guide (EA 2014); and
- Biosecurity Protocol for Field Survey Work (Inland Fisheries Ireland 2010).



Alarnród Éireann Irish Rail





1.5.4.2 General Measures to Control and Prevent the Spread of Non-Native Invasive Plant Species

1.5.4.2.1 Pre-Construction Survey

During the interim between the original non-native invasive species surveys and commencement of construction following grant of the Railway Order, it is possible that the existing stands of Third Schedule non-native invasive species may have expanded (if unmanaged) or decreased (if active management regime in place), or that newly established Third Schedule non-native Invasive species may have become established within the footprint of the Proposed Development. A confirmatory preconstruction invasive species survey will be undertaken by a suitably qualified specialist, arranged by IÉ, to confirm the absence, presence and / or extent of all Third Schedule non-native invasive species within the footprint of the Proposed Development. Where an infestation is confirmed / identified within the footprint of the Proposed Development, this will require the implementation of the ISMP.

Data collected as part of the pre-construction invasive species survey will include a detailed description of the infestation including the approximate area of the respective colonies (m²), where feasible, approximate total number of stems, pattern of growth and information on other vegetation present). This information will enable calculations of volumes of infested soils to be excavated where necessary, as part of the measures outlined below.

Following on from the pre-construction invasive species survey, the ISMP will be updated, as advised by a suitably qualified specialist, with regard to the Management of Invasive Alien Plant Species on National Roads - Technical Guidance (TII 2020a) and Standard (TII 2020b) and other species-specific guidance documents including those listed in the ISMP, as necessary. The updated ISMP will detail the strategy that will be adopted during the construction and decommissioning phase in order to manage and prevent the spread of invasive plant species, and where a Third Schedule non-native invasive species are encountered directly in the works area, the method of treatment / eradication.

1.5.4.2.2 Invasive Species Management Plan (ISMP)

Following on from the pre-construction invasive species survey, the ISMP will be updated to detail the exact measures for any non-native invasive species population present within the footprint of the Proposed Development. Depending on the extent and nature of the works, a number of approaches / treatments may be approved, all following on from the measures in the ISMP.

IÉ will ensure that all control measures specified in the ISMP shall be implemented by a suitably qualified and licenced specialist prior to the Construction and decommissioning Phase of the Proposed Development to control the spread of newly established non-native invasive species within the footprint of the Proposed Development. Furthermore, the appointed contractor will adhere to control measures specified within the ISMP throughout the construction and decommissioning phase of the Proposed Development. The site will be monitored by the appointed contractor after control measures have been implemented. Any re-growth will be subsequently treated.



Coastal North

All measures that are prescribed in the ISMP shall be equally applicable to advance works as to construction works. In the operational phase the management of the infrastructure will be the responsibility of the local authority and the control of invasive species will be as per their plans and procedures, and responsibilities under The Birds and Natural Habitats Regulations.

1.5.4.2.3 General Measures to Avoid the Spread of Non-Native Invasive Species

The unintentional spread of non-native invasive species during construction works (within a construction site or unwittingly from outside of a site, such as through the importation of materials or poor biosecurity practices regarding plant and machinery) can be a significant issue, and if not managed properly, can result in the spread of non-native invasive species to uninfested areas (within or adjacent to works areas), which would increase the future cost and effort required to control the species and could pose further public health and safety risks (Japanese knotweed can cause damage to weaknesses in built environment, whilst Giant hogweed is an environmental public health hazard).

The most common ways that invasive species can be spread is:

- Site and vegetation clearance, mowing, hedge-cutting or other landscaping activities;
- Spread of seeds or plant fragments during the movement or transport of soil;
- Spread of seeds or plant fragments through the local surface water and drainage network;
- Contamination of vehicles or equipment with seeds or plant fragments which are then transported to other areas;
- Importation of soil from off-site sources contaminated with invasive species plant material; and
- Leaving riparian corridors bare of vegetation thus allowing establishment of seed material from outside the site.

1.5.4.2.4 Site Establishment

During advance works and prior to commencement of construction, any areas where Third Schedule non-native invasive species have been recorded by the pre-construction surveys must be clearly fenced off prior to and during construction (in order to avoid spreading seeds or plant fragments around or off the construction site) until such time that the mitigation measures are implemented and treatment has been completed, or that works in these areas are monitored in accordance with the requirements of the ISMP.

This includes the construction compound and the entirety of the Proposed Development footprint. Earthworks or machinery movement must be avoided in any areas where non-native invasive species have been identified during the pre-construction surveys, until the relevant stands have been eradicated.

1.5.4.2.5 Biosecurity and Site Hygiene

It is important to ensure that the spread of non-native invasive species, where present, is curtailed. It is also necessary to ensure that in areas where non-native invasive species are not present, that they are not unintentionally spread e.g., through the importation of contaminated material being brought onto the site.







Unwashed construction equipment, plant, vehicles, and footwear can provide a vector for the spread of non-native invasive species within the Proposed Development and from areas outside the Proposed Development, where infestation is present or where vector material potentially containing seed / root material is attached to plant. The following hygiene measures shall be undertaken for the Proposed Development.

- Known or potentially infested areas within the working area of the Proposed Development shall be clearly fenced off in advance of works and access restricted until such time that treatment has commenced and / or construction works are monitored in accordance with the ISMP in the area. In relation to Japanese knotweed, the guidance recommends an exclusion buffer of 7m (metres) in all directions (within the works area and 3m vertically underground);
- Erection of clear signage at the construction compound etc. and inclusion of detail during tool-box talks or similar (environmental induction) for construction staff in respect of the management of Third Schedule non-native invasive species.
- The signage and notification should be easily understood so that users are aware of the measures to be taken for known non-native invasive species, or what they should do in the case of suspected non-native invasive species identified. In particular the potential health risks posed by Giant hogweed, where it is recorded from within or adjacent to a Proposed Development should be clearly notified to personnel;
- Identify dedicated access points into and out of fenced off areas. These shall not be breached until such time that eradication / removal of non-native invasive species is confirmed or monitoring of the treatment / eradication process is commenced;
- Where possible, the locations of dedicated footwear and wheel wash facilities should be identified in the ISMP. Where a dedicated / bespoke wheel wash cannot be installed owing to space limitations, the appointed contractor will ensure that no excavated loose material is allowed offsite from within an exclusion zone. Similarly, where plant that is used to excavate soils, it shall be visually checked for loose soil before movement to another part of site (where possible, the movements of tracked machinery should be restricted within the non-native invasive species exclusion zone. Loose soil shall be scraped off and disposed of, and a solution of Virkon© (or similar approved disinfectant) applied to machinery to ensure that no obscured seed / root material remains viable;
- Vehicular movements within the exclusion area shall be minimised as far as is practical.
- Machinery which has been used for the transport and / or excavation of infected / suspected infected vector material shall be thoroughly washed down, and the washings captured for disposal. All such machinery / plant shall not be permitted to commence work elsewhere on or off-site until written confirmation of same has been undertaken;
- Dedicated wash down and solution capture should be set up in the construction compound. All washings should be stored in a quarantined bunded container that is rated for such storage until such time that they are removed offsite for disposal and a facility that is authorised to accept such waste;
- Except in very particular circumstances, under the guidance of the specialist, there shall be no temporary storage of infected / suspected infected soils on-site. They must be removed offsite as per guidance above; and



 Where small volumes e.g., volume capable of being double bagged in quarantine bags such as cut plants, bulbs or loose soil occur, it may be practical to bag the material and bring it to a clearly demarcated and dedicated quarantine area within the construction compound until such time that the material is disposed of to an authorised facility, similar to the process of disposing of bulk excavated infected soil.

1.5.4.2.6 Soil Excavation

No excavations within a clearly demarcated and fenced off buffer zone shall be permitted. For Japanese knotweed, guidance recommends a horizontal distance of up to 7m from the outside of the stand. This could include under built ground, should suitable areas of weakness or uncompacted ground be encountered by the plants' rhizomes. For other species there will be different buffer zones as guided by the specialist.

Where the excavation of soil containing Third Schedule non-native invasive species (vector material) is the preferred option, the operation shall be monitored for its entirety until the risk of spread of Third Schedule non-native invasive species is negated.

There should be no temporary storage on-site of bulk excavated infected material. Where the ISMP calls for shallow / deep burial, this material shall be removed from the excavated area and transported immediately to approved receptor area on site. Furthermore, the temporary storage of uninfected material should not occur within a European or National site nor within 10m of any watercourse and any land within an identified flood zone. Where temporary stockpiles of infected material cannot for practical limitations, be situated away from a potential flood risk area, the appointed contractor will be required to include a flood response plan within the Environmental Incident Response Plan to ensure that any inundation of Construction Compound does not result in a pollution event to nearby water bodies.

Plant and machinery used in the control, excavation and transport of invasive material shall also be subject to the recommendations described in above.

The installation of industry-rated non-native invasive species-proof membrane before infilling construction of road / paths surface may be required. All waste arising out of this process which has been in contact with the excavated ground shall be treated as infected waste and disposed of at a facility that is authorised to accept such waste.

Where the movement of any Third Schedule non-native invasive species is required off-site, a licence will be required from National Parks and Wildlife Service (NPWS) in advance of any movement to a site/facility licensed to accept such waste, as per the Birds and Natural Habitats Regulation. This licence is separate to; and does not negate the need for licences / permits / authorisations required under waste legislation.

1.5.4.2.7 Disposal of Material

Where any non-native invasive plant material is collected (e.g., by hand-pulling or mowing), it is important that its disposal does not result in a risk of further spread. The movement of invasive plant material, offsite, requires a licence from the NPWS, as per the Birds and Natural Habitats Regulations.



Invasive species (particularly roots, flower heads or seeds) must be disposed of at licensed waste facilities or composting sites, appropriately buried, or incinerated having regard to relevant legislation, e.g., Waste Management Act 1996, as amended – S.I. No. 10 of 1996 (hereafter referred to as the Waste Management Act); Section 4 of the Air Pollution Act 1987 – No. 6 of 1987; relevant local authority byelaws and any other relevant legislation. All disposals must be carried out in accordance with the relevant waste management legislation, as per guidance from the Transport Infrastructure Ireland (TII) The Management of Waste from National Road Construction Projects (TII 2017).

It should be noted that some invasive species plant material or soil (vector material) containing residual herbicides may be classified as either 'hazardous waste' or 'non-hazardous waste' under the terms of the Waste Management Act, and both categories may require special disposal procedures or permissions. Advice should be sought from a suitably qualified waste expert regarding the classification of waste and the suitability of different disposal measures.

1.5.4.2.8 Importation of Soil and Other Material

The bulk importation of material from offsite could potentially result in the accidental spread of Third Schedule non-native invasive species, as it is uncertain if these site(s) are free from non-native invasive species. This is likely less an issue for road building material. However, in terms of landscaping, if soil is imported to the site for landscaping, infilling or embankments, the appointed contractor shall seek documentation from suppliers confirming that the material is free from invasive species.

1.5.5 Assessment of Management Options for Third Schedule Non-Native Invasive Species

The general measures included above are required to ensure good on-site practices in respect of known or potential Third Schedule non-native invasive species.

Sections below further identify practical management controls. The colour scheme shown is a qualitative tool intended to assist the reader to focus on the most likely practical solutions. It is acknowledged that more than one potential control measure exists and that a single or combination of measures may be required. The recommendations presented in this ISMP provide the minimum requirements for the likely control measures and the measures outlined in this ISMP shall be developed (with further detail on methodology used at each location, timing, practical management etc.) by the appointed contractor (or the specialist as appropriate).

The use of chemical treatments is recognised as a potential treatment option. However, the services of a registered pesticide advisor must be employed in the specifying named chemicals including those rated for use adjacent to aquatic environments where required, treatment type, dosage, and timing etc., and / or use of pesticides in the management of potential Third Schedule non-native invasive species within the Proposed Development.

The selected management control to be defined for each non-native invasive species stand within the Proposed Development will depend on:

- Results of the pre-construction survey; and,
- Construction requirements timing of works at specific locations, level of infestation and practical considerations such as reducing disturbance to road users / homeowners.



The ISMP, which will be updated following on from the pre-construction surveys, may require the utilisation of a number of controls that are described and assessed below.

1.5.5.1 Japanese knotweed (Reynoutria japonica)

Japanese knotweed is high impact non-native invasive species that is particularly effective at colonising disturbed ground (e.g., construction sites) and can spread by the re-growth of cut fragments or root material, so if it is broken up during site clearance or other earthworks it can readily re-grow in new areas to which soil is moved. Japanese knotweed readily reproduces asexually (in Ireland, at least, as only Female plants have been recorded) and regrowth can occur from plant material weighing as little as 0.7g (grams) of viable material. It is acknowledged to be very difficult to effectively control and an even more difficult weed to fully eradicate.

Given the nature of Japanese knotweed, chemical treatments are often preferred over physical methods as they can, if implemented properly reduce the disturbance of the plant / population thus reducing the chances of its spread. If herbicide is applied as the treatment option, it will need to be reapplied for up to five years after the first application to ensure the plant control measures have been effective; or monitored for a minimum of two years during which no regrowth is recorded.

Table 1-12 below presents an assessment of potential treatment options available for the treatment of Japanese knotweed. The various methods are analysed and described in further detail as necessary. It should be noted that where it might occur within a Proposed Development, that a number of the measures described below may be applicable, depending on the nature of works, the timing etc. The ISMP is a live document. Arising from the outcome of the Preconstruction surveys noted at section 8.8.4.2.1 of the Biodiversity chapter of the EIAR, the appointed contractor's specialist will, following detail the treatment options based on the potential options presented below

Approach	Treatment Options	Comment	Potential for Implementation on the Proposed Development
Physical	Dig and dispose offsite, under licence	This option requires that all plant material (above and below ground) is excavated along with soil and disposed of to a facility authorized to accept it. In addition to waste permits / authorizations, a wildlife licence issued by NPWS is required for the transport of Third Schedule non-native invasive species offsite. Depending on the nature of the excavation the proximity of services etc., the use of root barrier membrane could be required.	Likely – given the nature of the scheme, there may be a need to excavate soil and plant material to enable construction works to go ahead in timely manner.
	Dig and dispose onsite. - Shallow burial - Deep burial	A wildlife licence from NPWS is not ordinarily required if the burial of collected material is proposed for within the development site. Shallow burial in a constructed cell such as a dedicated sealed cell within a constructed berm will allow for periodic monitoring and of easy chemical treatment of any regrowth. Deep burial entails a dedicated sealed cell within a constructed excavation, that is at least 2m below the surface of the ground.	Unlikely – given the lack of suitable lands outside of ownership of IÉ

Table 1-12	Assessment	of Management	Methods for	Japanese	knotweed
		<u> </u>			











Approach	Treatment Options	Comment	Potential for Implementation on the Proposed Development	
		The landscaping regime should not specify trees or scrub to be planted above. Either shallow or deep option could require the use of root barrier membrane. The use of chemical pre-treatment of deep/shallow cells could also be required.		
	Screen on site – remove fragments offsite & reuse soil.	A control option that can be used to reduce the volume of soil/sediment to be moved elsewhere for burial, this option requires suitable plant, adequate space and volumes of soil to make the operation at a location cost effective. This option often requires the use of root barrier membrane owing to reuse of screened soil. The use of chemical pre- treatment of deep / shallow cells could also be required.	Possible but unlikely given the space requirements for a screener (unless a bespoke small-scale screener is available).	
	Cutting and / or Strimming	Not recommended and does not apparently diminish vigour of plants over time. Largely cosmetic and can result in considerable spread of viable vegetative material that can readily regenerate on suitable conditions.	Not Recommended.	
Chemical	Spot	Used for isolated plants – knapsack or weep sprayers. Chemical treatments for infestations near water should be rated for use near aquatic locations.	Chemical treatments are often a preferred option for treating Japanese knotweed, but the process can take between 3 to 5	
Spray		Used for isolated plants or large populations using knapsack or weep sprayers. In accessible areas including along riverbanks, lance sprayers can be used. Chemical treatments for infestations near water should be rated for use at or near aquatic locations. Can result in chemical drift.	years before eradication can be guaranteed and requires at least 2- year post implementation monitoring.	
	Stem Injection	This method is considered very effective, if the injection is timed appropriately for growth phase. However, it is labour-intensive (sometimes) requiring some cutting) and is usually only carried out on small/isolated populations. Chemical treatments for infestations near water should be rated for use at or near aquatic locations.	Possible and requires specialist equipment to enable working alongside the biohazardous plant. – Despite some advantages over other conventional chemical treatments e.g., reduces drift, not weather dependent.	

1.5.5.2 Root Barrier Membrane

Following on from the excavation of Japanese knotweed, there may be a need to install a root barrier membrane. These are specialised products that can provide protection to structures / services etc. from regrowth from within or outside a site if suitably rated and properly installed. Thereafter, any small adjacent infestation can be more readily treated with chemical treatment for example.







1.5.5.3 Reseeding Following Eradication

This is not strictly a control method. However, where treated ground is not being built upon, planting or resowing mixtures of native grass species helps to restore the original vegetation and aids post control management of affected sites. A grass sward established in autumn will compete with germinating Japanese knotweed seedlings in the following spring.

1.5.5.4 Giant hogweed (Heracleum mantegazzianum)

This is a high-risk invasive species, that is also a biohazard in that it can pose a threat to humans. The chemistry of its sap is such that exposure to it on skin can result in prolonged photosensitizing reactions with blistering. Thus, a clearly demarcated exclusion buffer, in excess of 4m, is recommend for any individual / populations of this species before commencing works.

It spreads via heavy seeds which can easily be transported by water; hence it is often found along river corridors. While the plant favours riverbanks, it is known to be found on waste / derelict ground as well as railway lines for instance. Its presence can impact local biodiversity and undermine bankside integrity. The seedling stage is the most vulnerable. Mortality of seedlings is comparable to many other plants and its seed bank is considered to be persistent for a short number of years only. Since Giant hogweed can only reproduce via seed, control measures applied before flowering and fruit set will limit subsequent generations (and even then, only with favourable conditions). The ideal time to control Giant hogweed via chemical treatment is April, with follow on monthly applications targeting regrowth, although for this treatment options, it can require up to five years before successful eradication.

Table 1-13 presents an assessment of potential treatment options available for the treatment of Giant hogweed. The various potential treatment methods are analysed and described in further detail as necessary. The ISMP is a live document. Arising from the outcome of the Preconstruction surveys noted at section 8.8.4.2.1, the appointed contractors specialist will, following detail the treatment options based on the potential options presented below.











Table 1-13 Assessment of Management Methods for Giant hogweed

Approach	Treatment Options	Comment	Potential for Implementation on the Proposed Development
Physical	Above ground Cutting	Not recommended. Largely cosmetic and prolongs flowering until such time that control halted. However, if digging is used, it is recommended that the removal be attempted in April /early May when the plant is usually less than 30cm tall. However, the root must be captured also.	Unlikely – requires specialist equipment to enable working alongside the biohazardous plant
	Root cutting	Individual plants may be killed by cutting at a 45-degree angle 15cm below ground level with a spade in April or May. Can be laborious unless small/isolated stands. Can be effective if combined with chemical treatment over four to five years repeat treatment	Given the nature of the project, could be used to remove biohazard plant and thereafter allow for chemical control against any regrowth. Requires specialist equipment to enable working alongside the biohazardous plant
	Strimming	Not recommended owing to spread of sap.	Not Recommended.
	Ploughing	Can provide total control where seedlings and young plants encroach onto agricultural land. However not practical in metropolitan areas and isolated stand along riverbanks.	Unlikely given the locations that Giant hogweed is often found in.
	Grazing	Grazing should begin when early foliage appears in April and should continue until early autumn when re-sprouting stops. Eradication can take between 5-10 years so that seed bank and root stock is fully depleted of resources.	Not possible in metropolitan area
	Pulling	Hand pulling is only suitable for small/immature plants (and with suitable PPE to protect exposure of bare skin). Potential remains for tap root to remain underground and regenerate.	Unlikely for mature plants. Requires specialist equipment to enable working alongside the biohazardous small/immature plants
	Biological Control	Other than natural soil biota, it is not currently permitted to introduce any organisms to areas to deal with Giant hogweed. Research ongoing which would requires permitting thereafter.	Not possible at present.
	Dig and dispose offsite, under licence	This option requires that all plant material (above and below ground) is excavated along with soil and disposed of to a facility authorized to accept it. Given the phytotoxic nature of the plant, it should not be buried onsite nor disposed of with general C&D waste. In addition to waste permits / authorisations, a wildlife licence issued by NPWS is required for the transport of	Possible and depending on location may be required.




Iarnród Éireann





Approach	Treatment Options	Comment	Potential for Implementation on the Proposed Development
		Third Schedule non-native invasive species offsite.	
Chemical	Spot Treatment	Used for isolated plants – knapsack or weep sprayers. Chemical treatments for infestations near water should be rated for use near aquatic locations.	Most widely used method, but to be wholly effective, requires total control over ~5 years of treatments within a river catchment or the isolated location. Is weather dependent and can result in chemical drift to adjacent vegetation or watercourses.
	Spray	More suitable for large stands, where machine-mounted blanket sprays are used. Chemical treatments for infestations near water should be rated for use near aquatic locations.	Possible but unlikely owing to nature and size of population recorded on scheme.
	Stem Injection	Can only be carried out on young stems. Due to difficulties with the timing of application and the potential safety risk of contact with the large leaves this method requires specialist safety equipment.	Possible and requires specialist equipment to enable working alongside the biohazardous plant – Despite some advantages over other conventional chemical treatments e.g., reduces drift, not weather dependent.

1.5.5.5 Temporary Storage of Collected Material

Given the phytotoxic nature of Giant hogweed, cut material should not be discarded. Ideally it should be disposed of immediately with similar non-native invasive species waste to a facility authorised to accept such waste.

However, given the nature and relative sizes of Giant hogweed infestations it may be suitable to collect cut biomass (where not disposed of immediately to a facility authorised to accept such waste), and to double bag it for transport to dedicated quarantine area (location to be approved as part of the ISMP to decompose before disposal with similar non-native invasive species waste in facility authorised to accept such waste.

The locations of areas for which Giant hogweed has been eradicated should be notified to the local authority, so that any future public health issue involving similar symptoms can be tracked.

1.5.5.6 Reseeding Following Eradication

This is not strictly a control method. However, where treated ground is not being built upon, planting or resowing mixtures of native grass species helps to restore the original vegetation and aids post control management of affected sites. A grass sward established in autumn will compete with germinating Giant hogweed seedlings in the following spring and retard its establishment.

1.5.5.7 Himalayan balsam (Impatiens glandulifera)

This high-risk invasive species is easily disturbed, particularly if in flower and readily becomes reestablished along riparian corridors, which are annually subject to alluvial flooding. Unlike Japanese knotweed though, it does not reproduce asexually.



Plants can produce in excess of 6000 seeds, and it aggressively colonises bare ground along riverbanks – including wet woodlands as well as waste ground where suitable conditions exist. Due to its rapid growth, it can outcompete most native species. While its seedbanks are viable for up to 18 months, the resupply of seed is often achieved through annual river flooding and riparian inundation with freshly deposited soil-laden alluvium.

Table 1-14 presents an assessment of potential treatment options available for the treatment of Himalayan balsam. The various methods are analysed and described in further detail as necessary. The ISMP is a live document. Arising from the outcome of the Preconstruction surveys noted at section 8.8.4.2.1, the appointed contractors specialist will, following detail the treatment options based on the potential options presented below. Control measures for Himalayan balsam should aim to prevent flowering and are therefore undertaken before June. However, eradication may take up to five years. It should be noted that successful localised management of Himalayan balsam is difficult along watercourses, as the spread of this non-native invasive species from upstream areas (e.g., outside of the Proposed Development) onto bare ground often occurs after winter flooding.

Approach	Treatment Options	Comment	Potential for Implementation on the Proposed Development
Physical	Hand Pull	Small isolated and immature infestations, such as in gardens or roadsides can usually be readily pulled prior to flowering e.g., care must be taken not to leave lower plant sections as these can regrow rapidly. Additionally, any flower heads (if present) should be covered by a tied bag before pulling to ensure no seed drop.	Possible – ideal for smaller areas adjacent to the likely works boundary.
	Dig and dispose offsite, under licence	This option requires that all plant material (above and below ground) is excavated along with soil and disposed of to a facility 72uthorized to accept it. In addition to waste permits / authorisations, a wildlife licence issued by NPWS is required for the transport of Third Schedule non-native invasive species offsite.	Possible – given the nature of the scheme, this may be an optimal control measure.
	Mechanical	Repeated cutting or mowing, is effective for larger stands, but plants can regrow if the lower parts (above lowest node) are left intact. Regeneration can be further halted by ensuring full ground vegetative layer through reseeding.	Possible but unlikely main option given the nature of works along existing road infrastructure.
	Grazing	Regular grazing is said to suppress the plant over time.	Not practical – given the nature of the metropolitan landscape and nature of the scheme.
Chemical	Spot/Weed Wiper	Can be used for smaller infestations in spring before flowering occurs, but as late as to allow germinating seedlings to have become established and thus be able to uptake the chemical treatment. Adjacent to the likely works boundary – chemical treatments for infestations near water should be rated for use near aquatic locations.	Possible – within the works boundary – Where ground is to be excavated, may require physical control also.

Table 1-14 Assessment of Management Methods for Himalayan balsam

DART

North



Approach	Treatment Options	Comment	Potential for Implementation on the Proposed Development
	Foliar Spray	Can be applied to larger infestations via knapsack spray / lance spray etc. in spring before flowering occurs, but as late as to allow germinating seedlings to have become established and thus be able to uptake the chemical treatment. Chemical treatments for infestations near water should be rated for use near aquatic locations.	Possible – within the works boundary – Where ground is to be excavated, may require physical control also.

1.5.5.8 Temporary Storage of Collected Material

Given the nature and relative extent of Himalayan balsam infestations in some urban situations, collected biomass (pulled stems / roots and bagged flower heads), where not disposed of immediately to a facility authorised to accept such waste, could be double bagged and put in dedicated quarantine areas (locations to be approved as part of the ISMP). Here, the material could be left to decompose before disposal with similar non-native invasive species waste at an authorised facility.

1.5.5.9 Reseeding Following Eradication

Areas devoid of; or cleared of vegetative cover near watercourses should be resown with appropriate riparian ground cover species in summer months to ensure that bare banks do not provide favourable conditions for Himalayan balsam to become re-established and to protect banks from accelerated erosion.

For any area of ground that is cleared of this non-native invasive species, and which is not subsequently constructed upon, follow-on mechanical cutting regimes and / or chemical treatments may be required to ensure the seed bank is fully exhausted.



1.6 Appendix 1.6: larnród Éireann Invasive Species Management Plans



Reference No.	CCE-TMS-381
Version	1.4
Operative Date	15.05.2019
Status	LIVE
Prepared by	Colin Hedderly /
	Cathal Bowe
Checked by	Cathal Mangan
Approved by	Éamonn Ballance

CCE DEPARTMENT

TECHNICAL MANAGEMENT STANDARD

CCE-TMS-381

Control and Management of Vegetation

This CCE Department Technical Standard sets out the requirements for the control and management of lineside vegetation.

This CCE Department Technical Document is mandatory.

The principles in this Technical Standard are approved by the Head of Department and therefore constitute mandatory standard practices, which apply throughout the CCE Department.

Signed

E Ballonce

Chief Civil Engineer

This standard, along with all CCE Department Standards, is available on larnród Éireann SharePoint. Electronic copies of the standards are controlled and live. Holders of printed copies of the standard are responsible themselves for ensuring that they have the most up to date version as appropriate.

This is a Controlled Document, as presented on-line.

It is Uncontrolled if printed, unless endorsed on this page with the approved and completed **"Controlled Copy" label/stamp**.

CONTENTS

1 1.1 1.2 1.3	Policy, Policy Scope Principle	Scope and Principles	3 3 3 3
2 2.1	Definiti Standar	ons d-Specific Definitions	4 4
3 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7	Accoun Chief Ci [*] Technica Senior T Infrastru Infrastru Supervis Further	tabilities and Responsibilities vil Engineer (CCE) al Manager, CCE Track and Structures Engineer (STSE) ucture Manager (IM) and Regional Managers (RM) ucture Production Plan Manager sors Accountabilities and Responsibilities	5 5 5 6 7 7
4 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9 4.10 4.11 4.12 4.13 4.14 4.15 4.16 4.17 4.18	Implem Reasons How Veg Vegetat Annual I Lineside Safety O Control Guidanc Guidanc Guidanc Guidanc Guidanc Guidanc Control Tree Vo Tree Fel Clearanc Chemica Records	nentation for Vegetation Control getation is Managed and Controlled: Overview ion Survey (Inspection Prior to Works) Programme of Works on Vegetation Maintenance Weedspray Considerations for Personnel Working on Vegetation Control of Vegetation - General le for Control of Vegetation on Track, Cess and Lineside Structures le for Control of Vegetation on Lineside Land le for Control of Vegetation at Level Crossings le for Control of Vegetation at Culverts le for Control of Vegetation in Depots and Sidings of Vegetation to Allow General Engineering Inspections borks ling and Guidance on Legislation ce and Disposal of Debris als	8 9 9 10 10 11 11 11 12 12 12 12 13 13 14 14 15
5	Revisio	n History	16
Appendix A Ideal State for Vegetation Controls on Cuttings, Embankments and at 17		Grade	
Appen	dix B	Vegetation Types and Species	19
Appen	dix C	Vegetation Survey Sheet	20
Appen	dix D	CCE-ENV-Notification-01, Vegetation Management & Nesting Season	21
Appen	dix E	Evaluation Criteria for Vegetation Management during Nesting Season	22

1 Policy, Scope and Principles

- 1.1 Policy
- 1.1.1 It is the policy of the CCE Department to have an ongoing programme for the control of vegetation. This is essential to protect fence lines, embankments, slopes in cuttings and the track infrastructure from the encroachment of vegetation.
- 1.2 Scope
- 1.2.1 This standard describes the responsibilities, work programmes and control procedures for managing lineside vegetation.
- 1.3 Principles
- 1.3.1 Lineside vegetation must be managed and controlled in accordance with this standard and current Irish and EU statutory Acts and Directives.
- 1.3.2 This standard must be read in conjunction with the following:
- 1.3.2.1 CCE-TMS-360 Track and Structures Inspection Requirements
- 1.3.2.2 CCE-TMS-361 Technical Standard for Track Patrolling
- 1.3.2.3 CCE-TMS-380 Management of User Worked Unattended Level Crossings
- 1.3.2.4 CCE-ENV-Notification-01, Vegetation Management & Nesting Season (copy of this environmental notification is contained in appendix D)
- 1.3.3 This standard must be read with reference to BS 3998:2010 Tree work Recommendations
- 1.3.4 Safety definitions that apply to all standards are set out in CCE-SMS-001 CCE Safety Management System.
- 1.3.5 **Terms such as "his" or "manager" are not gend**er specific.

2 Definitions

- 2.1 Standard-Specific Definitions
- 2.1.1 The established definitions of all permanent way terminology used in standards and procedures are set out in CCE-TMS-399 Glossary of Civil and Permanent Way Engineering Terms. The definitions below are of particular relevance to this standard.
- 2.1.2 Herbicide A generic term for any chemical used to destroy or inhibit growth, especially of weeds and other undesirable vegetation.
- 2.1.3 Rehabilitation This refers to restoring planted or landscaped areas to a sound and satisfactory condition.
- 2.1.4 Screening In this standard, this refers to screening with planting, generally trees and shrubs. Screening is intended to:
- 2.1.4.1 Landscape for amenity purposes
- 2.1.4.2 Reduce the noise and visual intrusion impacts of railway operations on adjoining land uses
- 2.1.4.3 Deter trespass and unauthorised entry onto operational railway land
- 2.1.5 Unwanted Vegetation Vegetation in a location or condition that causes an unsafe or potentially unsafe situation, or is in a condition that is damaging to its surroundings.
- 2.1.6 Vegetation Envelope The total range of vegetation cover over an area, including all trees, shrubs and grasses.

3 Accountabilities and Responsibilities

The full listing of CCE Management Accountabilities and Responsibilities is shown in CCE-SMS-001 CCE Safety Management System. The following accountabilities and responsibilities are specific to this CCE Standard.

- 3.1 Chief Civil Engineer (CCE)
- 3.1.1 The Chief Civil Engineer (CCE) has overall accountability for this Technical Standard and its implementation.
- 3.1.2 The CCE is accountable for setting Occupational Safety, Plant & Machinery Safety, Track Safety and Structures Safety objectives and for providing resources to all parts of the CCE Department to achieve those objectives.
- 3.2 Technical Manager, CCE
- 3.2.1 The Technical Manager, CCE is the owner of this standard.
- 3.2.2 The Technical Manager, CCE is accountable for Track Safety and Structures Safety for the entire Iarnród Éireann railway network.
- 3.2.3 The Technical Manager, CCE is accountable for ensuring that:
- 3.2.3.1 This standard is implemented through a programme of compliance verification and review
- 3.2.3.2 This standard is sufficient for its stated requirement with respect to the management and control of lineside vegetation
- 3.3 Senior Track and Structures Engineer (STSE)
- 3.3.1 The Senior Track and Structures Engineer is accountable for Track Safety and Structures Safety for those parts of the Iarnród Éireann railway network within the CCE locations that are his accountability.
- 3.3.2 This Track Safety and Structures Safety accountability includes:
- 3.3.2.1 Ensuring that the appropriate, correct and complete CCE Technical Documentation is implemented within the CCE locations such that this same CCE Technical Documentation ensures the safe operation of the Track and Structures within the CCE locations.
- 3.3.2.2 Ensuring that, where lineside vegetation does not conform to the controls in Appendix A and presents a risk, the location/type/density of the vegetation is brought to the attention of the Infrastructure Manager in a timely manner and remedial works organised. The STSE may include the item in the Track and Structures Risk Register as necessary.
- 3.3.2.3 Reviewing this list of locations in conjunction with the Infrastructure Manager (IM) / Regional Manager (RM) as part of the Annual Programme of Works on Vegetation Maintenance.
- 3.3.2.4 Ensuring, through a programme of compliance verification, that vegetation is managed at access points to bridges, culverts, cuttings and embankments so that structural inspections of these assets can be carried out.
- 3.3.2.5 Identifying control measures, in conjunction with the IM / RM, necessary to safely manage risks arising from lineside vegetation.
- 3.3.2.6 Arranging through the IM / RM for implementation of any identified control or mitigation measures.
- 3.3.2.7 Recording any locations assessed as high risk in the Track and Structures Risk Register.
- 3.3.2.8 Advising the IM/RM of specific remedial, repair or renewal works required.

- 3.4 Infrastructure Manager (IM) and Regional Managers (RM)
- 3.4.1 The Infrastructure Manager / Regional Manager is responsible for all aspects of the management of production activities within a Division made up of a number of regions and several CCE locations. The Infrastructure Manager is accountable for all the aspects of Track Safety, Structures Safety, Plant and Machinery Safety and Occupational Safety of all the production operations and supplier operations associated with the CCE locations under his control.
- 3.4.2 This Track Safety and Structures Safety accountability includes:
- 3.4.2.1 Ensuring that employees and contractors under his control execute their tasks in a manner that is technically correct, at the correct frequency, with the correct care and in accordance with the CCE Documentation, such as to ensure the safe operation of the Track and Structures.
- 3.4.2.2 Ensuring that lineside vegetation is managed and removed, in accordance with this standard and current Irish and EU statutory Acts and Directives.
- 3.4.2.3 Ensuring that vegetation is removed at access points to bridges, culverts, cuttings and embankments so that:
 - a) Patrol Gangers can inspect routinely, and
 - b) General Engineering Inspections of these assets can be carried out.
- 3.4.2.4 Reviewing the list of vegetation locations in conjunction with the STSE and developing the Annual Programme of Works on Vegetation Maintenance.
- 3.4.2.5 Reviewing the assessments of such locations in conjunction with the STSE.
- 3.4.2.6 Ensuring that adequate, appropriate and competent resources are provided as part of lineside vegetation works.
- 3.4.2.7 Identifying suitable control measures, in conjunction with the STSE, necessary to safely manage risks arising from the control of lineside vegetation.
- 3.4.2.8 Undertaking an annual programme of vegetation clearance, along the sections of the operational network requiring attention. Clearance should include access points, bridges, culverts and cuttings and embankments as well as vegetation clearance at level crossings, signals and yards.
- 3.4.2.9 Ensuring that lineside vegetation is controlled and managed, in accordance with this standard and with current Irish and EU statutory Acts and Directives.
- 3.5 Infrastructure Production Plan Manager
- 3.5.1 The Infrastructure Production Plan Manager is accountable for all aspects of the management of the Infrastructure Production Plan and for the Track Safety, Structures Safety, Plant & Machinery Safety and Occupational Safety of all the production operations and supplier operations associated with the CCE locations under his control.
- 3.5.2 This Track Safety and Structures Safety accountability includes:
- 3.5.2.1 Ensuring that employees/contractors under his control carry out vegetation works in CCE locations correctly and complete all the technical, production and maintenance tasks as required and defined under the agreed programme
- 3.5.2.2 Ensuring that all tools, plant, machinery and facilities to be used for the undertaking of vegetation management activities are deployed and used in accordance with the intended purposes and in a manner consistent with safe and correct operation for the application in question
- 3.5.2.3 Ensuring that production activities associated with the management of vegetation are planned, scheduled and controlled such that only technically competent manpower and the correct resources are used

- 3.5.2.4 Ensuring that the instructions and technical advice of the STSE on Track Safety and Structures Safety are followed, and delivering the precautionary/mitigation actions per risk in accordance with the **STSE's** requirements
- 3.5.2.5 Ensuring, where accountable, that lineside vegetation is managed and removed, in accordance with current Irish and EU statutory Acts and Directives
- 3.5.2.6 Undertaking a programme of weedspray, at least once per year but more often as may be directed, along the entire operational network where required and on other non-operational lines as may also be required
- 3.6 Supervisors
- 3.6.1 Every Supervisor who has a responsibility for overseeing and guiding workplace activities in any CCE location is accountable for:
- 3.6.1.1 Occupational Safety during his working hours in that CCE location
- 3.6.1.2 The employees in that CCE location delivering correct maintenance tasks that will ensure Track and Structures Safety
- 3.6.2 The Track Safety and Structures Safety accountability for each of these Supervisors includes:
- 3.6.2.1 Ensuring that all maintenance activities every day are completed and done according to the technical documentation and that employees sign off that the maintenance activities have been completed correctly.
- 3.6.2.2 Ensuring that Patrol Gangers carry out their duties before, during and after the removal of lineside vegetation, in accordance with technical documentation and standards.
- 3.6.2.3 Ensuring that monitoring on the line is carried out as and when required or as directed, and in accordance with the relevant technical standards.
- 3.6.2.4 Detecting and reporting unsafe conditions on or near the line.
- 3.6.2.5 Detecting and reporting conditions requiring remedial action.
- 3.6.2.6 Carrying out or arranging for additional patrols, supplementary inspections and maintenance arrangements as may be required during and following adverse weather events and in advance of the re-opening of a closed section of line as per CCE-TMS-360 and CCE-TMS-361.
- 3.6.2.7 Ensuring that only competent manpower and the correct tools and other resources are used.
- 3.6.2.8 Ensuring that any risks identified during inspections are brought to the attention of his line manager.
- 3.7 Further Accountabilities and Responsibilities
- 3.7.1 Section 4, Implementation, describes further the specific accountabilities, responsibilities and duties required under this standard.
- 3.7.2 Staff must ensure that any difficulties with the implementation of this standard are brought to the attention of the Technical Manager, CCE.

4 Implementation

- 4.1 Reasons for Vegetation Control
- 4.1.1 Vegetation control has two aims:
- 4.1.1.1 To keep the track free from vegetation
- 4.1.1.2 To keep vegetation on lineside structures within certain limits
- 4.1.2 Uncontrolled vegetation growth on the track, lineside and at or on lineside assets can present a number of risks to the safety and operation of the railway. It can:
- 4.1.2.1 Restrict visibility of assets on the railway
- 4.1.2.2 Obstruct sight lines to signals or level crossings
- 4.1.2.3 Obscure the view of staff working on the railway or of other users of the railway e.g. at level crossings
- 4.1.2.4 Increase the risk of fire hazards, due to dried vegetation
- 4.1.2.5 Cause operational problems on the line, e.g. autumnal leaf fall and dandelions (see also 4.1.3 and 4.1.4)
- 4.1.2.6 Cause a tripping hazard for staff, e.g. brambles growing into or on the cess
- 4.1.2.7 Lead to undermining of track stability
- 4.1.2.8 Reduce the life span of certain assets e.g. the ballast bed
- 4.1.2.9 Adversely affect track drainage systems
- 4.1.2.10 Block access points to bridges, culverts, cuttings and embankments making it difficult, and sometimes impossible, to safely get access to the asset
- 4.1.2.11 Hamper structural inspections on or near bridges, culverts, cuttings and embankments and possibly prevent completion of the inspection until the vegetation is removed or cut down
- 4.1.3 Leaves on the line can give rise to seasonal difficulties with rail adhesion and can have a significantly detrimental effect on operational services during the autumn when leaf mulch accumulates after the fall of leaves. Leaf fall on lines can be influenced in a controlled manner through effective management and planning of the surrounding vegetation.
- 4.1.4 Dandelion pollen can cause a problem for some railcars, in particular the class 2800 units, as these units suck air into the engine radiator system unlike other units. The guard arrangement at the front of the radiator system can get clogged up with the dandelion pollen causing the air intake to be reduced and the engine to overheat. The problem is more pronounced near fields included in **the "set aside" arrangements** under the Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food support scheme arising out of the reform of the Common Agriculture Policy where farmers receive aid for not farming a field from 15 January to 31 August.
- 4.1.5 As well as reducing the risks outlined above, appropriate control of vegetation can make other positive contributions to the operation of the railway, such as providing:
- 4.1.5.1 Greater stability of embankments and slopes, including the controlled absorption of rainwater
- 4.1.5.2 A more visually pleasing environment for the travelling customer and for larnród Éireann's (IÉ's) neighbours
- 4.1.5.3 Screening of detrimental visual and audible aspects of the railway
- 4.1.5.4 A haven for fauna and flora
- 4.1.6 It should also be noted that the removal of the root systems that have a binding property with the soil can have adverse effects on slope stability and possibly lead to a slope failure.

- 4.2 How Vegetation is Managed and Controlled: Overview
- 4.2.1 Vegetation is managed and controlled through a three-step process:
- 4.2.2 Vegetation Survey
- 4.2.2.1 The Infrastructure Manager is responsible for organising an annual vegetation survey on each line to identify what work is required and develop a vegetation maintenance plan. Information for the vegetation survey can be gathered through Inspection Car runs and site visits. (see Section 4.3 for further details)
- 4.2.2.2 Once this initial assessment has been made, priorities are established for a programme of remedial works (i.e. the Annual Programme of Works on Vegetation Maintenance).
- 4.2.3 Programme of Works
- 4.2.3.1 The results of the vegetation survey are reviewed by the Senior Track and Structures Engineer, in conjunction with the Infrastructure Manager, to develop the Annual Programme of Works on Vegetation Maintenance on a route-by-route basis. (see Section 4.4)
- 4.2.3.2 The Infrastructure Manager schedules and undertakes the works associated with the programme at least once per year.
- 4.2.3.3 Separately, the Infrastructure Production Plan Manager plans an annual programme for the use of the weedspray vehicle. (see Section 4.5)
- 4.2.4 Variety of Control Methods
- 4.2.4.1 The programme of works involves the use of various control methods. These usually comprise a mixture of herbicide use, selective cutting and clear cutting, and replanting. Natural cycles are used to assist in any way possible, e.g. tree-cutting and clearance after leaf fall, herbicide use in the summer. (See Sections 4.7 to 4.13 for the various approaches used depending on the asset being protected)
- 4.3 Vegetation Survey (Inspection Prior to Works)
- 4.3.1 Inspections to identify hazardous conditions must be carried out at least once per year, more frequently if required.
- 4.3.2 Particular attention must be given to the list below, which although not definitive, details the primary hazards caused by vegetation growth:
- 4.3.2.1 Vegetation that intrudes on lines of sight or adjacent property
- 4.3.2.2 Dead and diseased vegetation
- 4.3.2.3 Broken branches
- 4.3.2.4 Potential for branch or tree fall onto the track
- 4.3.2.5 Potential leaf fall onto the track
- 4.3.2.6 Dandelions and dandelion pollen
- 4.3.2.7 Unsound or poorly rooted trees
- 4.3.2.8 Unbalanced trees that require removal, pruning, coppicing or windsailing
- 4.3.2.9 Fire risk
- 4.3.2.10 Rubbish
- 4.3.2.11 Undesirable wildlife, such as excessive rabbit burrowing
- 4.3.2.12 Slope instability on embankments or cuttings indicating a potential for slip
- 4.3.2.13 Root intrusion into drains
- 4.3.2.14 Imbalance in soil drainage leading to localised or general cracking or shear

- 4.3.3 The profile of the lineside vegetation must be assessed against the standard vegetation envelope shown in Appendix A. The standard vegetation envelope contains the types and species of IÉ vegetation found detailed in Appendix B.
- 4.4 Annual Programme of Works on Vegetation Maintenance
- 4.4.1 The Infrastructure Manager implements an annual programme of vegetation clearance, along the sections of the operational network requiring attention. Clearance should include access points, bridges, culverts and cuttings and embankments as well as vegetation clearance at level crossings, signals and yards.
- 4.4.2 The main requirements of the programme are as follows:
- 4.4.2.1 To keep the line free from vegetation
- 4.4.2.2 To ensure sightlines are maintained at level crossings and signals
- 4.4.2.3 To ensure that culverts, bridges and other assets are accessible for inspection
- 4.4.3 Additional vegetation clearance is carried out as required during the period.
- 4.4.4 Day-to-day maintenance works involving the control and management of vegetation must be undertaken on an as-needs basis, depending on the degree of urgency and priority.
- 4.4.5 Whenever practicable, maintenance works are to be undertaken in a manner that contributes to a progressive rehabilitation of the site.
- 4.4.6 Seasonal restrictions to vegetation management activities will apply between the 1st of March and the 31st of August, refer to Apendix D and E of this document when developing an annual programme of vegetation management works.

4.5 Lineside Weedspray

- 4.5.1 The Infrastructure Production Plan Manager (IPPM) is responsible for putting in place an annual programme of lineside weedspraying using the weedspray train. The extent or reach of the weedspray is determined and advised by the Infrastructure Manager and the STSE to the IPPM in advance.
- 4.5.2 Only a contact systematic herbicide that does not kill grass species should be used on cuttings and embankments as the root systems of grass on these slopes has a binding property with the soil. The use of indiscriminate herbicides on cuttings and embankments can kill the vegetation and cause slope instability.
- 4.5.3 This weedspray train programme must be undertaken a minimum of once per year on all operational lines.
- 4.5.4 Depending on growth levels, further runs of the weedspray train are carried out as required.
- 4.5.5 Additional runs are also carried out as required to mitigate other risks for example, the growth of Mare's Tail in the track ballast.
- 4.5.6 Weedspray of closed lines is determined on an annual basis and carried out as required.
- 4.5.7 Weedspraying must not take place when:
- 4.5.7.1 Wind speeds are greater than 16 km/h
- 4.5.7.2 Temperatures in the shade exceed 25 °C and wind speed is less than 5 km/h or greater than 16 km/h
- 4.5.7.3 The speed of the train is greater than 40 km/h or less than 5 km/h
- 4.5.7.4 There is any risk of spray or drift reaching members of the public or IÉ personnel or property beyond the operational boundary fence line

- 4.6 Safety Considerations for Personnel Working on Vegetation Control
- 4.6.1 The following safety aspects are relevant to those involved in carrying out vegetation control works:
- 4.6.1.1 The risks associated with storing, handling, applying and disposing of chemicals
- 4.6.1.2 The risks associated with the use of sharp implements and mechanical cutting tools such as chainsaws
- 4.6.1.3 The risks associated with pruning or removing trees, and the danger of falling trees to IÉ or adjacent property
- 4.6.1.4 The risks from exposure to noise when using mechanical tools for an extended period
- 4.7 Control of Vegetation General
- 4.7.1 Appendix A and B of this standard demonstrate the ideal state for lineside vegetation control.
- 4.7.2 These are not representative of the existing rail corridors and it is not practical to achieve these states for existing railway corridors.
- 4.7.3 They represent guidance on an ideal state to be aimed for but with acknowledgement that this cannot be practically achieved.
- 4.7.4 The basic requirement is to keep the lineside free from vegetation and to ensure visibility at signals, level crossings, speed boards and other assets.
- 4.7.5 The following sections offer guidance on maintaining vegetation control at various locations and assets.
- 4.8 Guidance for Control of Vegetation on Track, Cess and Lineside Structures
- 4.8.1 The track and cess must be maintained free of vegetation as far as is practicable.
- 4.8.2 Vegetation growth in the cess strip must be grasses and herbs where possible. The ideal state is as detailed in Appendix A and Appendix B although this is not practical to achieve for the existing rail corridors.
- 4.8.3 No branches or other vegetation should be allowed to overhang the cess.
- 4.8.4 Areas such as sub-surface sections, brick and concrete lined cuttings and other lineside structures should be free of vegetation growth and encroaching vegetation as far as is practicable.
- 4.9 Guidance for Control of Vegetation on Lineside Land
- 4.9.1 The growth of grasses and herbs should be controlled where possible to avoid excessive length, density or dryness.
- 4.9.2 Where practicable, the operational boundary fence and a strip 1-metre wide inside and parallel to the boundary fence line, including ditches and drainage channels, must be maintained free of unwanted vegetation as detailed in Appendix A.
- 4.9.3 Boundary hedges (or evergreen screens where appropriate) should, where possible, be maintained such that the 1-metre wide boundary fence strip remains clear and free from the encroachment of vegetation growth, including from the hedge itself. Where such a design exists, the operational boundary fence strip must be maintained at 2 m (1 m cleared and the other 1 m occupied) or overhung by the boundary hedge.
- 4.9.4 On embankments, on cuttings and at grade, the vegetation envelope should conform to the requirements detailed in Appendix A and contain the types and species detailed in Appendix B. Unwanted species should be replaced over a period of time with the preferred species detailed in Appendix B. This is not generally expected or practical to achieve in the maintenance of the railway corridor but should be considered where specific detailed works to the embankment or cutting are being planned.

- 4.9.5 The implementation of schemes designed to promote habitats offering shelter for plant and animal species, and to develop other environmentally beneficial uses of railway land, must be consistent with the maintenance of a safe railway operating environment.
- 4.10 Guidance for Control of Vegetation at Level Crossings
- 4.10.1 All signage at the level crossing and on the approach roads must be clear and visible to all usersAll cattle grid / anti-trespass guards and fencing must be kept free from vegetation as far as reasonably practicable. This is to ensure that users' views are not blocked by overgrowth and IÉ staff / contract staff cannot slip or trip on overgrown cattle grid / anti-trespass guards.
- 4.10.2 All views are recorded at 12 ft (3.66 m) from the running edge, and 4 ft (1.22 m) above ground level.
- 4.10.3 To help ensure that future sighting surveys will be maintained, all efforts must be made to maintain a clear line / unobstructed view of both rail approaches to the level crossing:
- 4.10.3.1 All vegetation must be removed from boundary fence to boundary fence, cutting it as close to ground level as possible but without interfering with or damaging the formation foundations, especially if in a cutting or embankment situation.
- 4.10.3.2 The distance that all vegetation must be cleared away from the crossing must be determined by the line speed as set out in the relevant Level Crossings standard.
- 4.10.3.3 If there are any mature trees interfering with the views and they are on railway property, they should be felled in accordance with relevant guidelines where achievable. If a stump remains, consideration should be given to treating it with an 'Ecoplug / tree herbicide application' or similar.
- 4.10.4 Where viewing distance marker boards or V boards are provided, these can be used for verifying the acceptability of the viewing distance. Sometimes these boards are referred to as vegetation marker boards but the correct term is viewing distance marker board. The current version of the V board drawing (No W496/171) is available on SharePoint.
- 4.11 Guidance for Control of Vegetation at Culverts
- 4.11.1 Insofar as is reasonably practicable, an accessible path must be made to culverts to allow access for their inspection by Patrol Gangers and for the General Engineering Inspections.
- 4.11.2 The Patrol Ganger is required to maintain this path and to report if a path becomes inaccessible.
- 4.11.3 The Patrol Ganger is required to report vegetation at culverts as a fault on his weekly report sheet if he cannot clear it himself. The PWI must manage the remedial works in the normal maintenance programme in conjunction with the Regional Manager.
- 4.12 Guidance for Control of Vegetation in Depots and Sidings
- 4.12.1 Depots, depot approaches and sidings should be maintained free of unwanted vegetation as far as reasonably practicable
- 4.12.2 Herbicides applied in depots must be either granular or liquid chemicals.
- 4.13 Control of Vegetation to Allow General Engineering Inspections
- 4.13.1 Vegetation clearance is carried out as required at structures to enable the undertaking or completion of a structural inspection.
- 4.13.2 A General Engineering Inspection should not be recorded as technically complete if vegetation clearance works are required in order to inspect the structure properly.

- 4.13.3 The Senior Track and Structures Engineer is accountable for creating the relevant work order to instruct the Infrastructure Manager on the requirements for vegetation clearance that will allow a General Engineering Inspection of the asset to be carried out.
- 4.13.4 The Infrastructure Manager is accountable for undertaking the vegetation clearance work in accordance with the timeframe and priority set by the Senior Track and Structures Engineer.
- 4.13.5 If vegetation clearance is required at a number of assets in a region, the STSE and Infrastructure Manager, or relevant Regional Manager, must agree an overall programme for the removal of vegetation at these assets.
- 4.14 Tree Works
- 4.14.1 Tree works must conform to BS 3998:2010 and current legislation (see Section 4.14 for details on legislation).
- 4.14.2 Tree growth should be controlled such that:
- 4.14.2.1 The condition or spread of the tree does not present a hazard to the maintenance of a safe railway operating environment
- 4.14.2.2 Root growth does not present a hazard either to IÉ property or to adjoining property, including drains
- 4.14.2.3 Unwanted species of trees and shrubs, as detailed in Appendix B, are removed
- 4.14.3 Tree works must be pre-planned to minimise emergency response and work during hazardous conditions.
- 4.14.4 Any large or dangerous trees that are not on railway controlled infrastructure must be recorded and photographed and the Infrastructure Manager must take steps to inform the owner. (see also Section 4.14, specifically 4.14.3 and 4.14.4)
- 4.14.5 Where possible, all Vegetation management works should be carried out between 01 September and 28 February. If it is necessary to carry out cutting or flailing during the bird nesting season, which lasts from 1st of March and the 31st of August, (refer to Apendix D and E of this document when developing an annual programme of vegetation management works), the Infrastructure Manager should contact the National Parks & Wildlife Department. Cutting of trees on the railway is exempt from the Wildlife Acts of 1976 and 2000 provided the work stays within the guidelines of Section 49 of the Transport (Railway Infrastructure) Act, 2001 (see Section 4.14). An Inspector from the National Parks & Wildlife may want to inspect sites prior to giving consent to cut.
- 4.15 Tree Felling and Guidance on Legislation
- 4.15.1 In general, all trees outside of urban areas are protected under the Forestry Act of 1946 which means that anyone who wants to cut down a tree needs a Felling Licence from the Forestry Service. The Forestry Act does not specifically address trees or vegetation along railways and specific legislation relating to railways is to be found in the Transport (Railway Infrastructure) Act 2001.
- 4.15.2 Section 49 of the Transport (Railway Infrastructure) Act 2001 permits IÉ to lop, remove or cut any tree, shrub or hedge which obstructs or interferes with:
- 4.15.2.1 Surveys or inspections under Section 36 (refer to Act for details),
- 4.15.2.2 Railway works authorised by a railway order,
- 4.15.2.3 The maintenance, operation or improvement of railway works or cables or other railway apparatus,
- 4.15.2.4 The operation of the railway,
- 4.15.2.5 The laying and erection of electric wires, or

- 4.15.2.6 The safe passage of the railway vehicles including the safety of any passengers on board such vehicles on a railway line.
- 4.15.3 Where the tree, shrub or hedge is not located on railway property, IÉ is required to serve written notice of at least 28 days to the owner or occupier that it intends to lop or cut any tree, shrub or hedge. After expiry of the 28 day period IÉ may lop or cut any tree, shrub or hedge if the owner or occupier has not already done so.
- 4.15.4 Only for reasons of safety can IÉ lop or cut any tree, shrub or hedge without giving 28 days notice in writing to the owner or occupier. In these circumstances, IÉ must give written notice to the owner or occupier of the land concerned informing them of such felling or lopping and the reasons for so doing.
- 4.15.5 If Permanent Way staff find that it is necessary to cut down a tree, the matter should always be reported to Technical Staff in the Divisional Headquarters at the earliest opportunity.
- 4.15.6 The section 49 derogation under the Transport Infrastructure Act 2001 does not apply within Natura 2000 (European designated sites). Any vegetation control within these sites must be notified to the National Parks and Wildlife Service. Please refer to operating procedure CCE-QMS-018-01 Site Management within Environmentally Protected Areas for guidance on identifying environmentally protected areas using IAMS.
- 4.16 Clearance and Disposal of Debris
- 4.16.1 Vegetation debris must be cleared and removed from the site where necessary.
- 4.16.2 Vegetation debris must not be allowed to clog or obstruct drainage channels on railway land or infringe on clearances.
- 4.16.3 For disposal of chemicals and containers, refer to Section 4.16 (clauses 4.16.5.4-4.16.5.5 and 4.16.6).

4.17 Chemicals

4.17.1 Approval from Department of Environment

- 4.17.1.1 The Infrastructure Production Plan Manager (IPPM) is responsible for getting approval on behalf of IÉ from the Department of Agriculture for the chemicals being used each year.
- 4.17.2 Specification
- 4.17.2.1 The chemicals used for the control and management of vegetation on IÉ land must conform to the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work (Chemical Agents) Regulations 2001 (S.I. No. 619 of 2001) and the 2010 Code of Practice for the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work (Chemical Agents) Regulations 2001.

4.17.3 Handling and Storage

- 4.17.3.1 Chemicals must only be handled after a risk assessment has been carried out and the required personal protective equipment and techniques for safe usage have been identified.
- 4.17.3.2 Chemicals must be stored at designated sites in buildings that comply with the requirements of the 2010 Safety Data Sheet for Hazardous Chemicals with regard to storage and associated facilities.
- 4.17.3.3 Refer also to 4.16.5 below.
- 4.17.4 Application
- 4.17.4.1 Chemical concentrations, dosage rates and constituents of mixtures must be within the range recommended by the manufacturers and as agreed by IÉ.
- 4.17.4.2 Meteorological limitations specified for prevailing wind conditions and method of application must be observed. Where deemed necessary, neighbours must be alerted to the method and timing of the works.

4.17.5 Chemical Containers

- 4.17.5.1 Containers must be provided by the manufacturer and labelled in conformity with the statutory requirements.
- 4.17.5.2 Unlabelled or un-approved containers must not be used to store chemicals.
- 4.17.5.3 Chemical containers must be inspected prior to use to ensure that they are in a safe and suitable condition for the task. The containers must be appropriately identified and labelling must be fixed securely to the container.
- 4.17.5.4 Empty containers must be returned to the storage site and on to the manufacturer or supplier, who must be a licensed recipient of hazardous substances in accordance with the requirements of the Environmental Protection (Duty of Care) Regulations.
- 4.17.5.5 Containers must not be refilled unless with the same chemical product they originally held and unless the original label is still intact.

4.17.6 Disposal

- 4.17.6.1 Chemicals must be disposed of in compliance with European Communities (Movement of Hazardous Waste exclusively within Ireland) Regulations 2011.
- 4.17.6.2 Waste Chemicals must be collected from site by a contractor who is licensed to take hazardous chemicals and disposed of at a licensed waste facility.
- 4.17.6.3 Poisonous, noxious or polluting matter must not enter into surface and underground waters.
- 4.18 Records
- 4.18.1 Records must be kept within the Infrastructure Asset Management System.
- 4.18.2 The Infrastructure Manager maintains records of:
- 4.18.2.1 Vegetation control works on all lines and assets, including depots and sidings
- 4.18.2.2 Day-to-day maintenance work
- 4.18.2.3 The Infrastructure Production Plan Manager maintains records of:
- 4.18.2.4 Nature, storage, distribution, use and disposal of chemicals, as required by legislation
- 4.18.2.5 Spraying runs of the weedspray train.

5 Revision History

Version No and Date	Section No and Reason for Change	
1.0	First issue	
1.1	Updated with clarifications around responsibilities and requirements for vegetation clearance and management	
1.2	Clarification on Weed Spraying	
1.3, 01/02/2016	Standard review - 01/2016	
1.4, 15/05/2019	Updated with evaluation criteria for vegetation management within nesting season and other minor amendments relating to nesting season. Two new appendices added.	
	Appendix D (New) CCE-ENV-Notification-01, Vegetation Management & Nesting Season	
	Appendix E (New) Evaluation Criteria for Vegetation Management during Nesting Season	

End of Standard

Appendix A Ideal State for Vegetation Controls on Cuttings, Embankments and at Grade



Vegetation Controls on Cuttings



Vegetation Controls on Embankments



Vegetation Control at Grade

Appendix B Vegetation Types and Species

larnród Éireann cuttings and embankments may need to be inspected with the aid of a qualified ecologist:

- a) To determine what vegetation is present on these assets, and
- b) To prepare a document (similar to the one presented below) illustrating each of the species found and recording which are preferred vegetation and which are unwanted.

Zone	6		5		4	3	2	1
Area	Fence Strip		Outer Verge		Inner Verge	Cess Strip	Cess	Track
Width (m)	2		Varies		5	1/2	1.5 - 2	Varies
	-	Hedge (optional)	Evergreen screen	-	-	-	-	-
Vegetation Category	Grasses and herbs	Hedge species	Evergreens	Large, medium trees & shrubs	Mixed small trees and shrubs	Grasses and herbs	None	None
Preferred Species	Rye grass Fescues Meadow grasses Wild flowers	Beech Berberry Blackthorn Cotoneaster Hawthorn Holly Pyracantha climbers Ivy Honeysuckle Clematis	Holly Holm Oak Pines Cypress Thuja Yew	Alder Birch Crab Apple Bird Cherry Wild Cherry Holly Larch Field Maple Holm Oak Common Oak Scots Pine Rowan Whitebeam Yew	Blackthorn Crab apple Cotoneaster Purging Alder Buckthorn Dogwood Euonymus Guelder Rose Hawthorn Hazel Holly Ivy Lonicera Privet Pyracantha Sallows Snowberry Spindle Yew	Same as zone 6	-	-
Unwanted Species	Bramble Gorse Elder	Trees or deep rooting shrubs	-	Ash, Aspen Beech, Hornbeam Horse & Sweet Ch Poplar, Sycamore, (except embankments)	estnut, Lime, toes of	Bramble Elder Hawthorn Rose	All vegetation	All vegetation

Appendix C Vegetation Survey Sheet



Appendix D CCE-ENV-Notification-01, Vegetation Management & Nesting Season

	_	Reference No.	CCE-Env.Notification- 01
		Version	CCE-Env.Notification- 01 1.0 03.05.2019 Live E. Bambrick
A larnród Éireann	CCE Environmental Notification	Operative Date	03.05.2019
Irish Rail	Vegetation Management and Nesting Season	getation Management and Nesting Season Status Liv	Live
		Prepared By	E. Bambrick
		Approved By	E. Ballance

Environmental Notification: May 2019

- Vegetation Management within the period 1st of March to August 31st should only be undertaken within safety critical circumstances (refer to Appendix E).
- In these instances, the Chief Civil Engineer will be furnished with appropriate safety justification to proceed with the works by the relevant line manager.
- A notification email shall be sent to the CCE <u>before</u> works proceed. The email should include information on the route, milepost location, and or asset affected along with a brief description of the extent and duration of the works.
- A sufficient safety justification outlining the reasons relating to the criticality of the works should be outlined in detail including any reports from internal departments/external bodies and or specialist competency reports associated with the work.
- If works are authorised to proceed, a notification to the relevant regional NPWS office shall be issued by the relevant line manager in consultation with the Environmental Executive.

Appendix E Evaluation Criteria for Vegetation Management during Nesting Season

Update: May 2019 - Evaluation Criteria for Vegetation Management during Nesting Season

Vegetation management is an essential safety driven core maintenance activity which is undertaken along the national operational railway route. Uncontrolled vegetation growth on the track, lineside and at or on lineside assets can present a number of risks to the safety and operation of the railway. It can:

- Restrict visibility of assets on the railway
- Obstruct sight lines to signals or level crossings
- Obscure the view of staff working on the railway or of other users of the railway e.g. at level crossings
- Increase the risk of fire hazards, due to dried vegetation
- Cause operational problems on the line, e.g. autumnal leaf fall and dandelions
- Cause a tripping hazard for staff, e.g. brambles growing into or on the cess
- Lead to undermining of track stability
- Reduce the life span of certain assets e.g. the ballast bed
- Adversely affect track drainage systems
- Block access points to bridges, culverts, cuttings and embankments making it difficult, and sometimes impossible, to safely get access to the asset

• Hamper structural inspections on or near bridges, culverts, cuttings and embankments A legislative derogation under section 49 of the Transport (Railway Infrastructure Act 2001 give powers to CIE or a railway undertaking to cut lop, remove or cut any tree, shrub or hedge which obstructs or interferes with: the maintenance, operation or improvement of railway works, the operation of a railway, surveys or inspections, or the safe passage of railway vehicles.

larnród Eireann are also aware of their corporate social responsibility to maintain and where possible enhance biodiversity along its railway corridors.

In this respect IE commits to the following assurances in order to undertake vegetation management activities which are safety critical only during the bird nesting season from March 1st to August 31st each year.

The following evaluation criteria for safety critical vegetation management during nesting season is generally adopted from Networks rails Lineside Vegetation Management Manual May 2018 (NR/L2/OTK/5201)

	Minimum activity necessary to maintain				
	safe operations				
Management Scenario	Fell	Selective	Remove	Lopping,	
	Trees	Thin	Trees	topping,	
		Trees		pruning,	
		<50%		pollarding	
	>10cm	<10cm	<8cm	All Sizes	
	dbh	dbh	dbh		
		only	only		
Safety Critical Tree Hazard Condition					
Independent Arborist "High Priority Risk" Categorisation		n/a	n/a		
Independent Arborist "Medium Risk" Categorisation		n/a	n/a		
Safety critical due to vegetation affectir	ng railway	infrastruct	ure and op	erations	
Leaf fall / known adhesion problem sites					
Within 300mm of overhead line					
equipment					
Blocked signal sighting					
Blocked operational sign sighting					
Blocked level crossing sighting					
Branches contacting with trains					
Construction activities					
Clearance for fencing work					
Inspection of structures / earthworks					

Activities as defined can proceed following ecological/nest/roost survey. Work shall be the minimum necessary during the nesting season.
Activities should normally be planned to take place outside of nesting season. If activities must take place, safety justification as per CCE Environmental Briefing Note May 2019 to be adhered to. Where the activity is deemed necessary, works are subject to ecological survey prior to work being undertaken. Where immediate action is required, notification to NPWS will be provided.
Felling activities shall not take place between 1st March and 31st August

Notes

- Category "High Priority" defined by independent arborist as unacceptable risk to the safe operation of the railway.
- Category "Medium Risk"- defined by independent arborist as Whole or partial tree fail is likely to occur if remedial action is not taken.
- Selective thin (<50%) removal of up to 50% of stems <10cm dbh within an area of woodland. If used in leaf fall risk areas, number ofleaves capable of causing issues will be reduced.
- dbh diameter of tree measured at 1.3m up the trunk [diameter at breast height]
- Breeding bird surveys Engage ecologist to undertake bird breeding survey and Bat roost Survey. Please note that
 where protected species or habitats are identified the works may be subject to a wildlife licence /notification to NPWS.
- **CCE Environmental Briefing Note**: May 2019 to be adhered in conjunction with the above guideline.

	CCE Technical Bulletin	Reference No.	CCE-TEB-2012-008
		Version	1
🗲 larnród Éireann	Identification and	Operative Date	14/08/2012
	Control of Giant Hogweed	Status	LIVE
		Prepared by	C. Bowe/E. Bambrick
		Checked by	C. Mangan
CCE Department	CCE -TEB - 2012 - 008	Approved by	É. Ballance

1 SCOPE

This bulletin is to provide information to relevant staff on the identification and control of Giant Hogweed. This bulletin is aimed at all Permanent Way staff in particular those involved in lineside vegetation management activities.

2	ACTIONS IF GIANT HOGWEED IS IDENTIFIED
2.1	Contact with giant hogweed can result in a reaction that leaves skin sensitive to ultra-violet light.
2.2	In the event of contact, the skin should be covered to prevent exposure to sunlight and washed immediately with soap and water.
2.3	All identifications of giant hogweed should be reported within 2 days to the relevant Permanent Way Inspector or Regional Manager.
2.4	As an initial mitigation, the Regional Manager must, within 1 week of confirmed identification of giant hogweed, erect a 'DANGER – HAZARDOUS PLANT' sign. Details for signage can be obtained from CCE Technical Managers office.
2.5	The further control and elimination of the giant hogweed must then be arranged by the Regional Manager. Guidance on this can be sought from the CCE Technical Managers office.

3	DETAILS ON HOW TO IDENTIFY GIANT HOGWEED
2.1	Giant hogweed is characterized by its size and can grow to 3–5m in height producing large umbels (flower heads) of small white flowers up to 0.5m across.
2.2	It is usually biennial, forming a rosette of leaves in the first year before sending up a flower spike in the second. The plant typically dies after flowering and setting seed.
2.3	Giant hogweed has a ribbed, purple-spotted, hollow stem with dark green, deeply lobed leaves up to 2m in length.
2.4	It is distinguishable from the native hogweed (H. sphondylium), which does not have hairs on its stem, with less dissected leaves and is smaller in all its parts.
2.5	Within Ireland, giant hogweed is locally widespread though still absent from much of the central part of the country and is frequently encountered in waste ground, along rivers and streams, and in woodland fringes.



Giant Hogweed Plant

Giant Hogweed Flower

4	CONTROLLING GIANT HOGWEED
3.1	The control of giant hogweed should aim to eradicate the plant entirely or at minimum, prevent the plant from producing seed. As seed may remain viable for 15 years, control will require continued input over several years to be complete. Soil within 4m of established plants is likely to contain vast numbers of seed from previous years flowering and should not transferred to other parts of a site unless as part of a control measure.
3.2	The stem and undersides of the leaves of giant hogweed are coated with fine hairs that contain a phototoxic sap that renders skin sensitive to ultraviolet light. The slightest contact with the plant can result in the release of sap which then gives rise to severe and painful blistering of the skin.
3.3	The reaction may take up to 24 hours to occur and may result in permanent recurrent phytophotodermatitis – a type of dermatitis that flares up in sunlight. As the plant hairs are extremely fine and brittle, they can pierce light clothing.
3.4	In the event of contact with the sap, the skin should be covered to prevent exposure to sunlight and washed immediately with soap and water.
3.5	Full protective clothing including masks or safety glasses and hood should be worn when undertaking any type of control of giant hogweed.

Physical Control

Method	Season	Follow-up
Removal using appropriate hand tools and Full P.P.E	Spring following recent rain.	Follow-up to deal with seeding for five years.

Chemical Control

Method	Season	Follow-up
Glyphosate	Foliar spray in mid-spring before stem elongation. Otherwise, cut back and	Foliar spray, wiper applicator, spot treatment or stem injection.
2,4-D	spray re-growth. Stem injection during growing season.	Wiper applicator or spot treatment.

All Plant Protection Products should be used in accordance with the product label and with Good Plant Protection Practice as prescribed in the European Communities (Authorization, Placing on the Market, Use and Control of Plant Protection Products) Regulations, 2003 (S.I. No. 83 of 2003). It is an offence to use Plant Protection Products in a manner other than that specified on the label.

End of Technical Bulletin

	CCE Technical Bulletin	Reference No.	CCE-TEB-2013 - 3
		Version	2.0
A larnród Éireann	Guidance on the Identification and Control of Japanese Knotweed	Operative Date	04.09.2015
Irish Rail		Status	Live
		Prepared By	Emer Bambrick
		Approved By	Cathal Mangan

1 SCOPE

The purpose of this document is to provide information on the identification and control of Japanese Knotweed within the Railway Environment.

2 AUDIENCE

This document is intended for CCE Technical Staff, Senior Track & Structures Engineers, Buildings and Facilities Staff, Bridge Inspectors, Infrastructure Managers and Regional Managers, Per Way Inspectors, Contractors.

3	3 INFORMATION ON JAPANESE KNOTWEED		
3.1	 Background Information Japanese Knotweed is a robust perennial plant (grows every year) which has been classified as a non native invasive species. The plant was first introduced to Britain and Ireland in the 19th century and can tolerate extreme conditions such as low temperatures, acidic soils and waterlogged/saline environments. It grows rigorously and spreads rapidly – up to 2m in one season. Its underground root systems can stretch for 7m. 		
3.2	Legislation The Wildlife Amendment Act 2000 states "anyone who plants or otherwise causes to grow in the wild- in any place in the state, any species of exotic flora, or the flowers, roots, seeds or spores shall be guilty of an offence " Image: the state of the		
	(plant or animal)".		

3 INFORMATION ON JAPANESE KNOTWEED

3.3 Structural Damage

Japanese Knotweed can grow through concrete, tarmac and other hard standing areas. Japanese knotweed within the railway environment has the potential to seriously undermine the structural integrity of various railway assets particularly the track, station buildings, car parks, fencing and masonry walls.







4	4 Identification of Japanese Knotweed – Key Features		
4.1	Dead Canes in Winter		
4.2	Staggered Leaves (Shown below flowering in late Summer/early Autumn).		
4.2	<image/>		
4.3	Bamboo Stem		

5	Reporting Japanese Knotweed
5.1	Infestations of Japanese Knotweed can be reported to the CCE Environmental Exec. using the following email address <u>cceenvironmental@irishrail.ie</u>
	 The following information should be included in the report: Date Division Line Mileage Associated Asset GPS Co-ordinates(if available) Additional comments/description. Photos of the infestation (If available)
	All data contained in the reports will be entered onto the Invasive Weeds Data Base by the authorised user and will be available to view on the CCE EMS Sharepoint site.A record of treatments undertaken along with the type of herbicide used should be reported to the CCE Environmental Exec. by the relevant Line Manager in order to track the effectiveness of treatment regimes.All reports of Japanese Knotweed from external bodies can be forwarded to the CCE Environmental Exec.
6	Training Requirements Herbicides Usage
6.1	All persons who use herbicides in the course of their professional duties must receive training from a certified body which is approved by the Department of Agriculture food and the Marine. Line managers must ensure that the relevant staff who undertake weed control activities receive the appropriate training including contractors who are undertaking weed control activities on behalf of Iarnród Éireann.
6.2	Herbicides to be used for treatment projects must be approved for use by the Pesticides Control Division of the Department of Agriculture Food and the Marine.

7. Treatment of Japanese Knotweed

Please note treatments at Japanese Knotweed infestations which cause safety hazards such as structural damage or impede visibility must be prioritised when planning treatment programmes.

Herbicide Treatment- Knapsack Treatment 7.1 Apply a glyphosate based herbicide at early growth Stages (usually May) with a follow up spray in mid to late September. For second or third year treatments, an alternative herbicide with a picloram based active ingredient should be used in order to prevent the knotweed building up a resistance to glyphosate based herbicides. Apply to foliage only during dry weather conditions in order to increase effectiveness of treatment. 7.2 **Herbicide Treatment- Boom Spray** Assess the area of infestation before applying treatment with a boom attachment. Spray drift from boom spray applications can cause damage to foliage on adjoining properties. Wind direction must be considered before application.

7.3 Stem Injection Method

Involves injecting herbicides near the base of the stem. Stem injection is a suitable treatment option within environmentally protected areas and areas of high amenity value.



8 Prevention Measures 1. Do not strim, flail or physically cut Japanese Knotweed. 2. Do not disturb the plant or the soil underneath the growth area. 3. Avoid using vehicles with caterpillar tracks in areas where Japanese Knotweed is present. 4. Always wash down vehicles before and after leaving an area with an infestation or at worksites adjacent to watercourses in order to prevent the spread of invasive species. 5. Infestations of Japanese Knotweed must be reported to <u>cceenvironment@irishrail.ie</u> 6. Both in house staff and contractors must risk assess work projects in areas where Knotweed is present.

9	9 Other Applications		
	1.	"Where significant project works are being planned in areas where Japanese Knotweed is prevalent, the Project team must identify, as early as possibly in the preliminary project planning phases, the presence or otherwise of Japanese Knotweed.	
	2.	The Project Manager must then ensure that the capital investment provided for the project has adequate provision for the eradication of the infestation in advance of the commencement of the works.	
	3.	If eradication cannot be achieved before commencement of the works, a robust management plan including prevention, treatment and control measures must be implemented on site.	


1.7 Appendix 1.7 :Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP)











Contents

1.	INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	Purpose of the CEMP	1
2.	DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT	3
2.1	Project Description	3
2.2	Construction Phase	7
2.2.2	1 Consents and Licenses	7
2.2.2	2 Pre-construction Surveys	7
2.2.3	3 Construction and Demolition Waste	8
2.2.4	4 Designing for a Circular Economy	8
2.2.5	5 Enabling Works	9
2.2.6	6 Main Construction Works	9
2.2.7	7 Construction Programme and Sequence	10
2.2.8	8 Working Hours	10
2.2.9	9 Construction Compounds	11
2.2.2	10 Permanent Maintenance Compounds	12
2.2.2	11 Sourcing of Materials	12
2.2.2	12 Fencing	12
2.2.2	13 Temporary Land Acquisition	13
2.2.2	14 Lifting Operations	13
2.2.2	15 Concrete Works	13
2.2.2	16 Health and Safety	14
3.	CONSTRUCTION ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT PLAN (CEMP)	15
3.1	Environmental Policy	18
3.2	Environmental Aspect Register	19
3.3	Project organisation / Duties and responsibilities	19
3.3.1	1 Project Manager	20
3.3.2	2 Site Manager	20
3.3.3	3 Environmental Manager	20
3.3.4	4 Design Manager	22
3.3.5	5 Site Agents	22
3.3.6	6 Forepersons	22
3.3.7	7 Employer's Representative	23
3.3.8	8 Project Supervisor Construction Stage	23
3.3.9	9 All Project Personnel	23
3.3. ²	10 Ecological Clerk of Works	23
3.3. ²	11 Project Archaeologist	24
3.3.1	12 Consultant Archaeologist	25











3.3.	13 Other	25
3.4	Training and Induction	26
3.4.	1 Site Induction	26
3.4.2	2 Specific Training and Awareness	27
3.5	Project Communication and Coordination	27
3.6	Operational Control	27
3.7	Checking and Corrective Action	27
3.8	Environmental Control Measures	27
3.9	Complaints Procedure	28
4.	SCHEDULE OF ENVIRONMENTAL COMMITMENTS	29
5.	STATUTORY PLANNING CONSENT	30
6.	ENVIRONMENTAL OPERATING PLAN	31
7.	CONSTRUCTION AND DEMOLITION WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN	32
8.	INCIDENT RESPONSE PLAN	33
9.	CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN (CTMP)	34









1. INTRODUCTION

Córas lompair Éireann (CIÉ) is applying to An Bord Pleanála (ABP) for a Railway Order (RO) under the Transport (Railway Infrastructure) Act 2001 (as amended and substituted) for the DART+ Coastal North project ("the Proposed Development"). Whilst the application is being made on behalf of CIÉ, it is larnród Éireann (IÉ) who has developed the Proposed Development from concept to application stage.

This document sets out the Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) for the Proposed Development and has been prepared by Arup and CIÉ/IÉ.

1.1 Purpose of the CEMP

This CEMP applies to all works associated with the Proposed Development. As a contractor has not yet been appointed, this CEMP has not been formally adopted and further development and commitment to the CEMP will be undertaken following selection of Contractors and before commencement of site works.

It presents the approach and application of environmental management and mitigation measures for the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development. It aims to ensure that adverse effects from the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development, on the environment and the local communities, are avoided or minimised as far as reasonably practicable. It does not describe mitigation measures relating to the Operational Phase and any future decommissioning of the Proposed Development. These are provided in the mitigation sections of the EIAR Chapters in Volume 2 of the EIAR and are summarised in Chapter 27 (Summary of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures).

The CEMP provides the environmental management framework for the appointed Contractors and sub-contractors as they incorporate the mitigating principles to ensure that the work is carried out to reduce adverse effects on the environment. The construction management staff as well as contractors and sub-contractors' staff must comply with the requirements and constraints set out in the CEMP in developing the finalised CEMPs. The key environmental aspects associated with the construction of the DART+ Coastal North project, the appropriate mitigation and monitoring controls, are identified in this CEMP and its supporting documentation.

The implementation of the requirements of the CEMP will ensure that the Construction Phase of the project is carried out in accordance with the commitments made by CIE/IÉ in the Railway Order application process for the Proposed Development, and as required under the Railway Order. Once commenced, the CEMP is considered a living document that will be updated according to changing circumstances on the project and to reflect current construction activities. The CEMP will be reviewed on an ongoing basis during the construction process and will include information on the review procedures.





This CEMP contains the following supporting environmental documents as appendices:

- Appendix A Environmental Impact Assessment Report Chapter 27 (Summary of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures)
- Appendix B Natura Impact Statement Mitigation Measures
- Appendix C Statutory Planning Consent including any additional Environmental commitments
- Appendix D Environmental Operating Plan (EOP)
- Appendix E Construction and Demolition Waste Management Plan
- Appendix F Incident Response Plan
- Appendix G Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP); and
- Appendix H Surface Water Management Plan (SWMP)



larnród Éireann

ARUP

DART+

North

2.1 **Project Description**

NTA

The proposed DART+ Coastal North development, referred to hereafter as 'the Proposed Development', will modify the current rail network between Dublin City Centre (north of Connolly Station) and Drogheda MacBride Station. The Proposed Development extends across four local authority areas including Louth, Meath and Fingal County Council, as well as Dublin City Council. The total length of the Proposed Development is approximately 50 kilometres.

A detailed description of the proposed DART+ Coastal North project is provided in Chapter 4 (Description of the Proposed Development) and in Chapter 5 (Construction Strategy) in Volume 2 of the EIAR.

The key infrastructural components of the DART+ Coastal North project include:

- Extension of existing 1500V DC electrification, which currently terminates at Malahide, as far as Drogheda MacBride Station (approximately 37km); this includes
 - o The installation of foundations, masts, and overhead wires to supply power to the railway;
 - Undertaking upgrades to existing signalling, telecoms, and power supplies to support the planned increase in train services, including the introduction of new electrical substations at key locations alongside the railway line at
 - Drogheda
 - Bettystown
 - Gormanston
 - Balbriggan
 - Skerries North
 - Skerries South
 - Rush & Lusk (this location also incorporates an overhead line equipment (OHLE) maintenance compound); and
 - Donabate
 - Undertaking improvements / modifications to bridges spanning the railway arising from track reconfigurations and / or meeting required electrical clearances
 - Undertaking localised bridge modifications to enable OHLE to be fixed to bridges carrying the railway
 - Canopy modifications at Drogheda MacBride Station to accommodate OHLE clearances; and
 - Modified railway boundary fences to protect the public from contacting the overhead line
- Infrastructure works to facilitate the increase in service frequency and capacity, in specific areas of intervention as outlined below
 - works around Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station
 - o works around Clongriffin Station
 - works around Malahide Station & Viaduct
 - o works to the existing user worked level crossing (XB001) south of Donabate; and
 - o works around Drogheda MacBride Station
- Modifications to existing depots at Drogheda and Fairview to support the new train fleet, including the provision of additional train stabling at Drogheda



nahEireans Government of treiand 2040







• Ancillary civils, utility diversions, drainage, and power work to cater for the changes

The key interventions in each zone are presented in Table 2-1.

Table 2-1 Key Infrastructural Elements in each Geographic Zone

Activity	
This zone from north of Connolly Station to south of Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station includes following works:	
 Minor upgrades and internal modifications to Fairview Depot and sidings; and New drainage connection to combined sewer on Alfie Byrne Road. 	
This zone from south of Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station to and just north of Malahide Viaduct, (including Howth Branch) includes the following works:	
 Modification of Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station Accesses and Footbridge (OBB17A); Construction of the Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station Platform 2 Extension; Construction of a new crossover on the Howth Branch Line at Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station (Howth Junction Turnback); 	
 Construction of two new turnouts on the Up Dublin Line, and a new Loop Line to the east of Clongriffin Station. (Clongriffin Turnback); Construction of a new retaining wall at Clongriffin Station, utility diversions and associated 	
 earthworks; Construction of new Underbridge UBB19A (Mayne River), UBB18D culvert extension and embankment north of Clongriffin Station; 	
 Construction of a new central turnback line north of Malahide Station, new crossover on the Up Dublin Line and new turnout on the Down Belfast Line. (Malahide Turnback); Construction of new reinforced earth wall alongside the proposed Broadmeadow Way greenway. 	
 Constituction of how reinforced cartin wan alongside the proposed bloadineadow way greenway and embankment widening, north of Malahide Station; Modification of Underbridge UBB30 (Malahide Viaduct) to support OHLE; 	
 Closure of (user worked) level crossing (XB001); Construction of a new Otter Crossing, adjacent to the Underbridge UBB31 (River Pill); OHLE and Signalling, Electrification and Telecoms (SET) modifications at Malabide, Howth and 	
 Clongriffin; and OHLE and Signalling, Electrification and Telecoms (SET) line-wide works north of Malahide Turnback. 	
The zone from just north of Malahide Viaduct to south of Gormanston Station (Fingal boundary) includes the following works:	
 Construction of Donabate Substation compound; Modification of Underbridge UBB36 (Rogerstown Viaduct / Estuary) to support OHLE; Construction of Rush and Lusk Substation and OHLE maintenance compound; Upgrade of existing station access road junction at Rush and Lusk Station; Track lowering at Overbridge OBB39 (carrying Station Road / R128); Track lowering at Overbridge OBB44 (carrying local road in Tyrrelstown Big); Construction of Skerries South Substation compound; Construction of Skerries North Substation compound; Track lowering at Overbridge OBB55 (carrying Lawless Terrace / R127); Modification of Underbridge UBB56 (Balbriggan Viaduct) to support OHLE; Construction of Balbriggan Substation compound; Road overbridge parapet modifications for compliant safety standards to: OBB32A (carrying the Donabate Distributor Road), OBB35 (access to Beaverstown Golf Club), 	











Zone	Activity
	 OBB41 (carrying local road in Rathartan), OBB46 (carrying the L1285 / Baldongan Close), OBB47 (historic access to Skerries Golf Club), OBB49 (carrying Golf Links Road), OBB55 (carrying Lawless Terrace / R127) and OBB68 (local access adjacent Gormanston Camp). Pedestrian footbridge parapet modifications for compliant safety standards to: OBB33A (Donabate Station footbridge), OBB51A (Skerries Station footbridge), OBB54 (The Ladies Stairs) and OBB57A (Balbriggan Station footbridge). OHLE and Signalling, Electrification and Telecoms (SET) line-wide works; Diversion of overhead power lines railway crossings into Under Track Crossings (UTX) at Rush & Lusk, Tyrrelstown, Golf Links Road, Baldongan, and Balbriggan; and Utility diversions.
Zone D	 The zone south of Gormanston Station to Louth/Meath border includes the following works: Construction of Gormanston Substation compound; Modification of Underbridge UBB72 (Laytown Viaduct) to support OHLE; Construction of Bettystown Substation compound; Track lowering at Overbridge OBB78 (carrying Colpe Road); OHLE and Signalling, Electrification and Telecoms (SET) line-wide works; Diversion of overhead power lines railway crossings into Under Track Crossings (UTX) at Gormanston, Laytown, and Drogheda; Road overbridge parapet modifications for compliant safety standards to: OBB78 (carrying Colpe Road). Pedestrian footbridge parapet modifications for compliant safety standards to: OBB74A (Laytown Station footbridge); and Utility diversions.
Zone E	 Drogheda MacBride Station and surrounds includes the following works: Demolition and replacement of triple span Overbridge OBB80/80A/80B (Railway Terrace); Realignment of Railway Terrace and McGrath's Lane; Reconstruction of Underbridge UBK01 (R132/Dublin Road Bridge); Reconstruction of Overbridge OBB81 (Drogheda Station Footbridge); Modification to existing Platform 1 Station Canopy; Construction of new Platform 4 (on the Drogheda Freight Sidings) and associated modifications to station car park and connectivity to Drogheda MacBride Station; Track works on Drogheda Freight Sidings at Drogheda (Drogheda Turnback); Construction of Drogheda Substation compound; Civil Works on Light Maintenance Roads, Under Frame Cleaning (UFC) facility and Northern Headshunt; Reprofiling existing earthwork bund at Drogheda Depot; Track works on Stabling Roads 7a, 7b; OHLE and Signalling, Electrification and Telecoms (SET) line-wide works; Diversion of overhead power lines railway crossings into Under Track Crossings (UTX) at Drogheda; and Utility diversions









2.2 Construction Phase

The overall Construction Phase of the Proposed Development will be approximately 36 months in duration based on the information available at this time. The construction programme has been developed considering efficiency of works and to reduce the potential for environmental impacts. Further detailed information on the construction programme for the Proposed Development can be found in Chapter 5 (Construction Strategy) in Volume 2 of this EIAR.

2.2.1 Consents and Licenses

A number of consents, permits and licenses will be required during the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development. The Site Environmental Manager (SEM) will maintain a Consents Register which will document all existing consent conditions, record all new applications made and their status.

2.2.2 Pre-construction Surveys

Ecological surveys consisting of invasive species surveys, bat surveys and bird nesting surveys will be undertaken prior to any vegetation clearance, tree felling and/or other demolition works as required for the Proposed Development. The Contractor will comply with the mitigation measures included in Chapter 8 (Biodiversity) in Volume 2 of the EIAR. Vegetation clearance should be programmed as far as is reasonably practicable to avoid the bird nesting season (March to August inclusive). Appendix A in this document summaries any specific ecological survey included in Chapter 8 (Biodiversity).

Prior to construction, a tree survey will be undertaken to record trees near or adjacent to the Proposed Development that will be impacted by the proposed works in accordance with BS 5837 (2012) as recommended in the mitigation measures of Chapter 8 (Biodiversity) and in Chapter 15 (Landscape and Visual) in Volume 2 of the EIAR. A site arborist shall be appointed prior to the commencement of site construction works and will be responsible for the setting up and monitoring of tree protection, liaising with the relevant local authority biodiversity officers (if required) and providing feedback and advice to the construction teams on issues relevant to trees. The site arborist shall be retained for the duration of construction works and should be appointed to carry out a post-construction tree survey/assessment.

Any non-intrusive geophysical surveys noted in Chapter 27 (Summary of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures) that are required prior to construction shall be undertaken by the contractor prior to the commencement of main works. If anomalies are detected, all works within the area are to be immediately stopped prior to archaeological test excavation, which will take place to verify the nature, extent and location of the subsurface feature.

2.2.3 Construction and Demolition Waste

Any surplus excavated material will be removed off-site either as a waste or, where appropriate, as a by-product. Where the material is to be reused on another site as a by-product (and not as a waste), this will be done in accordance with Regulation 27 of the European Communities (Waste Directive) Regulations 2011. Every effort will be made to re-use as much material as possible.





If the material is deemed to be a waste, removal and reuse/recycling/recovery/disposal of the material will be carried out in accordance with the Waste Management Act 1996 (as amended), the Waste Management (Collection Permit) Regulations 2007 (as amended) and the Waste Management (Facility Permit & Registration) Regulations 2007 (as amended). The volume of waste requiring recovery/disposal will dictate whether a Certificate of Registration (COR), permit or licence is required by the receiving facility.

In order to establish the appropriate reuse, recovery and/or disposal route for the surplus soils and stones to be removed off-site, it will first need to be classified. The material will initially need to be classified as hazardous or non-hazardous in accordance with the EPA publication Waste Classification – List of Waste & Determining if Waste is Hazardous or Non-Hazardous. Environmental soil analysis will be carried out on a number of representative soil samples for a range of parameters to allow the soil to be accurately classified as hazardous or non-hazardous. In addition, soil analysis will also be carried out in accordance with the requirements for acceptance of waste at landfills (Council Decision 2003/33/EC Waste Acceptance Criteria). This legislation sets limit values for acceptance of waste at landfills based on properties of the waste including potential pollutant concentrations and leachability. (Note: Clean inert soils and stones excavated from greenfield sections of the route would generally not require classification/testing but would require a letter of suitability to be provided to the receiving facility.) The surplus soils and stones may be suitable for acceptance at either inert or non-hazardous soil recovery facilities/landfills in Ireland or, in the event of hazardous material being encountered, be transported for treatment/recovery or exported abroad for disposal in suitable facilities.

Further details regarding waste management is included in Appendix E Construction Waste Demolition Plan (CWDP) and operational plans of CIE after consent is given to the development.

2.2.4 Designing for a Circular Economy

Throughout the design and construction of the Proposed Development, solutions will be required to be considered to minimise the consumption of materials and the generation of waste throughout the lifecycle of the Proposed Development. The following non-exhaustive list based on the DMRB LA110 guidance (2019) will be implemented throughout the detailed design and construction of the Proposed Development:

- Design for reuse and recovery: identifying, securing and using materials that already exist on-site, or can be sourced from other projects and ensuring new materials brought onto site have high recycled content
- Design for off-site construction: maximizing the use of pre-fabricated structure and components, encouraging a process of assembly rather than construction
- Design for materials optimisation: through minimising material use, balancing out cut and fill. Maximising the use of responsibly sourced materials and materials with recycled content (e.g. Using material from low carbon or sustainable sources)
- Design for resource efficient procurement: identifying and specifying materials that can be acquired responsibly, in accordance with a recognised industry standard (e.g. consider opportunities for materials to be returned to the supplier for future reuse, such as steel and concrete). Making provision to select the waste contractor who can offer best overall reuse and recycling performance



Iarnród Éireann





- Design for the future (deconstruction and flexibility): identifying how materials can be designed to be more easily adapted over an asset lifetime and how deconstruction and demounting of elements can be maximized at end of first life
- Engineering plan configurations and layouts will demonstrate the most effective use of materials and arisings that can be achieved; and
- The Principal Contractor(s) will be responsible for sourcing materials for the construction of the Proposed Development, and where possible, it will seek to use local suppliers and to reuse materials on site to minimise the attendant environmental impact, cost of transport and support the local economy and local communities in line with the proximity principle

2.2.5 Enabling Works

Any enabling works required before the main contract, will be carried out after the Railway Order has been granted, and will facilitate the main construction works. These will include, but are not limited to:

- Surveys
- Application for licenses as required i.e. derogation licence
- Site clearance
- Establishment of site compounds
- Establishment of the main storage and distribution centre
- Establishment of the haulage routes; and
- Utility diversions

2.2.6 Main Construction Works

The main construction works can be summarised as follows:

- Line wide works
 - o Substations
 - o OHLE foundations, masts and cabling
 - o Signalling
 - Testing and commissioning
- Depot works
 - o Fairview Depot
 - o Drogheda Depot
- Bridge works
 - o Over bridges (mainly parapet modifications)
 - Under bridges (including viaducts)
 - o Dublin Road (UBK1) Bridge widening
 - Railway Terrace Bridge (OBB80/80a/80b) reconstruction
- Station and turnbacks
 - Howth Junction and Donaghmede Station
 - o Malahide Turnback
 - o Clongriffin Station (turnback)
 - Drogheda Station (turnback)









2.2.7 Construction Programme and Sequence

The high-level construction programme is presented in Image 2-1 below.



Image 2-1 High-Level Construction Programme

Further detailed information on the construction programme and phasing for the Proposed Development can be found in Chapter 5 (Construction Strategy) in Volume 2 of this EIAR.

2.2.8 Working Hours

A key consideration in the design of the construction strategy and programme is the requirement to reduce the impact during construction, on the operation of the railway line and hence, to maintain rail services for passengers. The construction works range from those that are located outside of the railway boundary (thus, having no impact or minimal impact on train operations) to those that would require a temporary closure of a section of railway line (normally during night-time or weekends (termed night-time or weekend track possessions) to allow construction to proceed while limiting the impact on rail services.

The general daytime construction hours proposed for the project are:

- Monday to Friday 07:00 to 19:00 (12 hours)
- Saturday 07:00 to 13:00 (6 hours)
 - Sunday Only when agreed in advance with the local authority and IÉ

Night-time and weekend track possession times will vary, the times listed in the table below are indicative.











Table 2-2 Possession Types and Durations

Possession Type	Duration / Timings
Non-disruptive Weekday night	4 hours / 01:00 to 05:00
Non-disruptive Saturday night	6 hours / 01:00 to 07:00
Disruptive Extended Saturday night	10-12 hours
Disruptive Long Weekend (October and Easter)	3-4 days, twice per year
Disruptive Full weekend (anticipated rarely)	52 hours / Saturday morning at 01:00 to Monday morning at 05:00
Disruptive Bank Holiday weekend (anticipated rarely except October and Easter)	72-76 hours / for example Saturday morning at 01:00 to Tuesday morning at 05:00
Disruptive Single Line working at weekends (anticipated rarely).	This may be feasible in specific locations, especially at Malahide, where design and logistics allow.

Any restrictions to working hours associated with major events in the area of works will be agreed with Local Authorities and An Garda Síochána. In addition, a Noise and Vibration Management and Control Plan will be included as part of the final CEMP by the contractor, and this will include for specific working hours and mitigation measures at identified sensitive locations as identified in Chapter 14 (Noise and Vibration) in Volume 2 of the EIAR.

2.2.9 Construction Compounds

The Construction Compounds are temporary facilities that support the construction of the different elements of the project. Construction compounds are required at specific site locations, such as the proposed substation locations, as well as at locations where structural works are required such as at bridges. These compounds are known as isolated compounds.

There is also a need for Construction Compounds to support line-wide works, known as line-wide compounds. These Construction Compounds will support activities such as the installation of the track, under track crossings (UTXs), overhead line equipment, signalling, communications and power systems. These compounds will be located at selected locations along the railway line over the full route, with a more concentrated number along the route to be electrified (i.e. between Malahide and Drogheda). The line-wide compounds are also located such that isolated works can also be supported from these compounds, where possible, or in locations where there are existing maintenance compounds.

2.2.10 Permanent Maintenance Compounds

In general, existing maintenance compounds will facilitate the ongoing maintenance of the track and OHLE after the construction works. They are not planned to be used to support the project construction works.

2.2.11 Sourcing of Materials

There will be a requirement for construction materials and concrete during the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development. Existing concrete batching plants in the vicinity are expected to be used in the Construction Phase.



Some materials may need to be imported from relatively far away due to their local scarcity.

It is expected that SET/ OHLE materials will be delivered to the line-wide compounds, assembled, and then transported along the railway for installation.

2.2.12 Fencing

Perimeter Security Purpose (SP) fencing or hoarding will often be installed along the construction site perimeters to secure sites against unauthorised access. Some works to be undertaken on the public road may also be fenced. Where works areas are adjacent to road traffic it is envisaged that vehicle containment barriers will be erected. Site-specific assessments of the security and trespass risk will be undertaken at each construction site and Construction Compound, with appropriate control measures being implemented.

Railway fencing will be installed in coordination with Permanent Way and SET works and shall be removed and/or erected in accordance with IÉ Technical Fencing Specification (CCE-TRK-SPN-037). The construction of the fence will be carried out, where possible, from the tracks to avoid any temporary land acquisition and disruption to stakeholders.

For the construction of the fencing from the tracks, the safe systems of work will be set out as per the IÉ Rule Book. Whenever practicable, the fencing works will be carried out only in a GREEN zone, as defined in the IÉ Rule Book.

To set up a GREEN zone, the contractor must arrange for the site of work to be either:

- SAFEGUARDED by stopping trains on all lines
- SEPARATED from the nearest line open to trains, by a distance of at least 3 metres (10 feet); and
- FENCED from the nearest line open to trains where one or more lines remains open to trains

If it is not practicable to arrange for the works to be carried out in a GREEN zone, the works will be carried out in a RED zone, as defined in the IÉ Rule Book. However, this will be avoided where possible.

2.2.13 Temporary Land Acquisition

Any land temporarily acquired for the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development will be returned to its original state following construction, where possible and in agreement with the landowner.

2.2.14 Lifting Operations

Road mobile cranes and road-rail vehicle cranes/excavators with lifting attachments will be used throughout the works as appropriate. Access to works areas for materials, construction plant and operatives will either be by road or via road rail access points (RRAPs).

During detailed design stage, the designated locations for cranes for relevant working areas will be identified along with lifting plans and crane sizing.





Prior to the commencement of any significant lifting, a survey will be carried out to identify any underground services and utilities. Where applicable, the utilities will be protected in-situ or diverted in consultation with the utility owner. Overhead services will also be identified and will be included in appropriate lifting plans to ensure that they are avoided during the works. The status of all services and utilities will be checked and verified with the utility owner. In the event that cables from these services / utilities remain nearby, appropriate safety notices will be issued to relevant staff members and signage will be erected. Where necessary, a demarcation zone will be implemented to prevent operatives or plant coming into contact with one another.

2.2.15 Concrete Works

The use and management of concrete in or close to watercourses must be carefully controlled to avoid spillage which has a deleterious effect on water chemistry and aquatic habitats and species. Where the use of in-situ concrete near and in watercourses cannot be avoided the following control measures will be employed:

- When working in or near the surface water and the application of in-situ materials cannot be avoided, the use of alternative materials such as biodegradable shutter oils shall be used
- Any plant operating close to the water will require special consideration on the transport of concrete from the point of discharge from the mixer to final discharge into the delivery pipe (tremie). Care will be exercised when slewing concrete skips or mobile concrete pumps over or near the watercourses
- Placing of concrete in or near the watercourses will be carried out only under the supervision of a suitably qualified Environmental Manager
- There will be no hosing into surface water drains of spills of concrete, cement, grout or similar materials. Such spills shall be contained immediately, and runoff prevented from entering watercourses
- Concrete waste and wash-down water will be contained and managed on site to prevent pollution of the watercourses
- On-site concrete batching and mixing activities will only be allowed at the identified Construction Compound
- Washout from concrete lorries, with the exception of the chute, will not be permitted on site and will only take place at the Construction Compound (or other appropriate facility designated by the supplier)
- Chute washout will be carried out at designated locations only. These locations will be signposted
- The Concrete Plant and all Delivery Drivers will be informed of their location with the order information and on arrival on site; and
- Chute washout locations will be provided with appropriate designated, contained impermeable area and treatment facilities including adequately sized settlement tanks. The clear water from the settlement tanks shall be pH corrected prior to discharge (which shall be by means of one of the construction stage settlement facilities) or alternatively disposed of as waste in accordance with the Contractor's Waste Management Plan







2.2.16 Health and Safety

The Project Supervisor Construction Stage (PSCS) will prepare a Construction Phase Safety and Health Plan in accordance with the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work (Construction) Regulations 2013 (as amended). The Plan will be reviewed and approved by CIÉ /IÉ prior to the commencement of the construction works and the Project Supervisor Design Process (PSDP). The Plan will be prepared for each element of the construction works. The Plan will include, and is not limited to the following:

- Appropriate training and information will be provided to personnel working on the construction sites
- Site induction will be provided by the contractors for all site staff and site visitors to ensure that they are aware of the health and safety management measures implemented and of any hazards on sites
- The health and safety measures for construction staff, all persons working at, or visiting the construction site
- The health and safety measures for general public in vicinity of the construction site
- Identify and implement emergency procedures; and
- A Stakeholder Management and Communication Plan (SMCP) will be prepared to establish the means of communication between the members of the public and the project team









3. CONSTRUCTION ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT PLAN (CEMP)

The CEMP will be further developed by the Contractor to meet the requirements of ISO 14001 and all site works will be undertaken in compliance with the CEMP. The CEMP shall include but is not limited to the topics listed below, further information on which is given in the following section.

- Environmental Policy
- Environmental Aspects Register
- Project Organisation and Responsibilities
- Project Communication and Co-ordination
- Training
- Operational Control
- Checking and Corrective Action
- Environmental Control Measures; and
- Complaints Procedure

The CEMP details all the environmental aspects and impacts associated with this Proposed Development such as waste management, pollution prevention and protection of flora and fauna with particular emphasis on Special Areas of Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Areas (SPA), proposed Natural Heritage Areas (pNHA) as well as water quality in the watercourses. The Register of Impacts provides the framework for identifying the potential environmental impacts generated by construction and the associated works. The Environmental Operational Control Procedures and activity specific method statements will detail the working methods necessary for managing and mitigating these impacts, whether it is by prevention or mitigation. Prior to the commencement of construction activities, the Environmental Operational Control Procedures and activity specific method statements will be completed so as to conform to precise site-specific requirements of the Proposed Development.

3.1 Environmental Policy

The contractor will complete an Environmental Policy with consideration for impacts on the natural and built environment. All project personnel will be accountable for the environmental performance of the Proposed Development and will be made aware of the Environmental Policy at induction. The environmental policy will consider and make commitments with regard to the protection of Natura 2000, pNHA and NHA sites, emissions to the atmosphere, maintenance of water quality, resource usage energy consumption and waste management.

ClÉ /lÉ maintains an Environmental Management Plan (EMP) to provide a commitment to managing and reducing their effects on the environment. The ClÉ/lÉ EMP states that there is "a commitment by lÉ to develop an Environmental Management System (EMS) with existing management systems (Quality, Energy, Safety, etc) for increment benefit". The final CEMP will comply with ClÉ/lÉ's environmental policy and the commitments, including ISO 40001:2015 and ISO 9001:2015 international Environmental Management System (EMS) standards which IÉ worked to achieve and maintain.







The contractors will prepare their own project-based EMS in accordance with CIÉ/IÉ's EMP and EMS prior to construction which will be subject to approval by CIÉ/IÉ.

This section of the CEMP will be subject to ongoing review and will be updated as required.

larnród Éireann

3.2 Environmental Aspect Register

Once appointed, the Contractor will prepare a register of all sensitive environmental features which have the potential to be affected by the construction works, together with details of commitments and agreements made within the Environmental Impact Assessment Report (EIAR) the Contract Documentation, Railway Order, and any conditions identified by Statutory Authorities with regards mitigation of potential impacts.

The Environmental Aspects Register provides the relevant information for the preparation of construction method statements and will be regularly updated during the works. The Environmental Aspects Register will consider sensitive environmental features as listed below - please note this list is not exhaustive and will be required to be amended and expanded upon as appropriate by the contractor.

- Identification of all waterways for protection against ingress of suspended solids or pollutants
- Air emissions
- Asbestos
- Noise and Vibration emissions
- Light emissions
- Waste generation
- Treatment of contaminated materials
- Treatment of non-contaminated materials
- Treatment of hazardous waste materials
- Treatment of invasive alien species
- Use of hazardous materials
- Energy usage
- Water usage
- Discharge of wastewater;
- Traffic generation
- Biodiversity (terrestrial and aquatic ecology);
- Landscape and Visual impacts
- Soils, Geology and Hydrogeology
- Hydrology; and
- Archaeology, Architectural and Cultural Heritage

3.3 Project organisation / Duties and responsibilities

The Contractor's CEMP will define the roles and responsibilities of the project team. The Contractor is responsible to ensure that all members of the Project Team, including sub-contractors comply with the procedures set out in the CEMP. The Contractor will ensure that all persons working on site are provided with sufficient training, supervision, and instruction to fulfil this requirement.







Key staff will be notified of their appointment and confirm that their responsibilities are clearly understood.

The principal environmental responsibilities for key staff can be identified in the following sections.

3.3.1 Project Manager

The Project Managers main duties and responsibilities in relation to the CEMP include liaising with the Project Team in assigning duties and responsibilities in relation to the CEMP to individual members of the main contractor's project staff.

It is the responsibility of the Project Manager to approve key personnel required for employment on the project. The Project Manager will liaise with the SEM. The Project Manager will lead the works on site. The Project Manager will be responsible for the management and control of the activities and will have overall responsibility for the implementation of the CEMP. The Project Manager will be assisted by the SEM who will act as their deputy.

3.3.2 Site Manager

The Site Manager's environmental management responsibilities include, but are not limited to:

- Liaise with the SEM and the Project Team in assigning duties and responsibilities in relation to the CEMP, to individual members of the main contractor's project staff
- Liaising with Site Manager in preparing, reviewing and updating all site-specific method statements for activities where there is a risk of pollution or adverse effects on the environment
- Liaising with the SEM in agreeing site specific Method Statements with Third Parties
- Ensuring that all relevant information on project programming, timing, construction methodology, etc., is communicated from the contractor's Project Team, including the Project Manager, to the SEM in a timely and efficient manner in order to allow pre-emptive actions relating to the environment to be taken where required
- Ensuring that the risk assessments for control of noise and environmental risk are prepared and effectively monitored, reviewed and communicated on site
- Close liaison with the SEM to ensure adequate resources are made available for implementation of the CEMP; and
- Ensuring that the SEM reviews all method statements, performs regular and frequent environmental site inspections and that relevant environmental protocols are incorporated and appended

3.3.3 Environmental Manager

In order to ensure the successful development, implementation and maintenance of the Environmental Management Plan (EOP), the Contractor will be required to appoint an independent Site Environmental Manager (SEM) to provide independently verifiable audit reports. The EOP is a project management tool which outlines procedures for the delivery of environmental mitigation measures and for addressing general day-to-day environmental issues that can arise during the Construction Phase of developments. The EOP will be developed and updated by the Contractor during the project construction stage. The EOP is included in Appendix A5.1 (CEMP), sub-appendix D, in Volume 4 of this EIAR.





The SEM must possess sufficient training, experience, and knowledge appropriate to the nature of the task to be undertaken, a Level Eight qualification recognised by the Higher Education and Training Awards Council (HETAC), or a university equivalent, or other qualification acceptable to the Employer, in Environmental Science or Environmental Management, Environmental Hydrology, Engineering or other relevant qualification acceptable to the Employer.

Separate from the on-going and detailed monitoring carried out by the contractor as part of the EOP, the SEM shall carry out the inspection/ monitoring regime described below, and report to the Contractor. The results will be stored in the SEM's monitoring file and will be available for inspection/ audit by the Client, National Parks and Wildlife Service (NPWS) or Inland Fisheries Ireland (IFI) staff as requested. All inspections/ monitoring/ results will be recorded on standard forms. The responsibilities of the SEM include, but are not limited to:

- Ensuring that the CEMP is finalised, implemented and maintained
- Liaising with Site Manager in preparing, reviewing and updating all site-specific method statements for activities where there is a risk of pollution or adverse effects on the environment
- Liaising with Site Manager in agreeing site specific Method Statements with Third Parties;
- Being familiar with the information in the pre-construction surveys, construction requirements, An Bord Pleanála decision and all relevant Method Statements
- Being familiar with the contents, environmental commitments and requirements continued within the reference documentation listed in the CEMP
- Being familiar with the baseline data collated during the compilation of the EIAR and the NIS
- Assisting Management in liaising with the Engineers and larnród Éireann and the provision of information on environmental management during the construction of the project
- Liaising with the Site Manager and the Project Team in assigning duties and responsibilities in relation to the EOP, to individual members of the main contractor's project staff
- Overseeing, ensuring coordination and playing a lead role in third party consultations required statutorily, contractually and in order to fulfil best practice requirements
- Ensuring that all relevant works are undertaken in accordance with the relevant legislation in the Republic of Ireland
- Liaising with the designated licence holders and specific agent defined in the licence with respect to licences granted pursuant to the Wildlife Acts 1976 (as amended) and the European Communities (Birds and Natural Habitats) Regulations 2011
- Bring any legal constraints that may occur during certain tasks to the attention of management
- Hold copies of all permits and licenses provided by waste contractors
- Ensuring that any operations or activities that require certificates of registration, waste collection permits, waste permits, waste licences, etc have appropriate authorisation
- Gathering and holding documentation with respect to waste disposal
- Keeping up to date with changes in environmental practices and legislation and advising staff of such changes and incorporating them into the CEMP
- Liaising with contactors and consultants prior to works
- Procuring the services of specialist environmental contactors when required
- Ensuring that all specialist environmental contactors are legally accredited and proven to be competent
- Coordinating all the activities of the specialist environmental contractors



- Coastal North
- Ensuring that environmental induction training is carried out on all personnel on site and ensuring that toolbox talks include aspects of environmental awareness and training
- Respond to all environmental incidents in accordance with legislation, the CEMP and company policy/procedures
- The SEM is responsible for notifying the relevant statutory authority when environmental incidents occur and producing the relevant reports as required
- Ensuring that all relevant works have (and are being carried out in accordance with) the required permits, licenses, certificates and planning permissions
- Carrying out regular documented inspections of the site to ensure that work is being carried out in accordance with the Environmental Control Measures and relevant site-specific Method Statements
- The SEM should prepare and be in readiness to implement at all times the Incident Response Plan (see Appendix F to this CEMP); and
- Responsible for reviewing all environmental monitoring data and ensuring that they all comply with stated guidelines and requirements

For more detailed list of duties refer to the EOP contained in sub-appendix D to this CEMP.

3.3.4 Design Manager

The main duties and responsibilities of the Design Manager include:

- Be familiar with the CEMP and relevant documentation referred to within
- Be familiar with the contents, commitments and requirements contained within the reference documents; and
- Participate in Third Party Consultations and liaising with third Parties through the SEM

3.3.5 Site Agents

The Site Agents are responsible for the following:

- Ensuring Forepersons under their control adhere to the relevant Environmental Control measures and relevant site-specific Method Statements, etc
- Ensuring that the procedures agreed during third party consultations are followed
- Reporting immediately to the SEM any incidents where there has been a breach of agreed environmental management procedures, where there has been a spillage of a potentially environmentally harmful substance, where there has been an unauthorised discharge to ground, water or air, damage to habitat, etc; and
- Attending environmental review meetings and preparing any relevant documentation as required by Management

3.3.6 Forepersons

The forepersons on site are responsible for the following:

- Ensuring personnel under their control adhere to the relevant environmental control measures and relevant site-specific Method Statements
- Reporting immediately to the site agents and SEM any incidents where there has been a breach of agreed procedures e.g. spillages and discharges







3.3.7 Employer's Representative

Name: [To be inserted by successful contractor]

Duties and Responsibilities

The Employer's Representative (ER) acts on behalf of the Employer in the course of a construction project. The EOP will be audited by the Employer's Representative to ensure that the Contractor is compliant with the environmental provisions of the Contract Documents.

3.3.8 Project Supervisor Construction Stage

The role of the Project Supervisor Construction Stage (PSCS) is to manage and co-ordinate health and safety matters during the construction stage. The PSCS will be appointed before the construction work begins and will remain in that position until all construction work on the project is completed.

It is the responsibility of the PSCS to ensure that the project:

- is designed and is capable of being constructed to be safe and without risk to health
- is constructed to be safe and without risk to health
- can be maintained safely and without risk to health during subsequent use; and
- complies in all respects, as appropriate, with the relevant statutory provisions

The PSCS will maintain contact with the PSDP throughout the Construction Phase to communicate any health and safety related issues. The PSDP will prepare a written safety file appropriate to the characteristics of the project, containing relevant health and safety information, to be taken into account during any subsequent construction work following completion of the project.

3.3.9 All Project Personnel

All project personnel have the following responsibilities:

- Reporting any operations and conditions that deviate from the CEMP to the Site Agent and SEM. Depending on circumstances it may be appropriate for general operatives and machinery operators to report directly to their Foreperson who will then report to the SEM and Site Agent
- Taking an active part in site safety and environmental meetings
- Ensuring awareness of the contents of method statements, plans, supervisors' meetings or any other meetings that concern the environmental management of the site; and
- Attend environmental training as required

3.3.10 Ecological Clerk of Works

In order to ensure the successful development and implementation of the CEMP, the Contractor will appoint an independent Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW). The ECoW must possess training, experience and knowledge appropriate to the role, including:

• An NFQ Level 8 qualification or equivalent or other acceptable qualification in ecology or environmental biology; and





• Demonstrable experience in the protection of European sites

The principal functions of the ECoW are:

• To provide ecological supervision of the construction of the Proposed Development and thereby ensure the full and proper implementation of all the mitigation measures relating to biodiversity prescribed in the EIAR and NIS

ARUP

- To regularly review the outcome of the specialist hydroacoustic monitoring if being undertaken and, on that basis, make any necessary adjustments to the mitigation; and
- To carry out weekly inspections and reporting on the implementation of the Contractor's Biosecurity Protocol

During the preparation of the Contractor's CEMP, the SEM may, as appropriate, assign other duties and responsibilities to the ECoW.

In exercising their functions, the ECoW will be required to keep a monitoring file, and this will be made available for inspection or audit by larnród Éireann, the NPWS or IFI at any time.

3.3.11 Project Archaeologist

A Project Archaeologist with a detailed knowledge of the Proposed Development will be appointed to develop and manage a centralised framework for tracking and managing all archaeological considerations. The Project Archaeologist will oversee the implementation and reporting of all archaeological and cultural heritage mitigation measures.

The role of the Project Archaeologist is to provide a consistent and independent approach throughout the duration of the Proposed Development.

In addition to making consistent recommendations and approving mitigation strategies and ensuring open lines of communication, a Project Archaeologist will provide archaeological training to operators and contractors and provide an advisory role offering practical advice on specific archaeological issues encountered in the field while promoting awareness of archaeological assets.

The effective management of the archaeological component of the project will be achieved through communication and a milestone driven contract process.

The appointment of a Project Archaeologist can ensure the smooth running of a scheme while providing controls on budgets and streamlining the point of communication for all heritage matters. In addition to this, a Project Archaeologist will:

- Review and agree details of the archaeological monitoring and investigation
- Review and agree the details of method statements, license applications and Ministerial Consents
- Manage the archaeological contract and specifically the work of the archaeological contractors
- Oversee the conduct of the archaeological excavations/ investigations
- Review the archaeological requirements as the works proceed. Implement any required changes to the methodology as construction work proceeds
- Certify all archaeological costs





- Oversee all post excavation works and certify all post excavation costs
- Review the content of reports prepared by the Archaeological Contractors and ensure that all the archaeological contractors provide all appropriate reports on their work in accordance with the contract conditions
- Ongoing consultation with the heritage authorities and statutory authorities
- Ensure all work is proceeding according to archaeological licensing or consent requirements
- Identify the requirement for additional investigation, including where necessary recording, survey, testing or excavation works
- Where possible implement time and cost-effective strategies that are in line with best practice guidelines and statutory authority approvals
- Provide advice to larnród Éireann
- Provide advice to the design, construction team and relevant contractors

3.3.12 Consultant Archaeologist

Experienced and competent licence-eligible archaeologist(s) will be employed by the appointed contractor to carry out the archaeological work and to advise on archaeological heritage matters during construction, to communicate all findings in a timely manner to the Project Archaeologist and larnród Éireann, to acquire any licenses/ consents required to conduct the work, and to supervise and direct the archaeological measures associated with the Proposed Development.

larnród Éireann will make provision to allow for, and to fund, the necessary archaeological monitoring, inspection, test excavation and excavation works that will be needed on-site during and prior to construction, either directly or indirectly via the appointed contractor.

During the Construction Phase all mitigation measures will be undertaken in compliance with national policy guidelines and statutory provisions for the protection of the archaeological heritage. All methodologies will have to be agreed in advance with the National Monuments Section of the Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage (DHLGH).

Archaeological mitigation measures can avoid, prevent, reduce or offset negative effects and these are achieved by preservation in-situ (avoidance), by design and / or by record.

Mitigation measures shall be undertaken as directed by the Minister of the DHLGH in compliance with the code of practice, national policy guidelines and statutory provisions for the protection of archaeology and cultural heritage. It is proposed that the following measures will take place as a minimum.

3.3.13 Other

Subject to the environmental commitments / requirements, other environmental specialists will be employed as required during the construction works.







3.4 Training and Induction

3.4.1 Site Induction

All employees and subcontractors involved on site will be given a comprehensive induction prior to commencement of the works. The environmental training and awareness procedure will ensure that staff are familiar with the principles of the CEMP, the environmental aspects and impacts associated with their activities, the procedures in place to control these impacts and the consequences of departure from these procedures.

This environmental training can be run concurrently with safety awareness training.

Training will include:

- Overview of the Environmental Policy and Construction Environmental Management Plan, goals and objectives
- Awareness in relation to risk, consequence and methods of avoiding environmental risks as identified within the Register of Aspects and with the planning conditions
- Awareness of roles and individual environmental responsibilities and environmental constrains to specific jobs
- Location of and sensitivity of Special Areas of Conservation, Special Protection Areas, protected monuments, structures etc.; and
- Location of habitats and species to be protected during construction, how activities may affect them and methods necessary to avoid impacts

A record will be kept of a signed register on the project files of all attendees of the environmental induction.

Toolbox talks based on specific activities being carried out will be given to personnel by the nominated project representative. These will be based on specific activities being carried out and will include environmental issues particular to the project, including the impact on bird populations and water quality namely:

- Oil/diesel spill prevention and safe refuelling practice
- Storage of materials including oil/diesels and cement
- Emergency response processes used to deal with spills
- Minimising disturbance to wildlife
- Emergency response to include water pollution hotline to the EPA/Irish Rail for regulator response. Identification of registered / accredited spill cleanup company for oil etc
- Consideration of importance of containment of vehicle washing, containments of concrete /cement / grout washout etc., bank protection using hessian to prevent excessive scour and mobilisation of suspended solids, maintenance of vegetation corridors etc.; and
- Invasive Species









3.4.2 Specific Training and Awareness

A project specific training plan that identifies the competency requirements for all personnel allocated with environmental responsibilities will be produced by the Contractor. Training will be provided by the Contractor to ensure that all persons working on site have a practical understanding of environmental issues and management requirements prior to commencing activities. A register of completed training is to be kept by the SEM. The Site Manager will ensure that environmental emergency plans are drawn up and the SEM will conduct the necessary training/inductions.

3.5 **Project Communication and Coordination**

Environmental issues and performance aspects will be communicated to the workforce on a regular basis. Weekly project meetings, which follow a set agenda incorporating Environment, will be held alongside overall management meetings. All staff and sub-contractors involved in all phases of the project will be encouraged to report environmental issues.

3.6 Operational Control

Site works will be checked against the CEMP requirements. Any mitigation measures that have been agreed with the Statutory Authorities, or are part of planning conditions, will be put into place prior to the undertaking of the works for which they are required, and all relevant staff will be briefed accordingly.

Method statements that are prepared for the works will be reviewed / approved by the Client Project Manager and where necessary the relevant Environmental Specialist. All method statements for works in, near or liable to impact on a waterway must have prior agreement with IFI and NPWS.

A Quality Management System (QMS) will also be put into operation for the project. Document control will be in accordance with this QMS and copies of all audits, consents, licences, etc. will be finalised by the SEM and their team and kept on site for review at any time.

3.7 Checking and Corrective Action

Daily inspections of the site and the works will be undertaken to minimise the risk of environmental damage and to ensure compliance with the CEMP. Any environmental incidents are to be reported immediately to the Site Foreman. The SEM will undertake periodic inspections and complete an assessment of the project's environmental performance with regard to the relevant standards/legislation and the contents of the CEMP. Following these inspections, the SEM will produce a report detailing the findings which will be provided to the Client Project Manager and reviewed at the monthly project meeting.

3.8 Environmental Control Measures

Licensing requirements will be in place and specific procedures to manage the key environmental aspects of the project will be developed by the contractor prior to work commencing.







3.9 Complaints Procedure

A liaison officer will be available to allow for member of the pubic or interested parties to make complaints about the construction works. The CEMP will contain details of the complaints procedures and a monitoring system will be implemented to ensure that any complaints are addressed, and satisfactory outcome is achieved for all parties.





4. SCHEDULE OF ENVIRONMENTAL COMMITMENTS

Project environmental mitigation has been set out in the Railway Order application documentation, specifically the EIAR and NIS. These environmental commitments are detailed in Appendix A and Appendix B to this CEMP. The final CEMP will provide a framework for compliance auditing and inspection to ensure that the construction practices and mitigation measures, as set out in the EIAR and NIS as well as the conditions in the planning approval, are adhered to.

Appendix A of this CEMP details the measures in Chapter 27 (Summary of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures) in Volume 2 of the EIAR. Natura Impact Statement (NIS) mitigation measures are contained in Appendix B to this CEMP.





5. STATUTORY PLANNING CONSENT

When the Railway Order application is approved by An Bord Pleanála for the Proposed Development the full statutory approval and any conditions attached will be considered and included as required within the CEMP. The Statutory Planning consent will be inserted as an Appendix (Appendix C) into the final CEMP once statutory planning approval is received and will be carried forward into the Contractors CEMP.





6. ENVIRONMENTAL OPERATING PLAN

An Environmental Operating Plan (EOP) is prepared to outline procedures for delivery of environmental mitigation measures for addressing general day-to-day environmental issues that can arise during the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development. The EOP is a live document and will be further developed and updated by the Contractor during the project construction stage. The EOP is contained in Appendix D to this CEMP.









7. CONSTRUCTION AND DEMOLITION WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN

A Construction and Demolition Waste Management Plan (CDWMP) is prepared to ensure that waste arising during the Construction and Demolition phase of the development on site will be managed and disposed of in a way that ensures the provisions of the Waste Management Act 1996 (as amended) and the associated Regulations are complied with and to ensure that optimum levels of reduction, re-use and recycling are achieved. The CDWMP is contained with Appendix E to this CEMP.





8. INCIDENT RESPONSE PLAN

The Incident Response Plan (IRP) describes the procedures, lines of authority and processes that will be followed to ensure that incident response efforts are prompt, efficient, and appropriate to particular circumstances. The IRP is contained within Appendix F to this CEMP.

ARUP







9. CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN (CTMP)

The Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) provides the basis for the management of traffic expected during the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development based on the current planning phase of the Proposed Development. This CTMP will be further developed by the Contractor in advance of the commencement of construction and in close liaison with local authorities and other bodies as necessary, to maximise the safety of the workforce and the public, minimise traffic delays and disruptions, while maintaining access to properties, during the Construction Phase.

In addition to the CTMP, the contractor will prepare a Construction Phase mobility management plan (MMP) to ensure that staff movements and the works have as little impact on the surrounding area as reasonably practicable. The MMP will be implemented throughout the Construction Phase to avoid congestion and thus reduce GHG emissions.

Temporary disruption to traffic signals, footpath access and management of pedestrian crossing points will also be addressed by the CTMP. An appropriate information campaign for the duration of the construction works shall be provided by the contractor.

The Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) is contained within Appendix G of this CEMP.







Appendix A: Environmental Impact Assessment Report Chapter 27 (Summary of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures)









CONTENTS

27.	SUMMARY OF MITIGATION & MONITORING MEASURES	1
27.1	Introduction	1
27.2	Mitigation and Monitoring Measures	2
27.	2.1 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Traffic and Transportation	2
27.	2.2 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Population	4
27.	2.3 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Biodiversity	5
27.	2.4 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Land and Soils	. 16
27.	2.5 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Water (including Hydrology & Flood Risk)	. 19
27.	2.6 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Hydrogeology	. 21
27.	2.7 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Air Quality	. 23
27.	2.8 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Climate	. 25
27.	2.9 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Noise & Vibration	. 27
27.	2.10Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Landscape & Visual Amenity	. 33
27.	2.11 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Agricultural Properties	. 36
27.	2.12 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Non-Agricultural Properties	. 37
27.	2.13 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Utilities	. 39
27.	2.14 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Resource & Waste Managemen	t 41
27.	2.15Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Archaeology & Cultural Heritage	. 43
27.	2.16 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Architectural Heritage	. 49
27.	2.17 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Electromagnetic Effects & Stray Current	. 51
27.	2.18Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Human Health	. 52
27.	2.19Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Major Accidents and Disasters	. 53
27.	2.20 Interactions	. 56
27.	2.21Natura Impact Statement	. 56
27.3	References	. 66



ARUP

DART+

tal North

larnród Éireann

27.1 Introduction

NTA

The Transport (Railway Infrastructure) Act 2001 (as amended) provides for the making of a Railway Order application (also referred to herein as "the proposed Project") by Córas Iompair Éireann (CIÉ) to An Bord Pleanála. The European Union (Railway Orders) (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Amendment) Regulations 2021 (S.I. No. 743 of 2021) gives further effect to the transposition of the EIA Directive (EU Directive 2011/92/EU as amended by Directive 2014/52/EU) on the assessment of the effects of certain public and private projects on the environment by amending the Transport (Railway Infrastructure) Act 2001 ('the 2001 Act').

Annex IV (7) of the amended EIA Directive (2014/52/EU) requires: A description of the measures envisaged to avoid, prevent, reduce or, if possible, offset any identified significant adverse effects on the environment and, where appropriate, of any proposed monitoring arrangements (for example the preparation of a post-project analysis). That description should explain the extent, to which significant adverse effects on the environment are avoided, prevented, reduced or offset, and should cover both the Construction and Operational Phases.

This chapter presents a summary of the mitigation and monitoring measures identified as a result of the environmental assessments carried out in the preceding chapters of this EIAR.

From the inception of the design and environmental assessment process of the proposed DART+ Coastal North project (referred to hereafter as the 'Proposed Development') the project team has strived to avoid, prevent, and reduce adverse effects which are incorporated into the design drawings and specifications of the project that have been assessed as part of this EIAR.

Avoidance of impacts is most applicable at the earliest stages of a project, whilst prevention has taken place during the design and environmental assessments process between the design team and EIA team. Mitigation is a last resort and can include a remedy or offsetting of adverse effects. For example, this can apply when projects cannot avoid significant effects due to their need to locate on a particular site, etc.

Where likely significant environmental effects have been identified during the environmental impact assessment process, measures have been proposed to mitigate these effects as much as reasonably possible, with any residual effects identified in the relevant chapters of this EIAR. The objective of this chapter is to provide a central location where all measures from the preceding chapters are presented together for both ease of reference and inclusion in the contract documents at a later stage of the project.

All the mitigation and monitoring commitments described below are incorporated into the Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) submitted as part of this Railway Order application; refer to Volume 4, Appendix A5.1.






27.2 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures

Mitigation and monitoring measures have been identified as environmental commitments and overarching requirements which shall avoid, reduce, or offset potential impacts.

Mitigation and monitoring measures specified within the EIAR technical assessments are provided in Chapter 6 to Chapter 24 of this EIAR. The following tables in section 27.2.1 to 27.2.21 summarise the Construction and Operational Phase mitigation and monitoring measures outlined in the relevant EIAR technical assessments, plus the Natura Impact Statement, and should be read in conjunction with the mitigation outlined in the specific chapter and also with the Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) in Volume 4, Appendix A5.1 of this EIAR.

27.2.1 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Traffic and Transportation

The table below describes the mitigation and monitoring measures identified in Chapter 6 (Traffic and Transportation).

EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Traffic and Transportation
Mitigation Measures	
Construction Phase I	Nitigation
6.6.1.1	Impact of Construction Trips
	Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP)
	The design and development of a Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) will be implemented to be included within the Construction & Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), as outlined in Volume 4, Appendix 5.1 of this EIAR, in order to reduce potential impacts throughout the Construction Phase. Mitigation measures include:
	 Routing of heavy goods vehicles (HGVs) away from sensitive areas such as schools, residential areas, and areas sensitive in terms of air quality.
	 Use of sufficient clear signage to ensure that construction vehicles use only designated routes, such that HGVs refrain from using New Street within Malahide.
	 Scheduled arrival of bulk deliveries and large loads to ensure that traffic congestion does not result from vehicles arriving simultaneously.
	Provision of holding areas to reduce congestion impacts along local roads.
	 Scheduling deliveries before AM peak traffic times, or throughout the day between AM and PM peak traffic periods.
	 Encouraging construction workers to access sites via sustainable modes of transport to reduce the capacity of cars on street and surrounding the compounds, especially in rural construction areas with reduced availability of car parking.
	 Facilitating on-site recycling of materials to reduce vehicle movements for importing and exporting.
	 Keeping access routes clear of construction debris that may create trip hazards for workers and pedestrians.
	 Implementation of wheel washing facilities to prevent deposition of materials and construction related dirt to be deposited on the surrounding road network.
	 Implementation of appropriate traffic management measures to ensure that compound access does not create major disruption.

Table 27-1 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Traffic and Transportation









EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Traffic and Transportation
	• Ensure appropriate vehicles for importing and exporting goods are acquired to minimise environmental impacts and vehicular capacity on the surrounding access roads.
	• A reduction in speed limits in the vicinity of the site may be managed with the use of appropriate signage and will maintain a consistent flow of traffic, especially within the areas of Malahide, Donabate and Drogheda MacBride Stations.
	• All vehicles should be suitably serviced and maintained to avoid leaks of spillages of oil, petrol, diesel, as well as other carbon emissions and combustible materials.
	• Provision of safe footways and cycleways where current infrastructure has been impacted by construction works and vehicular access. Physical barriers and segregated pedestrian movements should be retained throughout the construction process.
	Mobility Management Plan (MMP)
	A MMP will be implemented for the duration of construction and the measures detailed below and will be further developed by the Contractor, in liaison and with the agreement of the relevant local authorities. The Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) (included in the CEMP in Appendix A5.1 of Volume 4 of this EIAR) references the need for a detailed MMP. This MMP will manage trips associated with construction staff. The MMP is set out to achieve the following objectives:
	• To reduce and discourage the use of the private car as the primary means of travel when accessing the Construction Compounds as far as possible within daytime working hours.
	• Promote the use of sustainable modes of transport such as walking, cycling and public transport when travelling to and from the Construction Compounds.
	• To liaise with the Local Authorities, National Transport Authority and larnród Éireann to encourage and facilitate staff active travel take up.
	• To create a unified network of stakeholders to support the constraints outlined within the mitigation measures while accessing the Construction Compounds.
	• To Coordinate with adjacent construction projects in relation to forming a combined and supported Mobility Management Plan.
6.6.1.2	Impact of Road Closures
	A Traffic Management Plan (TMP) will be established to coordinate traffic diversions whenever road closures are necessary, such as the ones in Harbour Road, which will be closed over-night on several occasions or Dublin Road bridge, where work on abutments will require the reduction to a single lane of traffic. Traffic management will be established based on latest regulations to ensure the safety of all road users (including cyclists), pedestrians and mobility impaired people. A safe route will be established as well where footpaths or off-road cycle tracks are affected.
6.6.1.3	Impact on Car Parking
	The contractors and construction workers' vehicles will be parked within the designated areas associated with each compound. While the use of sustainable modes of transport is encouraged, the Mobility Management Plan (MMP) will establish initiatives to manage parking throughout the construction period. It must be ensured that there is no construction related parking on public roads or in areas designated for use by the public.
	In order for train stations to maintain parking efficiency for rail users, larnród Éireann will continue to monitor the amount of parking, where there will be an increased capacity for public parking at the latter stages of construction. Public car parking spaces will be lost at a number of stations, with this temporary loss of car parking primarily in the areas of the railway to be electrified between Malahide and Drogheda. The greatest loss of commuter car parking will occur at Donabate station followed by Drogheda MacBride Station as a result of the Construction Compounds in these facilities.





0

larnród Éireann Irish Rail





EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Traffic and Transportation
	At the Drogheda MacBride Station it is recommended that the contractor be limited to only occupy a maximum of 110 spaces at any one time during the overall period of works, these to be within one or both of the two compounds.
	The contractor will make every effort to reduce the footprint of the compound as the construction programme progresses in order to maximise the number of car parking spaces available to the public.
6.6.1.4	Impact on Rail Network
	Replacement bus services will be provided where rail services are impacted during construction. The functionality of the railway lines is planned to be retained during the works, limiting services to one track at a time (as opposed to full closure) where safe to do so.
6.6.1.5	Impact on Bus Network
	Bus routes impacted in Drogheda (D4, D5, 101, 101X) will be impacted as a result of the proposed bridge modification works and subsequent road closures. Where relevant, bus stops will be temporarily relocated to continue the bus service.
Operational Phase Mi	tigation
6.6.2	Impacts on vehicular traffic and public transport during abnormal highly trafficked days, with potential blocking back of queues from Kilbarrack (Baldoyle Road) and Sutton Level Crossing, are proposed to be mitigated with yellow box markings, which are already provided at all major junctions along Sutton Road and Baldoyle Road.
	Pedestrians and cyclists may also be impacted, for example at Cosh Level Crossing near Burrow Beach. Law enforcement officials will ensure efficient operations on highly trafficked days.
	Commuters living in close proximity to the railway station are encouraged to travel to and from via sustainable transport modes, assisted by good quality infrastructure and an increase in cycle parking facilities and bike lockers.
Monitoring	
	No specific monitoring is required.

27.2.2 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Population

The table below describes the mitigation and monitoring measures identified in Chapter 7 (Population).

Table 27-2 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Population

EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Population
Mitigation Measures	
Construction Phase I	<i>litigation</i>
7.6	 In addition to the design measures included in Chapter 4 (Description of the Proposed Development) and Chapter 5 (Construction Strategy), and to the mitigation proposed in the specialist chapters for Chapter 6 (Traffic and Transportation), Chapter 14 (Noise and Vibration), and Chapter 15 (Landscape and Visual), the following mitigation measures are proposed to be implemented as far as reasonably practicable during the Construction Phase: Portmarnock Walking and Cycle Way - provide flag man at R123 Moyne Road crossing at times of most construction traffic movement;











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Population
Reference	 Howth Junction and Donaghmede - use access points east of tracks where possible to avoid undue impacts on residential estate in Donaghmede; Malahide Village - Adherence to the CTMP, including low limits on HGV speed. Construction traffic access will take place between 10am and 4pm and avoid nighttime; Sea Road, Caves Strand, Yellow Walls Road. Adherence to the CTMP, including low limit on HGV speed. Construction traffic access will take place between 10am and 4pm and avoid nighttime; Sea Road, Caves Strand, Yellow Walls Road. Adherence to the CTMP, including low limit on HGV speed. Construction traffic access will take place between 10am and 4pm and avoid nighttime; Information signage should be provided for the duration of the construction works to provide appropriate information on the nature and duration of works, for cyclists and pedestrians using the Broadmeadow Greenway in the vicinity of works at Malahide; Skerries North, Ardgillan - avoid use of local road by construction traffic during summer weekends and holiday periods where possible; Balbriggan Viaduct - avoid simultaneous closure of both viaduct walkways; Balbriggan - temporarily close playpark during the busier period for construction traffic.
	 Station works - Howth Junction and Donaghmede and Drogheda Stations - provide clear directional signage and access facilities for passengers during works internal to the station, bearing in mind the needs of more sensitive subsets and people with disabilities; and
	 Drogheda - St Mary's Primary School, Meadow View - during term time, provide for facilitated crossing of school children if local road is being used as a diversion for Dublin Road during UBK1 bridge works.
Operational Phase Mi	tigation
7.6	 Operational Phase mitigation measures include: Provide visible security measures within Howth Junction and Donaghmede Station and on the platform extension, for example good lighting, CCTV and panic buttons.
<u>Monitoring</u>	
	No project specific monitoring is proposed in relation to the Population effects.

27.2.3 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Biodiversity

The table below describes the mitigation and monitoring measures identified in Chapter 8 (Biodiversity).

Table 27-3 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Biodiversity

EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Biodiversity
Mitigation Measures	
Construction Phase Mitigation	
8.9.1	Roles and Responsibilities (Framework Measures) A suitably experienced and qualified ecologist (Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW)) will be employed by the appointed contractor to advise on ecological matters during construction, communicate all findings in a timely manner to the IÉ and statutory authorities, acquire any licences or consents required to conduct the work, and supervise and direct the ecological measures associated with the Proposed Development.
8.9.1.1	Designated Areas of Nature Conservation











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Biodiversity
8.9.1.1.1	European Sites
	The mitigation measures that are required to ensure that the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of the European sites within the ZoI are presented in the NIS. The following mitigation measures were developed to address potential impacts that were identified:
	Measures to protect surface water quality during construction;
	 Measures to prevent the spread of non-native invasive species to downstream European sites;
	 Measures to prevent disturbance and displacement of QI/SCI species from European sites; and
	Measures to prevent habitat degradation as a result of changes to air quality.
8.9.1.1.2	National Sites
	The mitigation measures in relation to potential impacts arising from the Proposed Development on pNHAs within the ZoI are as per those for European sites as the boundaries coincide with the SACs and SPAs.
8.9.1.2	Habitats
8.9.1.2.1	Habitats Degradation – Surface Water Quality
	A Surface Water Management Plan (SWMP) is included as part of the Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), this includes measures relating to:
	A requirement for a Pollution Incident Response Plan;
	Construction Compound management including the storage of any fuels and materials;
	Control of Sediments;
	Use of concrete; and
	Management of vehicles and plant including refuelling and wheel wash facilities, etc.
	As well as these generic mitigation measures, other specific mitigation and/or monitoring measures may be required, which will include, but will not be limited to:
	 Works in Flood Zones A and B are avoided where possible. In these areas, the Contractor will be required to provide a method statement for the removal of materials and personnel to minimise sediment discharge into the river and risk to personnel during flood events;
	 Construction works in areas prone to flooding are to take place during dry seasons. The Contractor must follow the weather forecast prior to commencing instream works and concrete pouring. It is noted that track levels for the entirety of the development are well above flood levels.
	 Works areas to be kept dry at all times through the use of bunds of non-erodible material adjacent to watercourses to avoid contaminated water entering the watercourse.
	 Settlement tanks, silt traps/bags and bunds will be used where required to remove silt from surface water runoff. Sizing of the tanks will be based on best available guidelines, CIRIA (2006). Any construction work within a 10m buffer zone must be provided with these measures to minimise sediment discharge to a watercourse;
	 Refuelling of all plant, machinery, and vehicles will be undertaken only in designated areas where leaks and spills are can be contained relatively easily. Spill kits will be made available on all temporary and permanent construction sites. Refuelling areas must be kept at least 50m away from any watercourse, including, but not limited to; estuarine, transitional, and coastal waterbodies;
	 Construction materials to be managed in such a way as to effectively minimise the risk posed to the aquatic environment;
	 Construction Compounds and haul roads will avoid high flood risk zones as much as possible and maintain a minimum buffer of 50m from surface watercourses, and











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Biodiversity
	 Excavated material to be placed in such a way as to avoid any disturbance of areas near to the banks of watercourses and any spillage into the watercourses.
8.9.1.2.2	Habitat Degradation – Groundwater
	The following mitigation measures will be implemented with regard to pollution of soil and groundwater:
	 Good construction management practices as outlined in the CIRIA guidance Control of Water Pollution from Construction Sites – Guidance for consultants and contractors (Masters-Williams et al., 2001) will be employed by the appointed contractor to minimise the risk of transmission of hazardous materials as well as pollution of adjacent watercourses and groundwater. The construction management of the site will take account of these recommendations to minimise as far as possible the risk of soil, groundwater and surface water contamination;
	 Employing only competent and experienced workforce, and site-specific training of site managers, foremen and workforce, including all subcontractors, in pollution risks and preventative measures;
	 Ensure that all areas where liquids (including fuel) are stored, or cleaning is carried out, are in designated impermeable areas that are isolated from the surrounding area and within a secondary containment system, (e.g., by a roll-over bund, raised kerb, ramps or stepped access);
	 The location of any fuel storage facilities will be considered in the design of the Construction Compounds. These are to be designed in accordance with relevant guidelines and codes of best practice at the time of construction and will be fully bunded;
	 Good housekeeping on site (daily site clean-ups, use of disposal bins, etc.) will be applied during the entire Construction Phase;
	 All concrete mixing and batching activities will be located in areas away from watercourses and drains;
	 Potential pollutants will be adequately secured against vandalism in containers in a dedicated secured area;
	• Provision of proper containment of potential pollutants according to codes of best practice;
	 Thorough control will be implemented during the entire Construction Phase to ensure that any spillage is identified at early stage and subsequently effectively contained and managed; and
	 Spill kits will be provided and will be kept close to the storage area and staff will be trained on how to use spill kits correctly.
8.9.1.2.3	Habitat Degradation – Air Quality
	Standard measures to control nuisance dust such as inspection and cleaning of public roads, measures for stockpiling of materials within the Construction Compound, water misting / spraying, vehicle coverings, and hoarding (2.4m in height) around the Construction Compounds and noise sensitive receptors.
8.9.1.2.4	Habitat Degradation – Non-native Invasive Plant Species
	A confirmatory pre-construction non-native invasive species survey will be undertaken by a suitably qualified specialist to confirm the absence and/or extent of all Third Schedule non-native invasive species within the footprint of the Proposed Development.
	The following mitigation measures will be implemented, as required:
	 Where a pre-construction non-native invasive species re-survey has confirmed the presence of previously identified Third Schedule non-native invasive species, or identified newly established non-native invasive species within the footprint of the Proposed











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Biodiversity
	Development, the ISMP produced will provide a detailed description of the infestations (e.g., approximate area of the respective colonies (m2),
	where feasible; approximate total number of stems, pattern of growth and information on other vegetation present), and where necessary, will include calculations of volumes of infested soils to be excavated;
	 The ISMP will be updated following the pre-construction survey as advised by a suitably qualified specialist, with regard to the guidance, on The Management of Invasive Alien Plant Species on National Roads (Technical Guidance) (TII 2020a; 2020b) and other species-specific guidance documents including those listed in the ISMP, as necessary; and
	 IÉ will ensure that all control measures specified in the ISMP will be implemented by a suitably qualified and licensed specialist prior to the construction of the Proposed Development to control the spread of non-native invasive species within the footprint of the Proposed Development. Furthermore, the appointed contractor will adhere to control measures specified within the ISMP throughout the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development.
8.9.1.3	Mammals
8.9.1.3.1	Bats
	Protection of Bats during Vegetation Clearence
	The following mitigation measures will be implemented by the appointed contractor:
	 Retained trees will be fenced off at the outset of works (i.e., at compounds and substations), and for the duration of construction to avoid structural damage to the trunk, branches, or root system of the tree which could disturb roosting bats. Temporary fencing will be erected at a sufficient distance from the tree so as to enclose the Root Protection Area (RPA) of the tree. The RPA will be defined based upon the recommendation of a qualified arborist;
	 Where fencing is not feasible due to insufficient space, protection for the tree will be afforded by wrapping hessian sacking (or suitable equivalent) around the trunk and strapping stout buffer timbers around it;
	 The area within the RPA will not be used for vehicle parking or the storage of materials (including soils, oils, and chemicals). The storage of hazardous materials (e.g., hydrocarbons) or concrete washout areas will not be undertaken within 10m of any retained trees, hedgerows, and tree lines;
	 A qualified arborist engaged by the appointed contractor will assess the condition of, and advise on any repair works necessary to, any trees which are to be retained or that lie outside of the Proposed Development footprint but whose RPA is impacted by the works; and
	 All trees and vegetation to be retained within and adjoining the works area will be protected in accordance with the British Standard Institution (BSI) British Standard (BS) 5837:2012 'Trees in relation to in relation to design, demolition, and construction - Recommendations' (BSI 2012).
	 Works required within the root protection area (RPA) of trees to be retained will follow a project-specific arboricultural methodology for such works, which will be prepared by a professional qualified arborist.
	 In addition to the above the following bat specific mitigation measures (in relation to vegetation clearance) will be implemented by the appointed contractor:











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Biodiversity
	 Where the qualified arborist engaged by the appointed contractor is required to assess the condition of, and advise on any repair works necessary to, any trees which are to be retained, these will be notified to the appointed ecologist to be surveyed to confirm if these trees have potential roost features (PRFs) or have developed PRF(s) during the interim between the surveys and grant of planning.
	Where trees with PRF(s) require works including removal for example due to poor condition, they will be subject to mitigation as described below, under the PRF Re- Appraisal; and
	 There will be no additional lighting within 5m of any tree with PRFs during the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development to avoid potential disturbance to roosting bats, as far as reasonably p ractical, but will not involve direct lighting on any roost features.
	Roost Loss
	Where reasonably practicable the removal of trees, and modifications of bridges (i.e., parapet modifications, or any other structural works), with PRFs, will occur only between April – May, and September – October to avoid the most sensitive time periods for bats (i.e., during breeding season and hibernation). However, to ensure the protection of bats and if the project timeframe does not allow for this, the following mitigation will be undertaken.
	PRF Re-Appraisal (First Step of Pre-Construction Survey)
	A pre-construction survey of all trees being removed, and of all bridges with bat roosting potential, to rechecked for PRFs will be undertaken by an experienced bat specialist/ecologist engaged by the IÉ as part of the pre-construction surveys. The survey will:
	Confirm trees due for removal with PRFs;
	 Confirm PRFs identified in bridges are still suitable for roosting bats and have not become unsuitable in the meantime (i.e., become inundated with water or filled etc.).
	Pre-Construction Survey for trees
	In the event that additional PRFs are detected during the pre-construction survey, it is recommended that:
	 In advance of any clearance, all trees deemed to contain PRFs which are subject to felling / clearance will be checked for the presence of bats by a suitably qualified / licensed bat specialist (using an endoscope);
	 In the event that bats are found on the Proposed Development site during construction works such as vegetation clearance, works will immediately cease in that area and the local NPWS Conservation Ranger will be contacted;
	 An application will then be made to the NPWS for a derogation licence seeking to permit actions affecting bats or their roosts that would normally be prohibited by law;
	 After licence approval from the NPWS (which may include the necessity for additional mitigation measures to those recommended here) bats may be removed by a bat specialist licensed to handle bats and released in the area in the evening following capture; and
	 Only then will PRF trees be felled, and this should be undertaken 'in sections' where the section can be handled to avoid sudden movements or jarring of the sections.
	Pre-Construction Survey for Bridges
	Bridges where proposed works are being undertaken, i.e., demolition at bridge OBB80/80A/80B, parapet modifications, and track lowering beneath bridges, and that have been deemed to have the potential for roosting bats (as described above) by virtue of having potential bat roosting features, will require a pre-construction survey.
	The following mitigation measures will be followed for the aforementioned bridges with bat roosting potential:
	 The night prior to the start of works, a bat activity survey will be undertaken to ensure no roosting bats are present. A suitably qualified and experienced ecologist must carry out











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Biodiversity
	one bat emergence and one bat re-entry survey during the active bat season (generally taken as mid-April to mid-September inclusive).
	 Where a bat roost is encountered, all relevant works will cease and an application for a derogation licence shall be submitted by the suitably qualified/licenced bat specialist to the NPWS to seek permission for the removal of the roost.
	Habitat Loss and Fragmentation
	Where practicable, habitats of importance to bats such as scattered trees and parkland, tree line and hedgerow habitat types, which lie within the footprint, or along the boundary of the Proposed Development, that are not directly impacted by the Proposed Development will be retained. These areas will be protected for the duration of construction works and fenced off at an appropriate distance.
	Disturbance of Flight Patterns / Foraging Routes as a result of Lighting Impacts
	The appointed contractor in liaison with the suitably qualified licensed ecologist(s) will ensure that lighting at the Construction Compounds, and active work areas in proximity to known bat activity, will be designed, and installed to minimise light spill and be cognisant of light-spill onto these areas. Mitigation measures to reduce light spill will include the following:
	The use of sensor / timer triggered lighting;
	 LED luminaires to be used where practicable due to their sharp cut-off, lower intensity, good colour rendition and dimming capability;
	Column heights to be considered to minimise light spill; and
	 Accessories such as baffles, hoods or louvres can be used to reduce light spill and direct it only where needed. Where night-time works are required, the appointed contractor will liaise with the engaged suitably experienced and qualified ecologist(s) and implement measures to mitigate the impact of such works.
8.9.1.3.2	Badger
	Disturbance/Displacement
	Pre-confirmatory pre-construction check will be required of all suitable badger habitat, completed within 12 months prior to any construction works commencing.
	Protection of Badgers from Accidental Harm during Construction (Excavations)
	To protect badgers from indirect harm during construction, where practicable, open excavations will be covered when not in use and backfilled as soon as practicable by the appointed contractor. Excavations will also be covered at night, or fenced off where practicable, and any deep excavations which must be left open will have appropriate egress ramps in place to allow badgers to safely exit should they fall in.
8.9.1.3.3	Otter
	Otters are known to occur in the vicinity of the Proposed evelopment, likely across some watercourses in the vicinity of the Proposed Development. Given the ecological sensitivity of these watercourses in particular, the appointed contractor will engage a suitably qualified and/or licensed ecologist to oversee and advise works at watercourse crossings during construction to communicate all findings in a timely manner to IÉ and statutory authorities, to acquire any licences or consents required to conduct the work, and to supervise and direct the ecological measures associated with the Proposed Development.
	Where a newly established otter holt is encountered, within 150 meters (up and downstream) of a watercourse crossing, the qualified ecologist(s) will consult with the NPWS in conjunction with IÉ and the appointed contractor. The qualified ecologist will review method statements; oversee works; provide instruction to the appointed contractor(s), deliver toolbox talks and temporarily halt works, if, and as, necessary, having conferred with IÉ.











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Biodiversity
	Loss of Breeding/Resting Sites
	IÉ will ensure that a confirmatory pre-construction check of all suitable otter habitat will be completed by a suitably qualified ecologist within 12-month period prior to any construction works commencing.
	Where any new active holts/couches are recorded within 150m of the Proposed Development the appointed ecologist will ensure that adequate mitigation is provided in accordance with Guidelines for the Treatment of Otters Prior to the Construction of National Road Schemes (TII, 2006), and a derogation licence is sought from the NPWS where necessary.
	Precautionary Mitigation measures for new active holts/couches recorded within 150m of the <u>Proposed Development</u>
	Until such time as otters have been successfully evacuated from active holts, the following provisions will apply to all construction works:
	No works will be undertaken within 150m of any holts at which breeding females or cubs are present. Until consultation with NPWS, works closer to such breeding holts may take place - provided appropriate mitigation measures detailed below are in place;
	No wheeled or tracked vehicles (of any kind) will be used within 20m of active, but non-breeding, otter holts. Light work, such as digging by hand or scrub clearance should also not take place within 15m of such holts, except under licence; and
	The prohibited working area associated with otter holts will where appropriate, be fenced with temporary fencing prior to any possibly invasive works. Fencing will be in accordance with Clause 303 of the TII's Specification for Roadworks (TII 2011). Appropriate awareness of the purpose of the enclosure will be conveyed through notification to site staff and sufficient signage should be placed on each exclusion fence. All contractors or operators on site will be made fully aware of the procedures pertaining to each affected holt.
	Habitat Degradation/Reduced Prey Availability – Water Quality
	A SWMP has been prepared (provided in Appendix A5.1 – CEMP in Volume 4 of this EIAR), which details control and management measures for avoiding, preventing, or reducing any significant adverse impacts on the surface water environment during the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development. Specific mitigation measures which the appointed contractor will implement in relation to surface water quality are described in Chapter 10 (Water).
	Disturbance/Displacement
	Security lighting in active works areas in close proximity to watercourses with known otter activity will be designed in conjunction with a suitably qualified ecologist to minimise light spill. Similarly, where any new or amended lighting design is required at a watercourse crossing, it should be cognisant of downward light-spill onto watercourses. Measures to reduce light spill may include the following:
	The use of sensor/timer triggered lighting;
	LED luminaires should be used where possible due to their sharp cut-off, lower intensity, good colour rendition and dimming capability;
	Column heights should be considered to minimise light spill; and
	Accessories such as baffles, hoods or louvres can be used to reduce light spill and direct it only where needed.
	To prevent otter mortality/injury during operation, an otter tunnel will be constructed in Malahide Estuary, where the River Pill/Turvey flows under the railway line. During construction, there is potential for disturbance/displacement of otters from this location and in the surrounding area. To prevent disturbance and/or displacement of otters, the above mitigation (i.e., pre-construction checks along the watercourse for any active holts/resting place, and subsequent mitigation should they be identified), will apply in this case.











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Biodiversity
	Direct Injury/Mortality
	To prevent otter mortality/injury during operation, an otter tunnel will be constructed in Malahide Estuary, where the River Pill/Turvey flows under the railway line. During construction, there is potential for disturbance/displacement of otters from this location and in the surrounding area.
	To prevent disturbance and/or displacement of otters, the above mitigation (i.e. pre-construction checks along the watercourse for any active holts/resting place, and subsequent mitigation should they be identified), will apply in this case.
	Full details of the construction of this pipe are include in Section 5.5.7 of Chapter 5 of the EIAR, Construction Strategy. The proposed otter crossing in Malahide where the River Pill/Turvey flows under the railway, will comprise a 600mm diameter pipe (as per TII guidance 2006c) which will pass beneath the railway close to Underbridge UBB31. The pipe will have a crossfall over its length and the pipe has been set at a level to avoid flooding from high tides. At either end of the pipe, an otter-proof fence will extend for at least 100m in each direction, to encourage the otters to make use of the crossing. The fence is partially buried to prevent the otters from burrowing beneath.
8.9.1.3.4	Marine Mammals
	Habitat and Food Source Degradation – Water Quality
	A SWMP has been prepared (provided in Appendix A5.1 – CEMP in Volume 4 of this EIAR), which details control and management measures for avoiding, preventing, or reducing any significant adverse impacts on the surface water environment during the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development. Specific mitigation measures which the appointed contractor will implement in relation to surface water quality are described in Chapter 10 (Water).
8.9.1.3.5	Other Mammals
	The Construction Phase of the Proposed Development is not deemed to affect the local populations of other small, protected mammal species and will not result in a significant negative effect, at any geographic scale. No additional mitigation is proposed other than the following:
	 A SWMP has been prepared (provided in Appendix A5.1 – CEMP in Volume 4 of this EIAR), which details control and management measures for avoiding, preventing, or reducing any significant adverse impacts on the surface water environment during the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development. Specific mitigation measures which the appointed contractor will implement in relation to Surface Water quality are described in Chapter 10 (Water).
	• Where possible, habitats of importance providing refuge / shelter to other protected mammals such as scattered trees and parkland, scrub, tree line and hedgerow habitat types, which lie within the footprint, or along the boundary of the Proposed Development, that are not directly impacted will be retained. These areas will be protected for the duration of construction works and fenced off at an appropriate distance. Similar to the mitigation for breeding birds, tree removal, particularly where understorey vegetation is abundant will be undertaken outside of the bird nesting season, but as late in the wintering season (e.g., February) so as to give small resting mammals such as hedgehog that might be hibernating a chance at moving.
8.9.1.3.6	Birds
	Breeding Birds
	Habitat Loss and Fragmentation
	Where possible, habitats of importance to breeding birds such as scattered trees and parkland,
	treeline and hedgerow habitat types, which lie within the footprint, or along the boundary of the Proposed Development, that are not directly impacted will be retained. These areas will be protected for the duration of construction works and fenced off at an appropriate distance.
	Planting of treeline, hedgerow and grassland habitats within the Proposed Development footprint will be carried out by the appointed contractor, as detailed in the landscape drawings.











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Biodiversity
	Mortality Risk
	Where reasonably practicable, vegetation (e.g., hedgerows, trees, scrub, bankside vegetation and grassland) will not be removed, between the 01 March and the 31 August, to avoid potential direct impacts on nesting birds.
	Where the construction programme does not allow this seasonal restriction to be observed, then these areas will be inspected by a suitably qualified ecologist as engaged by the appointed contractor, for the presence of breeding birds prior to clearance.
	Areas found not to contain nests will be cleared within three days of the nest survey, otherwise repeat surveys will be required. Vegetation clearance will not commence where nests are present, works will resume when birds have fledged, and nests are no longer in use.
	<u>Disturbance/Displacement</u>
	Vegetation clearance undertaken in the appropriate time (i.e. outside of the breeding bird season) should ensure that breeding birds have adequate time in which to identify alternative vegetation in which to establish nests.
	To minimise disturbance and/or displacement to breeding birds from noise and vibration activities the relevant mitigation measures as described in Chapter 14 (Noise & Vibration) will be implemented by the appointed contractor.
	Wintering Birds
	<u>Measures to Prevent Disturbance and Displacement Impacts to non-SCI Birds Due to Vegetation</u> Loss During Construction
	Where practicable, the removal of screening or overhanging vegetation (e.g., hedgerows, trees, scrub, bankside vegetation and grassland) will be undertaken outside of the breeding bird season (01 March to the 31 August) and before the arrival of the wintering birds at the start of October. This is particularly relevant for areas of highly suitable habitat for wintering birds, i.e., the estuaries along the Proposed Development (Malahide Estuary, Rogerstown Estuary, Nanny Estuary). However, where the construction programme does not allow these seasonal restrictions to be observed, then these areas will be inspected by a suitable qualified ecologist as engaged by
	the appointed contractor, for the presence of wintering birds prior to clearance.
	appointed the contractor, advise how works will be appropriately undertaken.
	Where a site Construction Compound is required, its location relative to the Proposed Development is likely to be adjacent to the potential foraging areas. The appointed contractor will undertake the establishment of the following Construction Compounds outside of the wintering bird season (October to March):
	CC-16100 Malahide (Caves Strand)
	CC-15900W Malahide (Bissets Strand)
	CC-52050, CC-51800, CC-51900 Drogheda Substation/Compounds
	CC-44900 Laytown Construction Compound
	CC-32200 Skerries Substation/Compound
	CC 40200 Gormanston Construction Compound
	In addition, the Construction Compound in Malahide (CC-16100 Caves Strand), and the utilities compound in Laytown (CC- 44390E) will only be in use outside of the wintering bird season (October to March, inclusive) to ensure there are no disturbance related impacts to wintering birds foraging and roosting in the surrounding habitats.
	As a further precautionary measures, the design of the lighting will ensure that light-spill will not occur in the direction of any adjacent fields. Mitigation measures to reduce light spill will include the following:
	The use of sensor/timer triggered lighting;
	LED luminaires to be used where practicable;









EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Biodiversity			
	Column heights to be considered to minimise light spill; and			
	 Accessories such as baffles, hoods or louvres to be used to reduce light spill and direct it only where needed. 			
8.9.1.3.7	Reptiles			
	No reptile species were recorded during the multi-disciplinary surveys carried out along the Proposed Development. The Construction Phase of the Proposed Development is not deemed to affect the local reptile population and will not result in a significant negative effect, at any geographic scale. However, mitigation is provided to avoid harm/injury to reptiles that may be using the railway line and verges.			
	Temporary Fencing			
	Temporary fencing (such as bitumen felt, tin, carpet tiles, or bitumen onduline) can be used to deter reptiles from moving into areas where development could cause damage to them. The fencing should be structured to ensure that reptiles cannot pass under, over, or through the fence, by ensuring the fencing is buried deep into the ground, and is high enough so reptiles cannot jump over. Temporary fencing is only required in areas where extensive works are taking place (i.e. where OHLE supports are being installed within railway ballast).			
	Capture Methods			
	Prior to reptile mitigation methods, such as translocation, reptiles may need to be captured if they do not leave the area on their own accord. The best time to capture reptiles is between March and September and they should not be captured during autumn, in extreme weather conditions, or when they are hibernating. Capturing heavily gravid reptiles will also be avoided. Reptiles will be moved to an area of suitable reptile habitat not at risk from the works outside of the reptile fencing.			
	Capture methods can involve the following:			
	 Use of artificial refuges, such as roofing felt; 			
	 Reduction of the amount of suitable habitat. This will help to concentrate the reptiles into specific areas to make it easier to capture them; and 			
	Using dismantled rubble, rock, or wood piles as refuges to capture the reptiles.			
	Translocation			
	Translocation should be undertaken as a last resort and involves moving the reptiles to an alternative location. The new receptor site should be suitable for reptiles and should be as close as possible to the original development site. The receptor site should also be at least the same size as the original habitat, and better quality, where possible.			
	If the receptor site has an existing species of reptiles, a small number of reptiles may be introduced to the existing population as long as the habitat has been improved to be able to support the additional reptiles.			
8.9.1.3.8	Amphibians			
	<u>Habitat Degradation – Surface Water Quality</u>			
	A SWMP has been prepared (provided in Appendix A5.1 – CEMP in Volume 4 of this EIAR), which details control and management measures for avoiding, preventing, or reducing any significant adverse impacts on the surface water environment during the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development. Specific mitigation measures which the appointed contractor will implement in relation to surface water quality are described in Chapter 10 (Water).			
8.9.1.3.9	Fish			
	Habitat Degradation – Surface Water Quality			
	A SWMP has been prepared (provided in Appendix A5.1 – CEMP in Volume 4 of this EIAR), which details control and management measures for avoiding, preventing, or reducing any significant adverse impacts on the surface water environment during the Construction Phase of			











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Biodiversity			
	the Proposed Development. Specific mitigation measures which the appointed contractor will implement in relation to surface water quality are described in Chapter 10 (Water).			
Operational Phase N	<u>Aitigation</u>			
8.9.2.1	Designated Areas for Nature Conservation			
8.9.2.1.1	European Sites			
	Measures to protect surface water quality during operation;			
	 Measures to prevent the spread of non-native invasive species to downstream European sites; and 			
	Measures to prevent direct injury/mortality.			
8.9.2.1.2	National Sites			
	The mitigation measures outlined in Section 8.9.1.1.1, and as detailed in the NIS (which accompanies the application for a Railway Order), will prevent the Proposed Development resulting in a significant negative effect on these pNHAs and NHAs.			
8.9.2.2	Habitats			
8.9.2.2.1	Habitat Degradation – Surface Water Quality			
	Measures to control the risk of flooding and contamination to local waterbodies and the hydrological environment have been included within the design of the Proposed Development. Maintenance of the railway and substations will be on-going to ensure the risks are minimised during the Operational Phase.			
8.9.2.2.2	Habitat Degradation – Groundwater			
	In the Operational Phase the infrastructure will be maintained by IÉ and will be subject to their management procedures to ensure that the correct measures are taken in the event of any accidental spillages, and this will reduce the potential for any impact.			
8.9.2.2.3	Habitat Loss			
	Whilst the habitat loss of the Proposed Development was not deemed to be significant at any geographic scale during the Construction or Operational Phase, an area of habitat adjacent to the Proposed Development (to the east of the existing user worked level crossing (XB001) in Malahide Estuary which is being closed – i.e. no future access to third parties). This area will be left as a wildlife refuge during construction and operation and will no longer be used for agricultural use. As some management is required so the area does not become overcome with rank and fast-growing grasses, less intensive maintenance will be required on a yearly basis, such as:			
	 Staggering cutting regime to allow small mammals to move freely through the site; 			
	 Once a year mowing of grassland to reduce the dominance of rank, perennial grass species which will encourage more plant diversity to develop, and allow flowering and seed heads to be retained for pollinators; 			
	Some areas left in winter in order to provide cover and food sources for local birds;			
	No use of pesticides and herbicides.			
	More details on the management of this area can be found in Appendix A8.9 in Volume 4 of this EIAR.			
8.9.2.3	Mammals			











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Biodiversity
8.9.2.3.3	Otter
	Habitat Degradation – Surface Water Quality
	For mitigation to avoid the effects of habitat degradation as a result of impacts on surface water quality on otter, refer to Section 8.9.2.1.1.
	Direct Injury/Mortality
	The proposed otter crossing in Malahide where the River Pill/Turvey flows under the railway, will comprise a 600mm diameter pipe which will pass beneath the railway close to Underbridge UBB31. The pipe will have a crossfall over its length and the pipe has been set at a level to avoid flooding from high tides. At either end of the pipe, an otter proof fence will extend for 100m in each direction, to encourage the otters to make use of the crossing. The fence is partially buried to prevent the otters from burrowing beneath.
8.9.2.3.4	Marine Mammals
	Habitat Degradation – Surface Water Quality
	For mitigation to avoid the effects of habitat degradation as a result of impacts on surface water quality on marine mammals, refer to Section 8.9.2.1.1.
8.9.2.3.6	Birds
	Breeding Birds
	Habitat Degradation – Surface Water Quality
	For mitigation to avoid the effects of habitat degradation as a result of impacts on surface water quality on breeding birds, please refer to Section 8.9.2.1.1.
	Wintering Birds
	Habitat Degradation – Surface Water Quality
	For mitigation to avoid the effects of habitat degradation as a result of impacts on surface water quality on wintering bird species, please refer to Section 8.9.2.1.1.
	Direct Injury/Mortality
	For mitigation to avoid the effects of direct injury/mortality to wintering bird species, please refer to Section 8.9.2.1.1.
	Amphibians
	Habitat Degradation- Surface Water Quality
	For mitigation to avoid the effects of habitat degradation as a result of impacts on surface water quality on amphibians, please refer to Section 8.9.2.1.1.
	Fish
	<u>Habitat Degradation – Surface Water Quality</u>
	For mitigation to avoid the effects of habitat degradation as a result of impacts on surface water quality on fish, please refer to Section 8.9.2.1.1.
<u>Monitoring</u>	
	Ongoing long term maintenance of and management of an area of habitat north of Malahide/ south of Donabate is required as per Appendix A8.9 in Volume 4 of this EIAR.

27.2.4 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Land and Soils

The table below describes the mitigation and monitoring measures identified in Chapter 9 (Land and Soils).











Table 27-4 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Land and Soils

EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Land and Soils			
Mitigation Measures	s			
Construction Phase	Construction Phase Mitigation			
9.8.1	A Construction & Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) as outlined in Volume 4, Appendix A5.1 of this EIAR, will be updated by the successful Main Contractor. The CEMP will set out the Contractor's overall management and administration of the construction project. It will be prepared by the Contractor during the pre-Construction Phase to ensure commitments included in the statutory approvals are adhered to and that it integrates the requirements of the CEMP including management of Construction & Demolition Waste. The mitigation measures will be implemented by the appointed Main Contractor(s). These include the best practice measures and the site-specific mitigation measures outlined below.			
9.8.1.1	Loss or Damage of Topsoil			
	During the Construction Phase, mitigation measures will include:			
	 Excavated topsoil's will be stockpiled using appropriate methods to minimise effects of weathering; 			
	Minimization of dust generation, groundwater infiltration and generation of runoff;			
	 Topsoil and subsoil to be assessed for re-use ensuring appropriate handling, processing, and segregation of material; and 			
	 All excavated material and imported material to be classified using the same methodology allowing opportunity for reuse of materials on site. 			
9.8.1.2	Effect on the surrounding ground			
	All earthworks and piling works will be undertaken in accordance with project-specific engineering specifications ensuring that all works are completed to the design requirements, including:			
	 Particular piling specification: this document will set out particulars of all piling works associated with the construction of the proposed works. In particular minimum criteria for piling, acceptable materials and testing will be specified. 			
	 Particular earthworks specification: this document will set out the requirements during the Construction Phase in relation to any excavation or filling activities for the project. In particular minimum criteria for earthwork formations, acceptable materials and material disposal will be specified. 			
	 Particular instrumentation and monitoring specification; where excavation or piling works may affect the alignment of the operational railway tracks or the condition of the surrounding structures/assets, instrumentation will be installed, and monitoring completed during the works to confirm the ground response such that appropriate actions can be carried out during the construction stage to maintain movements within the acceptable design limits. 			
9.8.1.3	Excavation of Potentially Contaminated Ground			
	Once construction works start, excavations will be kept to a minimum, using shoring or trench boxes where appropriate. Excavation of contaminated ground will be minimised with excavation support measures in accordance with all relevant guidelines.			
	The appointed contractor will be responsible for regular testing of excavated soils to monitor the suitability of the soil for reuse.			
	Suspected contaminated ground will be tested for contamination during ground investigation and ground excavated in the area disposed of to a suitably licensed or permitted site in accordance with Irish Waste Management legislation.			











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Land and Soils		
	The appointed contractor shall issue copies of all waste disposal receipts/records to the Employers Representative/IÉ for the duration of works.		
9.8.1.4	Pollution of Soil		
	Mitigation measures will be implemented to minimise potential soil and water pollution by the implementation of good construction practises such as:		
	Good housekeeping (daily site clean-ups, use of disposal bins, etc.);		
	 All activities involving the use of potential pollutants or hazardous materials such as concrete, fuels, lubricants, and hydraulic fluids will be carefully handled and stored to avoid spillages; 		
	 Adequate bunding for oil containers, wheel washers and dust suppression on site roads; and 		
	Regular plant maintenance.		
	An Emergency Response Plan will be drawn prior to commencement of works, identifying the actions to be taken in the event of a pollution incident. Further detail can be found in the CEMP in Appendix A5.1 in Volume 4 of this EIAR. The Emergency Response Plan will include:		
	• Secure oil and chemical storage in over-ground bunded areas, limited to the minimum volume required to serve immediate needs with specified delivery and refuelling areas;		
	• No refuelling or fuel storage within 50m of waterways and only on a sealed surface;		
	 Emergency spill kits will be retained at sensitive locations, with portable kits provided to plant and equipment operators; Cessation of work and development of measures to contain and/or remove pollutant should an incident be identified; 		
	Silt traps will be employed and maintained in appropriate locations;		
	• Temporary interception bunds and drainage ditches will be constructed up slope of excavations to minimise surface runoff ingress and in advance of excavation activities; and		
	• Excavation and earthworks will be suspended during and immediately following periods of heavy rainfall to minimise sediment generation and soil damage.		
Operational Phase M	itigation		
9.8.2	No additional mitigation measures for land and soils are considered necessary for the operation of the Proposed Development.		
	In the Operational Phase the infrastructure will be maintained by larnród Éireann and will be subject to their management procedures to ensure that the correct measures are taken in the event of any accidental spillages. This will reduce the potential for any impact.		
Decommissioning Pl	hase Mitigation		
9.8.3	The mitigation measures outlined for the Construction Phase, will be applied as appropriate, during any future decommissioning (as appropriate).		
Monitoring			
9.8.1.2	Monitoring measures include the use of a qualified person to ensure that any hotspots of possible encountered contamination, regarding excavations made in ground, are properly identified, segregated, and disposed of appropriately. Care will be taken ensuring that no cross-contamination occurs on clean soils throughout the site.		





27.2.5 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Water (including Hydrology & Flood Risk)

The table below describes the mitigation and monitoring measures for Chapter 10 (Water (including Hydrology and Flood Risk)).

Table 27-5Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Water (including Hydrology and Flood
Risk)

EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Water (including Hydrology and Flood Risk)			
Mitigation Measures				
Construction Phase M	<u>Aitigation</u>			
10.9.1.1	Generic Mitigation Measures			
	A Surface Water Management Plan (SWMP) will be included as part of the Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), refer to Appendix A5.1 in Volume 4 of this EIAR. Mitigation measures include:			
	A requirement for a Pollution Incident Response Plan;			
	Construction Compound management including the storage of any fuels and materials;			
	Control of sediments;			
	Use of concrete;			
	Management of vehicles and plant including refuelling and wheel wash facilities, etc.			
	Other specific mitigation measures may be required, such as:			
	 Works in Flood Zones A and B are avoided where possible. In these areas, the Contractor will be required to provide appropriate mitigation measures within a method statement for the removal of materials to minimise sediment discharge into the nearest watercourse; 			
	• Construction works in areas prone to flooding are to take place during dry seasons. The Contractor must follow the weather forecast prior to commencing instream works and concrete pouring. It is noted that track levels for the entirety of the development are well above flood levels.			
	Works areas will be kept dry as far as reasonably practicable;			
	 Bunds of non-erodible material will be used adjacent to watercourses to avoid contaminated water entering the watercourse as far as reasonably practicable; 			
	 Settlement tanks, silt traps/bags and bunds will be used where required to remove silt from surface water runoff. Sizing of the tanks will be based on best available guidelines, CIRIA (2006). Any construction work within a 10m buffer zone must be provided with these measures to minimise sediment discharge to a watercourse; 			
	• Weather conditions to be checked by the Contractor and coordinated with any planning construction activities in order to minimise surface water runoff from the site.			
	 Refuelling of all plant, machinery, and vehicles will be undertaken only in designated areas where leaks and spills are can be contained relatively easily. Spill kits will be made available on all temporary and permanent construction sites. Refuelling areas must be kept at least 50m away from any watercourse; 			
	 Construction materials to be managed in such a way as to effectively minimise the risk posed to the aquatic environment; 			
	 Construction Compounds and haul roads will avoid high flood risk zones as much as possible and maintain a minimum buffer of 50m from surface watercourses, and 			
	• Excavated material to be placed in such a way as to avoid any disturbance of areas near to the banks of watercourses and any spillage into the watercourses.			











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Water (including Hydrology and Flood Risk)						
Operational Phase Mi	tigation						
10.9.2	Maintenance of the railway and su during the Operational Phase. Mai best practice procedures to ensure	bstations w ntenance a e that no ad	rill be on-go ctivities will ditional risk	ing to ensu be in acco s to waterb	re the risks rdance with odies are e	are minim Iarnród É ncountere	iised ireann d.
	larnród Éireann flood risk manager include:	ment opera	tional proce	edures will	be impleme	nted, thes	е
	CCE-TMS-311 - Irish Rail V	Veather Ma	anagement	Procedures	s (2017);		
	CCE-TEB-2014-05 - Guidal Weather Events; and	nce On Ale	rts And Ser	vice Restri	ctions Durin	g Adverse	•
	• CME-TMS-001-008 - Opera	ation Of IE	RU Rolling	Stock On F	looded Tra	ck (2016).	
	These procedures specify how larr	nród Éirean	in:				
	Monitors and disseminates	applicable	weather wa	rnings fron	n Met Éireai	nn;	
	 Prepares and implements loweather events; 	ocal weathe	er managen	nent plans	for predicted	d adverse	
	 Sets out recommended floo tracks; and 	od level limi	ts for their r	olling stock	c passing ov	ver flooded	l
	 Sets out actions to be unde water alerts are issued. 	rtaken by c	luty manage	ers, drivers	, signallers	etc when I	nigh
	conditions. It is important to note the do so by larnród Éireann's Infrastru procedure for the EMU is the top o 170mm deep from ground level.	nat no trains ucture Depa f the railwa 22000	s may opera artment. Th y track. A ty 29000	ate over flo e maximun vpical railwa 2600	oded track (n limit identi ay track is a	Intil permi fied within pproximat	tted to the ely
		0700		2800			
	Top of rail+170mm	STUP	STUP				I .
	Top of rail+100mm	Smph (8kph)	Smph (Biph)	STOP	STOP		
	Top of rail	5mph (8kph)	Smph (Bkph)	Smph (8kph)	Smph (8kph)	STOP	
	0	5mph (8kph)	Smph (8kph)	Smph (8kph)	Smph (8kph)	Smph (Skph)	Ε
	Half rail height	Line Speed	Line Speed	Line Speed	Line Speed	Smph (8kph)	170m
		Line Speed	Line Speed	Line Speed	Line Speed	Line Speed	Approx.
	Image 27-1 Iarnród Éireann RU	Rolling St Cor	tock Operandition	ting Proce	edure on Fl	ooded Tra	ack











EIAR Section Reference	Dese	cription of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Water (including Hydrology and Flood Risk)			
<u>Monitoring</u>					
10.9.3	Wate proxin as a l from samp result Mana comp inves action It is e waten for in used The c Deve atten recor	r quality monitoring should be undertaken in the surface water bodies located in the nity of construction works and sensitive watercourses. Monthly samples have been taken baseline prior to commencement of the Construction Phase. Sampling should continue the start of the Construction Phase until at least 12 months post-completion. Additional ling points can be added if required, determined by the Site Environmental Manager. The s of the water quality monitoring programme will be reviewed by the Site Environmental ger on an ongoing basis during the Construction Phase. In the event of any non-liance with regulatory limits for any of the water quality parameters monitored, an tigation will be undertaken to identify the source of this non-compliance and corrective to will be taken where this is deemed to be associated with the Proposed Development. Expected that the OPW and EPA will continue to monitor water levels in the 11no. bodies listed below in Table 27-6. The Marine Institute also has a tidal gauge at Dublin which can be monitored. Sea level rise and freeboard have been assessed and accounted the design, however, any unforeseen changes identified in continued monitoring can be to inform and update the scheme design and considered on a case-by-case basis. Irrainage systems including new underground attenuation tanks serving the Proposed lopment must continue to function as designed. Maintenance of the new underground uation tanks and other drainage features will be in accordance with manufacturer mmendations.			
	No.	Water Body Name	Monitoring Location		
	1	Balcunnin	Balcunnin Featherbed Lane, Co. Dublin		
	2	Betaghstown	Ardmore Ave, Betaghstown, Co. Meath		
	3	Betaghstown	ghstown Betaghstown, Ministown. Co. Meath		
	4	Boyne River River Boyne, Drogheda			
	5	Matt/Bracken River	Matt/Bracken River Balbriggan Harbour, Balbriggan		
	6	Mayne River	Mayne River Grange, Co. Dublin		
	7	Nanny River	Nanny River Nanny Car Park, Corballis, Laytown		
	8	Palmerstown	Palmerstown House. Horsetown		
	9	Palmerstown	Palmerstown Effelstown Farm, Lusk, Co. Dublin		
	10	Pill/Turvey River	River Pill/Turvey		
	11	Tolka River Tolka River, E Wall			

27.2.6 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Hydrogeology

The table below describes the mitigation and monitoring measures for Chapter 11 (Hydrogeology).









Table 27-7 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Hydrogeology

EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Hydrogeology		
Mitigation Measures			
11.8	A Construction & Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) as outlined in Volume 4, Appendix A5.1 of this EIAR, will be updated by the successful Main Contractor. The CEMP will set out the Contractor's overall management and administration of the construction project. It will be prepared by the Contractor during the pre-Construction Phase to ensure commitments included in the statutory approvals are adhered to and that it integrates the requirements of the CEMP including management of Construction & Demolition Waste. The mitigation measures will be implemented by the appointed Main Contractor(s). These include the best practice measures and the site-specific mitigation measures as they relate to hydrogeology are outlined below.		
Construction Phase M	<u>Aitigation</u>		
11.8.1	Damage to the aquifer or sites designated for environmental protection including hydro- ecology due to accidental spills		
	Good construction management practices will be employed to minimise the risk of transmission of hazardous materials and subsequent pollution of adjacent watercourses or groundwater. Mitigation measures will include:		
	 Employing only competent and experienced workforce, and site-specific training of site managers, foremen and workforce, including all subcontractors, in pollution risks and preventative measures; 		
	 Ensure that all areas where liquids (including fuel) are stored, or cleaning is carried out, are in designated impermeable areas that are isolated from the surrounding area and within a secondary containment system; 		
	 The location of any fuel storage facilities shall be considered in the design of the Construction Compound; 		
	 Good housekeeping at the site (daily site clean-ups, use of disposal bins, etc.) during the entire Construction Phase; 		
	 All concrete mixing and batching activities will be located in areas away from watercourses and drains; 		
	Potential pollutants to be adequately secured against vandalism;		
	 Provision of proper containment of potential pollutants according to codes of best practice; 		
	 Thorough control during the entire Construction Phase to ensure that any spillage is identified at an early stage and subsequently effectively contained and managed; and 		
	 Spill kit to be provided and to be kept close to the storage area. Staff to be trained on how to use spill kits correctly. 		
	An Environmental Incident Response Plan, as outlined in Volume 4, Appendix A5.1 of this EIAR, will be implemented to help identify the actions to be taken in the event of a pollution incident. It will address such aspects as:		
	Containment measures;		
	Emergency discharge routes;		
	A list of appropriate equipment and clean-up materials; and		
	Notification procedures to inform the relevant environmental protection authority.		
	Sediment control methods will be outlined in the Surface Water Management Plan found in Appendix A5.1: (CEMP) and implemented by appointed contractor.		









EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Hydrogeology		
Operational Phase Mi	Operational Phase Mitigation		
11.8.2	With the implementation of the proposed design, no additional mitigation measures for hydrogeology are considered necessary for the operation of the Proposed Development.		
	subject to their management procedures to ensure that the correct measures are taken in the event of any accidental spillages, and this will reduce the potential for any impact.		
<u>Monitoring</u>			
11.10	No monitoring is required for the Construction or Operational Phases.		

27.2.7 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Air Quality

The table below describes the mitigation and monitoring measures for Chapter 12 (Air Quality).

EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Air Quality
Mitigation Measures	
Construction Phase N	<i>Nitigation</i>
12.6.1.1	Dust
	Before commencing relevant works, an air quality management plan will be prepared by the contractor and submitted for approval to the relevant planning authority. The plan must include all appropriate dust and emissions mitigation measures, applicable to the circumstances of the relevant site, based on the local authority requirements and industry best practices. Dublin City Council (DCC) guidance document titled Air Quality Monitoring and Noise Control Unit's Good Practice Guide for Construction and Demolition (DCC 2016) will be taken into consideration with respect to mitigation dust measures.
	The plan will be developed by the contractor and for each worksite shall include:
	An inventory and timetable of activities which may give rise to emissions or dust;
	Alert levels;
	 Alert system to be used (including notification process);
	Details of control measures; and
	 Details of dust monitoring arrangements, including the location of sensitive receptors, monitoring locations, and monitoring equipment to be used.
12.6.1.2	Air Quality reporting requirements
	A pre-construction dilapidation survey of all bridge structures requiring demolition will be required prior to commencement of the Construction Phase. There are no buildings which have shown potential for asbestos containing material, however, a fully intrusive asbestos-containing materials survey, will be completed if asbestos potential is indicated in the pre-construction dilapidation survey. Prior to commencement of the demolition works, all asbestos containing materials identified by the Asbestos Survey and Refurbishment and Demolition Survey will be removed by a suitably trained and competent person. Asbestos-containing materials will only be removed from site by a suitably permitted/licensed waste contractor and will be brought to a suitably licensed facility. The Health and Safety Authority will be contacted where needed in relation to the handling of asbestos and material will be dealt with in accordance with the Safety, Health, and Welfare at Work (Exposure to Asbestos) Regulations 2006, as amended and associated approved Codes of Practice.

Table 27-8 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Air Quality





0







EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Air Quality
	In summary, the measures which will be implemented will include:
	 Material handling systems and site stockpiling of materials will be designed and laid out to minimise exposure to wind. Water misting or sprays will be used as required if particularly dusty activities are necessary during dry or windy periods;
	Liaison with local authorities and community groups;
	Hoarding will be provided around the construction compounds; and
	 It is anticipated that methods of collecting rainwater and recycling for general site use, will be adopted where reasonably practical. Strict dust prevention will always be in place, to minimise any potential emissions and these procedures will be strictly monitored and assessed. In the event of dust nuisance occurring outside the site boundary, movements of materials likely to raise dust will be curtailed and satisfactory procedures implemented to rectify the problem before the resumption of construction operations.
12.6.1.3	Traffic
	The modelling of road traffic for impacts on human and ecological receptors has found no significant impacts that require mitigation measures with respect to the modelling of emissions. However, some mitigation measures will be put in place to minimise emissions as far as reasonably practicable:
	 Implement a policy which prevents idling of vehicles both on and off-site including HGV holding sites;
	 Construction Phase traffic should be monitored to ensure construction vehicles are using the designated haul routes;
	 The contractor must adhere to defined traffic routes as noted in the Construction Traffic Management Plan;
	Efficient scheduling of deliveries to minimise number of truck movements; and
	 Construction vehicles should conform to the current EU emissions standards and where reasonably practicable, their emissions should meet upcoming standards prior to the legal requirement date for the new standard. This will ensure emissions on haul routes are minimised.
	Mitigation measures are required for the control of dust with respect to HGV movements onsite and deliveries to/from the site:
	HGV traffic leaving site will pass through a wheel wash;
	 Public roads outside the site will be regularly inspected for cleanliness and cleaned as necessary. If public roads are deemed to require additional cleaning where possible a suction device for road cleaning will be utilised to access spaces around cars and other street furniture more effectively; and
	 During movement of materials both on and off-site, trucks will be stringently covered with tarpaulin. Before entrance onto public roads, trucks will be adequately inspected to ensure no potential for dust emissions.
Operational Phase Mi	itigation
12.6.2	As the Operational Phase of the development will result in positive impacts, no specific Operational Phase mitigation measures are required.
Monitoring Measures	
Construction Phase I	<i>Nonitoring</i>
12.7.1	Monitoring of construction dust deposition to occur at nearby sensitive receptors to ensure mitigation measures are working satisfactorily. The Bergerhoff method to be used in accordance with the requirements of the German Standard VDI 2119. The Bergerhoff Gauge consists of a collection vessel and a stand with a protecting gauge. The collection vessel is











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Air Quality
	secured to the stand with the opening of the collecting vessel located approximately 2m above ground level.
	The TA Luft limit value is 350mg (m ² /day) during a monitoring period between 28-32 days. Consistent implementation of good dust minimisation practices will ensure that the likely effects from construction dust is short-term, localised, reversible, and not significant when considered with respect to the EPA description of effects (EPA 2022).
Operational Phase Monitoring	
12.7.2	No monitoring is proposed for the Operational Phase.

27.2.8 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Climate

The table below describes the mitigation and monitoring measures for Chapter 13 (Climate).

Table 27-9 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Climate

EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Climate
Mitigation Measures	
Construction Phase I	<u>Aitigation</u>
13.6.1.1	Embodied Carbon
	 Ground Granulated Blast-furnace Slag (GGBS) to be used in replacement of standard concrete to reduce carbon footprint (savings of approximately 680 tonnes CO₂);
	 Steel to be sourced from continental Europe where a high proportion of it is made from recycled materials. larnród Éireann will pursue procurement of the highest recycled steel content that is available for the particular steel usage;
	 Minimisation of wastage of materials due to poor timing or over ordering on site with direct impact on the reduction of embodied carbon footprint of the site;
	 Waste management strategy according to the accepted waste hierarchy set out in the Waste Framework Directive (2008/98/EC) giving precedence to prevention, minimisation, reuse, and recycling over disposal with energy recovery and final disposal to landfill. Assumption made that all waste that is not guaranteed to reused on site will be sent to landfill.
13.6.1.2	Road Traffic
	A Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) (See Appendix A5.1 – Appendix G in Volume 4 of this EIAR) and a Mobility Management Plan (MMP) will be implemented throughout the construction stage to avoid congestion and thus reduce GHG emissions. All plant and machinery will be maintained and serviced regularly.
	The following mitigation measures will be put in place in order to minimise possible GHG emissions due to road traffic:
	 Implement a policy which prevents idling of vehicles both on and off-site including HGV holding sites;
	 Construction Phase traffic should be monitored to ensure construction vehicles are using the designated haul routes;
	All plant and machinery will be maintained and serviced regularly;
	Efficient scheduling of deliveries to minimise number of road trips required; and











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Climate
	 Construction vehicles will conform to the current EU emissions standards and where reasonably practicable, their emissions should meet upcoming standards prior to the legal requirement date for the new standard. This will ensure emissions on haul routes are minimised.
Operational Phase Mi	tigation
13.6.2.1	Embodied Carbon
	The Maintenance Phase GHG emissions will primarily consist of the maintenance of materials which were used in construction. No specific mitigation is set out however where possible, materials should be replaced in the most sustainable manner available. This may mean different materials used in replacement during the Operational Phase.
13.6.2.2	Rail
	Using timetable optimisation and driver training;
	Fuel consumption telematics for older rolling stock;
	Auto-Shut down for a significant portion of the fleet;
	Matching train sizes to customer demand;
	 Elimination of Temporary Speed Restrictions (TSRs) arising from infrastructure renewals; and
	 Use of a Corporate Power Purchase Agreement (CPPA) to ensure an energy mix of 80% renewables in the Operational Phase electricity use.
	In addition, a number of fuel efficiency programs are currently in progress / on-trial (larnród Éireann 2021). These include the trial replacement of ICR gearboxes, replacement of ICR diesel engines with hybrid drives, Envirox fuel additive to increase fuel efficiency and to keep diesel engine DP filters clean and replacement of diesel vans with electric road vehicles supported by charging points at depots and stations.
13.6.2.3	• Compliance with relevant ISO and national NSAI energy and environmental standards;
	 Contributing to transport sector decarbonisation including improving fleet and buildings fuel / energy performance, fleet hybridisation, phased network electrification and promoting and facilitating a shift to rail;
	Recycling of 70% of all waste;
	 Near Zero Energy Building standard in all new buildings, and upgrades of 140 existing buildings to minimum BER B;
	Reduction in overall carbon emissions by 51% between 2021 to 2030;
	 Improving operations, infrastructure and fleet climate change resilience including partnership approach to emergency responses and wide-ranging mitigation measures including coastal protection;
	 Reducing environmental impacts including LEAN management, waste and water management, green procurement in support of the circular economy and site decontamination; and
	Protecting habitats and promoting biodiversity in a partnership approach.
	The above actions and others within the larnród Éireann Sustainability strategy will be implemented as part of larnród Éireann's future mitigation and this includes the Proposed Development mitigation.
Monitoring M <u>easures</u>	
13.7	No monitoring measures are proposed for the Operational Phase.





27.2.9 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Noise & Vibration

The table below describes the mitigation and monitoring measures for Chapter 14 (Noise and Vibration).

Table 27-10 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Noise and Vibration

EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Noise and Vibration
Mitigation Measures	
Construction Phase N	<i>litigation</i>
14.6.1	During the course of construction, the procedures outlined in larnród Éireann operation procedure CCE-QMS-008-002 Noise Management – CCE Activities as well as the DCC GPG (DCC 2016) will be implemented. The larnród Éireann and DCC documents include the following noise mitigation measures:
	• The Community Liaison Officer (or other nominated person) will notify affected residents in advance of any planned works commencing with a letter drop in the relevant area.
	 Where planned work occurs over a 72hr weekend shutdown there will be a noise management plan submitted to the local authority.
	 The following measures will be implemented where feasible during construction activities:
	 Carry out as much preparatory work in daylight as practicable (for example, pre- sawing or drilling rails).
	 Inspect the worksite in daylight if practicable and look for the best location to position generators, which maximises existing screening.
	 Position generators and lighting away from residential dwellings.
	 Take advantage of natural barriers such as vegetation, walls or embankments that can offer noise screening to adjacent neighbours.
	 Where necessary, use noise attenuation screens. The screens must be located as close to the receiver or source as possible.
	 Consider using additional supply cables and structures so that the generators can be positioned as far away from housing as practicable.
	 Where possible, use low-noise plant. Any unsuitable plant should be replaced by higher quality low noise plant or contained by the use of mufflers/silencers.
	 Do not leave equipment or vehicles running/idling unnecessarily.
	 Do not shout work instructions when working in residential areas at night unless absolutely necessary.
	 Plan effectively to ensure timely deliveries of materials.
14.6.1.1	Communication with Neighbours
	The Contractor will be proactive in engaging with the occupants of neighbouring properties in relation to individual and particular concerns that may arise and will notify them of any works forecast to generate appreciable levels of noise, explaining the nature and duration of the works.
	A designated noise liaison will be appointed by the contractor for the duration of the construction works. This person will log any issues and follow up in a prompt fashion.
	Night-works in particular have the potential to generate the most significant noise effects. All affected sensitive locations will be notified of planned works in advance of the works progressing. The notification will include a description of the works, the expected duration and details of how to contact the contractor to log complaints.











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Noise and Vibration
14.6.1.2	Noise & Vibration Monitoring
	The following ongoing noise monitoring programme is proposed in relation to demolition and construction activities:
	Noise Monitoring Terminals (NMT), number and locations to be agreed, to be installed with the following specifications (or similar approved):
	Logging of two concurrent periods, e.g. 15-minute & hourly.
	Daily CIC automated calibrations.
	E-mail alert on threshold exceedance.
	E-mail alert on low battery and low memory.
	Remote access to measured data.
	Live display of noise levels.
	Vibration monitoring stations will continually log vibration levels using the Peak Particle Velocity parameter (PPV, mm/s) in the X, Y and Z directions, in accordance with BS ISO 4866: 2010: Mechanical vibration and shock – Vibration of fixed structures – Guidelines for the measurement of vibrations and evaluation of their effects on structures.
	The mounting of the transducer to the vibrating structure will need to comply with BS ISO 5348: 1998: Mechanical vibration and shock – Mechanical mounting of accelerometers. In summary, mounting conditions should have consideration to the following:
	• The transducer and its mountings should be as rigid as possible.
	The mounting surfaces should be as clean and flat as possible.
	Simple symmetric mountings are best.
	• The mass of the mounting should be small in comparison to that of the structure under test.
	• The monitoring equipment should be set to monitor vibration in 5-minute periods.
	E-mail alert on threshold exceedance.
	E-mail alert on low battery and low memory.
	Remote access to measured data.
	Live display of vibration levels.
	In addition, it is proposed that spot check noise & vibration measurements are conducted on a monthly basis. These spot checks can be organized to coincide with works that have potential to generate high levels of noise or vibration on site in order to confirm the potential extent of effects.
	A monthly noise and vibration monitoring report will be prepared by the contractor. Reports will identify any exceedances above nominal limit values and attempts to clarify the causes etc. Where remedial measures are required and identifiable, these will also be clearly stated.
14.6.1.3	Noise Control Audits
	It is proposed that noise control audits be conducted at regular intervals throughout the construction programme. Consideration will be given to issues such as the following (note that this list is not intended to be exhaustive):
	Hours of operation being correctly observed.
	Opportunities for noise control "at source".
	Optimum siting of plant items.
	Plant items being left to run unnecessarily.
	Correct use of proprietary noise control measures.
	Materials handling.





0







Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Noise and Vibration
Poor maintenance.
Correct use of screening provided and opportunities for provision of additional screening.
Hours of Work In order to maintain services during the day, the majority of on track construction works along the railway line itself will take place at night. Works outside of the live railway corridor can progress during the day (i.e. the construction of depots, substations, Construction Compounds). Every effort will be made to avoid, reduce, and/or mitigate negative effects, however, there is likely to be some disturbance experienced for those in close proximity to the railway line caused by noise, lighting or fencing/hoarding erected associated with the construction activities. Consideration will be given to the scheduling of activities in a manner that reflects the location of the site and the nature of neighbouring properties. Each potentially noisy event/activity
should be considered on its individual merits and scheduled according to its noise level, proximity to sensitive locations and possible options for noise control. Depending on the noise emission levels experienced and associated noise effects, the contractor will be flexible and able to conduct certain works at hours which reflect periods when the neighbouring properties have lower sensitivities to noise. Furthermore, every effort will be made to schedule the noisiest works to take place during the less sensitive daytime working hours.
Selection of Quiet Plant Careful consideration will be given to the noise emission levels of plant items when they are being considered for use on the site. This practice is proposed in relation to sites with static plant such as compressors and generators. It is proposed that these units be supplied with manufacturers' proprietary acoustic enclosures where possible. The potential for any item of plant to generate noise will be assessed prior to the item being brought onto the site. The least noisy item should be selected wherever possible. Should a particular item of plant already on the site be found to generate high noise levels, the first action should be to identify whether or not said item can be replaced with a quieter alternative.
 Control of Noise Sources If the use of low noise plant or replacing a noisy item of plant are not viable or practicable options, consideration should be given to noise control "at source". This refers to the modification of an item of plant or the application of improved sound reduction methods, often in consultation with the supplier. The following outline guidance in relation to specific considerations is provided below: For mobile plant items such as cranes, dump trucks, excavators and loaders, the installation of an acoustic exhaust and/or maintaining enclosure panels closed during operation can reduce noise levels by up to 10 dB. Mobile plant will be switched off when not in use and not loft idling.
 For piling plant, noise reduction can be achieved by enclosing the driving system in an acoustic shroud. For steady continuous noise, such as that generated by diesel engines, it may be possible to reduce the noise emitted by fitting a more effective exhaust silencer system or utilising an acoustic canopy to replace the normal engine cover. For percussive tools such as pneumatic concrete breakers, rock drills and tools a number of noise control measures include fitting muffler or sound reducing equipment to the breaker 'tool' and ensuring any leaks in the air lines are sealed. Erect localised screens around breaker or drill bit when in operation in close proximity to noise sensitive boundaries. For all materials handling ensure that materials are not dropped from excessive heights and drop chutes/dump trucks are lined with resilient materials. For compressors, generators and pumps, these can be surrounded by acoustic lagging











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Noise and Vibration
	 Demountable enclosures can also be used to screen operatives using hand tools and may be moved around site as necessary.
	 All items of plant will be subject to regular maintenance. Such maintenance can prevent unnecessary increases in plant noise and can serve to prolong the effectiveness of noise control measures.
	 Where practicable, metal on metal or rock on metal impacts will be avoided during night works. This can be achieved through the use of rubber mallets or impact linings etc. on site.
	 White noise reverse alarms will be utilised on vehicles where practicable to reduce potential annoyance of tonal noise emissions from site.
14.6.1.7	Screening
	The use of screens can be effective in reducing the noise level at a receiver location and will be employed as a complementary measure to all other forms of noise control.
	I Acoustic screen 2 m wide and 2.7 m high 2 Acoustic screen 2 m wide and 2.7 m high
	Table B.4 Measured sound reduction given by types of partial enclosure
	Type of enclosure Reduction dB(A)
	Open-sided shed lined with absorbent 1 9 14
	material: no screen
	material: with reflecting screen in front
	Open-sided shed lined with absorbent 10 10 10 10 material; with absorbent screen in front
	Image 27-2 Typical acoustic screen/shed detail. It is acknowledged that for some worksites it will not be practicable to install localised screens due to the constrained nature of the work area. However, where practicable screens will be
	installed by the contractor.











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Noise and Vibration
14.6.1.8	Vibration
	Limit values have been provided for the following building types:
	Soundly constructed residential and commercial properties.
	 Protected structures and sensitive buildings such as those with no or minimal foundations.
	Consideration will be given to the following methods to further mitigate the vibration levels from bored piling:
	 Minimise obstructions between the vibration source and the sensitive receiver, e.g. old basement floors, old foundations etc., which exacerbate the transmission of vibration.
	 Reduce the resistance to bored piles by "mudding in". This technique involves lubricating the borehole with a small amount of bentonite slurry.
14.6.1.9	Pilling
	Piling programmes will be arranged so as to control the amount of disturbance in noise and vibration sensitive areas at times that are considered of greatest sensitivity.
	Noise reduction can be achieved by enclosing the driving system in an acoustic shroud. For steady continuous noise, such as that generated by diesel engines, it may be possible to reduce the noise emitted by fitting a more effective exhaust silencer system or utilising an acoustic canopy to replace the normal engine cover. Steel driven piles can utilise acoustic wrapping mitigation to reduce noise levels at source.
	Screening by barriers and hoardings is less effective than total enclosure but can be a useful adjunct to other noise control measures. For maximum benefit, screens will be close either to the source of noise (as with stationary plant) or to the listener. Removal of a direct line of sight between source and listener can be advantageous both physically and psychologically. In certain types of piling works there will be ancillary mechanical plant and equipment that may be stationary, in which case, care will be taken in location, having due regard also for access routes. When appropriate, screens or enclosures will be provided for such equipment.
	Contributions to the total site noise can also be anticipated from mobile ancillary equipment, such as handling cranes, dumpers, front end loaders etc.
	All mechanical plant will be well maintained throughout the duration of the piling works. Piling works will be managed in accordance with the project criteria where works durations will not exceed:
	 Ten or more days or nights in any 15 consecutive days or nights; and
	A total number of days exceeding 40 in any six consecutive months.
14.6.1.10	OHLE specific mitigation
	There is the potential for significant adverse noise and vibration impacts to arise during the catenary system installation due to the piling requirement, the nighttime nature of the works and the proximity of sensitive receptors. In accordance with the project criteria, noise impacts shall constitute a significant effect where it is determined that a major or moderate magnitude of impact will occur for a duration exceeding:
	• Ten or more days or nights in any 15 consecutive days or nights; and
	A total number of days exceeding 40 in any six consecutive months.
	As the works are of a brief duration and will move linearly along the track, it is not expected that these durations will be exceeded, i.e. no moderate or major impacts will arise for a duration greater than the periods defined. In addition, the screening of the installation works will be implemented to minimise the noise impacts at sensitive receptors.











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Noise and Vibration
14.6.1.11	Eligibility of Temporary Accommodation
	Given the proximity of construction activity to some noise sensitive locations and the occasional intensity of works, the mitigation measures proposed may not be sufficient to fully mitigate the noise impact. Temporary accommodation will be offered to eligible owners/occupiers where the construction of the proposed development causes, or is expected to cause, a measured or predicted airborne construction noise level that exceeds either of the following at property lawfully occupied as a permanent dwelling: A noise level 10 dB above any of the trigger noise levels presented in:
	• Table 14-4 (in Section 14.3.6.2) for the corresponding times of day;
	 A noise level 10 dB or more above the existing pre-construction ambient noise level for the corresponding times of day; and
	 Whichever level is the higher; and for a period of 10 or more days of working in any 15 consecutive days or for a total number of days exceeding 40 in any 6 consecutive months.
Operational Phase Mi	tigation
14.6.2.3	Maintenance
	During the course of ongoing maintenance, the procedures outlined in larnród Éireann operation procedure CCE-QMS-008-002 Noise Management – CCE Activities will be implemented. This document outlines the following noise mitigation measures:
	• The Community Liaison Officer (or other nominated person) will notify affected residents in advance of any planned works commencing with a letter drop in the relevant area.
	 Where planned work occurs over a 72hr weekend shutdown there will be a noise management plan submitted to the local authority.
	 All attempts to avoid, prevent or reduce the harmful effects of exposure to environmental noise.
	 arising from CCE work activities must be practical and appropriately risk assessed before
	implementation.
	The following measures should be implemented where feasible during maintenance activities:
	• Carry out as much preparatory work in daylight as possible (sawing or drilling rails).
	 Inspect the worksite in daylight if possible and look for the best location to position generators.
	 Position generators and lighting away from residential dwellings.
	 Take advantage of natural barriers such as vegetation, walls or embankments that can offer noise screening to adjacent neighbours.
	• Where necessary, use noise attenuation screens. The screens must be located as close to the receiver or source as possible.
	 Consider using additional supply cables and structures so that the generators can be positioned as far away from housing as practicable.
	 Where possible, use low-noise plant. Any unsuitable plant should be replaced by higher quality low noise plant or contained by the use of mufflers/silencers.
	Do not leave equipment or vehicles running/idling unnecessarily.
	 Do not shout work instructions when working in residential areas at night unless absolutely necessary.
	Plan effectively to ensure timely deliveries of materials.











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Noise and Vibration
<u>Monitoring</u>	
	See Section 4.6.1.2 for monitoring during the Construction Phase. No specific monitoring is required during the Operational Phase.

27.2.10 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Landscape & Visual Amenity

The table below describes the mitigation and monitoring measures for Chapter 15 (Landscape and Visual Amenity).

Table 27-11 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Landscape and Visual Amenity

EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Landscape and Visual Amenity
Mitigation Me	easures
Construction	Phase Mitigation
15.6.2	 A series of mitigation measures are proposed to avoid, reduce, and remediate, relevant significant negative landscape (townscape) and visual effects of the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development. These measures include:
	 An Arboricultural Survey will be produced for the area of the Proposed Development prior to commencement of works, as well as for any adjoining areas where trees are likely to be impacted by the works, in accordance with British Standard Institution (BSI) British Standard (BS) 5837:2012 'Trees in relation to in relation to design, demolition and construction - Recommendations' (BSI 2012);
	 All trees and vegetation to be retained within and adjoining the works area will be protected in accordance with the British Standard Institution (BSI) British Standard (BS) 5837:2012 'Trees in relation to in relation to design, demolition, and construction - Recommendations' (BSI 2012). Works required within the root protection area (RPA) of trees to be retained will follow a project-specific arboricultural methodology for such works, which will be prepared by a professional qualified arborist;
	 Wherever possible, trees and vegetation will be retained within the Proposed Development. Trees and vegetation identified for removal will be removed in accordance with 'BS 3998:2010 Tree Work – Recommendations' (BSI 2010) and best arboricultural practices as detailed and monitored by a professional qualified arborist.
	 The Arboricultural Assessment to be prepared as part of mitigation for the Proposed Development will be fully updated at the end of the Construction Phase and made available to the landowner (IÉ, planning authority, other as appropriate), with any recommendations for on-going monitoring of retained trees during the Operational Phase;
	 Where properties are subject to permanent and / or temporary acquisition, an inventory of existing boundary details and accesses, planting, paving, and other features that may be disturbed or removed will be prepared by the contractor prior to commencement of construction works; and
	 Where properties are subject to permanent and / or temporary acquisition, appropriate measures will be put in place to provide for protection of features, trees and vegetation to be retained, and for continued access during construction, for adequate security and screening of construction works. All temporary acquisition areas will be decommissioned and reinstated at the end of the Construction Phase.









EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Landscape and Visua	al Amenity
	 In addition to the above measures, construction works will be managed in accordan Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) - refer to Appendix A5.1 in EIAR. This provides the environmental management framework to be adhered to du Construction Phase of the Proposed Development. 	ce with the Volume 4 of this uring the

Operational Phase Mitigation

15.6.3	General Mitigation Measures
	Mitigation measures are proposed to avoid, reduce, or remediate, wherever possible significant negative landscape and visual effects of the Operational Phase of the Proposed Development. In addition to the management of all Operational Phase activities in accordance with best methodologies and practice, that following general measures are proposed for the mitigation of landscape / townscape and visual impacts:
	 Where existing trees, hedges, and/or plantings are removed, new planting will be provided in replacement of those removed;
	 The Proposed Development will provide for the planting of new trees and shrubs both for mitigation of tree removal and for screening of proposals particularly substations. Species selected shall be appropriate to the characteristics of the specific location;
	 Proposals for the treatment of the public realm within the streetscape effected by the Proposed Development will have regard to the existing character of the street or location, to emerging policies, objectives and proposals for the public realm and to opportunities for enhancement of the public realm and the streetscape. Proposals will have regard to historic details and features, to the quality of existing and proposed materials, to the reduction of visible elements, ease of legibility, and management and maintenance requirements;
	 The materials and finishes used for proposed substation buildings and associated fencing will be sympathetic to the context;
	New lighting to use modern fittings with directional horizontal cut-off cowling;
	 Landscape proposals will have regard to the recommendations of: Chapter 8 (Biodiversity) in relation to opportunities for enhancement of biodiversity; Chapter 20 (Archaeology and Cultural Heritage) and Chapter 21 (Architectural Heritage) in relation to opportunities for enhancement of cultural and architectural heritage; and Chapter 10 (Water) in relation to opportunities for incorporation of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS);
	 Maintenance and monitoring of reinstatement works in public areas will ensure that any defective materials or workmanship will be made good within a period of 12 months from completion of all construction works in any given area. Thereafter, responsibility for maintenance and monitoring of the area will revert to the landowner (e.g. local authority);
	 All aspects of the Proposed Development within public areas will revert to on-going management and maintenance in accordance with normal operational practices by the landowner / tenant. This will include hard and soft landscape works and townscape measures, new and reinstated tree and other planting, new and reinstated surfacing and paving, etc.;
	 Unless otherwise requested by the property owner, maintenance and monitoring of reinstatement and hard and soft landscape works and reinstated and new boundaries in private areas (i.e. temporary acquisition areas) will ensure that any defective materials or workmanship will be made good within a period of 12 months following completion of the works in property. Thereafter, responsibility for maintenance and monitoring of private areas will revert to the landowner.
15.6.3	Specific Landscape Mitigation Measures
	 The design of the proposed railway bridge over the Mayne River to use materials and finishes which are appropriate to the form and setting of the existing protected structure. Potential access for a future greenway to be maintained as far as possible;











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Landscape and Visual Amenity
	 Provision of coastal wildflower mix to the side slope of Malahide Turnback with species suitable for coastal situation;
	 Provision of cascading plants (e.g. Hedera helix) to the top of proposed retaining wall along edge of Broadmeadow Greenway to help soften the new wall for views from the greenway and the Estuary.
	• At Donabate Substation, appropriate native planting will be proposed to the perimeter to screen the proposals from the surrounding High Amenity designation;
	 Provision of replacement planting where necessary to reinstate sections of existing perimeter hedgerows removed for substation at Rush and Lusk;
	 Replacement planting for hedgerow removed as part of the Rush and Lusk Station entrance road works. Native hedgerow / shrub planting to be provided to the west of the removed hedgerow location on land currently occupied by the existing entrance;
	 Provision of replacement planting along Golf Links Road and new native tree and shrub planting to the perimeter of Skerries South Substation, to limit effects on amenity of road, adjacent residential property and Skerries Golf Course;
	 Provision of perimeter planting to Skerries North Substation, to limit effects on surrounding residential receptors;
	 Reinstatement of planned Public Realm Redevelopment at Quay Street and Environs, Balbriggan, including reinstatement of planting and other landscape features;
	• Offset of access road to sub-station at Balbriggan to retain / augment field boundary hedgerow;
	• Provide space for new screen planting around north, west and south of sub-station at Balbriggan North including around infiltration basin;
	 Replacement of hedgerow / trees at Irishtown Road, Gormanston, and around perimeter of substation, to limit effects on nearby residential receptors;
	 Replanting of screening planting at setback alignment to residential property undergoing landtake south of Gormanston Station;
	 Replacement of any trees or other vegetation damaged or lost at designated open space (woodland) by works at Laytown Station compound;
	 Replanting of tree planting to either side of access road to Bettystown substation and provision of tree and shrub planting along boundary with residential areas, to restore screening between nearby residential areas and screen the substation from residential properties;
	 Replanting of screening planting at setback alignment to residential property undergoing landtake at St Mary's Villas; and
	• Replanting of woodland area adjacent to Dublin Road rail bridge / Railway Terrace, Drogheda, as far as reasonably practicable.
<u>Monitoring</u>	
	No specific monitoring is required.





27.2.11 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Agricultural Properties

The table below describes the mitigation and monitoring measures for Chapter 16 (Material Assets: Agricultural Properties).

Table 27-12Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Agricultural
Properties

EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Agricultural Properties				
Mitigation Measures					
Construction Phase I	<u>Nitigation</u>				
16.6.1	Temporary Land take				
	 A landowner liaison officer (LLO) will be identified by the contractor during the Construction Phase to facilitate communications between affected landowners and to facilitate the management of farm enterprises with landowners during critical times; 				
	 Prior to works commencing each affected landowner will be met by a member of the project team to inform them of the expected start date on their lands, duration of works and to agree on specific issues of access, presence of livestock, etc. pertaining to the Proposed Development; 				
	 Following completion of relevant construction work, lands temporarily acquired will be reinstated to the existing agricultural condition. All materials and waste will be removed and disposed of appropriately. 				
	• The landowner will be provided with access to all separated land parcels during the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development where reasonably practicable. Where temporary disruptions to this access occur landowners will be notified in advance, and access will be restored as soon as possible. Temporary or replacement access will be provided at a suitable location, and where possible, in agreement with the landowner;				
	 Where existing water and electricity supplies are disrupted during the Construction Phase an alternative water source or electricity supply will be made available. If access to surface drinking water sources are permanently restricted alternative groundwater supplies will be provided (or compensation provided to enable landowner to drill his own well); 				
	 Suitable boundary fencing will be erected to delineate the line of the Proposed Development boundary and prevent straying livestock; 				
	 Landowners with lands adjoining sites where either rock breaking, piling takes place will be notified in advance of these activities. 				
	 If the Proposed Development boundary interferes with access to agricultural land the contractor will facilitate the movement of livestock and agricultural machinery to minimise disturbance; 				
	 A re-instatement programme for the construction compounds will be agreed with each land owner. This programme will apply best practice to the storage of top soil, maintenance of land drainage and re instatement of land; 				
	• The impacts on water quality will be minimised by way of a programme of mitigation measures for surface and ground water sources as described in Chapter 10 (Water);				
	 The spread of dust onto adjoining lands would be minimised by way of mitigation measures set out in Chapter 12 (Air Quality) and Appendix A5.1 (Construction Environmental Management Plan). Typically, the effect of dust on agricultural grazing livestock is not significant; and 				
	Where drainage outfalls are temporarily altered, or land drains blocked or damaged an adequate drainage outfall will be maintained and land drains will be repaired.				











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Agricultural Properties
Operational Phase Mi	tigation
16.6.2	 The loss of agricultural land due to the construction of the Proposed Development will be a permanent loss which cannot be mitigated except through compensation;
	 Where existing water and electricity supplies to fields or farmyards are severed, the supply would be reinstated by provision of ducting where possible. Alternatively, where ducting is not feasible a permanent alternative water source or electricity supply would be made available. Compensation payments would enable farmers to replace power and water supplies;
	 The drainage design of the Proposed Development will connect with existing field drainage systems and carry the drainage water to suitable outfalls;
	 The loss of shelter would be addressed by the proposed landscaping plan (see Chapter 15 (Landscape and Visual Amenity). Landscaping along the Proposed Development will minimise the visual impact on farms, and
	 The Proposed Development boundary will prevent trespass of livestock onto the adjoining railway development.
<u>Monitoring</u>	
16.7	No specific monitoring is required.

27.2.12 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Non-Agricultural Properties

The table below describes the mitigation and monitoring measures for Chapter 17 (Material Assets: Non-Agricultural Properties).

Table 27-13 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Non-Agricultural Properties

EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Non-Agricultural Properties		
Construction Phase Mitigation			
17.7.1.1	Temporary Land-takeFollowing the completion of relevant construction works, lands temporarily acquired will be fully reinstated and returned to the landowner.		
17.7.1.2	Access to Property Access will be maintained to all affected property as far as reasonably practicable and if interruption is necessary, it will be pre-notified to the property owner / occupant and it will be restored without unreasonable delay. Traffic management measures will be put in place during the Construction Phase where temporary or minor diversions are required.		
17.7.1.3	Noise and vibration Timing of works and noise and vibration limit values are amongst the main measures to mitigate noise impacts on sensitive receptors. These measures are detailed within Chapter 14 (Noise and Vibration) in Volume 2 of this EIAR.		










EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Non-Agricultural Properties	
17.7.1.4	Dust	
	Dust suppression measures to mitigate generation and spread of dust are detailed within Chapter 12 (Air Quality) in Volume 2 of this EIAR. Mitigation measures will be implemented by the contractor during the Construction Phase to minimise the potential impacts to nearby sensitive receptors to reduce undue disturbance due to dust.	
17.7.1.5	Disturbance of Field Drainage	
	In cases where drainage is impeded during the Construction Phase and causes obvious difficulty to a particular property owner, temporary measures will be considered on a site-specific basis. This may include allowing waters to drain to less critical areas, so as to minimise the impact.	
17.7.1.6	Disturbance of Utility Services	
	Where required, an alternative source of water / electricity will be provided to ensure that disruption is minimised during the Construction Phase. Further measures relating to utilities are detailed within Chapter 18 (Material Assets: Utilities) in Volume 2 of this EIAR.	
Operational Phase Mi	tigation	
17.7.2	The following general mitigation measures will be provided:	
	 Access will be maintained to all affected properties as far as reasonably practicable and if interrupted will be restored without unreasonable delay. 	
	 Where part of the curtilage of a property is to be permanently acquired, the acquiring authority will hold discussions with the property owner and generally agree to replace boundaries on a like-for-like basis where possible, subject to safety considerations. Permanent boundary treatment will consist of a boundary that is comprised of one of the following: 	
	a) Replacement boundary on a like-for-like basis.	
	b) Concrete post and wire.	
	c) Timber post and wire.	
	d) 2.4m Security Purpose (SP) Palisade fencing.	
	e) 2.4m Security Purpose (SP) Paladine fencing.	
	 Any services that are interfered with as a result of the Proposed Development will be repaired / replaced without unreasonable delay. 	
	• The new drainage system will be designed to ensure that there will be no increased risk of flooding as a consequence of the Proposed Development.	
<u>Monitoring</u>		
Monitoring	No specific monitoring is required.	









27.2.13 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Utilities

The table below describes the mitigation and monitoring measures for Chapter 18 (Material Assets: Utilities).

Table 27-14 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Utilities

EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Utilities
Mitigation Measures	
Construction Phase M	<i>litigation</i>
18.6.1	A Construction & Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been prepared and is included in Volume 4, Appendix A5.1 of this EIAR. The CEMP will be updated by the successful Main Contractor. The CEMP will set out the Contractor's overall management and administration of the construction project. It will be prepared by the Contractor during the pre-Construction Phase. The mitigation measures will be implemented by the appointed Main Contractor(s). These include the best practice measures as outlined below:
	 Agreements have been put in place with various utility providers in order to maintain connections, or at least minimise downtimes, to public and private entities during the construction of the Proposed Development. These agreements include the provision of temporary diversions which will enable providers to reroute their service during non-peak periods to maintain connections to customers;
	 All existing services will be located by the appointed contractor and confirmed with relevant utility providers using service records, GPR surveys and slit trenches to ensure that their position accurately identified before excavation works commence;
	 Where works are required in and around known utility infrastructure, precautions will be implemented by the appointed contractor to protect the infrastructure from damage, in accordance with best practice methodologies in line with the requirements of the utility companies whose assets are present in the area, where practicable;
	Where diversions, or modifications, are required to utility infrastructure, service interruptions and disturbance to the surrounding residential, commercial and/or community property may be unavoidable. Where this is the case, it will be planned in advance by the appointed contractor. Required service interruptions will generally not be continuous for full days at a time. Prior to works commencing, advance notification will be given to all impacted properties (including vulnerable customers). This notification will include information on when interruptions and works are scheduled to occur and the duration of such interruption. Any required works will be carefully planned by the appointed contractor to ensure that the duration of interruptions is minimised in so far as is practicable;
	 Safety procedures will be put in place to minimise the risk to utility provider personnel and the general public during works on services. Protection measures during construction will include warning signs and markings indicating the location of utility infrastructure, safe digging techniques in the vicinity of known utilities, and in certain circumstances where possible, isolation of the section of infrastructure during works in the immediate vicinity;
	• Traffic management plans will be implemented to minimise the effect of utility diversion works for commuters; and
	 Collaboration with each utility provider will ensure safe practise when working on services and will minimise the time required for such works.











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Utilities	
Operational Phase Mi	tigation	
18.6.2	 Substations providing power to the OHLE will need to be maintained to ensure the new DART line remains operational. The substations will be required to have unimpeded vehicular access 24 hours per day from the public road network for maintenance staff from both larnród Éireann and ESB Networks; 	
	 The substation must be located at ground level in order to facilitate the installation or replacement of heavy electrical equipment; the immediate area around the substation should be level; 	
	 Any major utility infrastructure implemented in the reconfiguration of utilities to enable the Proposed Development will require periodical maintenance, such as foul pumping stations; and 	
	 Any overhead assets (such as electrical cables) relocated underground for the Proposed Development will require different procedures by the utility provider in order to be maintained. Collaboration with each utility provider will ensure their maintenance requirements have been considered and that the appropriate wayleaves have been put in place. 	
<u>Monitoring</u>		
	No specific monitoring is required.	



27.2.14 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Resource & Waste Management

ARUP

DART+ Coastal North

The table below describes the mitigation and monitoring measures for Chapter 19 (Material Assets: Resource and Waste Management).

Table 27-15Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Resource and Waste
Management

EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Resource and Waste Management
Mitigation Measures	
Construction Phase N	Nitigation
19.6.1	Waste Management
	A Construction Demolition Waste Management Plan (CDWMP) has been prepared and is included in Appendix A5.1 (CEMP), sub-appendix E, in Volume 4 of this EIAR. This has been prepared and will be implemented by the appointed Contractor in line with the 'Guidelines on the Preparation of Waste Management Plans for Construction and Demolition Projects' (EPA, 2021b). The CDWMP outlines how waste arising during the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development will be managed in a way that ensures compliance with the provisions of the Waste Management Acts, 1996, as amended.
	Mitigation measures are set out as follows:
	Where waste generation cannot be avoided, waste disposal will be minimised;
	 Opportunities for reuse of materials, by-products and wastes will be sought throughout the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development;
	 Possibilities for reuse of clean non-hazardous excavation material as fill on the site will be considered following appropriate testing to ensure material is suitable for its proposed end use;
	 Where non-hazardous excavation material cannot be reused within the Proposed Development works, material will be sent for recycling or recovery;
	 Excavations of made ground will be monitored by an appropriately qualified person to ensure that any hotspots of possible contamination are properly identified, with the contaminated material segregated and disposed of appropriately;
	 Any identified contaminated material will be segregated and stored in an area where there is no possibility of runoff generation or infiltration to ground or surface water drainage. Care will be taken to ensure that the hotspot does not cross contaminate clean soils elsewhere throughout the site;
	 If encountered, any potential asbestos during the Construction Phase will be managed using standard health and safety measures as outlined in 'Asbestos-containing Materials (ACMs) in Workplaces: Practical Guidelines on ACM Management and Abatement' (HSA, 2013);
	 The site will be maintained to prevent litter and regular litter picking will take place throughout the site; 'Just-in-time' delivery will be used to minimise material wastage; Paints, sealants and hazardous chemicals will be stored in secure, bunded locations; All staff on-site will be trained on how to minimise waste (i.e., training, induction, inspections and meetings); Materials on-site will be correctly and securely stored;











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Material Assets: Resource and Waste Management		
	 Where possible, metal, timber, glass, and other recyclable material will be segregated and removed off site to a permitted / licensed facility for recycling. Waste stream colour coding and photographs will be used to facilitate segregation; On-site office and food waste arising will be source separated at least into dry mixed recyclables, biodegradable and residual wastes; Waste bins, containers, skip containers and storage areas will be clearly labelled with waste types which they should contain, including photographs as appropriate; Segregated skips will be used within a designated waste segregation area to be located in the on-site Construction Compound (particularly for hazardous, gypsum, metal, timber, inert waste and general waste); The appointed Contractor will record the quantity in tonnes and types of waste and materials leaving the site during the Construction Phase. The name, address and authorisation details of all facilities and locations to which waste and materials are delivered will be recorded along with the quantity of waste in tonnes delivered to each facility. Records will show material, which is recovered, which is recycled, and which is disposed of; Waste generated on-site will be removed as soon as practicable following generation for delivery to an authorised waste facility; The appointed Contractor will ensure that any off-site interim storage facilities for excavation material have the appropriate Certificate of Registration, Waste Facility Permit and / or EPA Waste Licence in place; Where Regulation 27 notifications are required in relation to the Proposed Development, the appointed Contractor will complete and submit these Regulation 27 notifications to the EPA for by-product reuse; and The relevant appropriate waste authorisation will be in place for all facilities that wastes 		
	are delivered to (i.e., Certificate of Registration, Waste Facility Permit and / or EPA Waste Licence).		
Operational Phase Mi	<u>tigation</u>		
19.6.2	 CIÉ will re-use and recycle materials throughout the site, to the maximum extent possible, and make use of local suppliers when importing materials to site during the Operational Phase, thereby minimising potential impacts. The sustainable resource and waste management principles detailed in Section 19.2.3 will be implemented to ensure that the waste hierarchy is adhered to. As the effect of Operational Phase waste is predicted to be not significant, no further mitigation measures are required. 		
Decommissioning Ph	ase		
19.6.3	The DART+ Coastal North project is providing rail infrastructure which will enable an increase in frequency and capacity on the Northern Line and the Howth Branch in the coming years. It is not intended that this infrastructure will be decommissioned, but rather, as the infrastructure reaches the end of its design life, it will likely be refurbished or renewed to enable continued operation of the railway. Any such future renewal or refurbishment may require additional construction works, which would be similar to, but of a much lesser impact (in terms of extent and duration) than, the Construction Phase associated with the DART+ Coastal North project. The mitigation measures outlined herein for the Construction Phase, will be applied as appropriate, during any future decommissioning.		
Monitoring			
	No specific monitoring is required.		





27.2.15 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Archaeology & Cultural Heritage

The table below describes the mitigation and monitoring measures for Chapter 20 (Archaeology and Cultural Heritage).

Table 27-16 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Archaeology and Cultural Heritage

EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Archaeology and Cultural Heritage
Mitigation Measures	
20.6.1	Project Archaeologist
	A Project Archaeologist with a detailed knowledge of the Proposed Development will be appointed to develop and manage a centralised framework for tracking and managing all archaeological considerations. The Project Archaeologist will oversee the implementation and reporting of all archaeological and cultural heritage mitigation measures.
	The role of the Project Archaeologist is to provide a consistent and independent approach throughout the duration of the Proposed Development.
	In addition to making consistent recommendations and approving mitigation strategies and ensuring open lines of communication, a Project Archaeologist will provide archaeological training to operators and contractors and provide an advisory role offering practical advice on specific archaeological issues encountered in the field while promoting awareness of archaeological assets.
	The effective management of the archaeological component of the project will be achieved through communication and a milestone driven contract process.
	The appointment of a Project Archaeologist can ensure the smooth running of a scheme while providing controls on budgets and streamlining the point of communication for all heritage matters. In addition to this, a Project Archaeologist will:
	Review and agree details of the archaeological monitoring and investigation.
	Review and agree the details of method statements, license applications and Ministerial Consents.
	 Manage the archaeological contract and specifically the work of the archaeological contractors.
	Oversee the conduct of the archaeological excavations/ investigations.
	• Review the archaeological requirements as the works proceed. Implement any required changes to the methodology as construction work proceeds.
	Certify all archaeological costs.
	Oversee all post excavation works and certify all post excavation costs.
	 Review the content of reports prepared by the Archaeological Contractors and ensure that all the archaeological contractors provide all appropriate reports on their work in accordance with the contract conditions.
	Ongoing consultation with the heritage authorities and statutory authorities.
	 Ensure all work is proceeding according to archaeological licensing or consent requirements.
	 Identify the requirement for additional investigation, including where necessary recording, survey, testing, or excavation works.
	 Where possible implement time and cost-effective strategies that are in line with best practice guidelines and statutory authority approvals.
	Provide advice to larnród Éireann.
	Provide advice to the design, construction team and relevant contractors.











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mit	igation and Monitoring Measures for Ar	chaeology and Cultural Heritage
20.6.2	Consultant Archa	aeologist	
	Experienced and o contractor to carry during constructio and larnród Éirear supervise and dire	competent licence-eligible archaeologist (s) y out the archaeological work and to advise n, to communicate all findings in a timely m nn, to acquire any licenses/ consents requir ect the archaeological measures associated	will be employed by the appointed on archaeological heritage matters nanner to the Project Archaeologist red to conduct the work, and to d with the Proposed Development.
	larnród Éireann w monitoring, inspec and prior to consti	ill make provision to allow for, and to fund, tion, test excavation and excavation works ruction, either directly or indirectly via the ap	the necessary archaeological that will be needed on-site during opointed contractor.
	During the Constr national policy gui heritage. All metho Section of the Dep	uction Phase all mitigation measures will be delines and statutory provisions for the pro odologies will have to be agreed in advance partment of Housing, Local Government an	e undertaken in compliance with tection of the archaeological e with the National Monuments d Heritage (DHLGH).
	Archaeological mi these are achieve	tigation measures can avoid, prevent, redu d by preservation in-situ (avoidance), by de	ce or offset negative effects and esign and / or by record.
	Mitigation measur compliance with th protection of archa take place as a m	es shall be undertaken as directed by the N ne code of practice, national policy guideling aeology and cultural heritage. It is proposed inimum.	Ainister of the DHLGH in es and statutory provisions for the d that the following measures will
20.6.2.1	Archaeological T	est Excavation	
	Archaeological tes geophysical surve issues, archaeolog approach.	sting will be guided by the results of the geo y could not take place due to unsuitable gro gical testing will take place in advance of co	ophysical survey. In areas where ound conditions and access onstruction, to confirm the design
	While there are no of historic maps a were put forward f given their greenfi monuments. Test purpose of testing unknown archaeo	o recorded monuments within these areas, and aerial photography did not reveal any ne for assessment as they were considered to eld nature, previously undisturbed soils and ing will also take place to verify the results is to determine the location, date, nature a logical site. As such, it is proposed to test e	and field inspection or an analysis ewly identified sites, these areas be of an archaeological potential d/ or proximity to designated of the geophysical survey. The and extent of any previously excavate the following areas:
	Zone B	Maynetown, County Dublin	AAP4
	Zone C	Corballis County Dublin	AAP7
	Zone C	Tyrrelstown, County Dublin	AAP13
	Zone C	Hacketstown, County Dublin	AAP15
	Zone C	Barnageeragh, County Dublin	AAP18
	Zone C	Hampton Demesne, County Dublin	AAP20
	Zone C	Bremore, County Dublin	AAP22
	Zone D	Gormanston 1, County Meath	AAP26
	Zone D	Irishtown, County Meath	AAP27
	Zone D	Colp East (S), County Meath	AAP34
	Zone E	Newtown/Lagavooren, County Meath/ County Louth	AAP37
	The archaeologica	al test trenching strategy shall entail mecha	nical excavation of a 2m wide (or
	at least a 1.8m with the trenching layo with the agreemen topographic factor	de) trench (es) within the above specified a ut is not prescribed, and the testing array n nt of the Project Archaeologist and the DHL s.	reas. The frequency and pattern of nay vary from one area to another, GH, to take account of local











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Archaeology and Cultural Heritage
	It is proposed that any archaeological features revealed by the test trenching, which will be directly impacted by the proposed works, will be mitigated prior to and during the construction of the Proposed Development in agreement with the DHLGH. On the basis of the geophysical survey and test excavation results, the National Monuments Service may require preservation in the form of in situ (by avoidance or design) or resolution by archaeological excavation. All mitigation practices will be carried out in accordance with the requirements of the statutory authorities.
	The process of archaeological excavation, recording and publication of results ensures that all the features are recorded and excavated in advance of development. Excavation results in the removal of archaeological remains from their natural environment. Archaeological excavation ensures that this removal is systematically and accurately recorded, drawn and photographed, providing a paper and digital archive and adding to the archaeological knowledge of a specified area. The detailed technical reports arising from this will form part of the national archive of archaeological data in the Sites and Monuments record curated by the DHLGH.
20.6.2.2	Protection of newly revealed archaeological remains
	Measures will be put in place to protect all archaeological features that are revealed prior to backfilling. This generally involves placing a geotextile protective membrane over any archaeological features identified during the test excavation exercise. Other measures such as the provision of hardboard over fragile remains must be used where appropriate.
	This is in accordance with the Code of Practice between the IÉ and the Minister for AHG, 2012 (NMS).
20.6.2.3	Archaeological Monitoring
	Archaeological monitoring will be undertaken in order to establish the presence or absence, as well as the nature and extent, of any archaeological deposits, features or sites that may be present within the land-take of the Project. If archaeological features are identified, provision (time and funding) will be made available for the full recording and, if necessary, excavation of the archaeological material in compliance with any measures that the DHLGH and the relevant local authority deem appropriate.
	All construction work such as the clearance of land, new drainage track storage, the widening of culverts, the placement of maintenance tracks and topsoil stripping within the permanent and temporary land-take will be monitored. All other activities such as drainage, landscaping, access and maintenance roads and the provision of services, the diversion of utilities and placement of compounds associated with the improvement of the railway will also have to be monitored by a licensed archaeologist.
	Monitoring includes all groundwork associated with the development including the placement of Construction Compounds, access and maintenance roads, landscaping, drainage and topsoil stripping within the permanent and temporary land-take to ensure that no previously unknown and buried archaeological features are damaged or removed without proper recording.
	Archaeological monitoring will be carried out under licence to the Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage (DHLGH) and the NMI, and will ensure the full recognition of, and the proper excavation and recording of, all archaeological soils, features, finds and deposits which may be disturbed below the ground surface.
	The licensed archaeologist will have provision to inspect all excavation to the formation level for the proposed works and to temporarily halt the excavation work, if and as necessary. They will be given provision to ensure the temporary protection of any features of archaeological importance identified until a decision has been made by the statutory authorities as to whether or not avoidance and preservation in situ can be achieved or if preservation by record (ie excavation) is warranted. The archaeologist will be afforded sufficient time and resources to record and remove any such features identified.











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Archaeology and Cultural Heritage
	Archaeological excavation ensures that the removal of any archaeological soils, features, finds and deposits is systematically and accurately recorded, drawn and photographed, providing a paper and digital archive and adding to the archaeological knowledge of a specified area (i.e. preservation by record). As archaeological excavation involves the removal of the archaeological soils, features, finds and deposits, following this mitigation measure there is no further impact on the archaeological heritage.
Construction Phase	Mitigation
20.6.3.1	Zone A – North of Connolly Station to Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station (including Fairview Depot)
	There is only one area of archaeological potential identified within Zone A (AAP1 Fairview Park) and the proposed works are determined to be not significant and imperceptible as works are proposed in made ground within the depot and railway line.
20.6.3.2	Zone B – South of Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station (including Howth Branch) to north of Malahide Viaduct
	Five areas of archaeological potential have been identified in Zone B (AAP2-AAP6), four of which have been identified as having a general greenfield and /or brownfield archaeological potential. Full time licenced archaeological monitoring will take place during earthmoving works located in AAP2-AAP4 where there is a general below ground archaeological potential.
	Due to challenging ground conditions, it was not possible to carry out the geophysical survey at AAP4 in Maynetown. It is proposed to carry out test excavation in this area. If features are detected, a decision will be made as to whether or not preservation by record or insitu will be required. This assessment is to take place prior to construction within the footprint of the proposed ground breaking works.
	No mitigation measures are necessary at AAP6, Malahide Viaduct where there will be no impact to the estuarian soils as there are no in water works anticipated.
20.6.3.3	Zone C – North of Malahide Viaduct to south of Gormanston Station (Fingal boundary) No mitigation measures are required for AAP17 (Townparks) and AAP22 (Balbriggan) as no
	At Donabate Station in Beaverstown townland (AAP9) works are to take place to the east of the rail line and a Construction Compound is proposed in an area of hardstanding and an overgrown, previously disturbed vegetated area (a brownfield area). Full time licenced archaeological monitoring of all earthmoving works will be carried out.
	At AAP8 in Corballis townland, AAP10 in Rogerstown, AAP14 in Ballykea, AAP19 in Kilmainham/ Barnageeragh and AAP23 in Knocknagin townlands, utility diversions are proposed in greenfield and roadside environments. Full time licenced archaeological monitoring will take place for all earthmoving and or excavation associated with these activities to ensure the identification of discrete archaeological features (if present).
	Seven areas occur in greenfield environments, (AAP7, AAP11, AAP13, AAP15, AAP20, AAP18 and AAP22). Geophysical survey took place at AAP11, AAP18, AAP20. Due to challenging ground conditions and issues with access, it was not possible to carry out the survey in all the proposed areas. It is proposed to carry out test excavation at Corballis (AAP7), Tyrrelstown (AAP13), Hacketstown (AAP15), Barnageeragh (AAP18) and at Hampton Demesne (AAP20) and Bremore (AAP22). A programme of archaeological test trenching will be designed in order to establish the presence or absence, as well as the nature and extent, of any archaeological deposits that may be present within the landtake of these areas of archaeological potential (AAPs).











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Archaeology and Cultural Heritage
	Should any subsurface archaeological stratigraphy associated with this constraint be encountered, an appropriate ameliorative strategy will be implemented. This will entail avoidance by design or licensed archaeological excavation in full or part of any identified archaeological remains (preservation by record).
	This assessment will take place prior to construction within the footprint of the proposed ground breaking works, for example, the construction of a Construction Compound, substation and permanent access tracks etc.
	Utility diversions are proposed at AAP12 in proximity to an enclosure (DU008-011) and at AAP16 in Milverton townland where burials have been revealed in the same townland. Works have been minimised in both these areas. At AAP12 in Effelstown, full time licenced archaeological monitoring will take place for the installation of the single ESB pole and to ensure the identification of discrete archaeological features (if present). At Milverton, geophysical survey took place at AAP16 and no clear archaeological responses were detected. Archaeological monitoring will take place during the construction works to ensure the identification of discrete archaeological features (if present).
20.6.3.4	Zone D – South of Gormanston Station (Fingal border) to County Meath/County Louth border
	Thirteen areas of archaeological potential (AAP24, AAP36) have been identified in Zone D, as listed in Table 20-23.
	Nine areas (AAP24, AAP25, AAP26 - Gormanston, AAP27 - Irishtown, AAP30, AAP31 – Ninch, AAP32 – Sevitsland (area has been topsoil stripped and is disturbed) and AAP34 and AAP35 Colp East) have been identified as having a general greenfield archaeological potential. It was proposed that a non-invasive geophysical survey take place within these areas. This was carried out, apart from Irishtown, where it was determined that the area was not suitable due to magnetic disturbance. Geophysical anomalies of probable archaeological derivation were detected at Gormanston (AAP26) and this area will be subject to test excavation to verify the nature and extent of the subsurface features.
	It is proposed to carry out test excavation at Gormanston (AAP26), Irishtown (AAP27), Colp East (AAP34), A programme of archaeological test trenching will be designed in order to establish the presence or absence, as well as the nature and extent, of any archaeological deposits that may be present within the landtake of these areas of archaeological potential (AAPs).
	Should any subsurface archaeological stratigraphy associated with this constraint be encountered, an appropriate ameliorative strategy will be implemented. This will entail avoidance by design or licensed archaeological excavation in full or part of any identified archaeological remains (preservation by record).
	At AAP224 (Gormanston) anomalies were detected but this area of interest will not be impacted by the proposed localised works and it is proposed to condition any future works in this area) to take place under archaeological supervision.
	Archaeological monitoring will take place at AAP25, AAP27, AAP28, AAP29, AAP30, AAP31, AAP, 32, AAP33, AAP34, AAP35 and AAP36).
	For overhead diversions that will require the relocation of poles with overhead cables which will result in localised disturbance and for underground diversions involving trench excavation at AAP25, AAP30, AAP33 archaeological monitoring will take place of any earthmoving works as a result of this Proposed Development.
	At Colp West (AAP36), the lands to the north of the railway have largely been previously archaeologically investigated and as a result of this, it is now proposed to apply a mitigation measure of full time licenced archaeological monitoring for any earthmoving activities within these lands. The lands to the south of the railway, will require tree clearance before any archaeological investigation can take place. Tree clearance and the removal of tree roots will be carried out under archaeological supervision.











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Archaeology and Cultural Heritage
	Two areas have experienced previous disturbance, AAP28 – Corballis, AAP29 River Nanny/ Ninch as such full time licenced archaeological monitoring will take place during earthmoving works associated with these areas of archaeological limited potential. At Corballis (AAP28) trenching is required on either side of the existing railway track and this will be archaeologically monitored.
20.6.3.5	Zone E – Drogheda Station and surrounds
	Large scale earthmoving activities are to take place around Drogheda Station in greenfield and brownfield environments and throughout the existing infrastructure and railway lands. Archaeological geophysical survey and test excavation has taken place throughout the agricultural fields to the north of the station where Construction Compounds are proposed. As a result of these surveys, archaeological excavation took place of a newly revealed archaeological site that included an enclosure and four graves located to the east of the proposed Construction Compound along the tree lined boundary with the wastewater treatment plant. No sites were revealed within the proposed Construction Compound areas. In greenfield and brownfield areas within and surrounding Drogheda MacBride Station that have not been previously disturbed or investigated, the appropriate level of archaeological investigation will take place in order to identify and provide certainty as to the below ground potential in advance of construction. Full time licenced archaeological monitoring will take place during earthmoving and excavation works associated with works at McBride Station.
	At Newtown, Co Meath and Lagavooren Co Louth (AAP37), a geophysical survey could not take place due to the overgrown nature of the site. Archaeological test excavation is proposed to assess the below ground archaeological potential of these greenfield areas. There are no recorded monuments in the immediate vicinity.
	AAP38 is the site of a well, annotated on the 25-inch OS map (1910) in Newtown townland, overhead wires are located adjacent to this area. Once these wires have been diverted, the area can be cleared from the existing vegetation under archaeological supervision. Archaeological monitoring prior to construction, can then take place to examine if the site of the well exists within this area. If it does exist, it will be archaeologically examined, recorded (drawn and photographed) and digitally located.
20.7	A suitably qualified archaeologist will monitor the areas outlined above during the Construction Phase to ensure that all archaeological heritage remains are identified and recorded.
Operational Phase Mitigation	
20.6.4	No operational mitigation measures are envisioned in relation to archaeology during the Operational Phase of the Proposed Development.
<u>Monitoring</u>	
20.7	A suitably qualified archaeologist will monitor the areas outlined above during the Construction Phase and all areas requiring excavation works to ensure that all archaeological heritage remains are identified and recorded.











27.2.16 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Architectural Heritage

The table below describes the mitigation and monitoring measures for Chapter 21 (Architectural Heritage).

Table 27-17 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Architectural Heritage

EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Architectural Heritage
Mitigation Meas	Sures
Construction P	hase Mitigation
21.7.1	Proposed mitigation measures for architectural heritage features are outlined below and detailed in Appendix A21.1 in Volume 4 of this EIAR. The methodology has been prepared in accordance with the Architectural Heritage Protection: Guidelines for Planning Authorities (DEHLG 2011).
21.7.1.1	Direct Impacts
	Five locations were identified where the Proposed Development would directly impact on sensitive architectural heritage fabric and where there will be a moderate impact in the unmitigated case.
	The works associated with the Clongriffin Turnback require a new loop line to be installed to the east of the existing tracks. The East Loop over the Mayne River will require a new bridge adjacent to BH-24 (UBB19-UBB19A) to cross the river and adjacent path. The existing railway bridge (UBB19-UBB19A) at this location comprises a twin masonry arch structure with a dividing wall between the arches. The bridge is listed as a protected structure in Fingal County Council's Development Plan 2023-2029 (FCC RPS 0919). The proposed bridge will directly adjoin the existing and comprises a low profiled reinforced concrete arch structure. The direct impact is on the embankment rather than the stone bridge structure. Mitigation includes recording the existing fabric in position prior to the works. Recording is to be undertaken by an appropriate architectural heritage specialist engaged by the appointed contractor. The architectural heritage specialist will oversee works in the vicinity of the masonry bridge. Works to historic fabric will be carried out in accordance with the methodology provided in Appendix A21.1 in Volume 4 of this EIAR.
	 OHLE support works are to be carried out on UBB36, Rogerstown Viaduct (BH-61), a Protected Structure of medium sensitivity. The deck of the bridge has previously been replaced with a concrete structure. Direct impacts will be on the deck. The end piers, which are of heritage interest will also require alteration to facilitate the OHLE masts. Mitigation includes recording the existing fabric in position prior to the works. Recording is to be undertaken by an appropriate architectural heritage specialist engaged by the appointed contractor. The masonry is to be salvaged for repair and conservation works on the scheme.
	 A new substation (north Skerries) is proposed at Barnageeragh. An access gate is proposed which will result in the removal of a section of walling associated with the small early 19th century settlement at Barnageeragh (BH-88). The proposed Mitigation includes recording the existing fabric in position prior to the works. Recording is to be undertaken by an appropriate architectural heritage specialist engaged by the appointed contractor. Following the creation of the 20m gate, the wall on either side of the gate shall be repaired. The masonry from the removed section is to be salvaged for repair and conservation works to the retained portions of the wall. OHLE support works are to be carried out on the UBB56, Balbriggan Railway Viaduct (BH-101), a Protected Structure of medium sensitivity. Mitigation includes recording the existing fabric in position prior to the works and labelling the affected masonry and fabric. Recording is to be undertaken by an appropriate architectural heritage specialist engaged by the appointed contractor. The architectural heritage specialist will oversee any labelling, taking down and reinstatement of the affected masonry.





Iarnród Éireann Irish Rail





EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Architectural Heritage
	 OHLE support works are to be carried out on the UBB72, Laytown Railway Viaduct (BH-129), a Protected Structure of medium sensitivity. Mitigation includes recording the existing fabric in position prior to the works and labelling the affected fabric. Recording is to be undertaken by an appropriate architectural heritage specialist engaged by the appointed contractor. The architectural heritage specialist will oversee any labelling, taking down and reinstatement of the affected fabric.
	 It is proposed to remove and replace OBB80/OBB80A/OBB80B (BH-141) which are of architectural heritage interest as they are noted on historic maps. Because there is limited scope for mitigation where bridges are being removed in their entirety, the magnitude of impact remains high.
	The canopy over the south platform Drogheda MacBride Station (BH-146) is to be altered to accommodate the proposed overhead wires. Mitigation includes recording the existing fabric in position prior to the works and labelling the affected masonry and fabric. Recording is to be undertaken by an appropriate architectural heritage specialist engaged by the appointed contractor. The architectural heritage specialist will oversee any labelling, taking down and reinstatement of the affected masonry.
21.7.1.2	Indirect Impacts
	 A Construction Compound is proposed to the North and south of the UBB19, Mayne River Cattle Pass (BH-24), a Protected Structure of medium sensitivity. A new bridge is also proposed to the east There is potential for damage to the bridge during construction. Mitigation to offset the risk of damage will include recording, protection, and monitoring of the sensitive fabric prior to, and for the duration of the Construction Phase.
	• OHLE support works are to be carried out on the UBB30, Malahide Viaduct (BH-45), a Protected Structure of medium sensitivity. There is potential for damage to the piers during the works the magnitude of which is medium. Mitigation to offset the risk of damage will include recording, protection, and monitoring of the sensitive fabric prior to, and for the duration of the Construction Phase.
	 A construction compound is proposed at UBB56, Balbriggan Railway Viaduct (BH-105), Which is of medium sensitivity. There is potential for damage to the bridge during construction. Mitigation to offset the risk of damage will include recording, protection, and monitoring of the sensitive fabric prior to, and for the duration of the Construction Phase.
	It is proposed to replace the deck of the Bridge UBK1 with a wider structure on the Dublin Road Drogheda (BH-144) in order to facilitate the new platform, stabling line and turnback facility. The deck is a 20th century steel structure of low sensitivity but rests on 19th century pier abutments which are of architectural heritage interest and noted on historic maps. The pier abutments are of medium sensitivity. The pier abutments will also be modified or extended southward to allow space for the new platform as part of the works. There is potential for damage to the pier abutments during the Construction Phase. The design of the new bridge abutments will be sympathetic to the existing abutments to ensure that the bridge design has less of a visual impact on the bridge and station. Mitigation to offset the risk of damage will also include recording, protection, and monitoring of the sensitive fabric prior to, and for the duration of the Construction Phase.
	 Works are proposed to replace OBB81, a pedestrian footbridge (BH-146), in Drogheda MacBride Station (DB 055, 396-9). It is also proposed to alter the canopy on the south platform. The erection of OHLE infrastructure, excavation, and stabling works and Construction Compounds in the grounds of the Station all have the potential to indirectly impact the station buildings, particularly the station building and the stairs to the bridge. Mitigation to offset the risk of damage will include recording, protection, and monitoring of the sensitive fabric prior to, and for the duration of the Construction Phase.





larnród Éireann Irish Rail





EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Architectural Heritage	
Operational Phase Mitigation		
21.7.2	Considering the measures that have been inherently included in the design of the Proposed Development to reduce or to avoid impacting on the settings of the identified sites, buildings and features, all pre-mitigation impacts during the Operational Phase are Slight or Not Significant and therefore no mitigation measures are required during the Operational Phase.	
<u>Monitoring</u>		
	No specific monitoring is required.	

27.2.17 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Electromagnetic Effects & Stray Current

The table below describes the mitigation and monitoring measures for Chapter 22 (Electromagnetic Effects and Stray Current).

Table 27-18 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Electromagnetic Effects and Stray Current

EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Electromagnetic Effects and Stray Current
Mitigation Measures	s
22.6.1	Overline Structures
	During the ongoing design of the proposed railway electrification project in the Northern Line, the assessment is done to determine the need to bond overline structures to the traction return system using a Voltage Limiting Device (VLD) and/or utilize traction bonded flashover plates. The need for these measures mainly depends on the following factors:
	• The material of the structure, such as stone, brick, steel, etc.
	• The clearance planned between the bridge soffit and the contact wire.
22.6.3	Buried Services (Electrical Cables)
	The presence of buried electrical cables that are typically insulated mitigates the risk of increased stray current flow. Insulation acts as a barrier, preventing the unwanted flow of current into the surrounding environment. As a result, the likelihood of stray current causing significant issues such as corrosion or damage to railway and third-party assets is reduced. The insulation effectively contains the electrical currents within the cables, minimizing their impact on nearby structures and underground metallic services.
22.6.4	Buried Services (Gas/Water/Sewage Mains)
	The presence of underground metallic services may increase the occurrence of stray current flow from the DC traction return system, which can potentially cause corrosion or damage to railway and third-party assets. To mitigate this issue, the following measures have been taken into consideration in the ongoing Design Phase, as well as for the specification of construction requirements:
	 Renewing pads between tracks and sleepers to enhance the rail-to-earth resistance, if determined by an assessment of the conditions of the existing pads. This can help limit the flow of stray current through the rail system.
	• Whenever deemed appropriate, implementing collection mats, which are designed to collect and redirect stray current away from sensitive areas. These mats provide an alternative path for the current, reducing the risk of corrosion or damage to assets.





larnród Éireann Irish Rail





EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Electromagnetic Effects and Stray Current
	Whenever deemed appropriate, using sacrificial anodes, which are designed to corrode over time instead of the metallic assets they are protecting. These anodes can help divert stray current and protect vulnerable structures from corrosion.
	It is also worth mentioning that the Proposed Development has set a requirement for the D&B Contractor to provide rail fasteners with a high insulation level that counteract as much as possible the loss over time of the insulation level of the rail fasteners due to mechanical, thermal, and chemical aging of materials, as well as the pollution due to intensive use of tracks.
Monitoring	
22.7	A stray current monitoring system will be implemented at each traction substation in the DART+ Coastal North project. This system will enable continuous monitoring of the rail-to-earth potential along the railway line. Dedicated monitoring locations, typically located at the traction substations, will be used to measure the rail potential (electrical potential of the rails with respect to earth). The purpose of this monitoring is twofold:
	• To ensure that the electrification system does not generate excessive levels of stray current that could cause issues or disruptions.
	• To verify that the mitigation measures implemented by the design and construction teams are functioning correctly and are compliant with the EN 50122-2 standard.
	For the DART+ Coastal North project, a centralized data acquisition system is anticipated to be utilized for the stray current monitoring. This will facilitate the transfer of monitoring data to the IÉ SET (Signalling, Electrification and Telecommunications) Department for analysis and further evaluation.

27.2.18 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Human Health

The table below describes the mitigation and monitoring measures for Chapter 23 (Human Health).

Table 27-19 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Human Health

EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Human Health		
Mitigation Measures			
Construction Phase Mitigation			
26.6.1	No additional human health mitigation measures are proposed other than those outlined in other chapters of this EIAR.		
Operational Phase Mitigation			
23.6.2	No additional human health mitigation measures are proposed other than those outlined in other chapters of this EIAR.		
<u>Monitoring</u>	Monitoring		
Construction Phase I	Monitoring		
23.7.1	No additional human health monitoring measures are proposed other than those outlined in other chapters of this EIAR.		
Operational Phase Monitoring			
23.7.2	No additional human health monitoring measures are proposed other than those outlined in other chapters of this EIAR.		





27.2.19 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Major Accidents and Disasters

The table below describes the mitigation and monitoring measures for Chapter 24 (Major Accidents and Disasters).

Table 27-20 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Major Accidents and disasters

EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Major Accidents and disasters
Mitigation Measures	
Construction Phase M	<i>litigation</i>
24.5.3 (Table 24-8)	Major Road Traffic Accidents
	 A Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) has been prepared and will be further developed in consultation with larnród Éireann and the respective local authority prior to the commencement of the Construction Phase and implemented during the Construction Phase.
	 A Mobility Management Plan has been included and will be further developed as part of the CTMP and will address all modes of transport and travel required to deliver the project during the Construction Phase. This will include details regarding construction workers travelling to site, car-parking, haulage routes and construction compounds to reduce potential effects (incl. traffic accidents) caused due to construction traffic and residential neighbourhoods.
	 All accesses to the worksite and the compounds will be signposted, and anyone outside the work will be prohibited, installing the necessary perimeter fences and the necessary warning signs.
	 The necessary traffic signs will be placed outside the work to warn pedestrian and vehicle traffic of the risks involved in the work. Similarly, the necessary protections and notices will be placed, in specific cases in which the circulation through the annexed streets is affected.
	All HGV drivers will be provided with appropriate safety awareness training.
24.5.3 (Table 24-8)	Collapse/Damage to Structures
	Stakeholder consultations with owners of sensitive structures / buildings.
	 Monitoring of existing historic / sensitive structures during construction to ensure their stability and durability.
	• Where appropriate, sensitive structures at risk from construction works will be protected.
	 A CEMP and an Incident Response Plan (IRP) have been prepared and will be further developed and implemented during construction so as to manage the risk of collapse / damage to structures.
	 Mitigation measures in relation to vibration identified in EIAR Chapter 14 (Noise & Vibration) will be adhered to.
24.5.3 (Table 24-8)	Ground Collapse
	 A CEMP and an Incident Response Plan (IRP) have been prepared and will be further developed and implemented during construction, so as to manage the risk of collapse/ damage to structures.
24.5.3 (Table 24-8)	Fire/Explosion
	The risk is managed through the CEMP and IRP.
	Hot Work Permit procedure will be followed.
	All construction compounds and construction sites will have 24/7 security.











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Major Accidents and disasters
	Explosive materials will not be stored on construction site /compounds overnight.
	 Transportation of explosives will be subject to prior agreement. When transportation of these materials is required, appropriate security measures will be implemented such as escort by An Garda Síochána.
24.5.3 (Table 24-8)	Industrial Accidents (works near Seveso site)
	 The Proposed Development cannot provide offsite mitigation measures however, TII's protocols for the management of major accidents will be followed in an event there is an incident at a nearby Seveso sites.
24.5.3 (Table 24-8)	Extreme Weather (Flooding) Events
	 As is normal practice with infrastructure projects a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been prepared for the Proposed Development. This will be further developed prior to construction and will be fully implemented during the Construction Phase.
	• Monitoring of weather forecasts to ensure that necessary actions will be implemented in time at construction sites prior to prolonged / extreme weather events.
	 An emergency response plan may be drawn up including appropriate response measures for such Extreme Weather (Flooding) situations.
24.5.3 (Table 24-8)	Spillage or long-term seepage of pollutants into a watercourse
	 As is normal practice with infrastructure projects, a CEMP has been prepared for the Proposed Development. This will be further developed prior to construction and will be fully implemented during the Construction Phase. An Incident Response Plan is included as part of the CEMP detailing the procedures to be undertaken in the event of spillage of chemical, fuel or other hazardous wastes, non-compliance with any permit or license, or other such risks that could lead to a pollution incident, including flood risks.
	 The Environmental Manager will prepare Method Statements for construction works as detailed in the CEMP to be undertaken on, over or near water in consultation with Inland Fisheries Ireland (IFI) and other relevant authorities as necessary.
	• Mitigation measures identified in Chapter 8 (Biodiversity), Chapter 10 (Water), and Chapter 11 (Hydrogeology) in Volume 2 of this EIAR will be fully implemented.
	 During construction, cognisance will have to be taken of the following guidance documents for construction work on, over or near water:
	 Requirements for the Protection of Fisheries Habitat during Construction and Development Works at River Sites (Eastern Regional Fisheries Board).
	 Central Fisheries Board Channels and Challenges – The enhancement of Salmonid Rivers.
	 CIRIA C532 Control of Water Pollution from Construction Sites Guidance for Consultants and Contractors.
	 CIRIA C648 Control of Water Pollution from Constructional Sites.
	Guidelines for the Crossing of Watercourses during the Construction of National Road Schemes (TII, 2006).
24.5.3 (Table 24-8)	Human Disease
	• The contractor will provide site operatives with appropriate first aid material. All site operatives will be advised to wear steel toe cap boots with trousers to be tucked inside along with appropriate PPE such as gloves and headwear. All site operatives should be advised of the importance of washing hands before eating to avoid the risk of contracting Weils disease and other water borne diseases.











EIAR Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures for Major Accidents and disasters
	Government and HSE health and safety guidelines will be adhered to in relation to Covid-19 in workplaces to reduce the spread of the virus amongst the construction workers.
Operational Phase M	itigation
24.5.3 (Table 24-8)	Train Derailment
	 Appropriate training will be provided to all relevant staff members for operation of the electrified train fleet.
	 All relevant staff members shall familiarise themselves with Section Z Electrified Lines of the IÉ Rule Book prior to operating the fleet.
	• Operation and maintenance manuals will be made available to staff as early as possible.
	 A dedicated Major Incident Response Plan has been developed by larnród Éireann for the DART+ Coastal North project to identify the appropriate emergency response plans in event of an incident.
	 Appropriate back up procedures will be prepared and implemented in an event of an incident.
	 Periodic inspections and maintenance (as required) of the rail line in accordance with larnród Éireann (IÉ) Standards which include, but not limited to, the following:
	 IÉ CCE-TMS-363 Requirements for the Rail Testing Vehicle.
	 IÉ CCE-TMS-360 Track and Structures Inspection Requirements.
	 IÉ CCE-TMS-320 Track Quality Standard.
	 International Union of Railways (UIC) Code 712 R Rail Defects
	Design measures for the DART+ Coastal North project have been accepted by the Commission for Railway Regulation (CRR) in order for licence to be granted.
24.5.3 (Table 24-8)	Building/Failure Fire
	• Fire Safety Strategies outlining measure to be implemented in the event of a fire will be prepared for the proposed substations and be submitted for approval to the relevant authorities.
24.5.3 (Table 24-8)	Extreme Weather (Flooding) Events
	 Ongoing consultation and cooperation with local authorities and the Office of Public Works (OPW).
	 Inspections and maintenance (as applicable) of the drainage system and the compensatory storage areas.
	 A dedicated Major Incident Response Plan has been developed by larnród Éireann for the DART+ Coastal North project to identify the appropriate emergency response plans in event of flooding.
24.5.3 (Table 24-8)	Industrial Accidents – Seveso sites
	• The Proposed Development cannot provide offsite mitigation measures however, TII's protocols for the management of major accidents will be followed in an event there is an incident at a nearby Seveso sites.
Monitoring	
	No specific monitoring is required.









27.2.20 Interactions

Interactions occur between many of the environmental factors. The assessments for each of the environmental factors undertaken in this EIAR have considered, and taken cognisance of these direct, indirect, cumulative, and synergistic interactions during both the Construction Phase and the Operational Phase of the Proposed Development. The individual environmental assessments have identified appropriate mitigation measures to address these interactions to avoid, reduce or mitigate likely significant environmental effects which are described, and residual effects identified in the respective specialist chapters of this EIAR. Therefore, no additional mitigation is proposed in this chapter.

27.2.21 Natura Impact Statement

In addition to the mitigation and monitoring measures included in the EIAR, specific mitigation is identified within the Natura Impact Statement (NIS) which accompanies the Railway Order application, in order to ensure that there are no significant effects on European sites¹ as a result of the Proposed Development. For completeness, mitigation and monitoring measures included in the NIS are detailed below.

NIS Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures from the NIS
Mitigation Measures	
Construction Phase I	<u>Nitigation</u>
7.1	Malahide Estuary SAC [000205], Rogerstown Estuary SAC [000208], North Dublin Bay SAC [000206], South Dublin Bay SAC [000210] and Baldoyle Bay SAC [000199]
7.1.12	Mitigation Measures
7.1.12.1	 Measures to Protect Surface Water Quality during Construction Surface water protections are included within the Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) which outlines appropriate mitigation measures for the Construction Phase (See Appendix 1.7). This includes measures relating to: A requirement for a Pollution Incident Response Plan; Construction Compound management including the storage of any fuels and materials; Control of Sediments; Use of concrete; and Management of vehicles and plant including refuelling and wheel wash facilities, etc.

Table 27-21 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures from the Natura Impact Statement

¹ The Natura 2000 network of sites are defined under the Habitats Directive (Article 3) as a European ecological network of special areas of conservation, composed of sites hosting the natural habitat types listed in Annex I and species listed in Annex II, and special protection areas classified pursuant to the Birds Directive (2009/147/EC). The aim of the network is to aid the long-term survival of Europe's most valuable and threatened species and habitats. In Ireland, these sites are designed as *European sites* – as defined under the Planning and Development Acts and/or Birds and Habitats Regulations as (a) a candidate site of Community importance, (b) a site of Community importance, (c) a candidate special area of conservation, (d) a special area of conservation, (e) a candidate special protection area, or (f) a special protection area. They are commonly referred to in Ireland as candidate Special Areas of Conservation (cSACs) and Special Protection Areas (SPAs).











NIS Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures from the NIS
	As well as these generic mitigation measures, other specific mitigation and/or monitoring measures may be required, which will include, but will not be limited to:
	 Works in Flood Zones A and B are avoided where possible. In these areas, the Contractor will be required to provide a method statement for the removal of materials and personnel to minimise sediment discharge into the river and risk to personnel during flood events;
	 Construction works in areas prone to flooding are to take place during dry seasons. The Contractor must follow the weather forecast prior to commencing instream works and concrete pouring. It is noted that track levels for the entirety of the development are well above flood levels.
	 Works areas to be kept dry at all times through the use of bunds of non-erodible material adjacent to watercourses to avoid contaminated water entering the watercourse.
	 Settlement tanks, silt traps/bags and bunds will be used where required to remove silt from surface water runoff. Sizing of the tanks will be based on best available guidelines, CIRIA (2006). Any construction work within a 10m buffer zone must be provided with these measures to minimise sediment discharge to a watercourse;
	 Refuelling of all plant, machinery, and vehicles will be undertaken only in designated areas where leaks and spills are can be contained relatively easily. Spill kits will be made available on all temporary and permanent construction sites. Refuelling areas must be kept at least 50m away from any watercourse;
	 Construction materials to be managed in such a way as to effectively minimise the risk posed to the aquatic environment;
	 Construction Compounds and haul roads will avoid high flood risk zones as much as possible and maintain a minimum buffer of 50m from surface watercourses, and
	 Excavated material to be placed in such a way as to avoid any disturbance of areas near to the banks of watercourses and any spillage into the watercourses.
	All of the above measures implemented on site will be monitored throughout the duration of construction/ to ensure that they are working effectively, to implement maintenance measures if required/applicable and to address any potential issues that may arise.
7.1.12.3	Measures to Prevent introduction /spreading of non-native Invasive species during Construction
	The appointed contractor will ensure that a confirmatory pre-construction invasive species survey will be undertaken by a suitably qualified specialist to confirm the absence and/or extent of all Third Schedule invasive species within the footprint of the Proposed Development. Where an infestation is confirmed / identified within the footprint of the Proposed Development, this will require the implementation of the measures detailed in the Non-Native Invasive Species Management Plan (See Appendix 1.5 of the NIS).
	Non-native Invasive Species Management Plan (ISMP)
	Where a pre-construction invasive species survey identifies newly established non-native invasive species within the footprint of the Proposed Development, the ISMP, as shown in Appendix 1.5, will be updated to provide a detailed description of the new infestations (e.g. approximate area of the respective colonies (m ²), where feasible; approximate total number of stems, pattern of growth and information on other vegetation present), and where necessary, include calculations of volumes of infested soils to be excavated.











NIS Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures from the NIS
	The ISMP for the Proposed Development will be implemented, including confirmation following the preconstruction survey the appropriate treatment methodology including the detailed control measures contained within it, as advised by a suitably qualified specialist, in accordance with the Transport Infrastructure Ireland's (TII 2020) The Management of Invasive Alien Plant Species on National Roads - Technical Guidance) (2020a) and The Management of Invasive Alien Plant Species on National Roads – Standard (TII 2020b) and other species-specific guidance documents including those listed in the non-native ISMP, in so far as they can be applied to the Proposed Development, and as necessary. The appointed contractor will ensure that all control measures that may be specified in the non-native ISMP shall be implemented by a suitably qualified and licenced specialist prior to the construction of the Proposed Development to control the spread of newly established non-native invasive species within the footprint of the Proposed Development. Furthermore, the appointed contractor will adhere to control measures specified within the Non-Native ISMP throughout the construction phase of the Proposed Development.
	I he site will be monitored by the appointed contractor in consultation with the suitably qualified and licensed specialist after the control measures have been implemented. Any re-growth will be subsequently treated as detailed in the Proposed Development ISMP.
7.1.12.5	Measures to prevent habitat degradation as a result of air quality impacts
	Before commencing relevant works, an air quality management plan shall be prepared by the contractor and submitted for approval to the relevant planning authorities. The plan must include all appropriate dust and emissions mitigation measures, applicable to the circumstances of the relevant site, based on the local authority requirements and industry best practices. Dublin City Council (DCC) guidance document titled <i>Air Quality Monitoring and Noise Control Unit's Good Practice Guide for Construction and Demolition</i> (DCC 2018) has been taken into consideration with respect to mitigation dust measures.
	The plan will be developed by the contractor and for each worksite shall include:
	An inventory and timetable of activities which may give rise to emissions or dust;
	Alert levels;
	 Alert system to be used (including notification process);
	Details of control measures; and
	 Details of dust monitoring arrangements, including the location of sensitive receptors, monitoring locations, and monitoring equipment to be used.
	In summary, the measures which will be implemented shall include:
	 Material handling systems and site stockpiling of materials will be designed and laid out to minimise exposure to wind. Water misting or sprays will be used as required if particularly dusty activities are necessary during dry or windy periods;
	Liaison with local authorities and community groups;
	Hoarding will be provided around the Construction Compounds; and
	 It is anticipated that methods of collecting rainwater and recycling for general site use, will be adopted where practical. Strict dust prevention will always be in place, to minimise any potential emissions and these procedures will be strictly monitored and assessed. In the event of dust nuisance occurring outside the site boundary, movements of materials likely to raise dust will be curtailed and satisfactory procedures implemented to rectify the problem before the resumption of construction operations.
	Construction Phase Traffic Mitigation Measures
	The modelling of road traffic for impacts on human and ecological receptors has found no significant impacts that require mitigation measures with respect to the modelling of emissions (reference the assessment). However, some mitigation measures can be put in place to minimise fugitive emissions:











NIS Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures from the NIS
	 Implement a policy which prevents idling of vehicles both on and off-site including HGV holding sites;
	 Construction Phase traffic should be monitored to ensure construction vehicles are using the designated haul routes;
	 The contractor must adhere to defined traffic routes as noted in the Construction Traffic Management Plan;
	Efficient scheduling of deliveries to minimise number of truck movements;
	 Construction vehicles will conform to the current EU emissions standards and where reasonably practicable, their emissions should meet upcoming standards prior to the legal requirement date for the new standard. This will ensure emissions on haul routes are minimised. Mitigation measures are required for the control of dust with respect to HGV movements onsite with the site and deliveries to/from the site:
	 HGV traffic leaving site will pass through a wheel wash.
	 Public roads outside the site will be regularly inspected for cleanliness and cleaned as necessary. If public roads are deemed to require additional cleaning where possible a suction device for road cleaning will be utilised to access spaces around cars and other street furniture more effectively.
	 During movement of loose material both on and off-site, trucks will be stringently covered with tarpaulin. Before entrance onto public roads, trucks will be adequately inspected to ensure no potential for dust emissions.
7.2	River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC [001957]
7.2.7	Measures to Protect Surface Water Quality during Construction
	The measures presented above in Section 7.1.12 will protect surface water quality during construction of the Proposed Development.
7.2.8	Measures to Prevent introduction /spreading of non-native Invasive species during Construction
	The measures presented above in Section 7.1.12 will prevent the spread of non-native invasive species to downstream European sites during construction of the Proposed Development.











NIS Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures from the NIS
7.2.9	Measures to Protect Otter from Disturbance/Displacement impacts
	Pre-Construction Survey
	 Prior to construction works commencing, the appointed contractor will engage the services of a suitably experienced ecologist to conduct a pre-construction otter survey of the Proposed Development. The survey will be undertaken within 10 months in advance of construction and supplemented by a further inspection of the Proposed Development immediately prior to site clearance to ensure that no new holts have been established in the intervening period. These surveys will be carried out in accordance with <i>Guidelines for the Treatment of Otters Prior to the Construction of National Road Schemes</i> (TII, 2006).
	 Where any new active holts/couches are recorded within 150m of the Proposed Development the appointed ecologist will ensure that adequate mitigation is provided in accordance with Guidelines for the Treatment of Otters Prior to the Construction of National Road Schemes (NRA, 2006), and a derogation licence is sought from the NPWS where necessary.
	Precautionary Mitigation measures for new active holts/couches recorded within 150m of the Proposed Development
	Until such time as otters have been successfully evacuated from active holts, the following provisions will apply to all construction works:
	 No works will be undertaken within 150m of any holts at which breeding females or cubs are present. Until consultation with NPWS, works closer to such breeding holts may take place - provided appropriate mitigation measures detailed below are in place.
	 No wheeled or tracked vehicles (of any kind) will be used within 20m of active, but non- breeding, otter holts. Light work, such as digging by hand or scrub clearance should also not take place within 15m of such holts, except under licence.
	 The prohibited working area associated with otter holts will where appropriate, be fenced with temporary fencing prior to any possibly invasive works. Fencing will be in accordance with Clause 303 of the TII's Specification for Roadworks (TII 2011). Appropriate awareness of the purpose of the enclosure will be conveyed through notification to site staff and sufficient signage should be placed on each exclusion fence. All contractors or operators on site will be made fully aware of the procedures pertaining to each affected holt.
	Ecological Clerk of Works/Retained Ecologist
	 Were a new holt to be encountered within 150 metres (up and downstream) of watercourse crossing, NPWS consultation will be sought, and the services of an Ecological Clerk of Works (EcOW) or retained Ecologist (both with experience with otter survey/mitigation) would be required.
	 The appointed contractor shall employ the services of an EcOW with experience in implementing otter mitigation, to oversee and advise works at watercourse crossings for the Proposed Development (they may also undertake the preconstruction survey). The EcOW will have the authority to:
	 Review method statements;
	 Oversee works;
	 Provide instruction to the appointed contractor(s); and,
	• Require the temporary cessation of works, where necessary.
	 The EcOW will deliver a toolbox talk on biodiversity including otter to the appointed contractor(s) working in the proximity of watercourses. This talk will include instructions on identifying otter and details on the protections afforded to otter under Irish and EU legislation. The EcOW will outline the actions which will be taken by the contractor(s) if otter are noted on or near the Proposed Development during construction works.











NIS Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures from the NIS				
	Measures to Prevent/Reduce Disturbance and Displacement of otters				
	 Night working within/directly adjacent to watercourses where otter are known to commute will be avoided, where possible, and will only be permitted with the prior approval of the planning authority. 				
	 Where night-working adjacent to watercourses known to support otter, is required, the advice of a suitably qualified ecologist/ECoW must be sought and a derogation licence, if necessary, will be sought from NPWS permitting such works. 				
	Measures to Reduce Lighting Impacts to Otter				
	Security lighting in active works areas in close proximity to watercourses with known otter activity will be designed in conjunction with a suitably qualified ecologist to minimise light spill. Similarly, where any new or amended lighting design is required at a watercourse crossing, it should be cognisant of downward light-spill onto watercourses. Measures to reduce light spill may include the following:				
	The use of sensor / timer triggered lighting;				
	 LED luminaires should be used where possible due to their sharp cut-off, lower intensity, good colour rendition and dimming capability; 				
	Column heights should be considered to minimise light spill; and,				
	 Accessories such as baffles, hoods or louvres can be used to reduce light spill and direct it only where needed. 				
7.2.10	Measures to prevent habitat degradation as a result of air quality impacts during construction The measures presented above in Section 7.1.12 will prevent habitat degradation as a result of				
	air quality impacts during construction of the Proposed Development.				
7.3	Boyne Coast and Estuary SAC [001957]				
7.3.6.1	Measures to Protect Surface Water Quality during Construction				
	The mitigation measures presented above in Section 7.1.12. will protect surface water quality during construction of the Proposed Development.				
7.3.6.2	Measures to Prevent the Spread of Invasive Species during Construction				
	The mitigation measures presented above in section 7.1.12 will prevent the spread of invasive species to downstream European sites during the construction of the Proposed Development.				
7.4	Rockabill to Dalkey Island SAC [003000], Lambay Island SAC [000204] & Codling Fault Zone SAC [003015]				
7.4.7.1	Measures to Protect Surface Water Quality during Construction				
	The measures presented above in Section 7.1.12 will protect surface water quality during construction of the Proposed Development.				
7.5	Rogerstown Estuary SPA [004015], Malahide Estuary SPA [004025], Lambay Island SPA [004069], Skerries Islands SPA [004122], Baldoyle Bay SPA [004016], North Bull Island SPA [004006], South Dublin and River Tolka Estuary SPA [004024], River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA [004158], Boyne Estuary SPA [004080], River Boyne and River Blackwater SPA [004232], Howth Head Coast SPA [004113], Dalkey Island SPA [004172], Dundalk Bay SPA [004026], Ireland's Eye SPA [004117], Rockabill SPA [004014], The Murrough SPA [004186], and Stabannan-Braganstown SPA [004091], and the North-West Irish Sea SPA [004236]				
7.5.22.1	Measures to Protect Surface Water Quality during Construction				











NIS Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures from the NIS		
	The measures presented above in Section 7.1.12 will protect surface water quality during construction of the Proposed Development.		
7.5.22.2	Measures to Prevent the Spread of Invasive Species during Construction		
	The mitigation measures presented above in section 7.1.12 will prevent the spread of invasive species to European sites during construction of the Proposed Development.		
7.5.22.3	Measures to prevent disturbance and displacement of SCI species		
	Where a site Construction Compound is required, its location relative to the Proposed Development is likely to be adjacent to the potential foraging areas. The appointed contractor will undertake the establishment of the following Construction Compounds outside of the wintering bird season (October to March):		
	CC-16100 Malahide (Caves Strand)		
	CC-15900W Malahide (Bissets Strand)		
	CC-52050, CC-51800, CC-51900 Drogheda Substation/Compounds		
	CC-44900 Laytown Construction Compound		
	CC-32200 Skerries Substation/Compound		
	CC 40200 Gormanston Construction Compound		
	In addition, the Construction Compound in Malahide (CC-16100 Caves Strand), and the utilities compound in Laytown (CC- 44390E) will only be in use outside of the wintering bird season (October to March, inclusive) to ensure there are no disturbance related impacts to wintering birds foraging and roosting in the surrounding habitats.		
	As a further precautionary measures, the design of the lighting will ensure that light-spill will not occur in the direction of any adjacent fields. Mitigation measures to reduce light spill will include the following:		
	The use of sensor/timer triggered lighting;		
	LED luminaires to be used where practicable;		
	Column heights to be considered to minimise light spill; and		
	 Accessories such as baffles, hoods or louvres to be used to reduce light spill and direct it only where needed. 		
7.6	Seas Off Wexford SPA [004237], Wicklow Head SPA [004127], and Saltee Islands SPA [004002]		
7.6.7.1	Measures to Protect Surface Water Quality during Construction		
	The measures presented above in Section 7.1.12 will protect surface water quality during construction of the Proposed Development.		
Operational Phase Mi	tigation		
7.1	Malahide Estuary SAC [000205], Rogerstown Estuary SAC [000208], North Dublin Bay SAC [000206], South Dublin Bay SAC [000210] and Baldoyle Bay SAC [000199]		











NIS Section Reference	Descriptio	on of Mitigation a	nd Monito	ring Meas	sures fron	n the NIS	
7.1.12.2	Measures to Protect S	urface Water Qua	ality durin	g the Ope	erational F	Phase	
	Maintenance of the raily during the Operational F best practice procedure	vay and substatior Phase. Maintenand s to ensure that no	ns will be c ce activitie o additiona	on-going to s will be ir Il risks to v	o ensure th accordan vaterbodie	ne risks ar ice with la is are enc	e minimised rnród Éireann ountered.
	larnród Éireann will also procedures which assis flooding events, these in	o follow and impler t in managing floo nclude:	ment its flo d risk for ro	od risk ma olling stocl	anagemen k during in	t operatior clement w	nal veather and
	• CCE-TMS-311 -	Irish Rail Weather	r Managen	nent Proce	edures (20	17);	
	CCE-TEB-2014- Weather Events	05 - Guidance On ; and;	Alerts And	d Service I	Restriction	s During A	Adverse
	• CME-TMS-001-0	008 - Operation Of	Í IÉ RU Ro	lling Stock	On Flood	led Track	(2016).
	These procedures spec	ify how larnród Éir	eann:				
	Monitors and dis	seminates applica	ble weath	er warning	s from Me	t Éireann;	
	 Prepares and im weather events; 	plements local we	ather man	agement	plans for p	redicted a	dverse
	Sets out recomn tracks: and	nended flood level	limits for t	heir rolling	stock pas	sing over	flooded
	Sets out actions water alerts are	to be undertaken	by duty ma	anagers, d	rivers, sig	nallers etc	when high
	NIS. The limits have be against the risk of a trai change depending on th operate over flooded tra Department. Electric Mu this study; however dies identified within the prod is approximately 170mm	en set to avoid dan n becoming disabl ne track and weath ack until permitted ultiple Units (EMUs sel units will contin cedure for the EMU n deep from groun	mage to cr ed in a floo ner conditio to do so b s) are the t ue to use J is the top d level.	itical onbo oded area ons. It is in y larnród I ype of roll the railway o of the rai	ard equipi . The limits nportant to Éireann's I ing stock o / line. The lway track	ment and s are also o note that nfrastructu of primary maximum . A typical	to mitigate subject to no trains may ure concern for h limit railway track
		22000	29000	2600 2800	LOCO	EMU	1
	Top of	rail+170mm	STOP				
	Top of	Smph (Bkph) rail+100mm	Smph (Bkph)	STOP	STOP		
	Touch	Smph (Okehr)	Smph (8kph)	Smph (ökph)	Smph (Bkph)	STOP	
	Bottom	Smph (8kph) n of rail head	Smph (8kph)	Smph (8kph)	Smph (8kph)	Smph (8kph)	E E
	Half ra	il height Speed	Line Speed	Line Speed	Line Speed	Smph (Skph)	.170r
		Line Speed	Line Speed	Line Speed	Line Speed	Line Speed	Approx
	Figure 27-1 Iarnróc Condition	I Eireann RU Roll	ing Stock	Operatin	g Proced	ure on Flo	ooded Track











NIS Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures from the NIS
7.1.12.4	Measures to Prevent introduction /spreading of non-native Invasive species during Operation
	Once the Proposed Development is in operation, and in the absence of any required management during the Construction Phase, which might extend into the Operational Phase depending on the method of eradication used, larnród Éireann will implement a maintenance and management regime subject to their current management procedures for trackway maintenance, where any introduction of non-native invasive plant species are managed, across their assets or the ongoing control and management of invasive species on their network. This includes the following documents, which can be found in Appendix 1.6:
	Control and Management of Vegetation;
	Identification and Control of Japanese Knotweed; and
	Identification and Control of Giant Hogweed.
7.2	River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC [001957]
7.2.7	Measures to Protect Surface Water Quality during Operation
	The measures presented above in Section 7.1.12 will protect surface water quality during operation of the Proposed Development.
7.2.8	Measures to Prevent introduction /spreading of non-native Invasive species during Operation
	The measures presented above in Section 7.1.12 will prevent the spread of non-native invasive species to downstream European sites during operation of the Proposed Development.
7.3	Boyne Coast and Estuary SAC [001957]
7.3.6.1	Measures to Protect Surface Water Quality during Operation
	The mitigation measures presented above in Section 7.1.12 will protect surface water quality during operation of the Proposed Development.
7.3.6.2	Measures to Prevent the Spread of Invasive Species during Operation
	The mitigation measures presented above in section 7.1.12 will prevent the spread of invasive species to downstream European sites during the operation of the Proposed Development.
7.4	Rockabill to Dalkey Island SAC [003000],Lambay Island SAC [000204] & Codling Fault Zone SAC [003015]
7.4.7.1	Measures to Protect Surface Water Quality during Operation
	The measures presented above in Section 7.1.12 will protect surface water quality during operation of the Proposed Development.
7.5	Rogerstown Estuary SPA [004015], Malahide Estuary SPA [004025], Lambay Island SPA [004069], Skerries Islands SPA [004122], Baldoyle Bay SPA [004016], North Bull Island SPA [004006], South Dublin and River Tolka Estuary SPA [004024], River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA [004158], Boyne Estuary SPA [004080], River Boyne and River Blackwater SPA [004232], Howth Head Coast SPA [004113], Dalkey Island SPA [004172], Dundalk Bay SPA [004026], Ireland's Eye SPA [004117], Rockabill SPA [004014], The Murrough SPA [004186], and Stabannan-Braganstown SPA [004091], and the North-West Irish Sea cSPA [004236]
7.5.22.1	Measures to Protect Surface Water Quality during Operation
	The measures presented above in Section 7.1.12 will protect surface water quality during operation of the Proposed Development.
7.5.22.2	Measures to Prevent the Spread of Invasive Species during Operation











NIS Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures from the NIS
	The mitigation measures presented above in section 7.1.12 will prevent the spread of invasive species to European sites during operation of the Proposed Development.
7.5.22.4	Measures to prevent direct injury/mortality of SCI bird species during Operation
	The following mitigation shall be implemented for the protection of SCI species. The feeder wire along both sides of the new Single-Track Cantilever OHLE masts will be fitted with a device to make lines more visible to commuting, foraging and migrating SCI species. Although the information surrounding the efficacy of bird diverters with a species-specific focus is limited, a wide range of wire marking devices can been used, generally falling into three basic designs; aerial marker spheres, spirals, and suspended devices (swinging, flapping, and fixed) (APLIC, 2012). The hanging device is proposed here (Figure 27-2) as it is universal, cost-effective, allows easy installation, remains in position in severe weather conditions and fits a range of conductors/wires. Like other diverters (because there are few comparative studies), there is extensive field studies (Prinsen et al., 2011) showing that when installed properly they can significantly decrease bird strike.
	Hanging devices (e.g. Raptor Clamp Diverter, Fire Fly) are suspended from the wire with fixed or swinging plates or flappers and are designed to increase the visibility of overhead lines and reduce the incidence of bird collisions with overhead cables.
	Figure 27-2 Examples of hanging tabs (APLIC, 2012)
	Specification requirements include (derived from SNH Guidance, 2016):
	• Devices should vary in colour (e.g. black and white), be as reflective as possible with glowing surfaces and be capable of a swinging or flapping motion making them more visible and effective (ESKOM Transmission, 2009) (see Figure 27-2). Devices shall not be restricted in their movement;
	 Devices should be placed 5m apart and staggered on parallel lines. Based on various studies as reported by APLIC (2012) in the United States, data recommends spacing between 4.6 m and 30 m. As this is largely dependent on the extent of the overhead lines which requires mitigation through diversion devices, 10m is considered appropriate for the Viaducts (i.e. Malahide, Rogerstown, Balbriggan), and at areas where there is no tree/building cover leaving the proposed OHLE exposed (i.e. Gormanston Station – Monsey Accommodation centre), along the Proposed Development, as advised in APLIC (2012) report for these types of bird diverter, however they will be spaced so that the devices will be no more than 5m apart on separate lines; Devices should be as large as possible for maximum visibility (i.e. diameter of at least 20
	cm and length of at least 10 to 20cm).











NIS Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures from the NIS
	A study completed by Jenkins et al., (2010) concluded that by line marking with devices that increase visibility of the line, are likely to lower general collision rates of SCI bird species by 50% to 80%. Other studies have also shown a reduction of collision rates by 50% to 94% (Prinsen et al., 2011);
	• Line markers shall require annual maintenance and replacement, ensuring that markers remain in position and functional throughout the lifetime of the Proposed Development.
7.6	Seas Off Wexford SPA [004237], Wicklow Head SPA [004127], and Saltee Islands SPA [004002]
7.6.7.1	Measures to Protect Surface Water Quality during Operation
	The measures presented above in Section 7.1.12 will protect surface water quality during operation of the Proposed Development.

27.3 References

Avian Power Line Interaction Committee (APLIC) (2012). Reducing avian collisions with power lines: the state of the art in 2012. Washington DC: Edison Electric Institute and APLIC.

British Standards Institution (BSI) (2010). BS 3998:2010 'Tree Work - Recommendations'.

British Standards Institution (BSI) (2012) BS 5837:2012 'Trees in relation to in relation to design, demolition and construction. Recommendations'.

CIRIA (2006). Control of water pollution from linear construction projects. Site Guide (C649).

DEHLG (2012). Architectural Heritage Protection: Guidelines for Planning Authorities.

Dublin City Council (DCC) (2016). Air Quality Monitoring and Noise Control Unit's Good Practice Guide for Construction and Demolition.

EN 50122-2:2011. Railway applications - Fixed installations - Electrical safety, earthing and the return circuit -- Part 2: Provisions against the effects of stray currents caused by DC. traction systems.

EPA (2021b). Best Practice Guidelines on the Preparation of Waste Management Plans for Construction and Demolition Projects.

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) (2022). Guidelines on the Information to be Contained in Environmental Impact Assessment Reports. May 2022.

Health and Safety Authority (HSA) (2013). Workplaces: Practical Guidelines on ACM Management and Abatement.

Irish Rail (2017). CCE-TMS-311 - Irish Rail Weather Management Procedures.

Irish Rail (2014). CCE-TEB-2014-05 - Guidance On Alerts And Service Restrictions During Adverse Weather Events.

Irish Rail (2016). CME-TMS-001-008 - Operation Of IE RU Rolling Stock On Flooded Track.





ARUP



NRA (2006). Guidelines for the Treatment of Otters prior to the Construction of National Road Schemes.

TII (2006). Guidelines for the Treatment of Otters prior to the Construction of National Road Schemes

TII (2011) Introduction to the NRA Design Manual for Roads and Bridges.

Scottish Natural Heritage (SNH) (2016) Guidance: Assessing connectivity with Special Protection Areas (SPAs). Version 3.





Appendix B: Natura Impact Statement – Mitigation Measures





CONTENTS

1.	APPENDIX B: NATURA IMPACT STATEMENT (NIS) – MITIGATION MEASURES.	1
1.1	Introduction	1

1.2	Mitigation Measures	1
1.2		









1. APPENDIX B: NATURA IMPACT STATEMENT (NIS) – MITIGATION MEASURES

1.1 Introduction

In addition to the mitigation and monitoring measures included in the EIAR, specific mitigation is identified within the Natura Impact Statement (NIS) which accompanies the Railway Order application, in order to ensure that there are no significant effects on European sites¹ as a result of the Proposed Development.

1.2 Mitigation Measures

Table 1-1 presents the mitigation and monitoring measures included in the NIS for the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development. These mitigation measures will be complied with by the Contractor during the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development as far as reasonably practicable.

NIS Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures from the NIS
Mitigation Measures	
Construction Phase M	litigation
7.1	Malahide Estuary SAC [000205], Rogerstown Estuary SAC [000208], North Dublin Bay SAC [000206], South Dublin Bay SAC [000210] and Baldoyle Bay SAC [000199]
7.1.12	Mitigation Measures
7.1.12.1	Measures to Protect Surface Water Quality during Construction Surface water protections are included within the Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) which outlines appropriate mitigation measures for the Construction Phase (See Appendix 1.7). This includes measures relating to:
	 A requirement for a Pollution Incident Response Plan; Construction Compound management including the storage of any fuels and materials; Control of Sediments; Use of concrete; and Management of vehicles and plant including refuelling and wheel wash facilities, etc. As well as these generic mitigation measures, other specific mitigation and/or monitoring measures may be required, which will include, but will not be limited to:

Table 1-1 Mitigation and Monitoring Measures from the Natura Impact Statement

¹ The Natura 2000 network of sites are defined under the Habitats Directive (Article 3) as a European ecological network of special areas of conservation, composed of sites hosting the natural habitat types listed in Annex I and species listed in Annex II, and special protection areas classified pursuant to the Birds Directive (2009/147/EC). The aim of the network is to aid the long-term survival of Europe's most valuable and threatened species and habitats. In Ireland, these sites are designed as *European sites* – as defined under the Planning and Development Acts and/or Birds and Habitats Regulations as (a) a candidate site of Community importance, (b) a site of Community importance, (c) a candidate special area of conservation, (d) a special area of conservation, (e) a candidate special protection area, or (f) a special protection area. They are commonly referred to in Ireland as candidate Special Areas of Conservation (cSACs) and Special Protection Areas (SPAs).











NIS Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures from the NIS
	 Works in Flood Zones A and B are avoided where possible. In these areas, the Contractor will be required to provide a method statement for the removal of materials and personnel to minimise sediment discharge into the river and risk to personnel during flood events; Construction works in areas prone to flooding are to take place during dry seasons. The Contractor must follow the weather forecast prior to commencing instream works and concrete pouring. It is noted that track levels for the entirety of the development are well above flood levels. Works areas to be kept dry at all times through the use of bunds of non-erodible material adjacent to watercourses to avoid contaminated water entering the watercourse. Settlement tanks, silt traps/bags and bunds will be used where required to remove silt from surface water runoff. Sizing of the tanks will be based on best available guidelines, CIRIA (2006). Any construction work within a 10m buffer zone must be provided with these measures to minimise sediment discharge to a watercourse; Refuelling of all plant, machinery, and vehicles will be undertaken only in designated areas where leaks and spills are can be contained relatively easily. Spill kits will be made available on all temporary and permanent construction sites. Refuelling areas must be kept at least 50m away from any watercourse; Construction Compounds and haul roads will avoid high flood risk zones as much as possible and maintain a minimum buffer of 50m from surface watercourses, and Excavated material to be placed in such a way as to avoid any disturbance of areas near to the banks of watercourses and any spillage into the watercourses.
7.1.12.3	Measures to Prevent introduction /spreading of non-native Invasive species during Construction The appointed contractor will ensure that a confirmatory pre-construction invasive species survey will be undertaken by a suitably qualified specialist to confirm the absence and/or extent of all Third Schedule invasive species within the footprint of the Proposed Development. Where an infestation is confirmed / identified within the footprint of the Proposed Development, this will require the implementation of the measures detailed in the Non-Native Invasive Species Management Plan (See Appendix 1.5 of this NIS. <i>Non-native Invasive Species Management Plan (ISMP)</i> Where a pre-construction invasive species survey identifies newly established non-native invasive species within the footprint of the Proposed Development, the ISMP, as shown in Appendix 1.5 of the NIS, will be updated to provide a detailed description of the new infestations (e.g. approximate area of the respective colonies (m ²), where feasible; approximate total number of stems, pattern of growth and information on other vegetation present), and where necessary, include calculations of volumes of infested soils to be excavated. The ISMP for the Proposed Development will be implemented, including confirmation following the preconstruction survey the appropriate treatment methodology including the detailed control measures contained within it, as advised by a suitably qualified specialist, in accordance with the Transport Infrastructure Ireland's (TII 2020) The Management of Invasive Alien Plant Species on National Roads – Standard (TII 2020b) and other species-specific guidance documents including those listed in the non-native ISMP, in so far as they can be applied to the Proposed Development and as











NIS Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures from the NIS
	The appointed contractor will ensure that all control measures that may be specified in the non-native ISMP shall be implemented by a suitably qualified and licenced specialist prior to the construction of the Proposed Development to control the spread of newly established non-native invasive species within the footprint of the Proposed Development. Furthermore, the appointed contractor will adhere to control measures specified within the Non-Native ISMP throughout the construction phase of the Proposed Development.
	The site will be monitored by the appointed contractor in consultation with the suitably qualified and licensed specialist after the control measures have been implemented. Any re-growth will be subsequently treated as detailed in the Proposed Development ISMP. The ISMP is contained within Appendix 1.5 of the NIS.
7.1.12.5	Measures to prevent habitat degradation as a result of air quality impacts
	Before commencing relevant works, an air quality management plan shall be prepared by the contractor and submitted for approval to the relevant planning authorities. The plan will be developed by the contractor and for each worksite shall include:
	 An inventory and timetable of activities which may give rise to emissions or dust; Alert levels:
	 Alert system to be used (including notification process);
	Details of control measures; and
	 Details of dust monitoring arrangements, including the location of sensitive receptors, monitoring locations, and monitoring equipment to be used.
	In summary, the measures which will be implemented shall include:
	 Material handling systems and site stockpiling of materials will be designed and laid out to minimise exposure to wind. Water misting or sprays will be used as required if particularly dusty activities are necessary during dry or windy periods;
	Liaison with local authorities and community groups;
	Hoarding will be provided around the Construction Compounds; and
	 It is anticipated that methods of collecting rainwater and recycling for general site use, will be adopted where practical. Strict dust prevention will always be in place, to minimise any potential emissions and these procedures will be strictly monitored and assessed. In the event of dust nuisance occurring outside the site boundary, movements of materials likely to raise dust will be curtailed and satisfactory procedures implemented to rectify the problem before the resumption of construction operations.
	Construction Phase Traffic Mitigation Measures
	The modelling of road traffic for impacts on human and ecological receptors has found no significant impacts that require mitigation measures with respect to the modelling of emissions (reference the assessment). However, some mitigation measures can be put in place to minimise fugitive emissions:
	 Implement a policy which prevents idling of vehicles both on and off-site including HGV holding sites;
	 Construction Phase traffic should be monitored to ensure construction vehicles are using the designated haul routes;
	 The contractor must adhere to defined traffic routes as noted in the Construction Traffic Management Plan;
	 Efficient scheduling of deliveries to minimise number of truck movements;
	 Construction vehicles will conform to the current EU emissions standards and where reasonably practicable, their emissions should meet upcoming standards prior to the legal requirement date for the new standard. This will ensure emissions on haul routes are minimised. Mitigation











NIS Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures from the NIS
	 measures are required for the control of dust with respect to HGV movements onsite with the site and deliveries to/from the site: HGV traffic leaving site will pass through a wheel wash. Public roads outside the site will be regularly inspected for cleanliness and cleaned as necessary. If public roads are deemed to require additional cleaning where possible a suction device for road cleaning will be utilised to access spaces around cars and other street furniture more effectively. During movement of loose material both on and off-site, trucks will be adequately inspected to ensure no potential for dust emissions.
7.2	River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC [001957]
7.2.7	Measures to Protect Surface Water Quality during Construction
	The measures presented above in Section Error! Reference source not found. will protect surface water quality during construction of the Proposed Development.
7.2.8	Measures to Prevent introduction /spreading of non-native Invasive species during Construction
	The measures presented above in Section Error! Reference source not found. will prevent the spread of non-native invasive species to downstream European sites during construction of the Proposed Development.
7.2.9	Measures to Protect Otter from Disturbance/Displacement impacts
	Pre-Construction Survey
	 Prior to construction works commencing, the appointed contractor will engage the services of a suitably experienced ecologist to conduct a pre-construction otter survey of the Proposed Development. The survey will be undertaken within 10 months in advance of construction and supplemented by a further inspection of the Proposed Development immediately prior to site clearance to ensure that no new holts have been established in the intervening period. These surveys will be carried out in accordance with <i>Guidelines for the Treatment of Otters Prior to the Construction of National Road Schemes</i> (TII, 2006).
	• Where any new active holts/couches are recorded within 150m of the Proposed Development the appointed ecologist will ensure that adequate mitigation is provided in accordance with Guidelines for the Treatment of Otters Prior to the Construction of National Road Schemes (NRA, 2006), and a derogation licence is sought from the NPWS where necessary.
	Precautionary Mitigation measures for new active holts/couches recorded within 150m of the Proposed Development
	Until such time as otters have been successfully evacuated from active holts, the following provisions will apply to all construction works:
	 No works will be undertaken within 150m of any holts at which breeding females or cubs are present. Until consultation with NPWS, works closer to such breeding holts may take place - provided appropriate mitigation measures detailed below are in place.
	 No wheeled or tracked vehicles (of any kind) will be used within 20m of active, but non-breeding, otter holts. Light work, such as digging by hand or scrub clearance should also not take place within 15m of such holts, except under licence.
	• The prohibited working area associated with otter holts will where appropriate, be fenced with temporary fencing prior to any possibly invasive works. Fencing will be in accordance with Clause










NIS Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures from the NIS				
	303 of the TII's Specification for Roadworks (TII 2011). Appropriate awareness of the purpose of the enclosure will be conveyed through notification to site staff and sufficient signage should be placed on each exclusion fence. All contractors or operators on site will be made fully aware of the procedures pertaining to each affected holt.				
	Ecological Clerk of Works/Retained Ecologist				
	 Were a new holt to be encountered within 150 metres (up and downstream) of watercourse crossing, NPWS consultation will be sought, and the services of an Ecological Clerk of Works (EcOW) or retained Ecologist (both with experience with otter survey/mitigation) would be required. 				
	 The appointed contractor shall employ the services of an EcOW with experience in implementing otter mitigation, to oversee and advise works at watercourse crossings for the Proposed Development (they may also undertake the preconstruction survey). The EcOW will have the authority to: 				
	 Review method statements; 				
	 Oversee works; 				
	 Provide instruction to the appointed contractor(s); and, 				
	 Require the temporary cessation of works, where necessary. 				
	 The EcOW will deliver a toolbox talk on biodiversity including otter to the appointed contractor(s) working in the proximity of watercourses. This talk will include instructions on identifying otter and details on the protections afforded to otter under Irish and EU legislation. The EcOW will outline the actions which will be taken by the contractor(s) if otter are noted 				
	on or near the Proposed Development during construction works.				
	Measures to Prevent/Reduce Disturbance and Displacement of otters				
	 Night working within/directly adjacent to watercourses where otter are known to commute will be avoided, where possible, and will only be permitted with the prior approval of the planning authority. 				
	 Where night-working adjacent to watercourses known to support otter, is required, the advice of a suitably qualified ecologist/ECoW must be sought and a derogation licence, if necessary, will be sought from NPWS permitting such works. 				
	Measures to Reduce Lighting Impacts to Otter				
	Security lighting in active works areas in close proximity to watercourses with known otter activity will be designed in conjunction with a suitably qualified ecologist to minimise light spill. Similarly, where any new or amended lighting design is required at a watercourse crossing, it should be cognisant of downward light-spill onto watercourses. Measures to reduce light spill may include the following:				
	The use of sensor / timer triggered lighting;				
	 LED luminaires should be used where possible due to their sharp cut-off, lower intensity, good colour rendition and dimming capability; 				
	Column heights should be considered to minimise light spill; and,				
	 Accessories such as baffles, hoods or louvres can be used to reduce light spill and direct it only where needed. 				
7.2.10	Measures to prevent habitat degradation as a result of air quality impacts during construction				
	The measures presented above in Section Error! Reference source not found. will prevent habitat degradation as a result of air quality impacts during construction of the Proposed Development.				
7.3	Boyne Coast and Estuary SAC [001957]				











NIS Section Reference	Description of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures from the NIS					
7.3.6.1	Measures to Protect Surface Water Quality during Construction					
	The mitigation measures presented above in Section Error! Reference source not found. will protec surface water quality during construction of the Proposed Development.					
7.3.6.2	Measures to Prevent the Spread of Invasive Species during Construction					
	The mitigation measures presented above in section 7.1.12.3 will prevent the spread of invasive species to downstream European sites during the construction of the Proposed Development.					
7.4	Rockabill to Dalkey Island SAC [003000] & Lambay Island SAC [000204]					
7.4.7.1	Measures to Protect Surface Water Quality during Construction					
	The measures presented above in Section Error! Reference source not found. will protect surface water quality during construction of the Proposed Development.					
7.5	ogerstown Estuary SPA [004015], Malahide Estuary SPA [004025], Lambay Island SPA 004069], Skerries Islands SPA [004122], Baldoyle Bay SPA [004016], North Bull Island SPA 004006], South Dublin and River Tolka Estuary SPA [004024], River Nanny Estuary and Shore PA [004158], Boyne Estuary SPA [004080], River Boyne and River Blackwater SPA [004232], owth Head Coast SPA [004113], Dalkey Island SPA [004172], Dundalk Bay SPA [004026], reland's Eye SPA [004117], Rockabill SPA [004014], The Murrough SPA [004186], and tabannan-Braganstown SPA [004091] and the North-West Irish Sea cSPA [004236]					
7.5.22.1	Measures to Protect Surface Water Quality during Construction					
	The measures presented above in Section Error! Reference source not found. will protect surface water quality during construction of the Proposed Development.					
7.5.22.2	Measures to Prevent the Spread of Invasive Species during Construction					
	The mitigation measures presented above in section 7.1.12.3 will prevent the spread of invasive species to European sites during construction of the Proposed Development.					
7.5.22.3	Measures to prevent disturbance and displacement of SCI species					
	• The appointed contractor will undertake the establishment of the construction compound outside of the wintering bird season (October to March).					
	As a further precautionary measure, the design of the lighting will ensure that light-spill will not occur in the direction of any adjacent fields. Mitigation measures to reduce light spill will include the following:					
	The use of sensor/timer triggered lighting;					
	LED luminaires to be used where practicable;					
	Column heights to be considered to minimise light spill; and					
	 Accessories such as baffles, hoods or louvres to be used to reduce light spill and direct it only where needed. 					









Appendix C: Statutory Planning Consent including any additional Environmental commitments





Appendix D: Environmental Operating Plan











CONTENTS

1.	APPENDIX A5.1 – APPENDIX D: ENVIRONMENTAL OPERATING PLAN	1
1.1	Introduction	1
1.1.1	Purpose and Scope	1
1.1.2	2 EOP Structure	2
1.1.3	Contractor's Environmental Policy Statement	2
1.2	General Project Details	3
1.2.1	Project Description	3
1.2.2	Project Overview and Location	3
1.3	Contact Sheets	7
1.4	Reference Documents	8
1.4.1	Scheme Specific Documentation	8
1.4.2	2 General Reference and Guidance Documentation	8
1.5	Organisational Structure/Duties and Responsibilities	9
1.5.1	Organisational Structure	9
1.5.2	2 Duties and Responsibilities	9
1.6	Environmental Commitments	. 16
1.7	Environmental Control Measures	. 20
18		
1.0	Site Specific Method Statements	. 27
1.9	Site Specific Method Statements Environmental Awareness Training	. 27 . 29
1.9 1.9.7	Site Specific Method Statements Environmental Awareness Training EOP, EIAR, NIS and Contractual Requirement Briefing	. 27 . 29 . 29
1.9 1.9. ⁷ 1.9.2	Site Specific Method Statements Environmental Awareness Training EOP, EIAR, NIS and Contractual Requirement Briefing Site Induction	. 27 . 29 . 29 . 29 . 29
1.9 1.9. 1.9.2 1.9.2	Site Specific Method Statements Environmental Awareness Training EOP, EIAR, NIS and Contractual Requirement Briefing Site Induction Specific Training and Awareness	. 27 . 29 . 29 . 29 . 30
1.9 1.9.7 1.9.7 1.9.7 1.9.7	Site Specific Method Statements Environmental Awareness Training EOP, EIAR, NIS and Contractual Requirement Briefing Site Induction Specific Training and Awareness Communication	. 27 . 29 . 29 . 29 . 30 . 30
1.9 1.9.1 1.9.2 1.9.2 1.10 1.10	Site Specific Method Statements Environmental Awareness Training EOP, EIAR, NIS and Contractual Requirement Briefing Site Induction Specific Training and Awareness Communication	. 27 . 29 . 29 . 29 . 30 . 30 . 30
1.9 1.9.1 1.9.2 1.9.2 1.10 1.10 1.10	Site Specific Method Statements Environmental Awareness Training EOP, EIAR, NIS and Contractual Requirement Briefing Site Induction Specific Training and Awareness Communication 1 External Communication	. 27 . 29 . 29 . 30 . 30 . 30 . 30 . 31
1.9 1.9.1 1.9.2 1.9.2 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.11	Site Specific Method Statements Environmental Awareness Training EOP, EIAR, NIS and Contractual Requirement Briefing Site Induction Specific Training and Awareness Communication	. 27 . 29 . 29 . 30 . 30 . 30 . 31 . 32
1.9 1.9.2 1.9.2 1.9.2 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.11 1.11	Site Specific Method Statements Environmental Awareness Training EOP, EIAR, NIS and Contractual Requirement Briefing Site Induction Specific Training and Awareness Communication	. 27 . 29 . 29 . 29 . 30 . 30 . 30 . 31 . 32 . 32
1.0 1.9 1.9.2 1.9.2 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.11 1.11 1.11	Site Specific Method Statements Environmental Awareness Training EOP, EIAR, NIS and Contractual Requirement Briefing Site Induction Specific Training and Awareness Communication 1 External Communication 2 Internal Communication Inspections, Auditing and Monitoring Compliance 1 Inspections	. 27 . 29 . 29 . 30 . 30 . 30 . 30 . 31 . 32 . 32 . 32
1.0 1.9 1.9.2 1.9.2 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.11 1.11 1.11 1.11	Site Specific Method Statements Environmental Awareness Training EOP, EIAR, NIS and Contractual Requirement Briefing Site Induction Specific Training and Awareness Communication 1 External Communication 2 Internal Communication 1 Inspections, Auditing and Monitoring Compliance 1 Inspections 2 Monitoring	. 27 . 29 . 29 . 30 . 30 . 31 . 32 . 32 . 32 . 32









1. APPENDIX A5.1 – APPENDIX D: ENVIRONMENTAL OPERATING PLAN

1.1 Introduction

This document is the project-specific Environmental Operating Plan ("EOP") for the DART+ Coastal North project. It is prepared to inform and provide a template for the successful contractor to develop and maintain an EOP for the construction of the DART+ Coastal North ("the Proposed Development").

1.1.1 Purpose and Scope

The EOP is designed to assist the main contractor in preventing, managing and/or minimising significant environmental impacts during the construction phase. The EOP sets out the mechanism by which environmental protection is to be achieved on the DART+ Coastal North. The EOP describes the Environmental Management System (EMS) of the Proposed Development, which will be devised according to the criteria of ISO 14001:2015 – Environmental Management Systems and developed having regard to larnród Éireann's Environmental Management Policy and the National Road Authority (now known for operating purposes as Transport Infrastructure Ireland (TII)) "*Guidelines for the Creation, Implementation and Maintenance of an Environmental Operating Plan*". This EOP will be complemented by General Procedures, Work Procedures and Operations Instructions of the contractor. These documents will be in place within the site administration offices and appropriate site locations during the works.

This EOP covers the activities of the successful contractor and that of its sub-contractors. It outlines the environmental commitments in relation to the construction works and how these commitments are to be managed, including details of the monitoring systems and mitigation measures to be employed by the successful contractor. It also assigns responsibilities for ensuring the effective implementation of the EOP.

To achieve this objective, the finalised EOP should contain all Environmental Commitments and Requirements set out in:

- the Contract documents (in particular, the Works Requirements (WR));
- the Environmental Impact Assessment Report (EIAR);
- the Natura Impact Statement (NIS) and any appendices;
- The Railway Order including any conditions and/or modifications imposed by An Bord Pleanála (ABP);
- the Schedule of Commitments, and provide a method of documenting compliance with these Environmental Commitments and conditions/modifications; (refer to the CEMP);
- List all relevant environmental legislative requirements and provide a method of documenting compliance with these requirements; and
- Outline methods by which construction work will be managed to prevent, reduce or compensate for potential adverse impacts on the environment. (refer to the CEMP – Schedule of Environmental Commitments).





The EOP of the contractor should address the following key requirements:

- Clearly identify the roles and responsibilities of the main contractor's staff having regard to the main contractor's organisational structure;
- Incorporate procedures for communicating with the public;
- Incorporate procedures for communicating with relevant site-personnel;
- Incorporate procedures for Environmental Awareness Training for the main contractor's staff;
- Incorporate monitoring procedures and responses to monitoring results, where contractually required; and
- Provide for a system of audit with regard to the effectiveness of the EOP during the construction life cycle of the project.

This EOP should be read in conjunction with the Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and serves as an indicative template for the main contractor to ensure that they are fully aware and plan for all Environmental Commitments and Requirements relevant to the Proposed Development.

1.1.2 EOP Structure

The contents of this EOP are presented as follows:

- Section 1.2 General Project Details;
- Section 1.3 Contract Sheets;
- Section 1.4 Reference Documents;
- Section 1.5 Organisational Structure / Duties and Responsibilities;
- Section 1.6 Environmental Commitments;
- Section 1.7 Environmental Control Measures;
- Section 1.8 Site-Specific Method Statements;
- Section 1.9 Environmental Awareness Training;
- Section 1.10 Communication;
- Section 1.11 Inspections, Auditing and Monitoring Compliance; and
- Section 1.12 Handover of the Final EOP.

1.1.3 Contractor's Environmental Policy Statement

Environmental management is fundamental to the successful operation of construction activities. Therefore, the Environmental Policy must, as a priority, be understood by all parties involved in the contract and adhered to throughout the course of the works to allow for legal compliance and environmental management.

The EOP shall be prepared having regard to IÉ Environmental Management Policy (EMP).

[Successful Contractor Name] Environmental Policy Statement is detailed below.

[Insert policy statement]









1.2 General Project Details

1.2.1 Project Description

This section will be completed by the successful contractor once appointed:

- Brief overview;
- Location of the project;
- Location of compounds;
- Contact Sheets for site, employer and third-party contacts;
- Register of all applicable legislation, including relevant standards, Codes of Practice and Guidelines;
- Organisational chart; and
- Duties and responsibilities.

1.2.2 Project Overview and Location

1.2.2.1 Project Location

The Proposed Development, will modify the current rail network between Dublin City Centre (north of Connolly Station) and Drogheda MacBride Station. The Proposed Development extends across four local authority areas, including Louth, Meath and Fingal County Council as well as Dublin City Council. The total length of the Proposed Development is approximately 50 kilometres.

1.2.2.2 Project Description

The Proposed Development is described in detail in Chapter 4 (Description of the Proposed Development) in Volume 2 of this EIAR.

The key infrastructural components of the DART+ Coastal North project include:

- Extension of existing 1500V DC electrification, which currently terminates at Malahide, as far as Drogheda MacBride Station (approximately 37km); this includes:
 - The installation of foundations, masts, and overhead wires to supply power to the railway;
 - Undertaking upgrades to existing signalling, telecoms, and power supplies to support the planned increase in train services, including the introduction of new electrical substations at key locations alongside the railway line:
 - Drogheda;
 - Bettystown;
 - Gormanston;
 - Balbriggan;
 - Skerries North;
 - Skerries South;
 - Rush & Lusk (this location also incorporates an overhead line equipment (OHLE) maintenance compound);
 - Donabate.
 - Undertaking improvements / modifications to bridges spanning the railway arising from track reconfigurations and / or meeting required electrical clearances;











- Undertaking localised bridge modifications to enable OHLE to be fixed to bridges carrying the railway;
- Canopy modifications at Drogheda MacBride Station to accommodate OHLE clearances; and
- Modified railway boundary fences to protect the public from contacting the overhead line.
- Infrastructure works to facilitate the increase in service frequency and capacity, in specific areas of intervention as outlined below:
 - o works around Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station;
 - works around Clongriffin Station;
 - works around Malahide Station & Viaduct;
 - works to the existing user worked level crossing (XB001) south of Donabate; and
 - works around Drogheda MacBride Station.
- Modifications to existing depots at Drogheda and Fairview to support the new train fleet, including the provision of additional train stabling at Drogheda;
- Ancillary civils, utility diversions, drainage, and power work to cater for the changes.

The key interventions in each zone are presented in Table 1-1.

Table 1-1	Key Infrastructura	Elements in each	Geographic Zone
-----------	--------------------	------------------	------------------------

Zone	Activity			
Zone A	This zone from north of Connolly Station to south of Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station includes the following works:			
	Minor upgrades to Fairview Depot and sidings.			
	New drainage connection to combined sewer on Alfie Byrne Road.			
Zone B	This zone from south of Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station to Malahide Viaduct (including Howth Branch) includes the following works:			
	 Modification of Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station Accesses and Footbridge (OBB17A); Construction of the Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station Platform 2 Extension; Construction of a new crossover on the Howth Branch Line at Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station (Howth Junction Turnback); Construction of two new turnouts on the Up Dublin Line, and a new Loop Line to the east of Clongriffin Station. (Clongriffin Turnback); Construction of a new retaining wall at Clongriffin Station, utility diversions and associated earthworks; Construction of new Underbridge UBB19A (Mayne River), UBB18D culvert extension and embankment north of Clongriffin Station; Construction of a new central turnback line north of Malahide Station, new crossover on the Up Dublin Line and new turnout on the Down Belfast Line. (Malahide Turnback); Construction of new reinforced earth wall alongside the proposed Broadmeadow Way greenway and embankment widening, north of Malahide Station; Modification of Underbridge UBB30 (Malahide Viaduct) to support OHLE; Closure of (user worked) level crossing (XB001); Construction of a new Otter Crossing, adjacent to the Underbridge UBB31 (River Pill); OHLE and Signalling, Electrification and Telecoms (SET) modifications at Malahide, Howth and Clongriffin; and OHLE and Signalling, Electrification and Telecoms (SET) line-wide works north of Malahide Turnback. 			











Zone	Activity				
Zone C	The zone from the north of Malahide viaduct (south of Donabate Station) to south of Gormanston Station (Fingal boundary) includes the following works:				
	Construction of Donabate Substation compound;				
	 Modification of Underbridge UBB36 (Rogerstown Viaduct / Estuary) to support OHLE; 				
	 Construction of Rush and Lusk Substation and OHLE maintenance compound; 				
	 Upgrade of existing station access road junction at Rush and Lusk Station; 				
	 Track lowering at Overbridge OBB39 (carrying Station Road / R128); 				
	 Track lowering at Overbridge OBB44 (carrying local road in Tyrrelstown Big); 				
	Construction of Skerries South Substation compound;				
	Construction of Skerries North Substation compound; Track lowering at Overkridge OBDEE (corr ling Lowless Terrace (D107))				
	 Modification of Underbridge UBB56 (Balbridgen Viaduct) to support OHLE. 				
	Construction of Balbridgan Substation compound:				
	 Road overbridge parapet modifications for compliant safety standards to: 				
	 OBB32A (carrying the Donabate Distributor Road). 				
	 OBB35 (access to Beaverstown Golf Club), 				
	 OBB38 (carrying Rogerstown Lane), 				
	 OBB41 (carrying local road in Rathartan), 				
	 OBB46 (carrying the L1285 / Baldongan Close), 				
	 OBB47 (historic access to Skerries Golf Club), OBB40 (cornving Colf Links Bood) 				
	 OBB49 (carrying Goil Links Road), OBB55 (carrying Lawless Terrace / B127) and 				
	 OBB68 (local access adjacent Gormanston Camp). 				
	 Pedestrian footbridge parapet modifications for compliant safety standards to: 				
	 OBB33A (Donabate Station footbridge), 				
	 OBB38A (Rush & Lusk Station footbridge), 				
	 OBB51A (Skerries Station footbridge), 				
	• OBB54 (The Ladies Stairs) and				
	 OBB57A (Balbriggan Station footbridge). OBB57A (Balbriggan Station footbridge). 				
	 OFFLE and Signalling, Electrification and Telecoms (SET) line-wide works, Diversion of everthead power lines railway crossings into Under Track Crossings (UTX) at Push 8 				
	 Diversion of overhead power lines railway clossings into order mack clossings (01X) at Rush & Lusk Tyrrelstown, Golf Links Road, Baldongan, and Balbridgan; and 				
	 Utility diversions. 				
Zono D	The zone couth of Cormoneton Station (Fingel border) to Louth/Meeth border includes the following				
Zone D	works:				
	Construction of Gormanston Substation compound:				
	Modification of Underbridge UBB72 (Lavtown Viaduct) to support OHLE:				
	Construction of Bettystown Substation compound;				
	Track lowering at Overbridge OBB78 (carrying Colpe Road);				
	OHLE and Signalling, Electrification and Telecoms (SET) line-wide works;				
	• Diversion of overhead power lines railway crossings into Under Track Crossings (UTX) at				
	Gormanston, Laytown, and Drogheda;				
	Road overbridge parapet modifications for compliant safety standards to:				
	 OBB68 (Irishtown), OBB77 (Colno Fast) and 				
	\circ OBB78 (carrying Colpe Road)				
	 Pedestrian footbridge parapet modifications for compliant safety standards to: 				
	 OBB74A (Laytown Station footbridge); and 				
	Utility diversions.				
Zone E	Drogheda MacBride Station and surrounds includes the following works:				
_	Demolition and replacement of triple span Overbridge OBB80/80A/80B (Railway Terrace):				
	 Realignment of Railway Terrace and McGrath's Lane; 				





larnród Éireann Irish Rail





Zone	Activity
	Reconstruction of Underbridge UBK01 (R132/Dublin Road Bridge);
	 Reconstruction of Overbridge OBB81 (Drogheda Station Footbridge);
	 Modification to existing Platform 1 Station Canopy;
	Construction of new Platform 4 (on the Drogheda Freight Sidings) and associated modifications
	to station car park and connectivity to Drogheda MacBride Station;
	 Track works on Drogheda Freight Sidings at Drogheda (Drogheda Turnback);
	Construction of Drogheda Substation compound;
	• Civil Works on Light Maintenance Roads, Under Frame Cleaning (UFC) facility and Northern
	Headshunt;
	 Reprofiling existing earthwork bund at Drogheda Depot;
	Track works on Stabling Roads 7a, 7b;
	 OHLE and Signalling, Electrification and Telecoms (SET) line-wide works;
	• Diversion of overhead power lines railway crossings into Under Track Crossings (UTX) at
	Drogheda; and
	Utility diversions.

1.2.2.3 Duration of Project

Detailed description of the proposed DART+ Coastal North project is provided in Chapter 4 (Description of the Proposed Development) and in Chapter 5 (Construction Strategy) in Volume 2 of this EIAR. Extents of the Proposed Development including construction sites, compounds etc., are shown in development drawings in Volume 3A of the EIAR.

It is anticipated that the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development will be phased and will last approximately 36 months. The approximate duration of the main activities are illustrated in Image 1-1.



Image 1-1 High Level Construction Programme



A detailed construction programme is provided in Chapter 5 (Construction Strategy) in Volume 2 of the EIAR.

1.3 Contact Sheets

Contact details of relevant personnel employed during the construction phase of the Proposed Development are required to ensure that environmental incidents are competently reported. The contact details should be frequently reviewed to ensure that they are up to date.

Table 1-2, Table 1-3 and Table 1-4 provide examples of how to document the contact details of all relevant main contractor, employer and third-party consultation personnel respectively.

Table 1-2 Main Contractor Contacts (Example)

Position Title	Name	Phone number	Email Address
Project Manager			
Site Manager*			
Environmental Manager*			
Site Agents			
Forepersons			
Safety Officers*			
Site Emergency Number*			
Other, as appropriate			

* 24hr contact details are required for persons with this position.

Table 1-3Employer Contacts (Example)

Organisation	Position Title	Name	Phone Number	Email Address
Project Resident Engineer's Office	Project Resident Engineer			
Córas lompair Éireann	Design Office Project Manager			
Córas lompair Éireann	Liaison Officer			
ARUP	Project Designer			
Córas lompair Éireann	Project Supervisor Design Process (PSDP)			
Córas lompair Éireann	Project Supervisor Construction Stage (PSCS)			
Other, as appropriate				











Table 1-4 Third-Party Contacts (Example)

Organisation	Position Title	Name	Phone Number	Email Address
Dublin City Council				
Fingal County Council				
Meath County Council				
Louth County Council				
National Parks and Wildlife Service				
Office of Public Works				
Environmental Protection Agency				
Local Authority				
Health and Safety Authority				
Emergency Services				
Other, as appropriate				

1.4 Reference Documents

1.4.1 Scheme Specific Documentation

Scheme specific documentation to be referred to when determining the Environmental Commitments and Requirements for the Proposed Development include:

- The Contract Documents;
- The Environmental Impact Assessment Report (EIAR);
- The Natura Impact Statement (NIS) and any appendices;
- The Railway Order including any conditions and/or modifications imposed by An Bord Pleanála (ABP);
- Schedule of Commitments (Refer to Appendix A5.1 (CEMP)); and
- Contractor's Construction Phase Safety and Health Plan.

1.4.2 General Reference and Guidance Documentation

The contractor should have regard to larnród Éireann's Environmental Management Policy ISO 14001:2015 – Environmental Management Systems and relevant TII/NRA guidelines and standards.

TII's "*Guidelines for the Creation, Implementation and Maintenance of an Environmental Operating Plan*" should be referred to when developing the contractors EOP.

The contractor will also have regard to the relevant larnród Éireann standards and guidance documents such as:

- CCE-TMS-381 Control and Management of Vegetation;
- CCE-TEB-2013-3 Guidance on the Identification and Control of Japanese Knotweed;
 - CCE-TMS-383 Control, Management and Application of Pesticides & Herbicides;

•





- CCE-TMS-310
- CCE-IMS-008-005 Preparation of Environmental Aspects Register;
- CCE-IMS-008-010 Management of Spent Ballast;
- CCE-IMS-008-001 Ecological Assessment: Railway Maintenance and Building Maintenance Activities; and

Guidance on Third Party Contracts;

• CCE-IMS-008-002 Noise Management –CCE Work Activities.

This is a non-exhaustive list and relevant standards or procedures at the time of construction will be required to be adhered to.

1.5 Organisational Structure/Duties and Responsibilities

1.5.1 Organisational Structure

The successful contractor will provide an organogram in the EOP to assign the duties and responsibilities of their personnel under the EOP.

1.5.2 Duties and Responsibilities

The below list of personnel may be required depending on the phase and type of works being undertaken.

1.5.2.1 Project Manager

Name: [To be inserted by successful contractor]

Duties and Responsibilities

The Project Manager's main duties and responsibilities in relation to the EOP include liaising with the Project Team in assigning duties and responsibilities in relation to the EOP to individual members of the main contractor's project staff.

It is the responsibility of the Project Manager to approve key personnel required for employment on the project. The Project Manager will liaise with the Site Environmental Manager.

The Project Manager will lead the works on site. The Project Manager will be responsible for the management and control of the activities and will have overall responsibility for the implementation of the EOP. The Project Manager will be assisted by the Site Environmental Manager who will act as their deputy.





1.5.2.2 Site Manager

Name: [To be inserted by successful contractor]

Duties and Responsibilities

The Site Manager's environmental management responsibilities include, but are not limited to:

- Liaise with the Site Environmental Manager and the Project Team in assigning duties and responsibilities in relation to the EOP, to individual members of the main contractor's project staff;
- Liaising with Site Manager in preparing, reviewing and updating all site-specific method statements for activities where there is a risk of pollution or adverse effects on the environment;
- Liaising with the Site Environmental Manager in agreeing site specific Method Statements with Third Parties;
- Ensuring that all relevant information on project programming, timing, construction methodology, etc., is communicated from the contractor's Project Team, including the Project Manager, to the Site Environmental Manager in a timely and efficient manner in order to allow pre-emptive actions relating to the environment to be taken where required;
- Ensuring that the risk assessments for control of noise and environmental risk are prepared and effectively monitored, reviewed and communicated on site;
- Close liaison with the Site Environmental Manager to ensure adequate resources are made available for implementation of the EOP; and
- Ensuring that the Site Environmental Manager reviews all method statements, performs regular and frequent environmental site inspections and that relevant environmental protocols are incorporated and appended.

1.5.2.3 Environmental Manager

Name: [To be inserted by successful contractor]

Duties and Responsibilities

In order to ensure the successful development, implementation, and maintenance of the EOP, the contractor will be required to appoint an independent Site Environmental Manager to provide independently verifiable audit reports.

The Site Environmental Manager must possess sufficient training, experience, and knowledge appropriate to the nature of the task to be undertaken, a Level Eight qualification recognised by the Higher Education and Training Awards Council (HETAC), or a university equivalent, or other qualification acceptable to the Employer, in Environmental Science or Environmental Management, Environmental Hydrology, Engineering or other relevant qualification acceptable to the Employer.



Separate from the ongoing and detailed monitoring carried out by the contractor as part of the EOP, the EM shall carry out the inspection/monitoring regime described below, and report to the contractor. The results will be stored in the Site Environmental Manager's monitoring file and will be available for inspection/audit by the Client, National Parks and Wildlife Service (NPWS) or Inland Fisheries Ireland (IFI) staff. All inspections/monitoring/results will be recorded on standard forms.

The responsibilities of the Site Environmental Manager include:

Site-Specific Method Statements

- Liaising with the Construction Manager in preparing site-specific Method Statements for all Works activities where there is a risk of environmental damage. These site-specific Method Statements should incorporate relevant Environmental Control Measures and take account of relevant Environmental Control Measure Sheets;
- Liaising with the Construction Manager in reviewing and updating site-specific Method Statements for all Works activities where Environmental Control Measures and Environmental Control Measure Sheets have been altered; and
- Liaising with the Construction Manager where third party agreement is required in relation to site specific Method Statements, Environmental Control Measures and/or Environmental Control Measure Sheets.

General

- Being familiar with the contents, environmental commitments and requirements contained within the Reference Documents;
- Being familiar with baseline data gathered during Environmental Impact Assessment and NIS and during pre-construction surveys;
- Listing all Environmental Commitments and Requirements in an Environmental Commitments Summary Table;
- Assisting the Construction Manager in liaising with the PSDP/Engineer and the provision of information on environmental management to the Engineer during the course of the construction phase; and
- Liaising with the Project Team in assigning duties and responsibilities in relation to the EOP to individual members of the main contractor's project staff.

Third Party Consultations

- Overseeing, ensuring coordination and playing a lead role in third party consultations required statutorily, contractually and in order to fulfil best practice requirements;
- Ensuring that the minutes of meetings, action lists, formal communications, etc. are well documented and that consultation certificates are issued to the engineer as required;
- Liaising with all prescribed bodies during site visits, inspections and consultations;
- Where new Environmental Control Measures are agreed as a result of third-party consultation, ensuring that the EOP is amended accordingly;
- Where new Environmental Control Measures are agreed as a result of third-party consultation, the Environmental Manager should liaise with the Construction Manager in updating relevant site-specific Method Statements; and
- Where required, liaising with the Construction Manager in agreeing site-specific Method Statements with third parties.









Licensing

- Ensuring that all relevant works have (and are being carried out in accordance with) the required permits, licences, certificates, planning permissions, etc;
- Liaising with the designated licence holders with respect to licences granted pursuant to the Wildlife Act, 1976, as amended;
- Liaising with the designated licence holders and "scientific agent" (generally defined in the licence as "the contractor engaged to carry out the scientific direction and monitoring of mitigation measures") with respect to licences granted pursuant to the European Communities (Birds and Natural Habitats) Regulations 2011, (S.I. No. 477 of 2011) as amended; and
- Bringing to the attention of the Project, Design and Construction Team any timing and legal constraints that may be imposed on the carrying out of certain tasks.

Waste Management Documentation

- Holding copies of all permits and licences provided by waste contractors;
- Ensuring that any operations or activities that require certificates of registration, waste collection permits, waste permits, waste licences, etc., have appropriate authorisation; and
- Gathering and holding documentation with respect to waste disposal.

Legislation

- Keeping up to date with changes in environmental legislation that may affect environmental management during the construction phase;
- Advising the Construction Manager of these changes; and
- Reviewing and amending the EOP in light of these changes and bringing the changes to the attention of the main contractor's senior management and sub-contractors.

Site Environmental Inspections

- Carrying out regular documented inspections of the site to ensure that work is being carried out in accordance with the Environmental Control Measures and relevant site-specific Method Statements, etc;
- Appending copies of the inspection reports to the EOP.

Specialist Environmental Contractors

- Identifying requirements for specialist environmental contractors (including ecologists, waste contractors and spill clean-up specialists) before commencement of the project;
- Procuring the services of specialist environmental contractors and liaising with them with respect to site access and report production;
- Ensuring that specialist environmental contractors are competent and have sufficient expertise to coordinate and manage environmental issues; and
- Co-ordinating the activities of all specialist environmental contractors on environmental matters arising out of the contract.





larnród Éireann





Environmental Induction Training and Environmental Tool Box Talks

- Ensuring that Environmental Induction Training is carried out for all the main contractor's site personnel. The induction training may be carried out in conjunction with Safety Induction Training; and
- Providing toolbox talks on Environmental Control Measures associated with site specific Method Statements to those who will undertake the work.

Environmental Incidents/Spillages

- The Environmental Manager should be notified of all incidents where there has been a breach of agreed environmental management procedures: where there has been a spillage of a potentially environmentally harmful substance; where there has been an unauthorised discharge to ground, water or air; where there has been damage to a protected habitat, etc;
- The Environmental Manager should prepare and be in readiness to implement at all times an Emergency Response Plan;
- The Environmental Manager is responsible for notifying the relevant statutory authority of environmental incidents; and
- Carrying out an investigation and producing a report regarding environmental incidents. The report of the incident and details of remedial actions taken should be made available to the relevant authority, the Engineer, and the Construction Manager.

1.5.2.4 Design Manager

Name: [To be inserted by successful contractor]

Duties and Responsibilities

The main duties and responsibilities of the Design Manager include:

- Be familiar with the EOP and relevant documentation referred to within;
- Be familiar with the contents, commitments and requirements contained within the reference documents; and
- Participate in Third Party Consultations and liaising with third Parties through the site Environmental Manager.

1.5.2.5 Site Agents

Name: [To be inserted by successful contractor]

Duties and Responsibilities

The Site Agents are responsible for the following:

- Ensuring Forepersons under their control adhere to the relevant Environmental Control measures and relevant site-specific Method Statements, etc;
- Ensuring that the procedures agreed during third party consultations are followed;







- Reporting immediately to the Site Environmental Manager any incidents where there has been a breach of agreed environmental management procedures, where there has been a spillage of a potentially environmentally harmful substance, where there has been an unauthorized discharge to ground, water or air, damage to habitat, etc; and
- Attending environmental review meeting and preparing any relevant documentation as required by Management.

1.5.2.6 Forepersons

Name: [To be inserted by successful contractor]

Duties and Responsibilities

The forepersons on site are responsible for the following:

- Ensuring personnel under their control adhere to the relevant environmental control measures and relevant site-specific Method Statement; and
- Reporting immediately to the site agents and Site Environmental Manager any incidents where there has been a breach of agreed procedures e.g., spillages and discharges.

1.5.2.7 Employer's Representative

Name: [To be inserted by successful contractor]

Duties and Responsibilities

The Employer's Representative (ER) acts on behalf of the Employer in the course of a construction project. The EOP will be audited by the Employer's Representative to ensure that the Contractor is compliant with the environmental provisions of the Contract Documents.

1.5.2.8 Project Supervisor Construction Stage

The role of the Project Supervisor Construction Stage (PSCS) is to manage and co-ordinate health and safety matters during the construction stage. The PSCS will be appointed before the construction work begins and will remain in that position until all construction work on the project is completed.

It is the responsibility of the PSCS to ensure that the project:

- Is designed and is capable of being constructed to be safe and without risk to health;
- Is constructed to be safe and without risk to health;
- Can be maintained safely and without risk to health during subsequent use; and
- Complies in all respects, as appropriate, with the relevant statutory provisions.

The PSCS will prepare the Construction Phase Safety and Health Plan in accordance with the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work (Construction) Regulations 2013 (S.I. No. 291 of 2013) (as amended) prior to the commencement of construction work for the project. The Plan should provide the blueprint for managing and coordinating safety and health during construction and should explain how the key safety and health issues will be managed.





The PSCS will maintain contact with the Project Supervisor Design Process (PSDP) throughout the construction phase to communicate any health and safety related issues. The PSDP will prepare written safety file appropriate to the characteristics of the project, containing relevant health and safety information, to be considered during any subsequent construction work following completion of the project.

1.5.2.9 All Project Personnel

Name: [To be inserted by successful contractor]

Duties and Responsibilities

All project personnel have the following responsibilities:

- Reporting any operations and conditions that deviate from the EOP to the Site Agent and Site Environmental Manager. Depending on circumstances it may be appropriate for general operatives and machinery operators to report directly to their Foreperson who will then report to the Site Environmental Manager and Site Agent;
- Taking an active part in site safety and environmental meetings;
- Ensuring awareness of the contents of method statements, plans, supervisors' meetings or any other meetings that concern the environmental management of the site; and
- Attend environmental training as required.

1.5.2.10 Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW)

Name: [To be inserted by successful contractor]

Duties and Responsibilities

In order to ensure the successful development and implementation of the EOP, the Contractor will appoint an independent Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW). The ECoW must possess training, experience, and knowledge appropriate to the role, including:

- An NFQ Level 8 qualification or equivalent or other acceptable qualification in ecology or environmental biology; and
- Demonstrable experience in the protection of European sites.

The principal functions of the ECoW are:

- To provide ecological supervision of the construction of the Proposed Development and thereby ensure the full and proper implementation of all the mitigation measures relating to biodiversity prescribed in the EIAR and NIS;
- To regularly review the outcome of the specialist hydroacoustic monitoring if being undertaken and, on that basis, make any necessary adjustments to the mitigation; and
- To carry out weekly inspections and reporting on the implementation of the Contractor's Biosecurity Protocol.









During the preparation of the Contractor's EOP, the Site Environmental Manager may, as appropriate, assign other duties and responsibilities to the ECoW.

larnród Éireann

In exercising his/her functions, the ECoW will be required to keep a monitoring file, and this will be made available for inspection or audit by Irish Rail, the National Parks and Wildlife Service (NPWS) or Inland Fisheries Ireland (IFI) at any time.

1.5.2.11 Project Archaeologist

Name: [To be inserted by successful contractor]

Duties and Responsibilities

A suitably qualitied Project Archaeologist on site is responsible for the following:

- Relevant licenses required for the project in advance of any construction work taking place and throughout the project as required;
- To supervise works in vicinity of known archaeological sites; and
- To supervise any pre-construction archaeological survey works.

Section 26 of the National Monuments Act 1930 (as amended) requires that excavations for archaeological purposes must be carried out by suitably qualified and experienced archaeologists acting under an excavation licence. Inappropriate excavation of a heritage site could result in damage to, or destruction of, the integrity, setting or historical context of the site, contrary to the public interest.

1.5.2.12 Other

Subject to the environmental commitments/requirements, other environmental specialists will be employed as required during the construction works.

1.6 Environmental Commitments

The CEMP contains the following supporting environmental documents:

- Appendix A: Environmental Impact Assessment Report Chapter 27 (Summary of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures);
- Appendix B: Natura Impact Statement Mitigation Measures;
- Appendix C: The Railway Order including any conditions and/or modifications imposed by An Bord Pleanála (ABP);
- Appendix D: Environmental Operating Plan;
- Appendix E: Construction and Demolition Waste Management Plan;
- Appendix F: Incident Response Plan;
- Appendix G: Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP); and
- Appendix H: Surface Water Management Plan (SWMP).



The Schedule of Environmental Commitments comprises the mitigation measures as outlined in 'Chapter 27 Summary of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures' of the Environmental Impact Assessment Report. Any additional commitments arising up to and including the Oral Hearing should be included in the updated CEMP in Appendix C of the CEMP.

 Relevant environmental legislation prescribes environmental performance criteria. Therefore, in addition to: the Contract documents, the conditions and/or modifications imposed by An Bord Pleanála, the Schedule of Commitments, and relevant environmental legislation all prescribe environmental performance criteria.

The following table lists the complete suite of Environmental Commitments together with the relative specification and evidence of how each commitment will be met. An example of the layout of this table and potential entries is given below.



40 larnród Éireann 40





Table 1-5 Environmental Commitments (Example)

Environmental Commitment	Legislation / Specific Ref.	Action Owner	Evidence	Target Date	Close Date
Biodiversity (Flora and Fauna)	EIAR Volume 2: Chapter 8 Biodiversity/ Chapter 27 Summary of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures	Env. Manager/ Specialist Ecologist/ Env. Designer/ Site Agent/ Foreman	Method Statement/ Ecological Walkover/ Pre-surveys/ Agreement from IFI & NPWS/ Site Inspections	Ongoing	End of Contract
Hydrology and Hydrogeology	EIAR Volume 2: Chapter 8 Biodiversity Chapter 10 Water (including Hydrology and Flood Risk) Chapter 11 Hydrogeology Chapter 27 Summary of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures	Env. Manager/ Specialist Ecologist/ Env. Designer/ Site Agent/ Foreman	Method Statement/ Site Inspections/ Monitoring Data	Ongoing	End of Contract
Air Quality	EIAR Volume 2: Chapter 12 Air Quality Chapter 27 Summary of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures	Env. Manager/ Site Agent/ Foreman	Method Statement/ Site Inspections/ Monitoring Data	Ongoing	End of Contract
Noise and Vibration	EIAR Volume 2: Chapter 14 Noise and Vibration Chapter 27 Summary of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures	Env. Manager/ Noise Specialist/ Env. Designer/ Site Agent/ Foreman	Method Statement/ Site Inspections/ Monitoring Data/ Environmental Control Measure Sheet	Ongoing	End of Contract







ARUP



Environmental Commitment	Legislation / Specific Ref.	Action Owner	Evidence	Target Date	Close Date
Landscape and Visual Amenity	EIAR Volume 2: Chapter 8 Biodiversity Chapter 15 Landscape and Visual Amenity Chapter 27 Summary of Mitigation and Monitoring Measures	Env. Manager/Specialist Ecologist/ Env. Designer/ Site Agent/Foreman	Method Statement/ Site Inspections/	Ongoing	End of Contract







1.7 Environmental Control Measures

Environmental Control Measures to meet the Environmental Commitments/Requirements will be identified and implemented by the Contractor, refer to Appendix A5.1 (CEMP) for the list of Environmental Commitments/Requirements.

The Contractor will follow the procedure outlined in Figure 1-1 to identify the environmental control measures.



Figure 1-1 Example of Main Steps in Developing and Implementing Environmental Control Measures. Source: TII's Guidelines for the Creation, Implementation and Maintenance of an Environmental Operating Plan

As outlined in Figure 1-1 above, some environmental control measures are generally implemented across all works. However, some construction works may present a risk of environmental damage for which, relevant environmental control measures are required to be incorporated into site-specific method statements.

Environmental Control Sheets will be prepared by the Contractor which will contain the prescribed environmental control measures according to the environmental impact (e.g. impacts on watercourses, bats, badger etc.). It will be the responsibility of the Site Environmental Manager to ensure that the identified environmental control measures are sufficient to meet the environmental commitments and that they are brought to the attention of the relevant key personnel.



An example of an Environmental Control Sheet is shown in Figure 1-2 and Figure 1-3 below. For more examples, see Section 7.3 of the TII's "Guidelines for the Creation, Implementation and Maintenance of an Environmental Operating Plan"1.

¹ <u>https://www.tii.ie/tii-library/environment/planning-guidelines/Guidelines-for-the-Creation-and-Maintenance-of-an-Environmental-Operating-Plan.pdf</u>







Example Environmental Control Measure Sheet – Noise and Vibration (contd.)

Environmental Control Measures - Communication with the Public

A Public Communications Strategy should be established to promote awareness
of measures being taken to restrict noise and vibration to acceptable levels. See
Chapter 10.

Environmental Control Measures - Piling and Blasting

- A publicity campaign should be undertaken prior to the commencement of piling and blasting, explaining the work being carried out and the reasons for the work.
- An on-site documented complaints procedure should be implemented.
- Blasting should be carried out at similar times each day to reduce the 'startle' effect.
- Trial blasts should be carried out in less sensitive areas to assist in blast designs and identify potential zones of influence.

Environmental Control Measures - Control of Noise and Vibration (General)

Environmental Control Measures in relation to Noise and Vibration may be split into two categories:

- · Control of noise and vibration at source, and
- Controlling the spread of noise and vibration.

Environmental Control Measures - Control of Noise and Vibration at Source

- Where reasonably practicable, noisy plant or processes should be replaced by less noisy alternatives.
- · Plant should be properly and regularly maintained.
- Compressors should be 'sound reduced' models fitted with properly lined and sealed acoustic covers which should be kept closed whenever machines are in use and all ancillary pneumatic tools should be fitted with suitable silencers.
- Machinery, which is used intermittently, should be shut down or throttled back to a minimum during those periods when not in use.
- All vehicles and mechanical plant should be fitted with effective exhaust silencers.
- Noise from existing plant and equipment can be reduced by modification or by the application of improved sound reduction methods, but this should only be carried out after consultation with the manufacturer.
- Depending on the nature of the machine and on their ventilation requirements the use of enclosures and acoustic sheds should be considered where their use is reasonably practicable.
- Where deemed reasonably practicable, plant and site equipment should be located away from noise sensitive receptors.
- Plant known to emit noise strongly in one direction should, when possible, be orientated so that the noise is directed away from noise sensitive receptors.







Environmental Control Measures - Controlling the Spread of Noise and Vibration

At certain times during construction and at particular locations the use of temporary noise attenuating devices should be considered:

- The erection of temporary noise attenuating screens may be required in order to reduce noise levels below the maximum permissible noise levels. Noiseattenuating screens can be made up of formwork panels or constructed from at least 12 mm thick plywood and battens. Plywood may need to be stiffened with additional battens to prevent drumming. The lower edge of the panels should rest on the ground with any gap plugged by spoil, sandbags, etc.
- The use of temporary or the advance construction of permanent berms may be appropriate.
- Site buildings or material stockpiles may be located so as to shield sensitive receptors.

Environmental Control Measures – Construction of Permanent Noise Reducing Measures

Permanent noise mitigating measures installed on national road schemes should achieve the noise design commitments specified in the Contract documents, the EIS, any conditions and/or modifications imposed by ABP and the Schedule of Commitments. It will generally be required that such noise mitigation measures achieve the noise design goal '*performance standard*' of 60 L_{den} as specified in the *Guidelines for the Treatment of Noise and Vibration in National Road Schemes* (Revision 1, National Roads Authority, October 2004). In order to demonstrate that these noise design commitments are being achieved, the following Environmental Control Measures should be implemented:

- Documented evidence demonstrating that all noise mitigation measures will achieve the noise design commitments should be attached to the EOP. The Contractor's Designer, as advised by an acoustic specialist, should produce this report. This Environmental Control Measure should be in addition to any contractual requirements for the provision of documented evidence demonstrating that all noise mitigation measures meet the noise design commitments.
- Documented evidence demonstrating that all noise barriers have achieved the performance specified in the Contract in accordance with I.S. EN 1793 1:1998, I.S. EN 1793 2:1998, I.S. EN 1793 3:1998, I.S. EN 1794 1:2003 and I.S. EN 1794 2:2003 following the specifications outlined in I.S. EN 14388:2005 should be attached to the EOP. This documented evidence should demonstrate how the barriers meet the specified standards and should clearly indicate the absorptive performance (where such barrier is used) and airborne sound insulation categories of the constructed barriers as outlined in I.S. EN 1793 1:1998 and I.S. EN 1793 2:1998. This Environmental Control Measure should be in addition to any contractual requirements for the provision of such documented evidence.





larnród Éireann

ARUP



Responsibility

- The Site Agent should be familiar with the noise sensitive receptors and alert the Environmental Manager in good time prior to work commencing in these areas.
- The Environmental Manager should develop site-specific Method Statements in conjunction with the Construction Manager.

References

Guidelines for the Treatment of Noise and Vibration in National Road Schemes (Revision 1, National Roads Authority, October 2004).



BS 5228: Noise and vibration control on construction and open sites.

ISO1996-1 1982 Acoustics – Description and measurement of environmental noise – Part 1: Basic quantities and procedures.

Figure 1-2 Example of an Environmental Control Sheet for Noise and Vibration. Source Box 19 TII's Guidelines for the Creation, Implementation and Maintenance of an Environmental Operating Plan







Example Environmental Control Measure Sheet – Otters

Environmental Control Measures - Pre-Construction Ecological Walkover

 The Environmental Manager should ensure that signs of otter activity are assessed during the Pre-Construction Ecological Walkover.

Environmental Control Measures - Consultation

Prior to their commencement, all works impacting on otters and their breeding or resting places should be agreed and documented in consultation with the relevant statutory authority:

 National Parks and Wildlife Service (NPWS) of the Department of the Environment, Heritage and Local Government.

Such consultation should take place at the earliest opportunity in order to avoid any delay in obtaining licences or disruption to the works programme.

Environmental Control Measures - Compliance with relevant Licences, Approvals and Legislation

All works impacting on otters and their breeding or resting places should be carried out in accordance with relevant licences, approvals and legislation.

- Otters, along with their breeding and resting places, are protected under the provisions of the Wildlife Act, 1976, as amended by the Wildlife (Amendment) Act, 2000. Otters have additional protection because of their inclusion in Annex II and Annex IV of the Habitats Directive, which is transposed into Irish law in the European Communities (Natural Habitats) Regulations, 1997 (S.I. No. 94 of 1997), as amended.
- The removal of otters from affected holts, and the subsequent destruction of these holts, must be conducted under a Regulation 25 derogation under the 1997 Habitats Regulations. The National Parks and Wildlife Service (NPWS), of the Department of the Environment, Heritage and Local Government, is responsible for processing these licences. An application for a Regulation 25 derogation should be submitted to the NPWS along with the relevant ecological information from otter surveys. At least three weeks is normally required to process a derogation application. Conditions will usually be attached to each derogation granted in respect of otters and operations at holts or in their vicinity. Closure of holts requires a monitoring period to ensure that there is no current otter activity at the holt. Derogations may not be provided by the NPWS for the closure of holts containing a breeding female or young otters. Derogations may also be required for any works likely to cause disturbance (e.g. piling and blasting) to active breeding holts (when present within c.150m of a scheme).





larnród Éireann





Environmental Control Measures - Otter Holt Protection

 A map (at an appropriate scale) should be attached to the Environmental Operation Plan showing the general locations of otter holts and otter crossingpoints, where applicable. The map should be available to Site Agents, Forepersons and Monitoring Staff.

Site-specific Method Statements - Otters

Site-specific Method Statements should be drawn up for the following Works:

- · The exclusion of otters from holts;
- The destruction of holts:
- The construction of otter ledges on culverts and bridges;
- · The construction of otter underpasses;
- The construction of mammal resistant fencing;
- · The construction of culverts and bridges known to contain otters, and
- Site works in the vicinity of otter holts.

Environmental Control Measures - Post-Construction Monitoring and Mitigation

Quarterly monitoring of mitigation measures should take place after completion
of construction. Monitoring should be continued for at least one year after
construction work ceases.

Responsibility

The Environmental Manager is responsible for ensuring:

- That third party consultations take place;
- Liaison with the Designated Licence Holders and ensuring that the removal of otters from affected holts and subsequent destruction of these holts is conducted under licence;
- That a pre-construction survey is carried out;
- Environmental Control Measures are drawn up;
- · Site Agents and Forepersons are made aware of requirements, and
- Post-mitigation monitoring takes place.

References

Guidelines for the Treatment of Otters Prior to the Construction of National Road Schemes (National Roads Authority, 2006).



Figure 1-3 Example of an Environmental Control Sheet for Otters. Source Box 19 *Tll's Guidelines for the Creation, Implementation and Maintenance of an Environmental Operating Plan*







1.8 Site Specific Method Statements

A Method Statement may be defined as a statement of the construction methods and resources to be employed in executing construction work. Method Statements can cover numerous works activities, however where there is a risk of environmental damage, site- specific method statements must be prepared for the construction works. The Method Statement should be prepared by the Contractor with assistance from the Site Environmental Manager who will identify which elements of the works have the potential to significantly impact the environment.

The Method Statement should refer to relevant Environmental Control Measure Sheets and incorporate relevant Environmental Control Measures. The Method Statement should include:

- The proposed method of construction and how impacts shall be mitigated;
- Contingency plans and emergency plans to limit damage caused by accidents, spills, or other unforeseen events; and
- Notification procedures to the relevant Authorities, Utilities and Service Providers.

There may be a requirement for method statements to be reviewed and/or approved by third party consultees (where applicable) prior to their finalisation.

A template of the site-specific method statements is provided in Figure 1-4 below.

Site-Specific Method Statement: Demolition of the Building at Chainage 13+00 LHS								
A. Re	A. Resource Required							
Labor	Labour							
1	Site Agent							
2	Forepersons							
3	Machine Operators (as necessary)							
4	General Operatives							
5	Safety Officer							
6	Environmental Manager							
Plant	& Equipment							
1	Teleporter with cradle.							
2	20/30 tonne excavalors.							
3	Dumptruck (as necessary).							
B. Ma	terial & Supplies							
Not A	iplicable.							











C. 8	itaff Responsibilities					
Position Title			Responsibility	Responsibility		
Env	ironmental Manager					
Site	Agent					
Foreperson						
Safety Officer			Ensure compliance with	Ensure compliance with the Health and Safety Plan.		
D. I	Environmental Control Measure Sheets					
Env Env	ironmental Control Measure Sheet – Wildlife (Generi ironmental Control Measure Sheet – Bats ironmental Control Measure Sheet – Trees and Hedev	il)				
E.F	lealth and Safety Risk Assessment					
F. N	lethod					
					1	
	Operation	Person Responsible	Signature	Date	Comment	
L.	Obtain copy of Licence issued by NPWS.	Environmental Manager	Environmental Manager	01,06/06	Copy of licence received from the Engineer. See attached licence.	
2	Main contractor's Engineer to survey and inspect the building to ensure that no hazardous materials are present and that all services are disconnected.	Site Engineer	Site Engineer	01/06/06	No hazardous materials were present, All services have been disconnected. See survey report attached.	
2	Ensure that Scientific Agent (listed in the Elsence) examines building prior to denodition.	Environmental Manager	Environmental Manager	02/05/05	Building contained roosting bats as indicated in the EIS. Bats are inaccessible and the exclusion procedure must be followed. Scientific Agent	
4.	Install one-way valves over saitable access points as per the advice of the Scientific Agent.	Environmental Manager	Environmental Manager	02/06/06	One-way valves installed in accordance with best practice. Scientific Agent	
5	Allow a sufficient period for buts to be excluded from the building as per the advice of the Scientific Agent.	Environmental Manager	Environmental Manager	06/06/06	Four day exclusion period required in accordance with best practice.	

Figure 1-4 Example of a Site-Specific Method Statement for Demolition Works. Source: TII's Guidelines for the Creation, Implementation and Maintenance of an Environmental Operating Plan







1.9 Environmental Awareness Training

1.9.1 EOP, EIAR, NIS and Contractual Requirement Briefing

The Site Environmental Manager will brief the Contractor's senior personnel, namely the Project Manager, Site Manager, Design Engineers, Site Agents, PSCS and any other key personnel on the EOP and the Environmental Commitments/Requirements that must be met during the Construction Phase.

1.9.2 Site Induction

All employees and sub-contractors involved on site will be given a comprehensive induction prior to commencement of the works. The environmental training and awareness procedure will ensure that staff are familiar with the principles of the CEMP, the environmental aspects and impacts associated with their activities, the procedures in place to control these impacts and the consequences of departure from these procedures.

This environmental training can be run concurrently with safety awareness training.

Training will include:

- Overview of the Environmental Policy and Construction Environmental Management Plan, goals and objectives;
- Awareness in relation to risk, consequence, and methods of avoiding environmental risks as identified within the Register of Aspects and with the planning conditions;
- Awareness of roles and individual environmental responsibilities and environmental constrains to specific jobs;
- Location of and sensitivity of Special Area of Conservations, Special Protection Areas, protected monuments, structures etc; and
- Location of habitats and species to be protected during construction, how activities may affect them and methods necessary to avoid impacts.

A record will be kept of a signed register on the project files of all attendees of the environmental induction.

Toolbox talks based on specific activities being carried out will be given to personnel by the nominated project representative. These will be based on specific activities being carried out and will include environmental issues particular to the project, including the impact on bird populations and water quality namely:

- Oil/Diesel spill prevention and safe refuelling practice;
- Storage of materials including oil/diesels and cement;
- Emergency response processes used to deal with spills;
- Minimising disturbance to wildlife;
- Emergency response to include water pollution hotline to the EPA/Irish Rail for regulator response;
- Identification of registered/accredited spill cleanup company for oil etc; and



• Consideration of importance of containment of vehicle washing, containments of concrete /cement/grout washout etc, bank protection using hessian to prevent excessive scour and mobilisation of suspended solids, maintenance of vegetation corridors etc.

1.9.3 Specific Training and Awareness

A project specific training plan that identifies the competency requirements for all personnel allocated with environmental responsibilities will be produced by the Contractor. Training will be provided by the Contractor to ensure that all persons working on site have a practical understanding of environmental issues and management requirements prior to commencing activities. A register of completed training is to be kept by the site Environmental Manager. The Site Manager will ensure that environmental emergency plans are drawn up and the Site Environmental Manager will conduct the necessary training/inductions.

1.10 Communication

1.10.1 External Communication

A Stakeholder Management and Communication Plan (SMCP) will be prepared by the contractor. The Employer will appoint a Public Liaison Officer, or equivalent, who will be consulted in the preparation of the Plan as well as its maintenance and implementation. The SMCP will provide the means of the stakeholder and members of the public to communicate with the project team, and for the project team to communicate relevant information of the scheme.

The principal component of a Stakeholder Management and Communication Plan will include:

- Details of general construction process / phasing will be communicated to the relevant stakeholders and members of the public prior to implementation to ensure local residents and businesses are fully informed of the nature and duration of construction works: and
- Details of a contact name and number for any complaints that may arise during such works.

A complaints register will be developed as part of the Plan to efficiently record any complaints made. Environmental related complaints will be initially directed to the Site Environmental Manager. A template for an environmental complaints register is provided in Figure 1-5 below as an example.





larnród Éireann Irish Rail





Enviro	onmental Complaints Re	gister						
Form 4								
Title:	Environmental Complain	Environmental Complaints Register						
Page:	Page 1 of 1	Ref. No.:	Issue No.:					
Issued by:		Approved by:	Date:					
Date								
Complaint received	í by:							
Complaint recorded	d by:							
Complaint made by	y:							
Name:								
Address:								
Telephone:								
Email Address:								
Nature of the comp	plaint:							
Weather conditions	s at time of complaint:							
Complaint reported	1 to:							
Action taken:								
Was there a follow	up call to complainant?	YES/NO						
Use additional shee	ets if required							

Figure 1-5 Template of an Environmental Complaints Register. Source: Form 4 in *Tll's Guidelines for the Creation, Implementation and Maintenance of an Environmental Operating Plan*

1.10.2 Internal Communication

Environmental issues and performance aspects will be communicated to the workforce on a regular basis. Weekly project meetings, which follow a set agenda incorporating Environment, will be held alongside overall management meetings.

All staff and sub-contractors involved in all phases of the project will be encouraged to report environmental issues.

The PSCS will maintain contact with the PSDP throughout the works to communicate any health and safety related issues. The PSDP will prepare a written safety file appropriate to the characteristics of the project, containing relevant health and safety information, to be taken into account during any subsequent construction work following completion of the project.




1.11 Inspections, Auditing and Monitoring Compliance

1.11.1 Inspections

The appointed Site Environmental Manager will carry out environmental inspections at appropriate intervals. The Site Environmental Manager will be accompanied by a qualified and accredited environmental specialist (ecologists, landscape architects and noise specialists etc.) when appropriate and where required during inspections.

The Site Environmental Manager will append the reports from environmental inspections to this EOP.

1.11.2 Monitoring

The Railway Order Consent may require the execution of certain types of monitoring e.g. related to noise, vibration, water quality air quality, etc.

The appointed Site Environmental Manager will prepare a schedule of monitoring required, detailing the type of report to be prepared and to whom it should be send to. All the monitoring is to be carried out by competent experts. A template of a monitoring schedule is provided in Figure 1-6 below as an example.

Form 5							
Title:	Monitoring Schedule						
Page:	Page I of 1		Ref. No.:			Issue No.:	
Issued by:			Approved b	iy:		Date:	
							,
Location	Parameters	Frequency		By whom	Report typ	e	Distribution to
		_				_	

Figure 1-6 Template of Monitoring Schedule. Source: Form 5 in *Tll's Guidelines for the Creation, Implementation and Maintenance of an Environmental Operating Plan*

1.11.3 Audits

1.11.3.1 Audit by the Environmental Manager

The EOP will be audited by the Site Environmental Manager in conjunction with the Site Manager annually or as agreed at the start of the contract to ensure that the appointed Contractor is in compliance with all environmental commitments/requirements. Should there be a need to revise the EOP, the Site Environmental Manager will make all the necessary changes to the EOP and inform the key personnel of such changes. The EOP should only be revised by the Site Environmental Manager.











A template containing an auditing format is provided in Figure 1-7 below as an example.

	Additteorn					
Form	n 6					
Title		Audii Format				
Page		Page 1 of 1	Ref. No.:		Issue No.:	
lessae	d by;		Approved:		Date:	
No	Owers		Outcome	Action required	n	ate for completion
	Query	and a start day to show the set of	Contentie	Action required		are ton consideration
_	Has use EOP been	created, maintained and implemented?				
2	Has the EOP bein intervals?	g submitted to the Engineer at appropriate				
¥.	Has an Environme experience and kn task ns be underta	ential Manager, having sufficient training, sowledge appropriate to the nature of the ken, been appointed by the main contractor?				
4	Have General Pro	ject Details been included within the EOP7				
5	Have Contact Det incorporated and	tails of relevant persons and bodies been updated within the EOP?				
6 Has an up-to-date and appropriate Reference Document Section been included within the EOP?						
7	Has the main cont illustrated within	ractor's organisational structure here the EOP?				
£.	Have duties and re assigned under the	esponsibilities been satisfactorily e EOP7				
2	Have all the Envir	rommental Commitments and Requirements				
10	Have all Environm comply with the E Requirements been	nental Control Measures necessary to invironmental Commitments and a developed and documented?				
1	Have all site-speci for Works activity is present?	ific Method Statements been developed where a risk of environmental damage				
2	Has Environmenta carried out? Are to to the EOP?	il Awareness Training been adequately ecords of training available and attached				
3	Is the complaints r	register being filled in?				
4	Do minutes of mo arenda?	etings show environmental issues on the				
5	Has the Environm environmental insp	ential Manager carried out regular pections? Bave the reports of the				
6	Has an epiropriale	e schedule of monitorine been drawn on?				
	Where monitoring nequired, has the F	g falls outside of the range contractually Environmental Manager initiated and etive action?				
7	Have the Environm audited the EOP	mental Manager and Construction Manager on an annual basis?				

Figure 1-7 Template of an Audit Format. Source: Form 6 in TII's Guidelines for the Creation, Implementation and Maintenance of an Environmental Operating Plan







1.11.3.2 Audit by the Employer's Representative

The EOP will be audited by the Employer's Representative to ensure that the Contractor is compliant with the environmental provisions of the Contract Documents.

1.12 Handover of the Final EOP

Two copies of the final and complete EOP should be supplied to the Employer's Representative/ PSDP immediately following the end of the defect's notification period.



Appendix E: Construction and Demolition Waste Management Plan











CONTENTS

1.	APPENDIX A5.1 – APPENDIX E: CONSTRUCTION AND DEMOLITION WASTE	4			
WANA	AGEMENT PLAN (CDWMP)	. 1			
1.1	Introduction	1			
1.2	Waste Management Strategy	3			
1.2.	1 Material Management	4			
1.2.2	2 Waste Auditing	5			
1.3	Waste and Recycling Targets and Opportunities	6			
1.4	Waste Disposal Licensing	6			
1.4.1	1 Licensing Requirements	6			
1.4.2	2 Exclusion from Legislation	7			
1.5	Proposed Construction Methodology and Material Usage	9			
1.5.1	1 Site Preparation	9			
1.5.2	2 Site Offices and Construction Compounds	9			
1.5.3	3 Material Quantities	10			
1.5.4	4 Demolition Plan	10			
1.5.	5 General Construction and Demolition Works	10			
1.6	Costs of Waste Management	13			
1.7	Assignment of Responsibilities	14			
1.8	8 Training				
1.9	9 Waste Records				
1.10	References	15			



1. APPENDIX A5.1 – APPENDIX E: CONSTRUCTION AND DEMOLITION WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN (CDWMP)

ARUP

DART+

tal North

larnród Éireann

1.1 Introduction

The Construction and Demolition Waste Management Plan (CDWMP) ensures that the management of any wastes arising on-site during the construction and demolition phases of the DART+ Coastal North Project ("the Proposed Development") complies with the provisions laid out in the Waste Management Act, 1996, as amended. The CDWMP will also ensure that optimum levels of reduction, re-use and recycling are achieved.

The CDWMP will be further developed and implemented by the Contractor accordingly, and will align with the relevant guidance documents together with local and national policies as listed in Appendix A19.1 of the Environmental Impact Assessment Report (EIAR).

The CDWMP will include, as a minimum, the following:

- Details of waste storage (i.e., skips, bins, containers) to be provided for different waste types and collection times;
- Details of where and how materials shall be disposed of (i.e., landfills or other appropriately licensed waste management facilities);
- Details of storage areas for waste materials and containers; and
- Details of how unsuitable excess materials will be disposed of, where necessary.

Best Practice Guidelines for the Preparation of Resource Management Plans for Construction and Demolition Projects were published by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) in 2021 (EPA, 2021) and supersede the guidelines published by the Government in 2006.

The replacement guidelines reflect current waste legislation and policy including 'A Waste Action Plan for a Circular Economy Ireland's National Waste Policy 2020-2025' (DECC, 2020). Since the publication of the 2006 guidelines, waste management legislation and policy have evolved towards prioritising waste prevention and life-cycle thinking through an increased emphasis on waste prevention and the promotion of core circular design and construction principles in line with the EU Circular Economy Action Plan under the EU Green Deal.

The guidelines address the best practice approach for the following phases of a project:

- Prior to Construction including the stages of design, planning and procurement in advance of works on site; and
- During Construction relating to the effective management of resources and wastes during construction or demolition operations.

The principal objective of sustainable resource and waste management is to use material resources more efficiently, to re-use, recycle and recover material and to reduce the amount of waste requiring final disposal. The value of products, material and resources should be maintained in the economy for as long as possible such that the generation of waste is minimised.









To achieve resource efficiency there is a need to move from a traditional linear economy to a circular economy (refer to Image 1-1).

The Department of Environment, Climate and Communication's (DECC) A Waste Action Plan for a Circular Economy – Ireland's National Waste Policy 2020 – 2025 (DECC, 2020) notes that:

"In a circular economy the value of products and materials is maintained for as long as possible; waste and resource use are minimised, and resources are kept within the economy when a product has reached the end of its life, to be used again and again to create further value."

The EU Circular Economy Action Plan (European Commission (EC), 2020) notes that:

"the EU needs to accelerate the transition towards a regenerative growth model that gives back to the planet more than it takes, advance towards keeping its resource consumption within planetary boundaries, and therefore strive to reduce its consumption footprint and double its circular material use rate in the coming decade."



Image 1-1 A simplified model of the circular economy for materials and energy (European Environment Agency, 2016)







1.2 Waste Management Strategy

Where residual waste generation is unavoidable, it will be dealt with in a way that follows the waste hierarchy (as illustrated in Image 1-2) and set out in Directive 2008/98/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 November 2008 on waste and repealing certain Directives on waste as amended by Directive (EU) 2018/851 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 May 2018 ("the Waste Framework Directive").

The European Commission has adopted "A new Circular Economy Action Plan For a cleaner and more competitive Europe" (EC, 2020) - one of the main blocks of the European Green Deal, Europe's new agenda for sustainable growth. The Circular Economy Action Plan identifies construction as a key area where there are opportunities for resource efficiency and circularity.

The Irish Waste Action Plan for a Circular Economy (DECC, 2020) outlines the commitment in the Programme for Government to implement a new National Waste Action Plan providing new waste policy and giving direction to waste planning and management in Ireland. The Plan includes the target of preparing for reuse, recycling, and other material recovery (including beneficial backfilling operations using waste as a substitute) of 70% by weight of Construction and Demolition non-hazardous waste (excluding natural soils & stone).







The Department of Environment, Climate and Communications published the 'Whole-of-Government Circular Economy Strategy 2022-2023' (DECC, 2021) in December 2021. The Strategy aims to support and implement measures that significantly reduce Ireland's circularity gap, so that Ireland's rate is above the EU average by 2030.

In July 2022, the Circular Economy and Miscellaneous Provisions Act 2022 was signed into law (Government of Ireland, 2022). This Act aims to place the Strategy, and the commitment to a circular economy, on a clear statutory footing. It underpins Ireland's shift from a "take-make-waste" linear model to a more sustainable pattern of production and consumption, that retains the value of resources in our economy for as long as possible and that will to significantly reduce our greenhouse gas emissions. The Act is a key step in the successful transition of Ireland's economy to a circular economy and is evidence of Government's commitment to the achievement of that goal.

The Contractor shall develop and implement a plan to facilitate reuse and recycling and to divert waste from landfill. The content and headings used shall comply with the EPA Best Practice Guidelines for the Preparation of Resource Management Plans for Construction and Demolition Projects (EPA, 2021).

Following appointment, the Contractor will be responsible for detailing and maintaining this CDWMP for implementation and updating it as appropriate.

1.2.1 Material Management

The Contractor shall implement the following measures to prevent waste, facilitate recycling and minimise waste disposal during the Construction Phase:

- Where waste generation cannot be avoided, waste disposal will be minimised;
- Opportunities for reuse of materials, by-products and wastes will be sought throughout the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development;
- Possibilities for reuse of clean non-hazardous excavation material as fill on the site or in landscaping works will be considered following appropriate testing to ensure material is suitable for its proposed end use;
- Where non-hazardous excavation material cannot be reused within the Proposed Development works, material will be sent for recycling or recovery;
- Excavations of made ground will be monitored by an appropriately qualified person to ensure that any hotspots of possible contamination are properly identified, with the contaminated material segregated and disposed of appropriately;
- Any identified contaminated material will be segregated and stored in an area where there is no possibility of runoff generation or infiltration to ground or surface water drainage. Care will be taken to ensure that the hotspot does not cross contaminate clean soils elsewhere throughout the site;
- The potential risk to site users and member of the public from contaminated dust during the Construction Phase will be managed using standard health and safety measures as outlined in 'Asbestos-containing Materials (ACMs) in Workplaces: Practical Guidelines on ACM Management and Abatement' (HSA, 2013). This document states that "removal of asbestos from contaminated soil will require a specialist asbestos Contractor for any friable asbestos to be removed" and "a risk assessment by an independent competent person should determine the most appropriate control measures and remediation strategies" (HSA, 2013);









- The site will be maintained to prevent litter and regular litter picking will take place throughout the site;
- 'Just-in-time' delivery will be used to minimise material wastage;
- Paints, sealants and hazardous chemicals will be stored in secure, bunded locations;
- All staff on-site will be trained on how to minimise waste (i.e., training, induction, inspections and meetings);
- Materials on-site will be correctly and securely stored;
- Where possible, metal, timber, glass, and other recyclable material will be segregated and removed off site to a permitted / licensed facility for recycling. Waste stream colour coding and photographs will be used to facilitate segregation;
- On-site office and food waste arising will be source separated at least into dry mixed recyclables, biodegradable and residual wastes;
- Waste bins, containers, skip containers and storage areas will be clearly labelled with waste types which they should contain, including photographs as appropriate;
- Segregated skips will be used within a designated waste segregation area to be located in the on-site Construction Compound (particularly for hazardous, gypsum, metal, timber, inert waste and general waste);
- The appointed Contractor will record the quantity in tonnes and types of waste and materials leaving the site during the Construction Phase. The name, address and authorisation details of all facilities and locations to which waste and materials are delivered will be recorded along with the quantity of waste in tonnes delivered to each facility. Records will show material which is recovered, which is recycled and which is disposed of;
- Waste generated on-site will be removed as soon as practicable following generation for delivery to an authorised waste facility;
- The appointed Contractor will ensure that any off site interim storage facilities for excavation material have the appropriate Certificate of Registration, Waste Facility Permit and / or EPA Waste Licence in place;
- Where Regulation 27 notifications are required in relation to the Proposed Development, the appointed Contractor will complete and submit these Regulation 27 notifications to the EPA for by-product reuse; and
- The relevant appropriate waste authorisation will be in place for all facilities that wastes are delivered to (i.e., Certificate of Registration, Waste Facility Permit and / or EPA Waste Licence).

1.2.2 Waste Auditing

The appointed Resource Manager (RM – refer to Section 1.7) will arrange for audits (including predemolition audits) to be completed on the Proposed Development prior to any construction works commencing and during the construction works. Audits will be of all existing structures and hard surfaces within the Proposed Development site which will be impacted by the works. The audits will identify and quantify the key materials associated with the Proposed Development, outline potential reuse and recycling applications for these materials, identify reuse, recycling and landfill diversion targets for these materials and identify potential local recovery and recycling facilities to which these materials may be delivered.





The Contractor will record the quantity, in tonnes, and types of waste and materials leaving the development site during site clearance, demolition, excavation, and construction of the Proposed Development. Quantities will be regularly reviewed and compared with targets set during initial audits (including the pre-demolition audit).

The name, address and authorisation details of all facilities and locations to which waste and materials from the Proposed Development are delivered will be recorded along with the quantity of waste in tonnes delivered to each facility and the date of the waste movement. Records will show material which is recovered and disposed of.

1.3 Waste and Recycling Targets and Opportunities

The Contractor's CDWMP, waste handling and proposed construction methods shall aim to achieve the following targets:

- The Contractor shall be responsible for sourcing materials for the construction of the Proposed Development. These materials must comply with specific quality requirements;
- The Contractor will endeavour to procure the highest recycled steel content that is available for the particular usage subject to engineering constraints;
- All aggregates shall be secondary aggregates with virgin aggregates employed only where secondary aggregates do not satisfy structural requirements and/or are unavailable;
- Local suppliers and re-use of materials shall be supported by the Contractor to minimise the environmental impact, cost of transport and to support the local economy in line with the proximity principle;
- Where possible, materials will be re-used/recycled to reduce the procurement of new materials. In accordance with the IÉ Sustainability Strategy 2021-2030, at least 25% of raw material purchases will come from recycled sources; and
- The above actions and others within the IÉ Sustainability Strategy will be implemented as part of the Proposed Development.

The Contractor will seek opportunities, wherever possible, to reduce the amount of waste generated on site and maximise the potential for recycling materials in accordance with the waste hierarchy through the following:

- Storing materials in designated areas and separate from wastes to minimise damage;
- Returning packaging to the producer where possible;
- Segregating construction and demolition wastes into reusable, recyclable and non-recyclable materials;
- Reusing and recycling materials on site during construction;
- Recycling other recyclable materials through appropriately permitted/licensed Contractors and facilities; and
- Disposing of non-recyclable wastes to licensed landfills.

1.4 Waste Disposal Licensing

1.4.1 Licensing Requirements

Waste from construction will be delivered to authorised waste facilities in accordance with the Waste Management Act, 1996, as amended.





The following authorisations are applicable:

- Certificates of Registration (CoR) from the Local Authority (issued to private sector);
- Certificates of Registration (CoR) from the EPA (issued to Local Authority);
- Waste Facility Permit (WFP) from the Local Authority; and
- Waste or Industrial Emissions Licence from the EPA.

A list of currently authorised (CoR or WFP) waste sites in each Local Authority is available on the following website: <u>http://facilityregister.nwcpo.ie/</u>.

Lists of sites currently licensed by the EPA (Industrial Emissions or Waste Licence) are available on the following websites:

- <u>https://epawebapp.epa.ie/terminalfour/waste/index.jsp</u> (for Waste Licensed sites);
- <u>https://epawebapp.epa.ie/terminalfour/ippc/index.jsp</u> (for Industrial Emission Licensed waste facilities).

An up-to-date list of all waste facilities to which waste from the site will be delivered will be maintained on site and updated by the Contractor. Copies of valid facility Certificates of Registration, Waste Facility Permits and Waste Licences will be held on site by the Contractor.

1.4.2 Exclusion from Legislation

The European Union (Waste Directive) Regulations 2011 (SI. 126 of 2011) (Regulation 4) substitutes new Sections 3 and 4 into the Waste Management Act 1996 (as amended) ("the 1996 Act") and Section 3(1)I of the 1996 Act now provides that the 1996 Act shall not apply to:

"uncontaminated soil and other naturally occurring material excavated in the course of construction activities where it is certain that the material will be used for the purposes of construction in its natural state on the site from which is was excavated."

1.4.2.1 Regulation 27

Surplus excavation material may be declared a by-product under (under Regulation 27 of the EC Waste Directive Regulations, 2011-2020) for reuse in one or more known construction projects.

By-product notifications to the EPA provide an opportunity for reuse of surplus clean soil and stone material arising from construction activity. This can apply to locations other than authorised recovery facilities e.g., quarries operating under planning permission, parks or other developments requiring earthworks and importation of clean soil and stone. This option can bring significant economic benefits while facilitating beneficial re-use of by-products. This plays a role in Ireland's implementation of Circular Economy principles.

A Regulation 27 notification to the EPA under Regulation 27 of the EC Waste Directive Regulations, 2011-2020 is required to achieve by-product status for soil and stones. It is noted that the use of Regulation 27 is limited to clean soil and stone, and it must be demonstrated to the EPA that the following four conditions are met:

• Further use of the soil and stone is certain;





• The soil and stone can be used directly without any further processing other than normal industrial practice;

ARUP

- The soil and stone are produced as an integral part of a production process; and
- Further use is lawful in that the soil and stone fulfil all relevant requirements for the specific use and will not lead to overall adverse environmental or human health impacts.

Where it is proposed to use a Regulation 27 EPA notification in relation to excavation material from the Proposed Development, the Contractor is responsible for submission of the Regulation 27 notification to the EPA. Where it is proposed to use soil from off-site with a Regulation 27 notification, the Contractor is responsible for carrying out any necessary due diligence regarding the material and ensuring that all EPA guidelines relating to that Regulation 27 notification have been complied with before the soil is imported into the site. Where feasible, appropriate, and available Regulation 27 materials arising from other sites will be used in the development of this site.

The Contractor is responsible for ensuring all applicable regulatory requirements under waste, planning and other laws are complied with prior to movement of excavation material.

The EPA has produced the following guidance to assist the completion of by-product notifications:

- By-product Guidance Note (May 2020) A guide to by-products and submitting a by-product notification under Article 27 of the European Communities (Waste Directive) Regulations 2011 (S.I. No 126 of 2011); and
- Guidance on Soil and Stone By-products (June 2019) (in the context of Article 27 of the European Communities (Waste Directive) Regulations 2011).

It is noted that the European Communities (Waste Directive) Regulations 2011 (S.I. No 126 of 2011) were amended *inter alia* by the European Union (Waste Directive) Regulations, (S.I. 323 of 2020).

1.4.2.2 Soil Recovery at Sites Holding Waste Facility Permits or EPA Waste Licences

Where removal of wastes from the Proposed Development is unavoidable it will be delivered by the contractor only to facilities which are authorised under the Waste Management Act, 1996 as amended and which hold the appropriate Certificate of Registration, Waste Facility Permit and / or EPA Waste Licence in place.

The Waste Management (Facility Permit and Registration) Regulations 2007 (S.I. 821 of 2007), as amended sets out the classes of waste activity requiring waste facility permits and certificate of registration. The most relevant class of activity in relation to soil recovery facilities is:

Class 5 (Third Schedule, Part 1 of the Regulations) for the "Recovery of excavation or dredge spoil, comprising natural materials of clay, silt, sand, gravel or stone and which comes within the meaning of inert waste, through deposition for the purposes of the improvement or development of land, where the total quantity of waste recovered at the facility is less than 100,000 tonnes."

For waste facility permits and certificate of registration the capacity is typically a lifetime capacity, and when reached, the facility typically closes. Waste facility permits and certificates of registration are granted to private operators by local authorities.



EPA licensed waste activities authorised to accept soil and stones for recovery and disposal include soil recovery sites, landfills, transfer stations and materials recovery facilities. These typically handle a larger tonnage of wastes than facilities holding Certificates of Registration or Waste Facility Permits. EPA Waste Licences typically include an annual maximum intake capacity and a maximum lifetime capacity for the licenced facility.

Where the Contractor proposes to deliver excavated materials from the Proposed Development to facilities holding a Certificate of Registration, Waste Facility Permit and / or EPA Waste Licence, the Contractor is responsible for ensuring the authorisation is valid and allows acceptance of the relevant List of Waste Code. A copy of the authorisation will be included in the CDWMP, and evidence will be provided that the proposed facility will have capacity to accept the required quantity of waste from the Proposed Development.

1.5 Proposed Construction Methodology and Material Usage

1.5.1 Site Preparation

The construction of the Proposed Development will require site clearance as part of the Proposed Development. As outlined in Chapter 5 (Construction Strategy) of Volume 2 of the EIAR, vegetation such as trees, climbing plants, shrubs, or vines are required to be removed at some locations prior to local works commencing. Site clearance to remove any unwanted materials and equipment may also be required.

This will also include certain utility diversions and protection depending on the size, number and nature of the utilities impacted by the construction of the Proposed Development. Chapter 5 (Construction Strategy) notes that specific utility diversions include surface water drains, foul and combined sewers, watermains, overhead and underground electricity cables, gas mains and telecommunication and cable services.

The Contractor's update of the CEMP will include the following:

- The extent of the areas to be cleared and the potential types and volumes or arisings;
- The location of any structures to be demolished;
- Statutory requirements; and
- Specific environmental requirements and seasonal requirements.

1.5.2 Site Offices and Construction Compounds

As outlined in Chapter 5 (Construction Strategy), Construction Compounds are required at specific site locations, such as the proposed substation locations, as well as at locations where structural works are required such as at bridges. There is also a need for Construction Compounds to support line-wide works, known as line-wide compounds. These Construction Compounds will support activities such as the installation of the track, under track crossings (UTXs), overhead line equipment, signalling, communications, and power systems.

Construction Compounds will only be in place for the duration of the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development. The location, size and suitability of the compound will ultimately be at the discretion of the Contractor once they are located within the Proposed Development boundary and site access is approved by the Local Authority.



The location and layout of the Construction Compounds selected by the Contractor will however have to incorporate the protection and mitigation measures outlined in the EIAR and conform to the requirements outlined in the planning conditions.

1.5.3 Material Quantities

Excavation works will be required for the Proposed Development. Earthworks which are likely to generate large quantities of materials are the excavation activities for the substations required for the electrification of the rail-line and upgrade works to the existing Drogheda, Clongriffin, Malahide and Howth Junction & Donaghmede Stations. The suitability of excavated materials will be assessed in accordance with the requirements of TII Specification for Roadworks and NSAI standards and reused wherever possible.

For more details on the proposed excavation activities refer to Chapter 4 (Description of the Proposed Development) and Chapter 5 (Construction Strategy) of Volume 2 of the EIAR. Further information on waste and resource management, including estimated quantities of materials produced and imported, lists of waste permitted and licenced facilities within the regions surrounding the Proposed Development, is available in Chapter 19 (Material Assets: Resources and Waste Management) in Volume 2 of the EIAR. This chapter also identifies potential for reuse and recycling of materials and materials optimisation.

1.5.4 Demolition Plan

A demolition plan must be prepared in advance for each structure to be demolished. The plan will be developed by the main Contractor and will include the following:

- Details of ground removal and/or backfilling;
- Details of the principal materials of construction and the plan for handling such materials, including both non-hazardous and hazardous materials;
- The procedures for the demolition of each structure, with a detailed sequence of demolition;
- Protection and control measures; and
- Methods for the handling and disposal of waste such as the means of transport of waste material from the site, the time and frequency of waste material movement offsite and a methodology for recording the materials generated and disposed of. All waste materials removed from site must be collected by a licenced waste collection contractor and delivered to a licensed waste facility, as required under the Waste Management Act 2006, as amended.

1.5.5 General Construction and Demolition Works

Construction works, site offices and temporary works facilities will generate construction and demolition waste. Construction waste can vary significantly from site to site but typically would include the following non-hazardous fractions:

- Soil and stone;
- Concrete, brick, tiles and ceramics;
- Bituminous mixtures;
- Metals;
- Wood; and
- Other.







The hazardous waste streams which could arise from construction activities include the following:

ARUP

- Waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE) components;
- Batteries;
- Asbestos;
- Wood preservatives;
- Adhesives;
- Paints;
- Liquid fuels; and
- Contaminated soil.

An overview of the methods to manage the primary waste streams expected is presented below. The main types of construction waste presented will be:

1.5.5.1 Excavated Material

In instances where short-term temporary storage is unavoidable, the storage method will inform the potential use due to the potential for certain types of material to degrade if left uncovered (including topsoil or mud).

1.5.5.2 Concrete

Waste concrete will arise during the Construction Phase of the Proposed Development. It is proposed that segregation facilities will be provided to ensure that recovery and recycling of concrete will be prioritised. Source segregation containers for residual concrete waste will be located at the waste storage area for subsequent separation and recovery at a remote facility. This will ensure the reduction of energy and carbon dioxide emissions by avoiding disposal which in turn reduces project costs.

1.5.5.3 Metals

Metal waste has a significant scrap value. Although it is now common practice for sites to segregate metals for reuse and recycling, there are still sites where metal is thrown away with residual waste. One of the primary sources of metal waste is steel reinforcement. Wastage of steel reinforcement will be reduced by ordering made to measure steel from the manufacturer and detailed scheduling of all reinforced concrete structural elements.

Skip hire companies may provide free skips for the storage of scrap metal on sites and this will be investigated prior to construction commencing. When metal storage containers are full they will be removed by the waste storage Contractor and sent to a licenced metals recycling facility.

1.5.5.4 Timber

Timber waste will be stored separately as it is readily contaminated by other wastes and if it is allowed to rot, it will reduce the recyclability of other stored wastes. Any pallets will be returned to the supplier for re-use. Offcuts and trimmings will be used in formwork where possible. A container for waste wood will be covered where possible and will be placed in the waste storage area. The waste wood will be collected by a licenced waste collection contractor who will transport it to a wood recycling facility for chipping.



Treatment of timber with chemicals and the overuse of nails will be minimised and avoided as this will make it difficult to reuse/recycle the timber afterwards. The utilisation of reclaimed timber products will also be investigated.

1.5.5.5 Packaging and Plastic

Packaging waste can become a major problem on construction sites. Double handling will be avoided by segregating packaging wastes immediately after unwrapping. Many suppliers are now prepared to collect their own packaging for recycling, and this will also be investigated prior to works commencing.

It is intended that, where possible, materials with recycled packaging will be purchased. Waste packaging will be segregated and stored in separate containers, preferably covered, in the waste storage area for collection by the waste management collection Contractor and onward distribution to packaging recycling facilities.

1.5.5.6 Blocks and Bricks

The careful storage of these raw materials will significantly reduce the volume of these wastes arising on site. The most likely wastes produced will be off-cuts, trimmings and waste arising from breakages. Every effort will be made to use broken bricks and off-cuts.

1.5.5.7 Hazardous Waste

Demolition and excavation material that is deemed hazardous will be treated at an authorised facility either in Ireland or abroad. Export of hazardous waste from the Proposed Development outside of the State is subject to a Europe-wide control system founded on Regulation (EC) No 1013/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2006 on shipments of waste (known as "the Transfrontier Shipment Regulations"), as amended. This legislation is supplemented by the Waste Management (Shipments of Waste) Regulations 2007 (S.I. 419 of 2007), as amended, which makes Dublin City Council responsible for the enforcement of this regulatory system throughout Ireland. In 2021 in Ireland, 466,941 tonnes of hazardous waste was generated and of this, 48% was exported for treatment (EPA, 2023). The above procedures will be applied to any hazardous waste generated during the Construction Phase. Export of hazardous waste from site to outside of the State will comply with the procedures set out in this legislation.

Hazardous liquid waste arising from the construction process will require careful handling. Oils, paints, bitumen, adhesives and chemicals will be kept in a separate contained storage area which will be locked when not in use. Hazardous liquids will be stored at least 10m from any watercourses. Lids will be kept on containers in order to avoid spillage or waste by evaporation. Waste oils, paints and chemicals, including the containers, will require careful handling and disposal. These will be stored in a containment tray with a capacity to contain 110% of the volume of the largest container.

Fuels and chemical will be stored in double-skinned containers or within a bund, i.e., an impervious structure with the capacity to contain 110% of the volume of the largest tank stored within it. All containers will be carefully labelled.









1.5.5.8 Food Waste

Site staff generate food waste and packaging waste. Designated receptacles will be provided to allow for the segregation and storage of individual waste streams. These will include receptacles for food waste (i.e., brown bin for waste foods and peelings), dry mixed recyclables, (i.e., green bin for packaging, plastics, metals, wood, paper, cardboard and tetrapack) and residual waste (i.e., black bin for mixed food and packaging waste). Separate receptacles for the recyclable fractions may be provided such as plastics, metals and glass. This will be detailed in consultation with the selected waste management Contractor.

1.5.5.9 Other Wastes (Residual)

Waste material other than those outlined above can constitute a significant proportion of the total waste generated by a construction site. This waste is normally made up of residual, non-recyclable waste such as soiled paper, cloth, cardboard or plastics, as well as food waste and general waste found on the site, including plastic bottles, bags, cans etc. Given the heterogeneous nature of this material, it is most important that residual waste is kept separate from the other waste streams to avoid contamination. This material will be stored in a dedicated container in the waste storage areas.

Container size and collection frequency will be assessed with the waste management Contractors as works proceed. All residual wastes will be dispatched to a suitably licensed facility for disposal. Other construction and demolition waste material will be collected in receptacles with mixed construction and demolition waste materials for subsequent separation and disposal at a segregation facility.

1.6 Costs of Waste Management

As required by the Best Practice Guidelines for the Preparation of Resource Management Plans for Construction and Demolition Projects (EPA, 2021), this section addresses costs of waste management.

While landfill disposal has been the most commonly used method for waste management in Ireland in the past, waste to energy incinerators are also now in operation at Poolbeg, Dublin 4 and in Carranstown, County Meath.

Typically, the current cost of disposal of waste to landfill in Ireland exceeds €170 per tonne. In accordance with the Waste Management (Landfill Levy) Regulations 2015 (S.I. 189 of 2015) as amended, the 'landfill levy' is €75 per tonne for waste disposed to landfill. Disposal of hazardous waste can cost from €350 per tonne upwards.

In addition to landfill operator fees and landfill levies there are additional costs included in the 'true cost of resource management' including:

- The purchase cost of waste materials (including imported soil);
- Handling costs;
- Storage and transportation costs; and
- Revenue generated from sales.





Therefore, in order to reduce costs associated with waste management, surplus materials should be reused and recycled, where possible and materials should be carefully stored and handled to minimise risk of damage.

1.7 Assignment of Responsibilities

Copies of the CDWMP will be made available to all relevant personnel on site. All site personnel and sub-contractors will be instructed about the objectives of the CDWMP and informed of their responsibilities.

The nominated Resource Manager (RM) responsible for implementation of this CDWMP will be identified prior to construction commencement. The RM will be responsible for informing Contractor staff and subcontractors of content of the CDWMP and for maintaining and keeping the records set out in Section 1.9. In the event of the RM leaving the project team, the Contractor will nominate a suitable replacement.

The RM will be responsible for conducting ongoing resource audits at the site during construction. The RM shall ensure that where training is required regarding the handling and management of wastes on site that this is provided to staff as required.

1.8 Training

In addition to ensuring that all site personnel receive copies of the CDWMP, the RM will also include the CDWMP in site induction training and toolbox talks, where required. All site personnel will be instructed about the objectives of the plan and informed of their responsibilities as a result of its provisions. Where source segregation and material re-use techniques apply, each member of staff will be given instructions on how to comply with the CDWMP. Site notices will be designed to reinforce the key messages within the plan and will be displayed prominently for the benefit of staff.

1.9 Waste Records

When establishing the system for managing the details of all arisings, movement and treatment of construction and demolition waste in the CEMP, the use of electronic tools should be considered to provide for convenient recording of information in a useful format such as "Smart – waste".

The Contractor will be required to arrange for full details of all arisings, movements and treatment of construction and demolition waste to be recorded during all stages of the Proposed Development. Each consignment of construction and demolition waste removed from the site will be documented in the form of a Waste Movement Record form, which will ensure full traceability of the material to its final destination. Separate record forms will be completed in respect of each waste transfer that takes place. The Contractor will also receive printed records from the waste collection Contractor employed, detailing the name, address and authorisation details of all facilities and locations to which waste and materials from the Proposed Development are delivered. These records will record the quantity of waste in tonnes delivered to each facility and the date of the waste movement. They will also identify the material that is recovered and disposed of. All such records will be retained in a designated location and made available for auditing of the CDWMP.







1.10 References

Department of Environment, Climate and Communications (DECC) (2020). A Waste Action Plan for a Circular Economy - Ireland's National Waste Policy 2020-2025.

Department of Environment, Climate and Communications (DECC) (2021). Whole-of-Government Circular Economy Strategy.

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) (2021). Best Practice Guidelines for the Preparation of Waste Management Plans for Construction Projects, 2021.

EPA (2023). Hazardous Waste Statistics for Ireland. Latest Reference Year: 2023. Available from https://www.epa.ie/our-services/monitoring--assessment/waste/national-waste-statistics/hazardous/ [Accessed: June 2023].

European Commission (EC) (2020). EU Circular Economy Action Plan. A new Circular Economy Action Plan for a Cleaner and More Competitive Europe.

Health and Safety Authority (HSA) (2013). '*Asbestos-containing Materials (ACMs) in Workplaces*', Practical Guidelines on ACM Management and Abatement.

EC (2016). Construction and Demolition Waste Management Protocol.

Government of Ireland (2022). Circular Economy and Miscellaneous Provisions Act 2022.

Iarnród Éireann (2021) Sustainability Strategy 2021-2030.

Legislation

Directive 2008/98/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 November 2008 on waste and repealing certain Directives.

Directive (EU) 2018/851 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 May 2018 amending Directive 2008/98/EC on waste

Waste Management Acts, 1996 to 2011 and regulations made under the acts.

Waste Management (Collection Permit) Regulations, 2007 (S.I. 820 of 2007) as amended.

Regulation (EC) No 1013/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2006 on shipments of waste

Waste Management (Shipments of Waste) Regulations 2007 (S.I. No. 419 of 2007).

Waste Management (Landfill Levy) Regulations 2015 (S.I. No. 189/2015).

European Communities (Waste Directive) Regulations 2011 (S.I. No 126 of 2011)

European Union (Waste Directive) Regulations, (S.I. 323 of 2020)







Appendix F: Incident Response Plan





A larnród Éireann lrish Rail





CONTENTS

APPE	NDIX A5.1 – APPENDIX F: INCIDENT RESPONSE PLAN	1
1.1	Introduction	1
1.2	Objective of the Plan	1
1.3	Responsibility	1
1.4	Other Plans	1
1.5	Response Planning	2
1.5.1	1 Incident Response Plan	2
1.5.2	2 Incident Investigation and Monitoring	2
1.6	Incident Response Planning	3
1.7	External Contacts	5
1.8	Internal (Contractors) Contacts	6
1.9	Chemical Product and Waste Inventory	7
1.10	Pollution Prevention Equipment Inventory	7









APPENDIX A5.1 – APPENDIX F: INCIDENT RESPONSE PLAN

1.1 Introduction

This Incident Response Plan (IRP) describes the procedures, lines of authority and processes that will be followed to ensure that incident response efforts are prompt, efficient, and appropriate to particular circumstances. It has been developed to provide the information that each employee may need in order to respond to an emergency and to handle it effectively.

1.2 Objective of the Plan

The primary objective of this document is to:

- Ensure the health and safety of workers and visitors at and in proximity to the site;
- Minimise any impacts to the environment and to ensure protection of the water quality and the aquatic species dependant on it;
- Protect property and operations at the proposed site and to minimise the impact on the continuity of business; and
- Establish procedures that enable personnel to respond to incidents with an integrated multidepartmental effort and in a manner that minimises the possibility of loss and reduces the potential.

1.3 Responsibility

It is the responsibility of the Site Environmental Manager (SEM) to maintain and update this IRP as required.

This IRP will be reviewed on an ongoing basis and amended, as necessary, when one or more of the following occur:

- Applicable regulations are revised;
- The Plan fails in an emergency;
- The project changes in its design, construction, operation, maintenance, or other circumstance in a way that materially increases the potential for impacts on the environment, workers or visitors to the site; and/or; and
- Amendments are required by a regulatory authority.

1.4 Other Plans

larnród Éireann has a Major Emergency Plan prepared in accordance with the Government's Major Emergency Management Framework. This plan details the initial contact that should be made in the case of an emergency incident as well as those responsible for following up once an emergency event is declared. This plan will be available to the Contractor and may be referred to during both the construction and operation phases.





1.5 Response Planning

1.5.1 Incident Response Plan

The Contractor's Environmental Operating Plan (EOP) will include an Incident Response Plan, which will detail the controls to be adopted to manage the risk of pollution incidents and procedures to be followed in the event of any pollution incidents.

The Incident Response Plan will include the following, as appropriate:

- Reference to the Method Statements and Management Plans for other construction activities, insofar as they are relevant for the purposes of mitigating against health and safety and pollution incidents;
- Procedures to be adopted to contain, limit and mitigate any adverse effects, as far as reasonably practicable, in the event of a health and safety or pollution incident;
- Details of spill clean-up companies appropriate to deal with pollution incidents associated with the materials being used or stored on site;
- Procedures to be followed and appropriate information to be provided in the event of any incident, such as a spillage or release of a potentially hazardous material;
- Procedures for notifying appropriate emergency services, authorities, the Employer's Representative and personnel on the construction site;
- Procedures for notifying relevant statutory bodies, environmental regulatory bodies, local authorities and local water and sewer providers of pollution incidents, where required;
- Maps showing the locations, together with address and contact details, of local emergency services facilities such as police stations, fire authorities, medical facilities and other relevant authorities; and
- Contact details for the persons responsible on the construction site and within the Contractor's organisation for pollution incident response.

1.5.2 Incident Investigation and Monitoring

The Contractor will investigate and provide reports on any health and safety or pollution incidents to the Employer's Representative, including, as appropriate:

A description of the incident:

- Contributory causes;
- Adverse effects;
- Measures implemented to mitigate adverse effects; and
- Effectiveness of measures implemented to prevent pollution.

The Contractor will undertake appropriate monitoring of the procedures and measures set out in the management plans for construction activities required to prevent health and safety or pollution incidents to ensure they are being adequately implemented.

The Contractor will monitor the effectiveness of the procedures and measures implemented in the event of an incident and the effectiveness of the response procedures set out in the Incident Response Plan to identify any areas where improvement is required.







1.6 Incident Response Planning

The following sets out an example outline for an Incident Response Plan. The contractor will populate the IRP and include for review dates and personnel to which it will be distributed.

Name and address of the Client:		
Iarnród Éireann		
larnród Éireann HQ,		
Connolly Station,		
Amien Street,		
Dublin 1		
The contact within the Client organisation:	tel no:	
Site Location:		
TBC by Contractor when preparing IRP		
Overview of Activities on Site:		
TBC by Contractor when preparing IRP		
Description of the proposed development and surround	ding area:	
TBC by Contractor when preparing IRP		
Potential Incidents:		
Potential incidents requiring emergency response procedur	es include:	
 Fuel and oil spills; Road traffic accidents involving chemical or biological spills; Earth slippages; Fires; Extreme rainfall events Activities resulting in noise and vibration, air pollution, hazardous substances or impacts on water; Waste management; and Discharge of effluent 		
The contractor will update the list of potential incidents based on their proposed construction methods and programme for the DART+ Coastal North an include, as a minimum, the following:		
 The measures to be taken to avoid or reduce the risk potential; Procedures to be put in place to deal with the risk; Person responsible for dealing with incidents; Procedures for alerting key staff; Standby/rota systems; Clearly defined roles and responsibilities; Names of staff and contractors trained in incident response; The types and location of emergency response equipment available and appropriate personal protective equipment to be worn; A system of response coordination; Off-site support; and, Particular emergency service or persons to be notified in case of incident. Date and version of the plan: Name and position of person responsible for compiling/approving the plan:		
Review Date:	Date of next review:	











Objectives of the IRP: To ensure works are carried out in such a way as to avoid injury, health hazards or pollution incidents, however, should any such incident occur, procedures and measures will be implemented to contain, limit and mitigate the effects as far as reasonably practicable. List of external organizations consulted in the preparation of the IRP: TBC by Contractor when preparing IRP Distribution of the IRP Recipient No. of copies Version











1.7 External Contacts

The table below provides an example record of external contact details to be revised and updated as required by the main contractor and its staff.

External Contacts				
Contact	Office Hours	Out of Hours		
Dublin City Fire Service	0761 10 2982	999 / 112		
Gardaí: Emergency	999 / 112	999 / 112		
St. James's Hospital	(01) 410 3000	999 / 112		
Dublin City Council Major Emergency Planning Department	(01) 222 2222	999 / 112		
Fingal County Council Emergency Planning Department	(01) 890 5000			
Meath County Council Emergency Planning Department	(046) 909 7000			
Louth County Council Emergency Planning Department	(042) 933 5457			
ESB	1850 372 757	1850 372 757		
Bord Gáis	1850 200 694 /			
	1850 20 50 50			
Waste Management Contractor	ТВС			
Specialist Advice	TBC			
Specialist Clean up Contractor	ТВС			
Dublin City Council	(01) 222 2222			
Fingal County Council	(01) 890 5000			
Meath County Council	(046) 909 7000			
Louth County Council	(042) 933 5457			
NPWS	(01) 888 3200			







1.8 Internal (Contractors) Contacts

The table below provides an example record of internal contact details to be revised and updated as required by the main Contractor and its staff.

Internal Contacts			
Contact	Office Hours	Out of Hours	
Names and positions of staff authorised/trained to activate and coordinate the IRP	ТВС		
Other Staff	ТВС		
Managing Director	ТВС		
Site Manager	ТВС		
Health & Safety Manager	ТВС		
Site Environmental Manager	TBC		







1.9 Chemical Product and Waste Inventory

The below table provides an example for outlining an inventory of chemical products and waste. This shall be populated and updated as required by the main Contractor.

Inventory of Chemical Products and Wastes						
Trade Name / Substance	Solid / Liquid / Gas or Powder	UN Member	Maximum Amount	Location Marked on Site Plan	Type of Containment	Relevant Health and Environmental Problems

1.10 Pollution Prevention Equipment Inventory

The below table provides an example for outlining an inventory of pollution prevention equipment. This shall be populated and updated as required by the main Contractor.

Inventory of Pollution Prevention Equipment (on and off-site resources)			





Appendix G: Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP)





Iarnród Éireann





CONTENTS

1. APPENDIX A5.1 – APPENDIX G: CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN
(СТМР)1
1.1 Introduction1
1.2 Purpose of the Report
1.3 Development Description
1.4 Site Access
1.4.1 Introduction5
1.4.2 Construction Compounds5
1.4.3 Compound Haulage Routes9
1.5 Envisaged Construction Traffic
1.5.1 Construction Traffic Impact Assessment
1.5.2 Phasing
1.6 Construction Management and Mitigation
1.6.1 Bus
1.6.2 Car Parking32
1.6.3 Railway Track Possessions35
1.6.4 Temporary Traffic Management
1.7 Interface with Other Projects45
1.8 References



1. APPENDIX A5.1 – APPENDIX G: CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN (CTMP)

ARUP

DART+

North

larnród Éireann

1.1 Introduction

This document is the Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) for the DART+ Coastal North Project, hereafter referred to as the Proposed Development. The CTMP is prepared as part of the Construction Environmental Management Plan, which sets out the appropriate environmental management of the project through the construction stage. The CTMP focuses on the management of traffic during the construction phase. The CTMP is a live document that will be reviewed in subsequent design phases and expanded upon, where necessary. The measures outlined in this document are subject to conditions attached to any decision to grant approval by An Bord Pleanála (ABP), further design stages and appointment of a main contractor. Pertinent issues have been reviewed to ensure a holistic approach has been taken with regard to the traffic management measures proposed.

1.2 Purpose of the Report

The CTMP has been prepared to identify and describe the locations where the Proposed Development interacts with the public road network and to identify appropriate and safe methods of access for construction traffic during the Construction Phase of the project. The CTMP has also been prepared to describe the traffic management required to undertake the works and for the transportation of construction materials, equipment and personnel along the public road network to facilitate the construction of the Proposed Development. When the Contractor is appointed, they may propose additional or alternative traffic management arrangements. Meantime this document provides an indication of construction traffic management requirements.

1.3 Development Description

The proposed DART+ Coastal North development ('the Proposed Development'), will modify the current rail network between Dublin City Centre (north of Connolly Station) and Drogheda MacBride Station. The Proposed Development extends across four local authority areas including Louth, Meath and Fingal County Council, as well as Dublin City Council. The total length of the Proposed Development is approximately 50 kilometres.

A detailed description of the proposed DART+ Coastal North project is provided in Chapter 4 (Description of the Proposed Development) and in Chapter 5 (Construction Strategy) in Volume 2 of the EIAR.

The key infrastructural components of the DART+ Coastal North project include:

- Extension of existing 1500V DC electrification, which currently terminates at Malahide, as far as Drogheda MacBride Station (approximately 37km); this includes:
 - The installation of foundations, masts, and overhead wires to supply power to the railway;









 Undertaking upgrades to existing signalling, telecoms, and power supplies to support the planned increase in train services, including the introduction of new electrical substations at key locations alongside the railway line:

- Drogheda;
- Bettystown;
- Gormanston;
- Balbriggan;
- Skerries North;
- Skerries South;
- Rush & Lusk (this location also incorporates an overhead line equipment (OHLE) maintenance compound); and
- Donabate.
- Undertaking improvements / modifications to bridges spanning the railway arising from track reconfigurations and / or meeting required electrical clearances;
- Undertaking localised bridge modifications to enable OHLE to be fixed to bridges carrying the railway;
- Canopy modifications at Drogheda MacBride Station to accommodate OHLE clearances; and
- Modified railway boundary fences to protect the public from contacting the overhead line.
- Infrastructure works to facilitate the increase in service frequency and capacity, in specific areas of intervention as outlined below:
 - works around Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station;
 - works around Clongriffin Station;
 - o works around Malahide Station & Viaduct;
 - works to the existing user worked level crossing (XB001) south of Donabate; and
 - works around Drogheda MacBride Station.
- Modifications to existing depots at Drogheda and Fairview to support the new train fleet, including the provision of additional train stabling at Drogheda;
- Ancillary civils, utility diversions, drainage, and power work to cater for the changes.











The key interventions in each zone are presented in Table 1-1.

Table 1-1Key Infrastructural Elements in each Geographic Zone.

Zone	Activity
Zone A	 This zone from north of Connolly Station to south of Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station includes the following works: Minor upgrades and internal modifications to Fairview Depot and sidings; and New drainage connection to combined sewer on Alfie Byrne Road.
Zone B	 This zone from south of Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station to north of Malahide Viaduct (including Howth Branch) includes the following works: Modification of Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station Accesses and Footbridge (OBB17A); Construction of the Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station Platform 2 Extension; Construction of a new crossover on the Howth Branch Line at Howth Junction & Donaghmede Station (Howth Junction Turnback); Construction of two new turnouts on the Up Dublin Line, and a new Loop Line to the east of Clongriffin Station. (Clongriffin Turnback); Construction of a new retaining wall at Clongriffin Station, utility diversions and associated earthworks; Construction of a new central turnback line north of Clongriffin Station; Construction of a new central turnback line north of Malahide Station, new crossover on the Up Dublin Line and new turnout on the Down Belfast Line. (Malahide Turnback); Construction of new reinforced earth wall alongside the proposed Broadmeadow Way greenway and embankment widening, north of Malahide Station; Modification of Underbridge UBB30 (Malahide Viaduct) to support OHLE; Closure of (user worked) level crossing (XB001); OHLE and Signalling, Electrification and Telecoms (SET) modifications at Malahide, Howth and Clongriffin; and OHLE and Signalling, Electrification and Telecoms (SET) modifications at Malahide Turnback.
Zone C	 The zone from the north of Malahide Viaduct to south of Gormanston Station (Fingal boundary) includes the following works: Construction of Donabate Substation compound; Modification of Underbridge UBB36 (Rogerstown Viaduct / Estuary) to support OHLE; Construction of Rush and Lusk Substation and OHLE maintenance compound; Upgrade of existing station access road junction at Rush and Lusk Station; Track lowering at Overbridge OBB39 (carrying Station Road / R128);











Zone	Activity
2010	 Track lowering at Overbridge OBB44 (carrying local road in Tyrrelstown Big); Construction of Skerries South Substation compound; Construction of Skerries North Substation compound; Track lowering at Overbridge OBB55 (carrying Lawless Terrace / R127); Modification of Underbridge UBB56 (Balbriggan Viaduct) to support OHLE; Construction of Balbriggan Substation compound; Road overbridge parapet modifications for compliant safety standards to: OBB32A (carrying the Donabate Distributor Road), OBB336 (access to Beaverstown Golf Club), OBB38 (carrying Rogerstown Lane), OBB41 (carrying local road in Rathartan), OBB41 (carrying the L1285 / Baldongan Close), OBB47 (historic access to Skerries Golf Club), OBB49 (carrying Golf Links Road), OBB49 (carrying Lawless Terrace / R127) and OBB68 (local access adjacent Gormanston Camp). Pedestrian footbridge parapet modifications for compliant safety standards to: OBB33A (Donabate Station footbridge), OBB33A (Rush & Lusk Station footbridge), OBB51A (Skerries Station footbridge), OBB54 (The Ladies Stairs) and OBB57A (Balbriggan Station footbridge). OHLE and Signalling, Electrification and Telecoms (SET) line-wide works; Diversion of overhead power lines railway crossings into Under Track Crossings (UTX) at Rush & Lusk, Tyrrelstown, Golf Links
	Road, Baldongan, and Balbriggan; and
Zone D	 Utility diversions. The zone south of Gormanston Station (Fingal border) to Louth/Meath border includes the following works: Construction of Gormanston Substation compound; Modification of Underbridge UBB72 (Laytown Viaduct) to support OHLE; Construction of Bettystown Substation compound; Track lowering at Overbridge OBB78 (carrying Colpe Road); OHLE and Signalling, Electrification and Telecoms (SET) linewide works; Diversion of overhead power lines railway crossings into Under Track Crossings (UTX) at Gormanston, Laytown, and Drogheda; Road overbridge parapet modifications for compliant safety standards to: OBB77 (Colpe East), and OBB78 (carrying Colpe Road). Pedestrian footbridge parapet modifications for compliant safety standards to: OBB74A (Laytown Station footbridge); and Utility diversions.











Zone	Activity
Zone E	Drogheda MacBride Station and surrounds includes the following works:
	 Demolition and replacement of triple span Overbridge OBB80/80A/80B (Railway Terrace); Realignment of Railway Terrace and McGrath's Lane; Reconstruction of Underbridge UBK01 (R132/Dublin Road Bridge); Reconstruction of Overbridge OBB81 (Drogheda Station Footbridge); Modification to existing Platform 1 Station Canopy; Construction of new Platform 4 (on the Drogheda Freight Sidings) and associated modifications to station car park and connectivity to Drogheda MacBride Station; Track works on Drogheda Freight Sidings at Drogheda (Drogheda Turnback); Construction of Drogheda Substation compound; Civil Works on Light Maintenance Roads, Under Frame Cleaning (UFC) facility and Northern Headshunt; Reprofiling existing earthwork bund at Drogheda Depot; Track works on Stabling Roads 7a, 7b; OHLE and Signalling, Electrification and Telecoms (SET) line- wide works; Diversion of overhead power lines railway crossings into Under Track Crossings (UTX) at Drogheda; and Utility diversions.

1.4 Site Access

1.4.1 Introduction

The Proposed Development requires works along the permanent way (railway) and at specific locations along the railway outside of the permanent way. To facilitate the works Construction Compounds are provided along the length of the railway adjacent to the specific works.

1.4.2 Construction Compounds

Construction Compounds of varying sizes and functions are required at specific site locations, such as structure modification works and/or associated railway works. The majority of Construction Compounds are temporary facilities that support the construction of the different elements of the Project. The compound duration is dictated by the full program of works. The life cycle of a Construction Compound ranges from several months to several years depending on its function.

The activities that will take place on these sites may include:

- Material unloading, storage and loading;
- Erection of prefabricated sections for construction;
- Use of welfare and on-site office space;








- Personnel and machinery access to the railway;
- Parking space for personnel and work vehicles;
- Lifting of material/precast elements, especially in the Construction Compounds corresponding to modification of existing overbridges (e.g. works to OBB80/80A/80B);
- Assembling of catenary cantilevers only in the SET Construction Compounds (the cantilevers consist of metallic bars that are connected by means of bolts);
- Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGV) and usual construction machines movement;
- Staff vehicles movement;
- Welding is not foreseen within the compounds (welding will be required on some track sections to join rails together);
- Road-rail Vehicles (RRV) access to track at the points set up for this purpose; and
- Construction traffic on the access routes for the material/equipment supply by HGV.

Where practical, material deliveries to and from the Construction Compounds will be timed so as to reduce the impact on local communities and residents and the general road network. The compound locations are listed in Table 1-2.

Code	Zon e	Location	Primary Discipline	Road / Rail Access Points
CC-2650	A	Fairview Depot (R834 Entrance car park)	Station	Road access point only
CC-2700	A	Fairview Depot (R834 Entrance car park)	Station	Road access point only
CC-3000	A	Fairview Depot (R807 Entrance car park)	Station	Road access point only
CC-9000	В	Howth Junction and Donaghmede Station (Donaghmede Entrance)	Station	Road and rail access
CC-9050	В	Howth Junction and Donaghmede Station (Kilbarrack Entrance)	Station	Road and rail access
CC-9100	В	Howth Junction and Donaghmede Station (Central Access)	Station	Road and rail access
CC-9200	В	Howth Junction and Donaghmede Station (Baldoyle Industrial Estate)	Station	Road and rail access
CC- 10600	В	Clongriffin Station	Permanent Way	Road and rail access
CC- 15900E	В	Malahide Turnback (Strand Court)	Permanent Way	Road and rail access
CC- 15900W	В	Malahide Turnback (Bissett's Strand)	Permanent Way	Road and rail access
CC- 16100	В	Malahide Turnback (Caves Strand)	Permanent Way	Road and rail access
CC- 16250	В	Malahide Turnback (Marina Car Park)	Permanent Way	Road and rail access
CC- 16400	В	UBB30 Malahide Viaduct	Structures	Road and rail access
CC- 18800	С	Donabate Substation	Substation & SET line- wide works	Road and rail access

Table 1-2Compound Locations.











Code	Zon e	Location	Primary Discipline	Road / Rail Access Points
CC- 19800	С	Donabate Station	SET line-wide works	Road and rail access
CC- 21500	С	UBB36 Rogerstown Viaduct	Structures	Road and rail access
CC- 23500	С	Rush and Lusk Station	Substation & SET line- wide works	Road and rail access
CC- 23772 (E)	С	Rush & Lusk	Utility Diversions	Road and rail access
CC- 23772 (W)	С	Rush & Lusk	Utility Diversions	Road and rail access
CC- 25626 (E)	С	Tyrrelstown	Utility Diversions	Road access
CC- 25626 (W)	С	Tyrrelstown	Utility Diversions	Road access
CC- 27460 (E)	С	Baldongan	Utility Diversions	Road access
CC- 27460 (W)	С	Baldongan	Utility Diversions	Road access
CC- 29000	С	Skerries South Substation	Substation	Road and rail access
CC- 29140 (E)	С	Golf Links Road	Utility Diversions	Rail access only
CC- 29140 (W)	С	Golf Links Road	Utility Diversions	Rail access only
CC- 30200	С	Skerries Station	Permanent Way	Road and rail access
CC- 32200	С	Skerries North Substation	Substation	Road and rail access
CC- 34400 (E)	С	Balbriggan	Utility Diversions	Road access only
CC- 34400 (W)	С	Balbriggan	Utility Diversions	Road access only
CC- 36000	С	UBB56 Balbriggan Viaduct	Structures	Road and rail access
CC- 37700	С	Balbriggan Substation	Substation & SET line- wide works	Road and rail access
CC- 39800 (E)	D	Gormanston Station	Utility Diversions	39800
CC- 39800 (W)	D	Gormanston Station	Utility Diversions	39800











Code	Zon e	Location	Primary Discipline	Road / Rail Access Points
CC- 40200	D	Gormanston Station	Permanent Way & SET line-wide works	Road and rail access
CC- 41400	D	Gormanston Substation	Substation	Road and rail access
CC- 44390 (E)	D	Laytown	Utility Diversions	New road access only
CC- 44390 (W)	D	Laytown	Utility Diversions	New road access only
CC- 44500	D	UBB72 Laytown Viaduct (South Abutment)	Structures	Road and rail access
CC- 44600	D	UBB72 Laytown Viaduct (South Pier)	Structures	Road and rail access
CC- 44700	D	UBB72 Laytown Viaduct (North Pier)	Structures	Road and rail access
CC- 44900	D	Laytown Station	SET line-wide works	Road and rail access
CC- 44920 (E)	D	Laytown	Utility Diversions	New road access only
CC- 46900	D	Bettystown Substation	Substation	Road and rail access
CC- 49600	D	OBB78 Track Lowering	Permanent Way	Road and rail access
CC- 50270 (S)	D	Drogheda	Utility Diversions	New road access only
CC- 50270 (N)	D	Drogheda	Utility Diversions	New road access only
CC- 51700 (S)	D	Drogheda	Utility Diversions	New road access only
CC- 51800	E	OBB80 (North)	Structures & SET line- wide works	Road and rail access
CC- 51900	E	OBB80 (South)	Structures	Road and rail access
CC- 52050	E	Drogheda Substation	Substation	Road and rail access
CC- 52250	E	Drogheda Station	Station	Road and rail access
CC- 52200	E	UBK01 Dublin Road Overbridge (Car Park)	Structures	Road and rail access

The appointed Contractor's CTMP will include measures for managing traffic accessing and egressing the Construction Compounds.

1.4.3 Compound Haulage Routes

Access to and egress from the Construction Compounds is assumed to be along pre-determined routes on the public roads in the vicinity of the specific Construction Compound.



Drawings showing the envisaged haulage routes for the various compounds are provided in Chapter 5 (Construction Strategy). Each route is based on the shortest route to the local, National Road, Regional Road and/or Motorway. It is anticipated that Contractor's CTMP will include measures for appropriate signage and communication to direct construction traffic along appropriate routes. It is anticipated that the appointed contractor will monitor the haulage routes for dirt and debris generated by the construction traffic and take appropriate action, such as road sweeping. An overview of the proposed haulage routes is provided below.

1.4.3.1 Construction Routing

To limit the impact of the construction of the Proposed Development on the road networks and sustainable transport networks, routing to compounds primarily, construction vehicles will make use of the national and regional road networks with limited use of any residential roads unless there is an absolute requirement to do so.

1.4.3.1.1 Zone A

Fairview Depot Modifications

Areas for Construction Compounds have been identified within the Fairview depot, these will be accessed via the existing depot accesses off the R807 and R834, as shown in .



Image 1-1 Fairview Depot Construction Compounds and Access Routing

1.4.3.1.2 Zone B

Howth Junction and Donaghmede Station Works

The nearest road link of strategic importance to these works is the R139 which joins the M1 in the west via the R139. The proposed construction compound would be accessed from the R139 via the Baldoyle Industrial Estate, see Image 1-2.





Image 1-2 Howth Junction Proposed Construction Compounds and Access Routes

Clongriffin Station Works

The nearest road link of strategic importance to the proposed Construction Compound is the R123 ("Moyne Road") to the north which joins onto the M1 to the west via the R107 and R139. It currently provides access for a new road leading to the ongoing housing construction adjacent to the station. It is proposed that this road will be shared between the appointed contractors for the Proposed Development and the housing developers. The Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) provided in the Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) in Appendix A5.1 in Volume 4 of this EIAR details the proposals for traffic management and will be further developed by the Contractor prior to construction, in liaison and with the agreement of the local authority.

Construction traffic will be restricted to the regional road network (R-routes) as far as possible. These routes are designed with the functionality of accommodating mobility needs of HGVs in mind. Options to travel along Station Road or Red Arches Road (local roads) are therefore not recommended. General construction access should be along the R123, R106 and R809. Details for appropriate traffic management will be further developed by the Contractor prior to construction.

The safe crossing of the Portmarnock Greenway and the safety of the Moyne Park community during construction will be detailed in the Contractor's CTMP.

Underbridge UBB20, where the R123 crosses under the railway, has a clearance of 3.85m. This will restrict larger construction vehicles; in which case such vehicles would access the site via the R106 Coast Road to the east.





Image 1-3 Clongriffin Construction Compound proposed Construction Access Route

Malahide Turnback and UBB30 Viaduct Works

Construction access by water has been ruled out due primarily to insufficient water depth, poor mooring opportunities for construction marine vessels and level differences.

The nearest road link of regional importance is the R106 Swords Road / Dublin Road / Main Street which joins the M1 to the west via the R132 and R125 at Junction 3. This road provides the best form of access to the site, through the village of Malahide, leading to the Malahide Wastewater Treatment Access Road. A low-clearance underbridge (UBB29) on Bissett's Strand (2.2m headroom) segregates access between the Construction Compounds on the east and west of the railway. Therefore, access to the Construction Compounds on the west of the railway will be accessed from the R106 via the L2130 and L2133 to the proposed site access point on Bissett's Strand.

Options from the R106 to/from the two Construction Compounds on the east of the railway were considered. New Street has Part 8 planning permission for pedestrianisation and is therefore not an option. Townyard Lane (northbound only) is very narrow with a lot of activity around the shop / restaurant area at the northern end. Old Street (northbound only) is relatively wider with on-street paid parking adjacent and is currently accommodating buses and heavy vehicles accessing a treatment plant in the Marina. James' Terrace (southbound only) is relatively wide with on-street paid parking, a bus stop and taxi lay-bye adjacent. It is therefore recommended that the main construction access route will be via Old Street (northbound) and James' Terrace (southbound).



General construction access along the public road will take place between 10am and 4pm avoiding peak hours and nighttime.

A high-level swept path analysis based on aerial photography and OS mapping was carried out along the proposed access routes. It was found that a standard construction vehicle (12m rigid truck) can be accommodated within the current available road cross-section. Larger vehicles, such as the 16.5m articulated truck would require additional traffic management, such as the removal of on-street parking in certain locations in order to be accommodated, especially if being used regularly throughout construction. It is therefore recommended that construction vehicles be restricted to 12m rigid trucks and that larger vehicles follow the permitting requirements for abnormal loads. In case of abnormal loads, the most appropriate access route will be determined by the contractor for the specific load and the specific vehicle type. The appropriate route for abnormal loads may be James' Terrace, in which case it may temporarily be required to be changed to accommodate two-way traffic, in order to accommodate an occasional articulated truck or abnormal load.



Image 1-4 Malahide Proposed Construction Compound and Access Routes



Image 1-5 Malahide Turnback – Proposed Construction Access Route (Source: ESRI)

1.4.3.1.3 Zone C

Donabate Substation

The nearest road link of strategic importance in this area is the R126 which links with the M1 to the west. Local site access will be a via a new access road off the L6165, this will also form the permanent access to the substation.





Image 1-6 Donabate Substation proposed Construction Compound and Access Route

Rush and Lusk Substation and OHLE Maintenance Compound

The nearest road link of strategic importance in this area is the R127 which links Skerries, Balbriggan and Lusk with the M1. Local site access will be off the R128 (Station Road). The existing access into the station car park requires a sharp right turn, it is planned that this is realigned as part of the permanent works. Once undertaken it will enable improved access for both public and contractors' vehicles.



Image 1-7 Rush and Lusk Substation Construction Compound and Access Route







OBB39 Station Road/R128 Track Lowering Works

Given the proximity of the Road Rail Access Point (RRAP) and proposed line-wide construction compound at Rush and Lusk station a separate construction compound to support the track lowering work is not required.

OBB44 Tyrellstown Bridge Track Lowering Works

The proposed construction compound for these track lowering works is located to the West of OBB44 in agricultural land outside the IÉ land boundary. The nearest road of strategic importance is the R127 which joins the M1 via the R132 to the south-west. It is noted that Horestown Road and the adjoining lanes that would be used to reach the R127 are narrow and may constrain access to larger construction vehicles.





Skerries South Substation

The nearest road link of strategic importance in this area is the R127 which links Skerries, Balbriggan and Lusk with the M1. Local site access will be off the R127 via Golf Links Road avoiding the town and low clearance bridge to the east. A new access road will be created off the east embankment of the existing overbridge which will serve as the substation permanent access. A temporary access will be required just east of this point for the construction of the permanent access due to level differences.



Image 1-9 Skerries South Substation Construction Compound and Access Route









Skerries Track Paralleling Hut

The extent of the Construction Compound is shown in Image 1-10, with traffic management required for a portion of the Barnageeragh road to enable access during the civil works and equipment installation phases.



Image 1-10 Skerries Track Paralleling Hut Construction Compound and Access Route









Skerries North Substation

The nearest road link of strategic importance in this area is the R127 which links Skerries, Balbriggan and Lusk with the M1. However, at its nearest point to the site the R127 can only be accessed by passing under a nearby railway underbridge with a low clearance of 3.12m. Therefore, larger vehicles will have to access the Skerries North site via an alternative route to the South via the L1270. Local site access will be via a new section of road off the Barnageeragh Road/L1270, which will also serve as the substation access in the permanent case.



Image 1-11 Skerries North Substation Construction Compound and Access Route









UBB56 Balbriggan Viaduct Modification

Access to the construction compound from the M1 would be via the R122. Local access in Balbriggan would follow the one-way system along Quay Street and Mill Street. It is noted that the proposed redevelopment of the car park may alter the existing one-way system.

During construction it will be necessary to close Harbour Road at night on several occasions to site the crane there for the lifts of the individual footway sections. Traffic would need to be diverted west, further into the centre of Balbriggan. There are many one-way roads near Balbriggan Viaduct, so diverting a steady flow of traffic may be difficult outside of night-time possessions. Traffic management may be required for several of the one-way roads fed by Harbour Road to maintain access during the road closure.



Image 1-12 UBB56 Balbriggan Viaduct Construction Compound and Access Route







Balbriggan Substation

The nearest road link of strategic importance in this area is the R132 which connects with the M1 in the north, avoiding routing through Balbriggan. This road is suitable to serve construction traffic. Site access will be via a new section of road off the R132, which will also serve as substation access in the permanent case.



Image 1-13 Balbriggan Substation Construction Compound and Access Route





Line-wide Construction Compounds

There are some line-wide compounds required within this zone, which will be located at, or adjacent to, existing IÉ maintenance compounds. In Zone C these are at Donabate and Skerries Stations, in addition to those already mentioned at Donabate Substation, Rush and Lusk Substation and Balbriggan Substation. The location and access routes for the Donabate and Skerries Station line-wide compound locations are identified in the following images.



Image 1-14 Donabate Station Line-wide Construction Compound and Access Route





Image 1-15 Skerries Station Line-wide Construction Compound and Access Route







1.4.3.1.4 Zone D

Gormanston Substation

The nearest road link of strategic importance in this area is the R132 which connects with the M1 in the south-west. This road is suitable to serve construction traffic. Site access will be via the new section of road off Irishtown, which will serve as substation access in the permanent case.



Image 1-16 Access to Gormanston Substation Construction Compound

UBB72 Laytown Viaduct Works

The site here is accessible from the regional road (R150) from the north or via Coastview Cottages, a local road from the south. The regional road is approximately 6m wide and the local road is narrow at approximately 3m width. The regional road to the north connects Julianstown and Laytown villages. The nearest road link of regional importance is the R132 Dublin Road that connects with the M1 in the south-west.

Construction access will be required at both the north and south of the viaduct. The southern local access road is narrow and would require additional traffic management measures to accommodate two-way construction traffic volumes. The clearance under the viaduct on this road is 4.26m. Where possible rail would be used as a means for delivering large construction materials such as the steel beams, subject to agreement between IE and the contractor.



Image 1-17 Access for vehicles to UBB72 Construction Compounds

Bettystown Substation

The nearest road link of strategic importance in this area is the R150 which connects with the M1 in the south via Colpe Road and the R132. Consultations will need to take place regarding optimum site access, which will either be via Ardmore Avenue or a new section of road which would need to be constructed off Narroways Road (L5362). These options are shown in the image below.



Image 1-18 Bettystown Substation Construction Compound and Access Route





OBB78 Colpe Road Bridge track lowering works.

The nearest road of strategic importance is the R132 which joins the M1 to the south-west near Gormanston. The Colpe Road joins the R132 at the small roundabout to the East. The proposed Construction Compound is located to the south-west of OB78 in agricultural land outside the IÉ land boundary. The bridge is surrounded by suitable fields, but the option shown is deemed to minimise the impact to residents to the north of the bridge.



Image 1-19 Access to OBB78 track lowering works Construction Compound

Line-wide Construction Compounds

There are some line-wide compounds located at existing maintenance compounds rather than at isolated works Construction Compounds. In Zone D these are at Gormanston Station (CC-41400) and Laytown Station (CC-44900). Their location and access routes are identified in the following images.





larnród Éireann











Image 1-21 Laytown Station Line-wide Construction Compound and Access Route









1.4.3.1.5 Zone E

OBB80/80A/80B Railway Terrace / McGraths Lane Bridge

The nearest road link of strategic importance to the McGraths Lane Bridge is the R150 which connects with the M1 in the south via Colpe Road and the R132. Access to the main compound is planned to be via a new temporary road, just westward of a road recently built for a new housing development in the area. Although limited, some construction access is also likely to be required along Railway Terrace, part of this in conjunction with the installation of a signal equipment building (SEB) near the bridge. Construction traffic would approach Railway Terrace via the R132 to the south to avoid traffic routing through the centre of Drogheda.

Access to the two residential properties on the north side of McGrath's Lane and to the rear station depot entrance will be maintained during the replacement of the bridge via a new road link to Marsh Road (R150).



Image 1-22 Main access route to OBB80/80A/80B McGraths Lane Bridge Construction Compounds

UBK01 Dublin Road Bridge / OBB81 Drogheda Station Footbridge / Platform 4, Drogheda Freight Sidings

The nearest road link of strategic importance in this area is the R132 which connects with the M1 in the south, avoiding routing construction traffic through the centre of Drogheda. Clearance under UBK01 is 4.78m and hence any traffic needing greater clearance would need to access the site from the M1 in the west via Donore Road and the R132.



The R132 Dublin Road will need to be reduced to a single lane, with bi-directional flow operating under traffic lights throughout much of the works, anticipated to be over several months. At times, such as during demolition, the road will need to be closed completely, during which a traffic diversion will be in place. These periods are likely to be for only a few days at a time, limited to weekends. where traffic flow is maintained, provision will be made for safe pedestrian footways.



Image 1-23 UBK01/OBB81/Platform 4 Construction Compound and Access Routes

Drogheda Substation Depot

Contractors will predominantly use an access route through the west end of the station car park for construction access, through the constrained tunnel under the railway and then along the north side of the depot building. An alternative route could be from the east, via McGrath's Lane, though this may not be possible during OBB80 McGrath Lane bridge works.





Image 1-24 Drogheda Substation Construction Compound and Access Route



Image 1-25 Drogheda Substation Construction Compound and Alternative Access Route







Depot Light Maintenance Roads and UFC facility

Access to the Depot Construction Compound will be via the same route as shown for the substation.



Image 1-26 Depot Construction Compound and Access Routes

1.4.3.2 Abnormal Loads

The M1 and M50 have been identified as a typical construction traffic and abnormal load designated routes, refer to S.I. No. 461/2010 – Road Traffic (Specialised Vehicle Permits) (Amendment) Regulations 2010. From the M1 and M50, Regional Roads (R-Routes) will be the main delivery routes to compounds as far as possible.

A review of the delivery routes to the compounds was carried out. The proposed delivery routes have been analysed, based on the Google maps visuals, OS, and topographical information available, to identify any potential pinch points for both abnormal loads and typical construction traffic.

Vehicle tracking was undertaken where more challenging sites were identified and additional land was taken where necessary to provide turning points.

The contractor will be required to inspect the delivery routes to identify any issues and propose remedial measures as part of the permitting requirements for abnormal loads. This should include a detailed swept path analyses for the contractor's specific vehicle type and weight (dimensions to be confirmed) to ensure that the specific abnormal load can be transported safely. Permits are managed by An Garda Siochana.









The transportation of abnormal loads will be limited to nighttime hours.

Local temporary access widening into the construction compounds will be incorporated to ensure abnormal loads can exit the public road during delivery.

A designated area for abnormal load parking will be made available within the contractor compound for unloading.

Temporary traffic arrangements will be in place to accommodate wide turning circles at compound access points, such as stop/go road closures or equivalent arrangements to maintain local access and safely accommodate through traffic.

A dry run will be carried out and measures to ensure public safety during abnormal load delivery will be identified.

These measures will be detailed in the contractor's CTMP and agreed by the contractor with the local authority and An Garda Siochana prior to delivery.

1.5 Envisaged Construction Traffic

1.5.1 Construction Traffic Impact Assessment

A Traffic Impact Assessment (TIA) was undertaken to determine impacts of the Proposed Development both during the Construction Phase and the Operational Phase (see Chapter 6 (Traffic and Transportation) in Volume 2 of this EIAR). The assessment included the analysis of baseline conditions, potential impacts associated with the Construction Phase and Operational Phase of the Proposed Development, appropriate mitigations and monitoring, and identifying residual effects. It was concluded that overall, the construction vehicles on the network represent a moderate, short-term, negative effect for the duration of construction, before returning to normal levels once the construction is complete.

1.5.2 Phasing

As with any construction project, the contractor will be required to a prepare a comprehensive traffic management plan for the Construction Phase. The purpose of such a plan is to outline measures to manage the expected construction traffic activity during the Construction Phase.

It will be the project contractor's responsibility to develop the CTMP further for the approval of local authorities.

1.6 Construction Management and Mitigation

The impact of the Construction Phase will need to be monitored and managed across the lifecycle of construction to ensure that all modes including those using the rail are impacted upon as least as possible. To assist in this a number of measures can be implemented including routing, hours of work, Construction Compound locations and traffic management, such as diversions and traffic signals to manage the road network.



In addition to this, the CTMP will be further developed and a Construction Stage Mobility Management Plan (CSMMP) prepared and both will be implemented by the contractor to ensure that staff movements and the works have as little an impact on the surrounding area as possible. Further detail relating to this is set out in Chapter 5 of the EIAR.

1.6.1 Bus

The existing bus network may be affected by construction works taking place at the bridges listed in Table 1-3. These routes are primarily impacted in Drogheda at the Dublin Road Bridge construction works.

Structure Name	Road / Bridge	Number of Proposed Bus Routes
OBB39	Rush & Lusk Roadbridge	L85, X76
OBB55	County Bridge/Public Road	L85
OBB78	Colpe Bridge/Public Road	910, 912
UBK01	Dublin Road Bridge	D4, D5, 101, 101X

 Table 1-3
 Future Bus Routes Affected by Bridge Modification Works.

Some bus services may require diversion and the contractor will consult with bus service providers if any services are potentially impacted by the works to avoid disruption to services.

1.6.2 Car Parking

In order to provide a number of the compounds over the construction period, there will be a temporary loss of car parking at locations along the length of the railway line, at 6 of the stations. Table 1-4 below sets out the number of spaces lost on a temporary or permanent basis as a result of construction.

		Temporary			
Code	Location	Public Access Parking	Private Access Parking	Justification	
CC-2650	Fairview Depot (R834 Entrance car park)	none provided	15	Minor modifications to denot for	
CC-2700	Fairview Depot (R834 Entrance car park)	none provided	5	Minor modifications to depot for greater output of cleaning for increased fleet. Modifications on eas and west platforms for suitable access and services for cleaning sta	
CC-3000	Fairview Depot (R807 Entrance car park)	none provided	15		

Table 1-4 Parking Loss Due to Construction.





larnród Éireann





		Tem	porary		
Code	Location	Public Access Parking	Private Access Parking	Justification	
CC-9050	Howth Junction and Donaghmede Station (Kilbarrack Entrance)	10	none provided	The compounds are required for construction of platform extension,	
CC-9200	Howth Junction and Donaghmede Station (Baldoyle Industrial Estate)	none provided	80	new crossover, and increased station access.	
CC-15900	Malahide Turnback (Strand Court)	none provided	10	This current car park will be mostly used as an access route for the construction of a turnback north of Malahide station.	
CC-15900W	Malahide Turnback (Bissett's Strand)	10 on-street parking bays	non provided	The Bissett's Strand cross-section will be required for turning movements and access into this compound.	
CC-16250	Malahide Turnback (Marina Car Park)	60	none provided	The marina car park will act as the largest compound for the continuation of works for the turnback.	
CC-19800	Donabate Station	150	none provided	The Donabate Station car park area is a potential line-wide compound, which supports the new OHLE construction works.	
CC-23500	Rush and Lusk Station	30	none provided	Land acquired for access to construction compound at the southern end of the car park on the eastern side of the rail line.	
CC-36000	UBB56 Balbriggan Viaduct	20	none provided	Car park will act as a compound for construction taking place to the adjacent viaduct for a pedestrian footway.	
CC-52250	Drogheda Depot/Station	30	none provided	The site at the northern end of the Train Station car park will be used throughout the development of the Depot Light Maintenance Roads and UFC facility	
CC-52200	UBK01 Dublin Road Overbridge (Car Park)	110	none provided	The Dublin Road Overbridge will be replaced in two phases, with the station car park acting as the main construction compound.	

In order to determine if the temporary loss of parking to accommodate the construction works at Howth Junction and Donaghmede Station, Donabate Station, Rush and Lusk Station and Drogheda MacBride Station would impact on the users of the car parks, a survey of the number of spaces used at each location was undertaken during the morning peak in January 2020, pre COVID-19 by larnród Éireann. Given that usage of station car parks has largely reverted to pre-COVID levels, this is considered representative of current parking uptake at stations. The results of the survey are in Table 1-5.









Table 1-5Station Parking Results.

			Existing	During Construction		
Zone	Station	Number of Spaces	Number of Spaces Occupied during AM Peak	Number of Spaces Remaining Available	Number of Spaces Lost	Number of Spaces Remaining Available
В	Howth Junction and Donaghmede Station (Kilbarrack Entrance)	25	22	3	10	0
С	Donabate Station	351	143	208	150	58
С	Rush and Lusk Station	432	233	199	30	169
E	Drogheda Station (Main Carpark (Depot and Overbridge) and Marsh Road)	386 ¹	206	180	110	70

The results set out in the table above illustrate that generally three of the car parks are underutilised with a number of spaces remaining available for use. Once the spaces lost during construction of the Proposed Development is taken into account and assuming the same levels of use as identified during the survey, at Donabate, Rush and Lusk and Drogheda MacBride stations there is still a significant number of spaces remaining available at each car park.

At the Drogheda MacBride station there are two compounds. The Drogheda Depot/Station compound is the site at the northern end of the car park and will be used throughout the development of the Depot Light Maintenance Roads and UFC facility, requiring the removal of 30 spaces for a duration of approximately 11 months. The UBK01 Dublin Road Overbridge compound is the site at the southern end of the car park and will be used for the replacement of the Dublin Road Overbridge, requiring the removal of 110 spaces for a duration of approximately 19 months. Surveys have shown that 180 parking spaces are currently underutilised at the station car park (which includes the northern end of the car park, the southern end of the car park and the March Road car park towards the west). However, during the construction of BEMU 53 spaces will be permanently removed from the Marsh Road car park towards the west. In addition, anecdotal evidence exists to suggest that an overspill in parking regularly occurs onto the public road network from the main car park at the station. This would suggest that the required 140 spaces during construction works cannot be easily accommodated. Therefore, in order to mitigate this potential impact, it is recommended that the contractor be limited to only occupy a maximum of 110 spaces at any one time during the overall period of works, these to be within one or both of the two compounds. It was observed that the Marsh Road car park is currently underutilised, and it will therefore increase in utilisation during construction with proper wayfinding implemented by the contractor during construction.

¹ Drogheda MacBride station provides a total of 386 car parking spaces, of which 288 are located in the main car park and 98 in the secondary car park off Marsh Road.



The contractor will minimise the construction compound footprint throughout the construction programme and return the maximum number of car spaces back to public use when construction works are completed and the compounds are no longer required.

1.6.3 Railway Track Possessions

The construction impacts of railway track possessions are shown in Table 1-6. No significant impacts are foreseen on the Belfast – Dublin line as works will take place at night-time or over weekends. Replacement bus services will be provided where rail services are impacted during these times.

Work area	Location	Works proposed	Railway Impact
Fairview depot	Fairview depot	Minor modifications to the depot including new cleaning facilities.	Trackwork likely to be performed during night-time possessions.
Howth Junction	Howth Junction and Donaghmede Station	Platform extension, track works, station entrance and footbridge modifications.	Weekend day-time possessions may be required for large lifts. Trackwork likely to be performed during night-time possessions.
Clongriffin	Clongriffin Station	Construction of new turnback on Platform 0 including retaining wall to east of tracks.	Trackwork likely to be performed during night-time possessions.
Malahide	Malahide Turnback	Construction of a turnback on a widened embankment between the Strand Road underbridge (UBB29) and the Malahide Viaduct (UBB30). Construction of a new modular reinforced earth wall and earthworks slope on the west side of the existing embankment.	Weekend day-time possessions may be required for enabling works. Trackwork likely to be performed during night-time possessions.
Malahide	Malahide Viaduct	Addition of 3No. OHLE supports to viaduct.	Minimum of six weekend day-time possessions likely required along with regular night-time possessions.
Donabate	XB001 Level Crossing	Level crossing to be closed.	Likely to be performed during night-time possessions.
Donabate	Traction Substation	Temporary Construction Compound to support line wide OHLE installation and construction of permanent substation.	Line-wide work likely to be performed during night-time or weekend possessions.
Donabate	OBB32A	Parapet modifications to road overbridge.	Likely to be performed during night time possessions.
Donabate	Donabate Station	Temporary Construction Compound to support line wide OHLE installation.	Line-wide work likely to be performed during night-time or weekend possessions.
Donabate	OBB33A	Parapet modifications to footbridge.	Likely to be performed during night time possessions.
Donabate	OBB35	Parapet modifications to road overbridge.	Likely to be performed during night time possessions.

Table 1-6Rail Possessions.

North











Work area	Location	Works proposed	Railway Impact
Rogerstown	Rogerstown Viaduct	Addition of 2No. OHLE supports to viaduct abutments.	Minimum of four weekend day-time possessions likely required along with regular night-time possessions.
Donabate	OBB38	Parapet modifications to road overbridge.	Likely to be performed during night time possessions.
Rush and Lusk	Rush and Lusk Traction Substation	Temporary Construction Compound to support line wide OHLE installation and construction of permanent substation.	Line-wide work likely to be performed during night-time or weekend possessions.
Rush and Lusk	OBB38A	Parapet modifications to footbridge.	Likely to be performed during night time possessions.
Rush and Lusk	OBB39	Track lowering.	Minimum of two weekend day-time possessions likely to be required.
Donabate	OBB41	Parapet modifications to road overbridge.	Likely to be performed during night time possessions.
Rush and Lusk	OBB44	Track lowering.	Minimum of two weekend day-time possessions likely to be required.
Baldongan	OBB46	Parapet modifications to road overbridge.	Likely to be performed during night time possessions.
Baldongan	OBB47	Parapet modifications to road overbridge.	Likely to be performed during night time possessions.
Skerries	OBB49	Parapet modifications to road overbridge.	Likely to be performed during night time possessions.
Skerries	Skerries Station	Temporary Construction Compound to support line wide OHLE installation.	Line-wide work likely to be performed during night-time or weekend possessions.
Skerries	OBB51A	Parapet modifications to footbridge.	Likely to be performed during night time possessions.
Skerries	OBB54	Parapet modifications to footbridge.	Likely to be performed during night time possessions.
Balbriggan	OBB55	Parapet modifications to road overbridge and track lowering.	Minimum of two weekend day-time possessions likely to be required. Parapet modification likely to be during night time possessions
Balbriggan	Balbriggan Viaduct	Addition of 2No. OHLE supports to viaduct.	Night-time possessions for large lifts and prep works.
Balbriggan	OBB57A	Parapet modifications to station footbridge.	Likely to be performed during night time possessions.
Balbriggan	Balbriggan Traction Substation	Temporary Construction Compound to support line wide OHLE installation and construction of permanent substation.	Line-wide work likely to be performed during night-time or weekend possessions.
Gormanston	Gormanston Station	Temporary Construction Compound to support line wide OHLE installation.	Line-wide work likely to be performed during night-time or weekend possessions.





larnród Éireann





Work area	Location	Works proposed	Railway Impact
Gormanston	OBB68	Parapet modifications to road overbridge.	Likely to be performed during night time possessions.
Laytown	Laytown Viaduct	Addition of 2No. OHLE supports to viaduct.	Likely night-time possessions for delivering materials to southern pier.
Laytown	Laytown Station	Temporary Construction Compound to support line wide OHLE installation.	Line-wide work likely to be performed during night-time or weekend possessions.
Laytown	OBB74A	Parapet modifications to station footbridge.	Likely to be performed during night time possessions.
Drogheda	OBB78	Parapet modifications to road overbridge and track lowering.	Minimum of two weekend day-time possessions likely to be required. Parapet modification likely to be during night time possessions
Drogheda	OBB80	Temporary Construction Compound to support line wide OHLE installation and reconstruction of overbridge.	Weekend day-time possessions for demolition and large lifts. Night-time possessions for OHLE/track level works.
Drogheda	UBK01	Dublin Road bridge reconstruction.	Weekend day-time possessions for demolition and large lifts. Night-time possessions for access to track level works.
Drogheda	OBB81	Station footbridge reconstruction.	Night time possessions for demolition and reinstatement.
Drogheda	Drogheda Station	New platform 4 on Drogheda Freight Sidings.	Any trackwork likely to be performed during night-time possessions.
Drogheda	Depot and stabling roads	Minor modifications to the depot including new cleaning facilities and stabling roads.	Any trackwork likely to be performed during night-time possessions.

The Drogheda Freight Sidings will be impacted by the bridge works at UBK01 (Dublin Road Bridge). The Drogheda Freight Sidings will need to be closed for intermittent periods leading up to the installation of a new bridge deck when closure may be required for a small number of weeks.

It is planned to retain as much functionality of the railway line as reasonably possible during the works, dropping services down to one track at a time (as opposed to full closure) where safe to do so.

1.6.4 Temporary Traffic Management

Temporary traffic management measures, such as road closures and diversions, will be required during the Construction Phase to facilitate the completion of the works.

A selection of specific areas that have been identified as requiring temporary traffic management measures for partial and full road closures are listed in Section 1.6.4. Additional areas will require traffic management following the progression to future design stages and construction.



Road closures and temporary traffic management will be designed and implemented in accordance with the Traffic Signs Manual with prior agreement of the Local Authority and An Garda Síochána. It will be the responsibility of the Contractor to prepare detailed Construction Traffic Management Plans for each phase of the construction activities which impact on the public road network.

A description of some of the works impacting the road network and proposed mitigation is provided below. This will be further developed by the contractor.

1.6.4.1 Partial Road Closures

Some of the works resulting in partial road closures and proposed mitigation is provided below, in Table 1-7. This will be further developed by the contractor. Stop-go traffic management may be required during periods of partial road closures.

Road	Closure Type	Reason	Approximate Duration
R126	Partial	Utility diversion	4 weeks
Donabate Station access (Turvey Avenue)	Partial	Utility diversion	1 week
R128	Partial	Utility diversion	2 weeks
Horestown Road	Partial	Utility diversion	1 week
L1285	Partial	Utility diversion	2 weeks
L1357 Barnageeragh Road	Partial	New Track Paralleling Hut (TPH)	12 weeks
L1270	Partial	Skerries South substation access	2 weeks
L1270	Partial	Utility diversion	1 week
R127	Partial	Utility diversion	2 weeks
R127	Partial	Utility diversion	4 weeks
R127	Partial	Utility diversion	1 week
Seapoint Lane	Partial	Utility diversion	1 week
Harbour Road	Partial	UBB56 modification	1 week
L1620 Station Road	Partial	Utility diversion	1 week
Coastview Cottages	Partial	UBB72 modification	8 weeks
L5615	Partial	Utility diversion	1 week

Table 1-7 Proposed Partial Road Closures due to Construction.











Road	Closure Type	Reason	Approximate Duration
Local Road?	Partial	Utility diversion	1 week
Wheaton Hall Road	Partial	Utility diversion	1 week
McGrath's Lane	Partial	OBB80/80A/80B reconstruction	104 weeks
R132	Partial	UBK01 widening	26 weeks
St Mary's Villas	Partial (May have periods of full closure at weekends)	UBK01 widening	26 weeks Some weekends

The construction works will impact on the Broadmeadow Way greenway (if in place prior to the commencement of construction) with the full width of the greenway being reduced for the duration of construction (18 months). Working space will vary along the wall but will be kept to the minimum to ensure a minimum 3m width of greenway is maintained to reduce the impact on the newly constructed greenway. Phasing of the work in small sections will also be used to limit the impact to the greenway and the existing embankment. The phasing and reduced width sections will continue over the full construction duration.

1.6.4.2 Full Road Closures

A description of some of the works resulting in full road closures and proposed mitigation is provided below. This will be further developed by the contractor.

1.6.4.2.1 Beaverstown Golf Club Access

An existing Eir cable crosses the railway just to the south of the overbridge (OBB35) carrying the access road for Beaverstown Golf Club. This needs to be diverted underground. A temporary work area is required to either side of the bridge. The road will need to be temporarily closed (full road closure) under traffic management for the duration of the diversion, likely for approximately 3 days, and temporarily closed (partial road closure) for approximately 1 week.

Pedestrian access to the golf club will be maintained during both full and partial closures. Upon agreement with Eir, it may be possible to carry out these works at nighttime to minimise disruption to the Beaverstown Golf Club.

1.6.4.2.2 Rogerstown Lane

The existing overhead line, OH-DV5 that crosses the railway line is planned to be diverted along Rogerstown Lane over OBB38. Rogerstown Lane will need to be temporarily closed (full road closure) under traffic management for the duration of the diversion in that area, approximately a week. The existing field accesses would be used to access the agricultural land areas.

Local access for all modes will be maintained throughout the road closure and construction period.





1.6.4.2.3 Balbriggan Viaduct (UBB56) Modifications

Pedestrian access

The walkways adjacent to the viaduct would need to be closed for several weeks. It would be preferable to only close one at a time to provide ongoing pedestrian connectivity to either side of the bridge. If this is not possible the alternative walking route is shown in the following Image 1-27. This route is to be planned and agreed with any other development plans that may be ongoing, or previously completed, in this area.



Image 1-27 Pedestrian diversion during UBB56 modification

Harbour Road

It will be necessary to close Harbour Road over-night on several occasions, or over a small number of weekend days, to site a crane for lifting large structural sections onto or off the Balbriggan viaduct (UBB56). Traffic would need to be diverted west, further into the centre of Balbriggan.



There are many one-way roads near Balbriggan Viaduct, so diverting a steady flow of traffic may be difficult outside of night-time possessions. Some form of traffic management may be required for several of the one-way roads fed by Harbour Road to maintain access during the road closure. The proposed traffic diversion is illustrated in Image 1-28. Local access will be maintained throughout the road closure period.



Image 1-28 Potential traffic diversion during UBB56 construction

1.6.4.2.4 L1620 Station Road

An existing Eir cable crosses the railway at Gormanston Station and is planned to be diverted underground. A temporary work area is required to either side of the bridge, OBB 66. The road will need to be temporarily closed (full road closure) under traffic management for the duration of the diversion, likely for approximately 3 days, and temporarily closed (partial road closure) for approximately 1 week. Pedestrian access will be maintained during both full and partial closures.

Access to Gormanston station will be maintained throughout the road closure and partial closure.

1.6.4.2.5 R132 Dublin Road Bridge (UBK01) – Drogheda

For the modification works at the Dublin Road bridge (UBK01) in Drogheda, there will be some weekends where full closure of the R132 road will be required and other extended periods where the road will be reduced to a single lane under a traffic light contra-flow system. Removal and installation of bridge deck units is when total closure will be required; work on abutments is when single lanes will need to be put into operation.


During modification, the road will need to be closed completely, during which a traffic diversion will be in place. These periods are likely to be for only a few days at a time, likely taking place over weekends where reasonably practicable. Whenever there is at least one lane of traffic open under the bridge it is planned that there will be a public footpath kept open also.

This footpath is likely to be closed when the road is totally closed, for safety reasons. The proposed traffic diversion is illustrated below in Image 1-29. The proposed pedestrian diversion is in Image 1-30. Drogheda station access and local access will be maintained throughout the road closure period.



Image 1-29 Potential traffic diversion during UBK01 replacement works



Image 1-30 Potential pedestrian diversion during UBK01 replacement works

1.6.4.2.5.1 St. Mary's Villas Closure

St. Mary's Villas may have periods of closure where it leads down onto R132 Dublin Road, depending on later design, methodology planning and traffic management layouts. These periods are likely to be for only a few days at a time, probably over weekends. The proposed traffic diversion is illustrated below in Image 1-31. Residents of St. Mary's Villas will maintain access to their properties throughout the duration of the works and during periods of road closures.



Image 1-31 Potential traffic diversion during St. Mary's Villas closure

1.6.4.2.6 Railway Terrace OBB80/80A/80B

Railway Terrace / McGrath's Lane, at Drogheda, will become a temporary cul-de-sac whilst the OBB80/80A80/B bridge is replaced. A temporary access road will be constructed to the north linking to Marsh Road (R150) to facilitate access for residents to properties on McGrath's Lane, to support the northern Construction Compound and to provide road vehicular access to the bridge site, see Image 1-32 for the potential traffic diversion during OBB80/80A/80B replacement works.





Image 1-32 Potential traffic diversion during OBB80/80A/80B replacement works

1.7 Interface with Other Projects

Interface liaison will take place on a case-by-case basis, as will be set out in the Construction Contract, to ensure that there is coordination between projects, that construction access locations remain unobstructed by the Proposed Development works, that temporary traffic management measures are implemented in a planned and coordinated manner and that any additional construction traffic mitigation measures required to deal with cumulative impacts are managed appropriately.

1.8 References

Department of Transport (DoT) (2021). Traffic Signals Manual, https://www.trafficsigns.ie/







Appendix H: Surface Water Management Plan





Table of Contents

1. <i>F</i>	APPENDIX H: CONSTRUCTION SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT PLAN (SWMP)	1
1.1 li	ntroduction	
1.1.1	Objectives1	
1.1.2	Potential Sources of Water Pollution1	
1.1.3	Duties and Responsibilities	
1.2 S	Surface Water Receptors	
1.3 N	/litigation and Management Measures2	
1.3.1	Control of Sediments	
1.3.2	Construction Compound	
1.3.3	River and Stream Crossings	
1.3.4	Use of Concrete 4	
1.3.5	Vehicles and Plant5	
1.4 N	Ionitoring Requirements	
1.5 F	References	









1. APPENDIX H: CONSTRUCTION SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT PLAN (SWMP)

1.1 Introduction

This Construction Surface Water Management Plan ("the SWMP") incorporates information on the control and management measures taken in order to avoid, prevent, or reduce any significant adverse impacts on the surface water environment during the Construction Phase of the DART+ Coastal North Project hereafter referred as the "proposed development".

During the Construction Phase of the proposed development, the control and management measures outlined below correspond to the best practice approaches that can be used to ensure construction does not increase pollution of watercourses or flood risk in line with River Basin Management Plans (RBMP) for Ireland.

1.1.1 Objectives

The main objectives of the SWMP are to:

- Ensure sediment and pollution control requirements are incorporated into the design stage and land requirements for the proposed development as far as practicable;
- Ensure flood risk controls are included in the design, where necessary;
- Minimise and if possible, avoid potential sediment and other contaminants such as fuel, concrete, oil, and other materials discharging into a watercourse;
- Minimise the duration and area of exposed ground which could potentially create runoff; and
- Provide appropriate control and containment measures on site in order to reduce any potential impacts in the event of an accidental spillage or site runoff and maintain sediment and pollution controls during the Construction Phase of the proposed development.

1.1.2 Potential Sources of Water Pollution

Potential sources of water pollution, such as sediment and surface water runoff, could arise from the following activities/areas:

- Earthworks transportation, excavation, and processing of materials, within and outside the proposed development, together with materials deposition and temporary stockpiling (where required).
- Surface exposure is typically associated with the following activities within the proposed development:
 - Preparatory and vegetation clearance works, such as topsoil stripping, and
 - Tracking of machinery.
- Concrete activities generation of highly alkaline silt (pH 11.5) through the use of concrete, grout, and other cement-based products during the construction of structures, OHLE foundations, carriageway and pavement works.
- Watercourse crossings increased likelihood of impacts on water quality when construction occurs over or near surface waters (e.g., demolition works, bridge modifications, OHLE installation on overbridges and viaducts, Construction Compounds in the vicinity of watercourses).





• Construction Compound and machinery re-fueling areas.

Section 1.3 outlines mitigation measures, to be implemented by the Contractor, in order to reduce the likelihood of any pollution incidents occurring during the Construction Phase.

1.1.3 Duties and Responsibilities

The duties and responsibilities of key stakeholders are listed in Appendix D of the CEMP. Accordingly, the Site Environmental Manager, or equivalent, will be responsible for the further development, implementation, and maintenance of the SWMP.

1.2 Surface Water Receptors

The project site extends c. 50 km across four administrative/local authority areas including Louth, Meath and Fingal County Councils and Dublin City Council. The main surface water receptors in the project area include the rivers Boyne, Nanny, Delvin, Mayne, Pilltown and Liffey. There are 18no. watercourse crossings along the entire length of the proposed development.

The proposed development lies within the catchments of the Boyne (HA 07), Nanny-Delvin (HA 08) and Liffey and Dublin Bay (HA 09). The 2016-2021 WFD status of these water bodies show that the watercourses in the vicinity of the proposed development have "poor" status apart from one water body, the Tolka_SC_020. However, all waterbodies have set 2027 as a date to meet their environmental objectives.

1.3 Mitigation and Management Measures

1.3.1 Control of Sediments

1.3.1.1 Sediment Control Plan (SCP)

The development of a Sediment Control Plan (SCP) will be undertaken prior to commencement of construction by the appointed Contractor. This includes the monitoring of suspended solids and turbidity levels ensuring that sediment concentrations are up to standard prior to discharge.

Works in Flood Zones A and B should be avoided where possible. For any works in these flood zones, the Contractor will be required to provide appropriate mitigation measures within a method statement for the removal of materials to minimise potential sediment discharge into the nearest watercourse.

1.3.1.2 Runoff rates

- Works areas will be kept dry as far as reasonably practicable;
- Bunds of non-erodible material will be used adjacent to watercourses to avoid contaminated water entering the watercourse as far as reasonably practicable;
- Settlement tanks, silt traps/bags and bunds will be used where required to remove silt from surface water runoff. Sizing of the tanks will be based on best available guidelines such as CIRIA Technical guidance C648: Control of Water Pollution from Linear Construction Projects (CIRIA 2006). Any construction work within a 10m buffer zone must be provided with these measures to minimise sediment discharge to a watercourse;









• Weather conditions to be checked by Contractor and coordinated with any planning construction activities in order to minimise surface water runoff from the site.

1.3.1.3 Water Quality

The Contractor will be responsible for ensuring that surface water control measures, such as settlement areas or silt fences, are carried out/monitored daily. Additionally, water bodies crossed by the proposed development shall be visually inspected weekly by the Contractor.

Water pollution indicators include:

- Water colour and transparency changes;
- Increase of silt levels in the water;
- Oily sheen on the water surface; and
- Floating detritus, scums, and foams.

In case any contamination is observed, an investigation shall be carried out (depending on the source and nature) in order to prevent any further worsening contamination status, with any incidents being recorded and investigated in more detail to prevent a recurrence.

1.3.2 Construction Compound

As far as reasonably practicable Construction Compounds have been chosen to avoid high flood risk zones and maintain a minimum buffer of 50m from surface watercourses. An exception for this would be the construction of the new arch bridge at Clongriffin at the Mayne River water crossing parallel to the existing railway bridge. The Construction Compound at this location also encroaches on the Mayne River floodplain. At this location, it will be necessary to apply the following measures to mitigate the potential impacts:

- Obtain all necessary consents from the relevant authorities (IFI, OPW, etc.);
- Bank stabilisation and erosion protection should be in place for the entire construction period; and
- Reinstate banks that are affected by the works to original or better stable state.

Further details on the requirements for the Construction Compounds are provided in Section 2.2.9 of Appendix A5.1 (CEMP) in Volume 4 and in Chapter 4 (Description of the Proposed Development) in Volume 2 of this EIAR.

1.3.2.1 Materials/Fuel Storage

- Refuelling of all plant, machinery, and vehicles will be undertaken only in designated areas where leaks and spills can be contained relatively easily. Spill kits will be made available on all temporary and permanent construction sites. Refuelling areas must be kept at least 50m away from watercourses;
- Construction materials to be managed in a such a way as to effectively minimise the risk posed to the aquatic environment; and
- Excavated material to be placed in such a way as to avoid any disturbance of areas near to the banks of watercourses and any spillage into the watercourses.









1.3.3 River and Stream Crossings

At all the 18no. watercourse crossings across the full area of the proposed development, the following best practice guidelines shall be followed at these crossing locations as far as reasonably practicable:

- The contractor shall guarantee, prior to construction commencement, that all construction equipment is in good working condition and that there is no need for refueling or maintenance at, or near, crossing locations;
- Fluids such as fuels and chemicals shall be handled carefully in order to avoid spillages;
- Establish a 50m distance between watercourses and fueling and maintenance works;
- All spillages must be contained and removed from site immediately; and
- The Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW) shall be made aware of any accidental spills.

1.3.4 Use of Concrete

The use and management of concrete in or close to watercourses must be carefully controlled to avoid spillage which has a deleterious effect on water quality and aquatic habitats and species.

Where the use of in-situ concrete near and in watercourses cannot be avoided, control measures will need to be put in place. These are noted below:

- When working in or near the surface water and the application of in-situ materials cannot be avoided, the use of alternative materials such as biodegradable shutter oils shall be used;
- Any plant operating close to the water will require special consideration on the transport of concrete from the point of discharge from the mixer to final discharge into the delivery pipe (tremie). Care will be exercised when slewing concrete skips or mobile concrete pumps over or near the watercourses;
- Placing of concrete in or near the watercourses will be carried out only under the supervision of a suitably qualified Environmental Manager;
- There will be no hosing into surface water drains of spills of concrete, cement, grout or similar materials. Such spills shall be contained immediately, and runoff prevented from entering watercourses;
- Concrete waste and wash-down water will be contained and managed on site to prevent pollution of the watercourses;
- On-site concrete batching and mixing activities will only be allowed at the identified Construction Compound;
- Washout from concrete lorries, with the exception of the chute, will not be permitted on site and will only take place at the Construction Compound (or other appropriate facility designated by the supplier);
- Chute washout will be carried out at designated locations only. These locations will be signposted;
- The concrete plant and all delivery drivers will be informed of their location with the order information and on arrival on site; and,









• Chute washout locations will be provided with appropriate designated, contained impermeable area and treatment facilities including adequately sized settlement tanks. The clear water from the settlement tanks shall be pH corrected prior to discharge (which shall be by means of one of the construction stage settlement facilities) or alternatively disposed of as waste in accordance with the Contractor's Construction and Demolition Waste Management Plan.

1.3.5 Vehicles and Plant

- Vehicles and plant available for use on the proposed development will be regularly inspected to ensure optimum fuel efficiency in order to avoid any leakage and subsequently repaired when not in good working order;
- All vehicles to be equipped with spill kits; and
- Vehicles and plant will be parked at a safe distance from any drains in order to avoid any spillages.

1.4 Monitoring Requirements

The Site Environmental Manager will be responsible for the monitoring of the drainage system effectiveness during the Construction Phase of the proposed development in order to reduce the risk of discharge of silt-laden water into the receiving waters. The frequency of the monitoring will be associated with any observed weather changes and drainage conditions throughout the project.

Surface water control measures, such as settlement tanks, fuel storage areas, or silt fences, will be monitored daily by the Contractor, together with any water bodies crossed by the proposed development. Suspended solids will be monitored as well and included as part of the inspection.

Depending on the water quality parameters, an investigation will be undertaken to determine the cause of contamination and its original source. In order to prevent further contamination, a more detailed investigation will be carried out to prevent any possible recurrences. Relevant regulatory authorities will be informed, if required.

The contractor will be responsible for undertaking any investigation of the potential cause related to quality pollution indicators observed on site, with the immediate stoppage of any works. Sampling will be undertaken, following recording of the details of the activity identified as the main cause of the incident or potential activities capable of causing the incident, the nature of the impacts and mechanism of pollution, and measures proposed and implemented in order to avoid any reoccurrence.

Monitoring and transparent reporting will reduce the likelihood of any small incident becoming a serious one which would require regulatory action. A proactive approach should be taken in providing any relevant information to the regulator and the Client, which will reflect on how these events are handled professionally and taken seriously on site.









1.5 References

CIRIA (2001). Control of Water Pollution from Construction Sites. CIRIA Technical guidance C532.

CIRIA (2006). Control of Water Pollution from Linear Construction Projects. CIRIA Technical guidance C648.

DOEHLG & OPW (2009). The Planning System and Flood Risk Management Guidelines for Planning Authorities.

Goldman, S. J., Jackson, K., and Bursztynsky, T. A. (1986). Erosion and Sediment Control Handbook.

Inland Fisheries Ireland (IFI) (2016). Guidelines on Protection of Fisheries During Construction Works in and Adjacent to Waters.

Transport Infrastructure Ireland (TII, formerly NRA) (2005). Guidelines for the Crossing of Watercourses During the Construction of National Road Schemes.

Transport Infrastructure Ireland (TII, formerly NRA) (2013). Specification for Road Works Series 800 – Road Pavements – Unbound and Cement Bound Mixtures.





1.8 Appendix 1.8: List of Projects Assessed in combination with the Proposed Development

Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
316119	 DART+ South West (SW) is seeking to significantly increase rail capacity on the Cork Mainline circa 20km from Hazelhatch & Celbridge Station to Heuston Station, and to Glasnevin via the Phoenix Park Tunnel Branch Line. This will be achieved by implementing an electrified railway network with high-capacity DART trains, increasing the frequency of trains and providing a new station at Heuston West. The key infrastructural works includes: Completion of four tracking from Park West & Cherry Orchard Station to Heuston Station, extending the works completed on the route in 2009. Electrification and re-signalling of the line from Hazelhatch & Celbridge Station to Heuston Station and from Heuston Station to Glasnevin, via the Phoenix Park Tunnel Branch Line, where it will link with the proposed DART+ West. Improvements/reconstructions of bridges to facilitate movement of electrified train services. Removal of rail constraints along the Phoenix Park Tunnel Branch Line. 	At the time of writing, the DART+ South West project requested statutory approval for its design, with the submission of a Railway Order application to An Board Pleanála in March 2023. There is no spatial overlap of the DART+ Coastal North Project with the DART+ South West Project. CIÉ are developing both projects and will continue to work to avoid, reduce and mitigate potential negative, and maximise positive cumulative effects on the environment. Long-term positive cumulative effects are likely during the operation stage as both projects will support the development and improvement of sustainable transport. As assessed in Section 7, the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European site in isolation. Therefore, the potential for in combination effects to arise are limited to those effects the Proposed Development will not affect the conservation objectives of European sites. There is no physical overlap between the Proposed Development and this project and the only potential for in combination effects could be as a result of: • Habitat degradation / effects on QI/SCI species as a result of hydrological impacts (for example reduction in water quality in	No in combination effect. The proposed DART+ South West must comply with all applicable planning and environmental approval requirements and be in accordance with the objectives and policies of the relevant development Plan. These land use plan contains objectives and policies to ensure the protection of European sites. The Proposed Development will be subject to planning consent, including preparation of an EIAR and AA Screening Report/Natura Impact Statement, if required. In granting permission for the DART+ Programme South West it will be necessary to determine that the project will not result in adverse effects on the integrity of any European sites, including from any of the impact pathways listed in the previous column in this table, either alone or in combination with the Proposed Development. Considering the lack of physical overlap between the Proposed Development and the proposed DART+ Programme South West project, the environmental protection policies included within the relevant land use plans, the range of mitigation measures included in the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed Development to have an adverse effect on the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed









Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		 catchments the Proposed Development drains to affecting the conservation objectives supporting aquatic habitats and species in Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SPA, Howth Head Coast SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Rockabill SPA, The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, Boyne Coast Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, the North-West Irish Sea SPA, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA and River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA. Habitat degradation as a result of introducing / spreading non-native invasive species (for example to downstream European sites North Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SAC and Baldoyle Bay SPA, Malahide Estuary SAC and Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SAC and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Boyne Coast and Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SAC, south Dublin Say SAC, Boyne Estuary SAC, River Blackwater SAC, Boyne Estuary SAC, River SAC and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Boyne Coast and Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SAC 	Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, in its own right, nor in combination with other projects, including the DART+ South West and has included mitigation in that regard to prevent any such adverse effects.
		 Disturbance and displacement impacts (for example <i>ex-situ</i> inland feeding sites which are utilised by SCI wintering bird species and otter within the potential disturbance ZoI 	









Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		of the Proposed Development; River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, the South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, North Bull Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA and the North-West Irish Sea SPA, Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA;	
		 Direct injury/mortality related impacts of SCI species as a result of the Proposed Development of the following European sites; Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, North Bull Island SPA, South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, the North-West Irish Sea SPA and the Murrough SPA; Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA; and 	
		 The following European sites are European sites are potentially at risk of air quality during construction phase of the Proposed Development: Malahide Estuary SAC, Rogerstown Estuary SAC, Baldoyle Bay SAC, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC. 	











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
306587 DART+ West	 The DART+ West is seeking to increase significantly the rail capacity on the Maynooth and M3 Motorway lines. This will be achieved by train electrification, high-capacity DART trains and an increase on the train frequency. The key infrastructural works include: Electrification and re-signalling of the Maynooth and M3 Parkway lines. Capacity enhancements at Connolly Station. Delivery of new Spencer Dock Station. Closure of level crossings and provision of replacements bridges. New DART depot facility in order to improve maintenance levels and parking of trains. Remodelling of existing bridges to facilitate clearances for the overhead electrification equipment. Installation of necessary substations, electrical buildings and other civil and ancillary works to accommodate the project. 	At the time of writing, the DART+ West has sought statutory approval for its design, with the submission of a Railway Order application to An Board Pleanála on July 2022. As assessed in Section 7, the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European site in isolation. Therefore, the potential for in combination effects to arise are limited to those effects the Proposed Development will have on the receiving environment that are measurable in some way, but themselves will not affect the conservation objectives of European sites. There is no physical overlap between the Proposed Development and this project and the only potential for in combination effects could be as a result of: • Habitat degradation / effects on QI/SCI species as a result of hydrological impacts (for example reduction in water quality in catchments the Proposed Development drains to affecting the conservation objectives supporting aquatic habitats and species in Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SPA, Howth Head Coast SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Jundalk Bay SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Rockabill SPA,	No in combination effect. The proposed DART+ West project must comply with all applicable planning and environmental approval requirements and be in accordance with the objectives and policies of the relevant development Plan. These land use plan contains objectives and policies to ensure the protection of European sites. The Proposed Development will be subject to planning consent, including preparation of an EIAR and AA Screening Report/Natura Impact Statement, if required. In granting permission for the DART+ West project it will be necessary to determine that the project will not result in adverse effects on the integrity of any European sites, including from any of the impact pathways listed in the previous column in this table, either alone or in combination with the Proposed Development. Considering the lack of physical overlap between the Proposed Development and the proposed DART+ West project, the environmental protection policies included within the relevant land use plans, the range of mitigation measures included in the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed Development to have an adverse effect on the integrity of any European sites.









Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		 The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, Boyne Coast Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, the North-West Irish Sea SPA, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA and River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA. 	The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, in its own right, nor in combination with other projects, including the DART+ West project and has included mitigation in that regard to prevent any such adverse effects.
		 Habitat degradation as a result of introducing / spreading non-native invasive species (for example to downstream European sites North Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SAC and Baldoyle Bay SPA, Malahide Estuary SAC and Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SAC and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Boyne Coast and Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA; 	
		 Disturbance and displacement impacts (for example ex-situ inland feeding sites which are utilised by SCI wintering bird species and otter within the potential disturbance Zol of the Proposed Development; River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, the South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, North Bull Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown 	











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		 SPA and the North-West Irish Sea SPA, Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA; Direct injury/mortality related impacts of SCI species as a result of the Proposed Development of the following European sites; Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, North Bull Island SPA, South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, the North-West Irish Sea SPA and the Murrough SPA; Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA; and The following European sites are European sites are potentially at risk of air quality during construction phase of the Proposed Development: Malahide Estuary SAC, Rogerstown Estuary SAC, Baldoyle Bay SAC, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC. 	
304624	FCC/12/0001 Broadmeadow Way. Greenway between Malahide Demesne and Newbridge Demesne to be known as 'Broadmeadow Way'. Malahide	As assessed in Section 7, the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European site in isolation. Therefore, the potential for in combination effects to arise are limited to those effects the Proposed Development will have on the receiving environment that are measurable in some way, but themselves will not affect the conservation objectives of European sites.	No in combination effect. The consented Broadmeadow Way Grenway must comply with all applicable planning and environmental approval requirements and be in accordance with the objectives and policies of the relevant development Plan. These land use plan contains objectives and policies to ensure the protection of European sites.











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		 There is physical overlap between the Proposed Development alongside the south-western side of the existing Malahide railway embankment and this project and the only potential for in combination effects could be as a result of: Habitat degradation / effects on QI/SCI species as a result of hydrological impacts (for example reduction in water quality in catchments the Proposed Development drains to affecting the conservation objectives supporting aquatic habitats and species in Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SPA, Howth Head Coast SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Rockabill SPA, The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, Boyne Coast Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, the North-West Irish Sea SPA, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA and River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA. Habitat degradation as a result of introducing / spreading non-native invasive species (for example to downstream European sites North Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC and Baldoyle Bay SPA, Malahide Estuary SAC 	The consented Broadmeadow Way Grenway was subject to planning consent, including preparation of an EIAR and AA Screening Report/Natura Impact Statement, if required. In granting permission for the consented Broadmeadow Way Grenway it was necessary to determine that the project did not result in adverse effects on the integrity of any European sites, including from any of the impact pathways listed in the previous column in this table, either alone or in combination with the Proposed Development. Despite the adjacency between the Proposed Development and the consented Broadmeadow Way Greenway,and the potential overlap in timing to undertake both projects, the environmental protection policies included within the relevant land use plans, the range of mitigation measures included in the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed Development to have an adverse effect on the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites.









Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		and Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SAC and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Boyne Coast and Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA;	
		 Disturbance and displacement impacts (for example ex-situ inland feeding sites which are utilised by SCI wintering bird species and otter within the potential disturbance Zol of the Proposed Development; River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, the South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, North Bull Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA and the North-West Irish Sea SPA, Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA; 	
		 Direct injury/mortality related impacts of SCI species as a result of the Proposed Development of the following European sites; Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, North Bull Island SPA, South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, the North-West Irish Sea SPA and the Murrough SPA; Seas 	











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		 of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA; and The following European sites are European sites are potentially at risk of air quality during construction phase of the Proposed Development: Malahide Estuary SAC, Rogerstown Estuary SAC, Baldoyle Bay SAC, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC. 	
314724 Metrolink	MetroLink is a transformative piece of new public transport infrastructure, the first of its kind in Ireland. It will comprise a high-capacity, high-frequency, modern and efficient metro railway, with 16 new stations running from Swords to Charlemont. The alignment will link Dublin Airport, larnród Éireann, DART, Dublin Bus and Luas services and create a fully integrated public transport network for the Greater Dublin Area (GDA). The Proposed Development will be approximately 18.8km in length. As well as linking major transport hubs, MetroLink will connect key destinations including Ballymun, the Mater Hospital, the Rotunda Hospital, Dublin City University (DCU) and Trinity College Dublin (TCD). Much of the 18.8km route will run underground, an exciting innovation for Irish public transport. It includes a 9.4km section of single bore tunnel running beneath Dublin city centre from Northwood Station to Charlemont Station and a 2.3km section of single bore tunnel running beneath Dublin Airport. Tunnel sections include intervention access facilities for emergency services at Dublin Airport, Albert College Park and just south of Charlemont Station.	At the time of writing, the Metrolink Project had submitted its Railway Order Application to An Bord Pleanála (end of September 2022). The Metrolink Project was required to assess impacts in accordance with the EIA Directive including the assessment of cumulative effects with other major transport projects such as the Dart+ projects as part of its Railway Order Application. As assessed in Section 7, the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European site in isolation. Therefore, the potential for in combination effects to arise are limited to those effects the Proposed Development will have on the receiving environment that are measurable in some way, but themselves will not affect the conservation objectives of European sites. There is no physical overlap between the Proposed Development. However, there may be spatial overlap in terms for the construction pashing and thereafter operation. Thus, there is potential for in combination effects as a result of:	No in combination effect. The proposed Metrolink project must comply with all applicable planning and environmental approval requirements and be in accordance with the objectives and policies of the relevant development Plan. These land use plan contains objectives and policies to ensure the protection of European sites. The proposed Metrolink project will be subject to planning consent, including preparation of an EIAR and AA Screening Report/Natura Impact Statement, if required. In granting permission for the proposed Metrolink project it will be necessary to determine that the project does not result in adverse effects on the integrity of any European sites, including from any of the impact pathways listed in the previous column in this table, either alone or in combination with the Proposed Development. Despite the potential construction overlap between the Proposed Development and the proposed Metrolink project the environmental protection policies included within the relevant land use plans, the range of mitigation











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
	Tunnel portal structures will be provided at Northwood, Dardistown and Dublin Airport. North of Dublin Airport the alignment will emerge from tunnel and will run at surface level, in cut and cover and on elevated structures to Estuary Station. A new 99m long bridge will be constructed over the M50 Motorway and a 261m long multi-span Viaduct over the Broadmeadow and Ward Rivers. There will be a total of 16 stations, including 11 underground stations at Dublin Airport, Northwood, Ballymun, Collins Avenue, Griffith Park, Glasnevin, Mater, O'Connell Street, Tara, St. Stephen's Green and Charlemont; 4 retained cut stations at Seatown, Swords Central, Fosterstown and Dardistown and 1 at grade station at Estuary. A multi-storey 3000 space park and ride close to the M1 Motorway will be provided at Estuary Station, a maintenance depot is located near Dardistown Station which will house all the facilities required for the maintenance and operation of the MetroLink and its rolling stock and the Operational Control Centre. The works will also include railway signalling, command and control and communications systems; provision of electrical substations; establishment of temporary construction compounds; establishment of temporary traffic management and road diversions; new and realigned access routes and road junction improvements; diversion of existing utilities; provision of new drainage infrastructure; provision of environmental mitigation measures; and other infrastructural modifications to facilitate the overall project.	 Habitat degradation / effects on QI/SCI species as a result of hydrological impacts (for example reduction in water quality in catchments the Proposed Development drains to affecting the conservation objectives supporting aquatic habitats and species in Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SPA, Howth Head Coast SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Jalkey Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Rockabill SPA, The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, Boyne Coast Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, the North-West Irish Sea SPA, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA and River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA. Habitat degradation as a result of introducing / spreading non-native invasive species (for example to downstream European sites North Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Boyne Coast and Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA; 	measures included in the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed Development to have an adverse effect on the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, in its own right, nor in combination with other projects, including the proposed Metrolink project and has included mitigation in that regard to prevent any such adverse effects. Considering the relevant land use plans, the range of mitigation measures included in the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed Development to have an adverse effect on the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, in its own right, nor in combination with other projects, including the proposed Metrolink project and has included mitigation in that regard to prevent any such adverse effects.











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
	Construction of the Proposed Development is expected to take place over approximately nine years, with an intended construction commencement date in 2025 and an opening year of 2035. The underground section of MetroLink is constructed by two separate methods. The stations are constructed using the "cut and cover" method – excavating the site from ground level and covering it up again. The tunnels between stations are bored using Tunnel Boring Machines.	 Disturbance and displacement impacts (for example <i>ex-situ</i> inland feeding sites which are utilised by SCI wintering bird species and otter within the potential disturbance Zol of the Proposed Development; River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, the South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, North Bull Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA and the North-West Irish Sea SPA, Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA; Direct injury/mortality related impacts of SCI species as a result of the Proposed Development of the following European sites; Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, North Bull Island SPA, Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Shore SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, North Bull Island SPA, South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, the North-West Irish Sea SPA, South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, the North-West Irish Sea SPA, Micklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA; and The following European sites are European sites are potentially at risk of air quality during construction phase of the Proposed 	











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		Rogerstown Estuary SAC, Baldoyle Bay SAC, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC.	
Luas Finglas	Luas Finglas is the next extension of the Luas Green Line. It will create a new public transport connection between the communities of Charlestown, Finglas Village, Finglas west, St Helena's, Tolka Valley and the city centre. The proposed route is 3.9km in length and will include four new stops: St Helena's, Finglas Village, St Margaret's and Charlestown. A 350-vehicle park and ride facility will be provided near the St Margaret's Road stop, close to the M50. The route will provide interchange opportunities with bus networks at all the new stops and with mainline rail services at Broombridge. Most of the route will be built using grass track, an attractive and sustainable innovation for urban transport in Ireland.	At the time of writing, there is limited information in relation to Luas Finglas. A report on the consultation undertaken regarding the Preferred Route has been published and submissions are being studied together with the development of the final design that will form the application for a Railway Order. It is anticipated that Luas Finglas would have the potential for increased connectivity and commuter flows with the Dart+ Coastal North Project, promoting the use of sustainable transport modes. There is no known spatial overlap of the DART+ Coastal North Project with the current Luas Finglas Project. The NTA are developing both projects and will continue to work to avoid, reduce and mitigate potential negative, and maximise positive cumulative effects on the environment. The proposed DART+ Coastal North Project will reduce carbon emissions and similarly, light rail will achieve low carbon emissions, which will assist in meeting Ireland's commitments for decarbonisation. Thus, there may be potential for in combination effects as a result of: • Habitat degradation / effects on QI/SCI species as a result of hydrological impacts (for example reduction in water quality in catchments the Proposed Development drains to affecting the conservation	No in combination effect predicted. A future Luas Finglas project must comply with all applicable planning and environmental approval requirements and be in accordance with the objectives and policies of the relevant development Plan. This land use plan contains objectives and policies to ensure the protection of European sites. A future Luas Finglas project would be subject to planning consent, including preparation of an EIAR and AA Screening Report/Natura Impact Statement, if required. In granting permission for the proposed Metrolink project it will be necessary to determine that the project does not result in adverse effects on the integrity of any European sites, including from any of the impact pathways listed in the previous column in this table, either alone or in combination with the Proposed Development. Despite the uncertainty regarding a future LUAs Finglas project and the Proposed Development, the environmental protection policies included within the relevant land use plans, the range of mitigation measures included in the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed Development to have an adverse effect on the integrity of any European sites.









Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		 objectives supporting aquatic habitats and species in Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SPA, Howth Head Coast SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Rockabill SPA, The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, Boyne Coast Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, the North-West Irish Sea SPA, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA and River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA. Habitat degradation as a result of introducing / spreading non-native invasive species (for example to downstream European sites North Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SAC and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Boyne Coast and Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA; 	The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, in its own right, nor in combination with other projects, including a future Luas Finglas project and has included mitigation in that regard to prevent any such adverse effects. Considering the relevant land use plans, the range of mitigation measures included in the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed Development to have an adverse effect on the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, in its own right, nor in combination with other projects, including a future Luas Finglas project and has included mitigation in that regard to prevent any such adverse effects.











	affect
 Disturbance and displacement impacts (for example ex-situ inland feeding sites which are utilised by SCI wintering bird species and otter within the potential disturbance ZoI of the Proposed Development; River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Namy Estuary SPA, Sherries Islands SPA, Doyne Estuary SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Doyne Estuary SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Doyne Estuary SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Nathe Bull Island SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Nathe Bull Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Nathe SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA and the North-West Irish Sea SPA, Seas of Wexford CSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA; Direct injury/mortality related impacts of SCI species as a result of the Proposed Development if the following European site; Malahide Estuary SPA, River Namy Estuary SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA, South Dublis Bay SPA, the North-West Irish Sea SPA, and Wicklow Head SPA and the Murrough SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA,	











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		The following European sites are European sites are potentially at risk of air quality during construction phase of the Proposed Development: Malahide Estuary SAC, Rogerstown Estuary SAC, Baldoyle Bay SAC, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC.	
FS007031 North Irish Sea Array	The North Irish Sea Array, also known as NISA, is an offshore wind energy project being proposed off the coast of counties Dublin, Meath and Louth, bringing with it and opportunity to significantly contribute to the development of clean, renewable energy future. Current working design layout to include between approximately 35 and 46 turbines, displacing approximately half a million tonnes of CO ² per annum, with a capacity to power around 500,000 hommes and create high quality jobs.	At the time of writing, North Irish Sea Array Offshore Wind Farm (NISA) was at the first Design Review Stage, with the team currently working to develop a project with the view to submitting a planning application in 2024. Surveys have been carried out along with consultation and technical appraisals, which will be considered and might influence how the project develops. NISA would have the capacity to produce renewable energy for Ireland's electricity grid, together with improvements to public services and communities. The cable route between the onshore grid facility and the offshore substation / wind turbines is yet to published, however it is likely that an underground cable will cross the DART line at some point between Dubin and Drogheda. Thus, there may be potential for in combination effects as a result of: • Habitat degradation / effects on QI/SCI species as a result of hydrological impacts (for example reduction in water quality in catchments the Proposed Development drains to affecting the conservation objectives supporting aquatic habitats and species in Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, Lambay Island SPA. Skerries Islands SPA Boyne Estuary	No in combination effect predicted. The proposed North Irish Sea Array project including its onshore grid connection must comply with all applicable planning and environmental approval requirements and be in accordance with the objectives and policies of the relevant development Plan. This land use plan contains objectives and policies to ensure the protection of European sites. A future Luas Finglas project would be subject to planning consent, including preparation of an EIAR and AA Screening Report/Natura Impact Statement, if required. In granting permission for the proposed Metrolink project it will be necessary to determine that the project does not result in adverse effects on the integrity of any European sites, including from any of the impact pathways listed in the previous column in this table, either alone or in combination with the Proposed Development. Despite the uncertainty regarding proposed North Irish Sea Array project and the Proposed Development, the environmental protection policies included within the relevant land use plans, the range of mitigation measures included in the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SPA, Howth Head Coast SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Rockabill SPA, The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, Boyne Coast Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, the North-West Irish Sea SPA, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA and River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA.	Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed Development to have an adverse effect on the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, in its own right, nor in combination with other projects, including the proposed North Irish Sea Array project and has included mitigation in that regard to prevent any such adverse effects.
		 Habitat degradation as a result of introducing / spreading nonnative invasive species (for example to downstream European sites North Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SAC and Baldoyle Bay SPA, Malahide Estuary SAC and Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SAC and Rogerstown Estuary SAC and Rogerstown Estuary SAA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Boyne Coast and Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA; Disturbance and displacement impacts (for example <i>ex-situ</i> inland feeding sites which are utilised by SCI wintering bird species and otter within the potential disturbance Zol of the Proposed Development; River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Malahide Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, the South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Skerries Islands SPA Boyne Estuary 	Considering the relevant land use plans, the range of mitigation measures included in the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed Development to have an adverse effect on the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, in its own right, nor in combination with other projects, including the proposed North Irish Sea Array project and has included mitigation in that regard to prevent any such adverse effects.











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, North Bull Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA and the North-West Irish Sea SPA, Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA;	
		 Direct injury/mortality related impacts of SCI species as a result of the Proposed Development of the following European sites; Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, North Bull Island SPA, South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, the North-West Irish Sea SPA and the Murrough SPA; Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA; and 	
		• The following European sites are European sites are potentially at risk of air quality during construction phase of the Proposed Development: Malahide Estuary SAC, Rogerstown Estuary SAC, Baldoyle Bay SAC, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC.	
Dundalk Active Travel Project	The project envisages the creation of appropriate segregated cycle lanes, pedestrian and cyclist crossing points at existing junctions with further crossing points at recognised desire lines, which will encourage more	At the time of writing, there is limited information in relation to the Dundalk Active Travel Project. A non-statutory second phase of public consultations on the preliminary design has been concluded.	No in combination effect predicted. The proposed North Irish Sea Array project including its onshore grid connection must comply with all applicable planning and environmental approval requirements and be in











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
	 active travel and create an essential, safe commuter corridor for pedestrians and cyclists. This will allow pedestrians and cyclists to "hop on, hop off" and access areas along the length of the town. These new facilities will also complement the existing cycle lanes constructed predominantly within the town centre along with the R215 scheme under LH-21-0010 and the R132 schemes under LH-22-0001 & LH-22-0005 Active Travel Programs. Works proposed include: The provision of segregated cycle lanes on the Inner Relief Road over a length of c.4km; The review and upgrades of major junctions along this route to better facilitate pedestrian/cyclist facilities; Provision of further pedestrian and cycling crossings at identified desire lines along the route; Linkages to DKIT Campus on the West of the R132 to better facilitate access to DKIT Sports Campus on the Eastern side of the R132; and The provision of all other ancillary works associated with these cycle lanes along the length of the scheme. 	It is anticipated that the project would provide greater connectivity with more sustainable transport, while reducing carbon footprints. The proposed Dart+ Coastal North Project will reduce carbon emissions and in combination with this project, will assist in meeting Ireland's commitments to decarbonisation. Notwithstanding the uncertainty about the project details, the potential for temporal and spatial overlap during the construction phase cannot be ruled out. Thus, there may be potential for in combination effects as a result of: • Habitat degradation / effects on QI/SCI species as a result of hydrological impacts (for example reduction in water quality in catchments the Proposed Development drains to affecting the conservation objectives supporting aquatic habitats and species in Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SPA, Howth Head Coast SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Rockabill SPA, The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, Boyne Coast Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, the North-West Irish Sea SPA, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA and River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA.	 accordance with the objectives and policies of the relevant development Plan. This land use plan contains objectives and policies to ensure the protection of European sites. A future Luas Finglas project would be subject to planning consent, including preparation of an EIAR and AA Screening Report/Natura Impact Statement, if required. In granting permission for the proposed Metrolink project it will be necessary to determine that the project does not result in adverse effects on the integrity of any European sites, including from any of the impact pathways listed in the previous column in this table, either alone or in combination with the Proposed Development. Despite the uncertainty regarding proposed North Irish Sea Array project and the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites.











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		 Habitat degradation as a result of introducing / spreading non-native invasive species (for example to downstream European sites North Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SAC and Baldoyle Bay SPA, Malahide Estuary SAC and Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SAC and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Boyne Coast and Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA; Disturbance and displacement impacts (for example <i>ex-situ</i> inland feeding sites which are utilised by SCI wintering bird species and otter within the potential disturbance Zol of the Proposed Development; River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, the South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, North Bull Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA and the North-West Irish Sea SPA, Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA; Direct injury/mortality related impacts of SCI species as a result of the Proposed Development of the following European sites: Malahide Estuary SPA Rogerstown 	Considering the relevant land use plans, the range of mitigation measures included in the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed Development to have an adverse effect on the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, in its own right, nor in combination with other projects, including the proposed North Irish Sea Array project and has included mitigation in that regard to prevent any such adverse effects.









Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		 Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, North Bull Island SPA, South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, the North-West Irish Sea SPA and the Murrough SPA; Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA; and The following European sites are European sites are potentially at risk of air quality during construction phase of the Proposed Development: Malahide Estuary SAC, Rogerstown Estuary SAC, Baldoyle Bay SAC, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC. 	
ESB Electricity Supply Connections	ESB is progressing to design (and seek consent for) electricity supply connections to accommodate the electrification of the proposed DART+ Coastal North project and as part of its wider planning for grid reinforcement works for the GDA. The works associated with the DART+ Coastal North project will progress in parallel and will be completed in advance of the completion of the Proposed Development construction to ensure that the project will have the necessary electricity supply for testing and operation. Close consultation between the DART+ Coastal project team and ESB will ensure the required electricity is planned and available to the project. The key elements proposed as part of the planning application are outlined below. Connections to DART+ Coastal North substations	At the time of writing, there is limited information in relation to the Dundalk Active Travel Project. A non-statutory second phase of public consultations on the preliminary design has been concluded. It is anticipated that the project would provide greater connectivity with more sustainable transport, while reducing carbon footprints. The proposed Dart+ Coastal North Project will reduce carbon emissions and in combination with this project, will assist in meeting Ireland's commitments to decarbonisation. Notwithstanding the fact that it is a separate project undertaken by ESB, it is in support of the Dart + programme. And there may be potential for temporal and spatial overlap during the construction phase Thus there may be potential for in combination effects as a result of:	No in combination effect predicted. The proposed ESB supply connection project in support of the Dart + programme must comply with all applicable planning and environmental approval requirements and be in accordance with the objectives and policies of the relevant development Plan. This land use plan contains objectives and policies to ensure the protection of European sites. The proposed ESB supply connection project would be subject to planning consent, including preparation of an EIAR and AA Screening Report/Natura Impact Statement, if required.











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
	 There are eight 38 kV substations proposed as part of the DART+ Coastal North project which will require electricity supply through new electricity connections at the following locations: Donabate, Rush and Lusk, South Skerries, Balbriggan, Gormanston, Bettystown and Drogheda. These are proposed to be supplied with electrical connections, from the existing ESB/Eirgrid network and also new Eirgrid bulk supply and ESBN substations which are currently in planning to support the network upgrade. Desk studies completed by ESB have identified concept routes for the proposed 38kV cable connections which will be located along the existing road network and where necessary, on overhead lines across private land. Nature of the works: The works will involve laying underground cables (UGC) 38kV electricity connection in the existing roads. Typical construction duration for carrying out the standard trenching and ducting is between 50 to 70 linear metres of trench in a roadway per day depending on the site conditions. All road works involving cable require traffic management procedures when installing within public roads. It may be a temporary requirement for some roads to be closed along particular sections of the cable route. 	 Habitat degradation / effects on QI/SCI species as a result of hydrological impacts (for example reduction in water quality in catchments the Proposed Development drains to affecting the conservation objectives supporting aquatic habitats and species in Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SPA, Howth Head Coast SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Rockabill SPA, The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, Boyne Coast Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, the North-West Irish Sea SPA, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA and River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA. Habitat degradation as a result of introducing / spreading non-native invasive species (for example to downstream European sites North Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SAC and Baldoyle Bay SPA, Malahide Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Boyne Coast and Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA, SAC, Boyne Coast and Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA, SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA; 	In granting permission for the proposed ESB supply connection project it will be necessary to determine that the project does not result in adverse effects on the integrity of any European sites, including from any of the impact pathways listed in the previous column in this table, either alone or in combination with the Proposed Development. Despite the uncertainty proposed ESB supply connection project and the Proposed Development, the environmental protection policies included within the relevant land use plans, the range of mitigation measures included in the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed Development to have an adverse effect on the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, in its own right, nor in combination with other projects, including the proposed ESB supply connection project and has included mitigation in that regard to prevent any such adverse effects. Considering the relevant land use plans, the range of mitigation measures included in the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, in the range of mitigation measures included in the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
	In the case of wider roads, one carriageway may be closed, with use of the other carriageway restricted and controlled by temporary traffic lights or a "stop and go" traffic management system. The traffic management plan and corresponding works will be carried out with the agreement of the local authority. Similarly overhead lines (OHL) poles will be erected, and cable stringing completed on private lands depending on the finally selected route from the ESBN network connection location to the IE traction substation. Access arrangements will be coordinated with the local authority and with land owners. These will be typically daytime works that are transient in nature and temporary as they move along the road network and along the selected route. Summary of Proposed Works: Works requirements: Partial road closure required, daytime works. Likely construction temporary works. The works are typically transient in nature and temporary as they move along the road network.	 Disturbance and displacement impacts (for example ex-situ inland feeding sites which are utilised by SCI wintering bird species and otter within the potential disturbance Zol of the Proposed Development; River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, the South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, North Bull Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA and the North-West Irish Sea SPA, Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA; Direct injury/mortality related impacts of SCI species as a result of the Proposed Development of the following European sites; Malahide Estuary SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, North Bull Island SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, North Bull Island SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Cogerstown Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, North Bull Island SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Lambay Island SPA, South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, the North-West Irish Sea SPA and the Murrough SPA; Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA, South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, the North-West Irish Sea SPA and the Murrough SPA; Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA; and The following European sites are European sites are potentially at risk of air quality during construction phase of the Proposed Development: Malahide Estuary SAC, 	Development to have an adverse effect on the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, in its own right, nor in combination with other projects, including the proposed ESB supply connection project and has included mitigation in that regard to prevent any such adverse effects.











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		Rogerstown Estuary SAC, Baldoyle Bay SAC, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC.	
DART Station Enhancement Project	This project is currently under early development and is appointing consultant services to review the future requirements at DART stations. The objective of the project initially is to produce a study that will recommend how DART stations (current and proposed network) should be enhanced into the future to provide an improved customer experience, whilst also considering the increasing passenger demand capacity challenges that will be introduced in the future. It will outline the most effective method to enhance DART stations into the future considering the provision of increased services under the DART+ programme and all other ongoing projects/programmes with an aim of making DART stations more attractive to the customer. The early elements of this project (focusing mainly on capacity issues associated with future passenger numbers) will be progressed in 2024, and subject to funding will be progressed thereafter.	At the time of writing, there is limited information in relation to the DART Station Enhancement Project. It is anticipated that the project would provide an improved passenger experience and greater functionality and connectivity to promote more sustainable transport, and thereby reducing carbon footprints. If the construction programmes overlap there is potential for cumulative effects for Traffic and Transport, however. The proposed DART+ Coastal North Project will reduce carbon emissions and in combination with this project, will assist in meeting Ireland's commitments to decarbonisation. There is uncertainty of the proposed project detail at this time, but given its likely nature, there is potential for temporal and spatial overlap. Thus, the potential for in combination effects cannot be ruled out as a result of: • Habitat degradation / effects on QI/SCI species as a result of hydrological impacts (for example reduction in water quality in catchments the Proposed Development drains to affecting the conservation objectives supporting aquatic habitats and species in Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Howth Head Coast SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Skerries Islands	No in combination effect predicted. The proposed DART Station Enhancement Project must comply with all applicable planning and environmental approval requirements and be in accordance with the objectives and policies of the relevant development Plan. This land use plan contains objectives and policies to ensure the protection of European sites. The proposed DART Station Enhancement Project would be subject to planning consent, including preparation of an EIAR and AA Screening Report/Natura Impact Statement, if required. In granting permission for the DART Station Enhancement Project, it will be necessary to determine that the project does not result in adverse effects on the integrity of any European sites, including from any of the impact pathways listed in the previous column in this table, either alone or in combination with the Proposed Development. Despite the uncertainty about the extent an nature of the DART Station Enhancement Project and the Proposed Development, the environmental protection policies included within the relevant land use plans, the range of mitigation measures included in the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed Development to have an adverse









Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		 SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Rockabill SPA, The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, Boyne Coast Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, the North-West Irish Sea SPA, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA and River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA. Habitat degradation as a result of introducing / spreading non-native invasive species (for example to downstream European sites North Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SAC and Baldoyle Bay SPA, Malahide Estuary SAC and Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SAC and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Boyne Coast and Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA; Disturbance and displacement impacts (for example <i>ex-situ</i> inland feeding sites which are utilised by SCI wintering bird species and otter within the potential disturbance Zol of the Proposed Development; River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, the South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, the South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Boyne Estuar	effect on the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, in its own right, nor in combination with other projects, including the proposed DART Station Enhancement Project and has included mitigation in that regard to prevent any such adverse effects. Considering the relevant land use plans, the range of mitigation measures included in the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed Development to have an adverse effect on the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, in its own right, nor in combination with other projects, including the DART Station Enhancement Project and has included mitigation in that regard to prevent any such adverse effects.
		Ireland's Eye SPA, The Murrough SPA,	










Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		Baldoyle Bay SPA, North Bull Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA and the North-West Irish Sea SPA, Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA;	
		 Direct injury/mortality related impacts of SCI species as a result of the Proposed Development of the following European sites; Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, North Bull Island SPA, South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, the North-West Irish Sea SPA and the Murrough SPA; Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA; and 	
		The following European sites are European sites are potentially at risk of air quality during construction phase of the Proposed Development: Malahide Estuary SAC, Rogerstown Estuary SAC, Baldoyle Bay SAC, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC.	
Multimodal Interchange Project	The Multimodal Interchange Project will assess all stations throughout the network with a view of implementing its strategy at stations where there is need for modifications that will have an impact on multimodal travel and station access.	At the time of writing, there is limited information in relation to the Multimodal Interchange Project. It is anticipated that the project would provide an improved passenger experience and greater functionality and connectivity to promote more sustainable transport, and thereby reducing carbon footprints.	No in combination effect predicted. The proposed Multimodal Interchange Project must comply with all applicable planning and environmental approval requirements and be in accordance with the objectives and policies of the relevant development Plan.











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
	This project aims improve the integration and accessibility of the public transport network for stations and communities across the network, through the provision of multimodal interchanges. This project will assess a variety of multimodal options at stations including but not limited to the provision of secure bicycle parking and shared mobility services. The Strategy relating to this project was completed in 2023 and is currently with the NTA for review and approval. Subject to approval and funding the project will move to the next phase and eventual delivery of the solutions identified.	 The proposed DART+ Coastal North Project will reduce carbon emissions and in combination with this project, will assist in meeting Ireland's commitments to decarbonisation. There is uncertainty of the proposed Multimodal Interchange Project detail at this time, given the likely nature, there is potential for temporal and spatial overlap, particularly during the construction phase. Thus, the potential for in combination effects cannot be ruled out as a result of: Habitat degradation / effects on QI/SCI species as a result of hydrological impacts (for example reduction in water quality in catchments the Proposed Development drains to affecting the conservation objectives supporting aquatic habitats and species in Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SPA, Howth Head Coast SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Rockabill SPA, The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, Boyne Coast Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Boyne and River Blackwater SPA, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA Habitat degradation as a result of introducing / spreading non-native invasive species (for example to downstream European sites North Dublin Bay SAC, 	This land use plan contains objectives and policies to ensure the protection of European sites. The Multimodal Interchange Project would be subject to planning consent, including preparation of an EIAR and AA Screening Report/Natura Impact Statement, if required. In granting permission for the Multimodal Interchange Project, it will be necessary to determine that the project does not result in adverse effects on the integrity of any European sites, including from any of the impact pathways listed in the previous column in this table, either alone or in combination with the Proposed Development. Despite the uncertainty about the extent and nature of the proposed Multimodal Interchange Project and the Proposed Development, the environmental protection policies included within the relevant land use plans, the range of mitigation measures included in the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed Development to have an adverse effect on the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed Development to have an adverse effect the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, in its own right, nor in combination with other projects, including the proposed Multimodal Interchange Project and has included mitigation in that regard to prevent any such adverse effects.









Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		 South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SAC and Baldoyle Bay SPA, Malahide Estuary SAC and Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SAC and Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Boyne Coast and Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA; Disturbance and displacement impacts (for example <i>ex-situ</i> inland feeding sites which are utilised by SCI wintering bird species and otter within the potential disturbance Zol of the Proposed Development; River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, the South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, North Bull Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Stabannan- Braganstown SPA and the North-West Irish Sea SPA, Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA; Direct injury/mortality related impacts of SCI species as a result of the Proposed Development of the following European sites; Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA, Rogerstown 	Considering the relevant land use plans, the range of mitigation measures included in the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed Development to have an adverse effect on the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, in its own right, nor in combination with other projects, including the proposed Multimodal Interchange Project and has included mitigation in that regard to prevent any such adverse effects.











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		 Skerries Islands SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, North Bull Island SPA, South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, the North-West Irish Sea SPA and the Murrough SPA; Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA; and The following European sites are European sites are potentially at risk of air quality during construction phase of the Proposed Development: Malahide Estuary SAC, Rogerstown Estuary SAC, Baldoyle Bay SAC, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC. 	
DART Platform Accessibility Project	The purpose of this project is to identify and deliver the necessary infrastructure interventions at station platforms on the existing and proposed DART network, to regularise the vertical stepping distance between the door thresholds of new trains and the platform edges, to secure compliance with the Persons with Reduced Mobility (PRM) Technical Specification for Interoperability (TSI) "level access" definition. Work to date has identified a number of priority stations and it's planned to progress these through to implementation throughout 2024 and 2025, to align with the new fleet coming into operation in November 2025.	At the time of writing, there is limited information in relation to the DART Platform Accessibility Project. It is anticipated that the project would provide an improved passenger experience and greater functionality and connectivity to promote more sustainable transport, and thereby reducing carbon footprints. The proposed DART+ Coastal North Project will reduce carbon emissions and in combination with this project, will assist in meeting Ireland's commitments to decarbonisation. There is uncertainty of the proposed DART Platform Accessibility Project detail at this time, given the likely nature, there is potential for temporal and spatial overlap, particularly during the construction phase. Thus, the potential for in combination effects cannot be ruled out as a result of:	No in combination effect predicted. The proposed DART Platform Accessibility Project must comply with all applicable planning and environmental approval requirements and be in accordance with the objectives and policies of the relevant development Plan. These land use plan contains objectives and policies to ensure the protection of European sites. The proposed DART Platform Accessibility Project would be subject to planning consent, including preparation of an EIAR and AA Screening Report/Natura Impact Statement, if required. In granting permission for the proposed DART Platform Accessibility Project, it will be necessary to determine that the project does not result in adverse effects on the integrity of any European sites, including from any of the impact pathways listed in the











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		 Habitat degradation / effects on QI/SCI species as a result of hydrological impacts (for example reduction in water quality in catchments the Proposed Development drains to affecting the conservation objectives supporting aquatic habitats and species in Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SPA, Howth Head Coast SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Rockabill SPA, The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, Boyne Coast Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, the North-West Irish Sea SPA, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA and River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA. Habitat degradation as a result of introducing / spreading non-native invasive species (for example to downstream European sites North Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC, North Bull Island SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC and Baldoyle Bay SPA, Malahide Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Boyne Coast and Estuary SAC, Boyne Estuary SPA; 	previous column in this table, either alone or in combination with the Proposed Development. Despite the uncertainty about the extent and nature of the proposed DART Platform Accessibility Project and the Proposed Development, the environmental protection policies included within the relevant land use plans, the range of mitigation measures included in the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed Development to have an adverse effect on the integrity of any European sites. The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, in its own right, nor in combination with other projects, including the proposed DART Platform Accessibility Project and has included mitigation in that regard to prevent any such adverse effects. Considering the relevant land use plans, the range of mitigation measures included in the Proposed Development to avoid significant impacts and that alone the Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed Development to have an adverse effect on the integrity of any European sites, the project will not act in combination with the Proposed Development to have an adverse effect on the integrity of any European sites.











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		 Disturbance and displacement impacts (for example <i>ex-situ</i> inland feeding sites which are utilised by SCI wintering bird species and otter within the potential disturbance Zol of the Proposed Development; River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, the South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, The Murrough SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, North Bull Island SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA and the North-West Irish Sea SPA, Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA; Direct injury/mortality related impacts of SCI species as a result of the Proposed Development of the following European sites; Malahide Estuary SPA, Royne Estuary SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA, Seas OFA, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Cogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA, Sey SPA, North Bull Island SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, North Bull Island SPA, South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, the North-West Irish Sea SPA and the Murrough SPA, Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA; and 	The Proposed Development will not adversely affect the integrity of any European sites, in its own right, nor in combination with other projects, including the proposed DART Platform Accessibility Project and has included mitigation in that regard to prevent any such adverse effects.
		 The following European sites are European sites are potentially at risk of air quality during construction phase of the Proposed Development: Malahide Estuary SAC, 	











Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		Rogerstown Estuary SAC, Baldoyle Bay SAC, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC.	
larnród Éireann Carparks Programme	This project is currently under early development. The overall objective of this project is to develop a National Car Parks Programme that supports larnród Éireann's target of achieving 75 million passenger journeys by 2025 and aligns with the long term investment and growth strategies across the network including DART+. The project will seek to increase the parking facilities at a number of stations nationwide. Potential carparks which are currently being considered that overlap with the DART+ Coastal North project for development are at Portmarnock Station and Skerries Station however development is at an early stage.	At the time of writing, there is limited information in relation to the larnród Éireann National Carparks Programme. It is anticipated that the project would provide an improved passenger experience and greater functionality and connectivity to promote more sustainable transport, and thereby reducing carbon footprints. The proposed DART+ Coastal North Project will reduce carbon emissions and in combination with this project, will assist in meeting Ireland's commitments to decarbonisation. In the absence of detail, regarding the strategy and its full needs, there is potential for temporal and spatial overlap, particularly during the construction phase. Thus, the potential for in combination effects cannot be ruled out as a result of: • Habitat degradation / effects on QI/SCI species as a result of hydrological impacts (for example reduction in water quality in catchments the Proposed Development drains to affecting the conservation objectives supporting aquatic habitats and species in Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, River Boyne and River Blackwater SPA, Howth Head Coast SPA, Dalkey Island SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Rockabill SPA. The Murrough SPA.	No in combination effect predicted from the programme strategy. Likewise, no in combination effect predicted for development projects arising from the strategy. Potential development projects arising from the larnród Éireann Carparks Programme would be required to comply with all applicable planning and environmental approval requirements and be in accordance with the objectives and policies of the relevant development Plan. These land use plan contains objectives and policies to ensure the protection of European sites. All potential development projects arising from the larnród Éireann Carparks Programme would be subject to planning consent, including preparation of an EIAR and AA Screening Report/Natura Impact Statement, if required. In granting permission for any potential development project arising from the larnród Éireann Carparks Programme, it will be necessary to determine that the project does not result in adverse effects on the integrity of any European sites, including from any of the impact pathways listed in the previous column in this table, either alone or in combination with the Proposed Development.









DART+

Coastal North













Application Reference	Applicant for 'Other Development' and Brief Description	Potential for In Combination effect	Conclusion regarding In combination effect Will the project act in combination with the Proposed Development to adversely affect the integrity of European sites?
		SPA and the North-West Irish Sea SPA, Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA;	
		 Direct injury/mortality related impacts of SCI species as a result of the Proposed Development of the following European sites; Malahide Estuary SPA, Rogerstown Estuary SPA, River Nanny Estuary and Shore SPA, Boyne Estuary SPA, Dundalk Bay SPA, Stabannan-Braganstown SPA, Skerries Islands SPA, Lambay Island SPA, Ireland's Eye SPA, North Bull Island SPA, South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, Baldoyle Bay SPA, the North-West Irish Sea SPA and the Murrough SPA; Seas of Wexford cSPA, Wicklow Head SPA and Saltee Islands SPA; and 	
		• The following European sites are European sites are potentially at risk of air quality during construction phase of the Proposed Development: Malahide Estuary SAC, Rogerstown Estuary SAC, Baldoyle Bay SAC, River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC.	